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I. INTRODUCTION

I think there is little meaningful difference between a good
United States Supreme Court brief and a law review article. Both
work products have a point of view. Each must déal with counter-
evidence and coun ter-arguimnents in a fair and intellectually satisfy-
ing way. While their writing styles may differ, their substance and
essence are closer than one might think ~ or sé it seems to me.

Over the years, some of my law review articles originated as
briefs or other litigation products and vice versa. In crafting law
journal articles, I always try to write with an eye to the busy litigator
(or judicial clerk) who might find my scholarship of some use. To
put it crudely, I uy to write “plagiarizable” scholarship.

In the past, I have not typically attempted to publish un-
mediated pleadings and correspondence in a law journal. I do so
here for several reasons. First, Joseph Spaziano’s case is unique to
me for reasons 1 shall set out below. Second, when 1 wrote the
Petitton for Writ of Certiorari’ reproduced here, 1 was selfcon-
sciously writing for an audience not limited to the nine United
States Supreme Court justices who would decide whether M.
Spaziano lived or died. 1knew as I was writing these pleadings that
they were likely to be the last I would file in court on behalf of Mr.
Spaziano or any condemned person. They were written for the Jus
tices, of course, but they were also written for Joseph Spaziano and
his family. In them, I fry to set out where and why in this case thle
criminal justice system failed. Third, some of the materials repro-
duced here are unavailable in any other public forum, and they
may be of importance to those who would not normally be privy to,
them (e.g., the Statement to Florida Governor Lawton Chiles® has
not previously been made available to the general public; the Flor-
ida Supreme Court oral argument of September 7, 1995% was offi-
cially audiotaped by Florida State University, but was not officially
transcribed; the United States Supreme Gourt refused to file the
original certiorari petition* because it exceeded the Court’s new

1 See infra pp. 343410 and notes 83-110,
2 See infra pp. 28489 and notes 46.48,

3 See infra pp. 200-313 and notes 49, 50.
4 See infra pp. 343416 and notes 83-110.
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page limit;® the Florida Supreme Court refused to file the recusal
motion® because it previously ruled that 1 “effectively withdrew” as
Mr. Spaziano's representative;” Judge Eaton’s Order Mandating a
New Trial® is unreported.®)

For me, the most important reason for publishing unmediated
pieadings is the uniqueness of Joseph Spaziano’s case. These
pleadings address significant aspects of the case — significant for
us, at any rate. By the time you read these words, Joseph Spaziano
may be dead. These pleadings are merely words, but words cannot
convey the magnitude of this case.

It may be near impossible to fully appreciate the unbelievable
events that have taken place throughout Mr. Spaziano’s case. De
that as it may, 1 have nonetheless included in subsequent sections
several documents that have come to be in the last year or so. |
think it best to experience this nightmare as Mr. Spaziano has,
through legal {and not so legal) memoranda. You sée, some things
are more easily quantified. One can write of 2 1996 plane crash in
the Florida Everglades that took 109 lives’® or a 1992 hurricane
that wiped out a trailer park in Homestead, Florida.?? How does
one quantify nearly twenty years on Florida's death row for crimes
one did not commit? How does one quantify five death warrants?
How does one quantify being strapped into an electric chair to pay
for someone else’s crinte? The meaning of life is that it eventually
ends. '

In 1986, Neil Skene asked whether the Florida Supreme Court
“knows what it’s doing” when it reviews death cases.’® Skene’s dev-
astating answer to his own question was “no.”** According to my
own personal éxperience with Flerida's death court of last resort,
much of Skene’s critique rings as true today as when first published
almost a decade ago.

¥ The rules of the Supreme Court provide that every typed and double spaced
Pedition for a Wrir of Certiorari shall not exceed sixey-five pages, Sur. Gr. R, 8384,
6 Ser infra pp. 417-37 and notes 11119,
7 See Spariano v, State, 660 So. 2d 1363 (Fla.} (per curiam). modified, (1995}, cent,
deried, 116 5. Cr. 722 {19%96).
8 See infra pp. 48844 and notes 120-26.
2 ‘While Judge Eaton's Order is unreported, it was recently published. See Michael
Mello, PostscriptDeath and His Lawyers, 20 Vr. L. Rev., 945 (1996).
10 Robert D. McFadden, 09 Feared Dead a5 Jot Crashes in Bverglodes, N Y. Trsvs, May
12, 1996, at B1.
11 Catherine S, Manegold, Hurricane Rips Through Florida and Heads Into Gulf, NY.
Tmaes, Aug. 25, 1992, at AL
12 Neil Skene, Review of Capital Cases: Does the Florida Supreme Cowrt Know What Its
Doing?, 15 Sterson L. Rev. 263 (1986).
13 M ar 354,
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Whereas Skene's field of inguiry was global, mine is far more
modest. In this article, I address only one discrete, albeit impor-
tant, aspect of the Florida Supreme Court’s review of capital cases;
how the court dealt with a death row claim of factual innocence in
the case of Joseph Spaziano.*

In this day of federal judicial deregulation of death, the per-
formance of state courts becomes the critical field of inquiry. A
perverse aspect of how the State of Florida decides who dies is this;
secrecy. It is ironic that the Sunshine State’s highest court ap-
proaches death row claims of innocence in shadows. Mr. Spazi-
ano’s case is the most recent instance of the Florida Supreme
Court’s penchant for secrecy in deciding who dies. Secrecy, how-
ever, has long been a narrative theme in Florida’s capital punish-
ment systern. In a lime of cases including Ford v. Wainwright,'”
Spaziano v. State*® Gardner v. Florida,' and Brown v. Wainwright,'®

14 Spaziano v. State, 545 So. 2d 843 (Fla. 1989); Spaziano v. State, 489 So. 2d 720
(Fla.), cert. dended, 79 U.S. 995 {1986); Spaziano v. State, 383 So. 2d 1119 (Fla, 1981),
petition for past-conviction relief remanded, 660 So. 2d 1563 (Fla, 1995), sert. denied, 116 5,
Cr. 722 (1996); Spazianoc v. State, 393 So. 2d 1119 {Fia. 1881}, habeas corpus denied sub
nom., Spazianc v, Dugger, 584 So. 2d 1 (Ba, 1991), denial of post-conviction relief aff'd
sub nom., Spaziano v. Singletary, 36 F.3d 1028 (11th Cir. 1994), cert. dinied, 115 8. Ct.
911 {1995}, Spaziano v. State, 393 So, 2d 1118 (Fia, 1981), appeal after remand, 483 So,
2d 508 (Fia. 1983), cert. granted, 464 1.8, 1088, off'd, 468 1.8, 447 (1984}, habeas corpus
dended sub nom., Spariano v. Dugger, 557 So, 2d 1372 (Fla. 1990), pest-convistion relief
denied sub nom,, 570 So, 2d 289 (¥ia. 1990); Spaziano v. State, 393 So. 2d 1119 (Fla),
cert. denied, 454 0.8, 1037 {1981), ek denied, 454 11.S. 1165 (1982).

A5 477 U8, 398 (1980). After Flotida semtenced the defendant to death, Ford v,
State, 574 So. 24 496 (Fla, 1979), cert. dended, 445 U.8. 972 {19803}, the United States
Supreme Court held that Florida procedure in capital cases was deficient, for Florida
did not allow the defendant to rebut evidence of state-appointed psychiasrists and did
not allow the defendani o offer evidence of his insanity,

16 468 UGS, 447 (1984). In sentencing Mr. Spadano to death, Spaziano v. State,
439 So. 2d 508 (Fla, 1983), cert. granted, 464 U.S. 1038, aoff'd, 468 US. 447 {1984}, the
Florida Supreme Court relied on confidential information regarding his prior felony
convictions. The United States Supreme Court found it acted in error because Mr.
Spaziano was left out of the process and was never given an opportunity to respond to
the evidence,

17 430 U8, 549 (1877, Afier Florida senzenced Gardner to death, Gardner v.
State, 813 So. 24 675 {Fla. 1975}, cort. gramted, 428 U.B. 908 (1976), vacaled, 430 U.8,
349 {1977}, the United States Supreme Court found his due process was violated
when the Florida Supreme Court withlicld confidentalinformation during the resen-
tencing hearing, The Court found the information would have persuaded the jury to
sentence Gardner to life in prison rather than desth,

18 392 So. 2d 1827 (Fia.), cert. denied, 454 U.S. 1000 (1981}, The appeliant accused
the Florida Supreme Court of withholding information that was not admisted at trzal
and pever made its way into the rial record. This information included psychiatric
evaluations, prior convicions, et¢. The appellecs ware left not knowing what informa-
tion was used in the review process when the court determined sentencing in this
capital case.
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the Florida Supreme Court shrouded the death decision in secrecy.

The Fioridla Supreme Court’s penchant for secrecy raises an
obvious questibn: What is the State of Florida trying to hide? In
Joseph Spaziano’s case, Florida was hiding evidence of innocence.
The State’s secrecy in Spaziano revealed evidence exculpatory in
the extreme,; a videotaped recantation by the State’s central witness
against Mr, Spaziano at his capital trial.*®

I have written elsewhere about Joseph Spaziano’s case ® [ am
convinced he is innocent.?' However, his “innocence” was irrele-

12 See infre note 21.

%0 See Michael Mello, Death and His Lawyers: Why Joseph Spaziane Owes Flis Life to the
Miami Herald - and Not 1o any Defense Lawyer or Judge, 20 V1. L. Rev. 19 (1995} [herein-
afier Mello, Death and His Lawyers]; Michael Mello, Facing Death Alone: The Post-Convic-
tion Attorney Crisis on Death Bow, 37 Av. U, L. Rev. 518 {1988); Mello, Postscrips-Death
and His Lawyers, supra, note 9; Ruthann Robson and Michael Melio, Ariadne’s Provi-
sioms: A ‘Clue of Thtead’ te the Intracactes of Procedural Defauli, Adequate and Indeperdent
State Grounds, and Floridas Death Penaly, 76 Cal. L. Rev. 87 (1988}; Michzel Mello,
The Hypnotized Wimess and the Condemned Man (Oct, 1996) {on file with the New
York City Law Review).

21 The facts of Joseph Spaziano’s case have been detailed elsewhere, Seg Mello,
Death and His Lawyers, supre note 20, However, stnce it §s the facts of his case that
prove his innocence, some backround is necessary.

Mr. Spaziano was accused of murdering Laurz Lynn Harberts, 2
vibrant young woman whose body was discovered in a garbage dump in
Seminole County, Florida, on August 21, 1978, She was identified by
dental records, and was last seen alive on Angust 5, 1973,

Beverly Fink wids Laura Harberss’ roommate in Orlando, Accord-
ing to Ms. Fink, the last time she saw Ms. Harberts was on a Sunday
afternoon, about August 5, 1973, The previous night, Ms, Fink and her
boyiriend, Jack Mallen, were preparing o leave their apartment, Ag
that titne, Ms, Harberts was on the phone and, as Fink and Mallen were
leaving, Ms, Harberts said, “"Hold on a minute, Joe,” and then waived
goodbye, Ms. Fink stated she and Mallen resurned to the aparument
about 2:3( or 3:00 a.m. and Ms. Harberts was asleep on the couch.

Later that same night, someone knocked at the door. Ms. Harberts
asked Jack Mallen to go 1o the door but not to open it, and tell whoever
it was 10 go away; it was too late a2 night, and she did not want 1o talk to
him. Mr. Mallen complied with the request and the person went away.
Ms. Fink further testified that she had spoken briefly with Mr. Spaziano
once sometime in July 1973, when he came by the apurtment on 2 week-
end afternoon and asked to @k 10 Ms. Harberts. According to Ms,
Fink’s recoliection, the man sald ke had met Ms, Harberts in Eola Park.
After mlking for a few minutes, the man left,

On cross-examination, Ms, Fink testified that Mz, Harberts was not
dating Mr. Spazianeo, and there was another “Joe” who worked at the
hospital with Ms. Fink and Ms. Harberts. Ms. Fink could not say which
*Joe” Ms. Harberts was referring 10 on the phone the night before she
was last seen,
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‘William Coppick and Michael Eliis testified thar approximately swo
years prior to Ms. Harberts' disappearance, Mr. Spaziano lived in a
traller in the same genieral area where Ms. Harberss' body was found.
Mr. Coppick also testified that Mr. Spaziano told him about finding
some bones, but Mr. Coppick did not say where or exactly when the
alleged conversation took place. Mr. Ellis further stated that Mr. Spazi-
ano took him to the general area where the body had bheen found. He
concluded that Mr. Sparzianc went to get some marifiana “stashed”
there. Again, M. Ellis was unsure of the date when this took place.

The State's chief witness was an acquaintance of Mr. Spariano
pamed Anthony Dilisio [sic], who was sixteen years old at the time of
the cvents in guestion. He testified that he accompanied Mr, Spaziano
to a durap, for the ostensible reason, according to Dilisio [sic], that My,
Spaziano could show him some women that he had raped and toriured.
Difisio [sic] testified that he saw two female bodies In the dump. He did
not at the fime report what he had seen to the police.

Dilisio [sic] testified he never believed Mr. Spaziano and that he
thought Mr, Spaziano was bragging to impress himn. Dilisio [sic} further
indicated that he idolizred Mr. Spazianc and that he wanted to ride
motorcycles with him. Dilisio [sic] said ke did not report what he had
seen because he wanted to become a member of the Qutlaw Motorcycle
chab.

Tony Dilisio {sic] was the State’s case. The prosecutor told the (rial
court during 2 motien to prechsde Dilisio’s [sic] wstimony that "if we
cars’t getin the testimony of Tony Difisio fsic], we'd absolutely have no case
here whatsoever - So either we're going Lo have to have i through Tony, or we're
not going o have it of all” And as the State argued (o the jury in closing
argument, if they did not believe Mr. Dilisio [sic], they had to acquit Mr.
Spaziano. The dosing argument proved prophetic. After lengthy delib-
eration, the jury stated that it was having trouble reaching a verdict.
The jury was told to continue deliberations and was told by the court
that it was their duty fo 1y to agree upon a verdict {2 so-called "dynamite
charge”). They tried again and reported they still did not believe they
could reach a verdict. The court gave a more emphatic “dynamite
charge,” fate in the evening, and a verdiet of guilty was retarned within
minutes. The only evidence that could have possibly convicted Mr.
Spaziano was Mr. Dilisio’s [sic] testimony, and the reason for the juror
uncertainty was accnrately portrayed by the Stater They “struggled so
diligently with Mr, Dilisio’s {sic] testimony.”

In contrast to the difficulty the jury had in reaching its guilty ver
dict, it reached an almost immediate sentencing verdict of life imprison-
ment. 'This verdict suggesis strongly that the jury was attempting to use
the life verdict 2s its only available safequard against the overall weuk
ness of the evidence. If it had believed the State's evidence, the jury
would bave believed that Mr. Spariano had commited a brutal ciume.
Yet the jury voted for life.

What was nai revealed o the jury that convicted Mr. Spaziano, or w
the judge that sertenced him to death, was that there was a strong likeli-
hood that the singularly devastating Dilisio {sie] testimony was manufac-



19961 LIES, SECRETS, AND SILENCE 265

tured. Mr. Dilisio [sic did not “remember” his story unti? he was under
police hypnosis . . ,
* B ¥

At rizl, counsel for Mr. Spaziano attacked Dilisio’s [sic] testimony
by using traditionat tools of cross-examination. He stressed hiat Mr.
Dilisio {sic] was an admitted drug user before, during, and after the
alleged dump incident. Dilisio {sic] admitted that while on LSD he
sometimes hallucinated, especially when he combined marijuana and
L5D. In closing argument, counsel urged the jury 1o feel sorry for
bilisio [sic] but not to believe hitn. He suggested that Dilisio {sic]
might have honestly been confused, either by drugs or by the police.
This strategy of discrediting Mr. Dilisic {sic], was central o any Lhopes of
a defense victory in this case, but in pursuing it counset failed to employ
his most patent weapon., Counsel did not reveal the fact that Dilisio
fsic] never “recalied” the alleged incident at the dump unti afier he
went to a police hypnotist,

* ¢ &

I have z juror affidavit that says that the fury recommended life
imprisonment rather than death because fhey weren't so certain that he
was guilty atafl. . . . They knew he was an Outlaw (his club colleagues
sttended the trial, in full biker regalia), and they were squeamish about
letting him loose, , .. So the jury found him guilty of first degree mur-
der, but voted . . . against the imposition of death, There was a cacch,
howsever: {T]he trial judge didn't know the rexson for the jury's life rec-
ommendation, and Florida law does not permit a judge 1o factor such
iingering doubt into a capital sentencing decision. . . .

* % N

The post-trial investigation did more than reveal the hideous unre-
Habifity of Difisio’s [sic] hypnotcally-warped testimony. As mentoned
previousty, the victim - Laura Harberts - had a roommate, Eeverly Fink.
At trial, Ms.Fink testified that Ms. Harberts had received a telephone
call from “Joe” just before the time of her disappearance. The State
implied and argued that the telephone call was from foe Spazianc.
Although Mr. Spa?.iann was able to argue that the call may have been
from any other “Joe,” including joe Suarez, the cxhibitionist whom
iaura Harberss dated from titae to time, the jury was clearly led to be-
tieve that the fact that the caller may have been Mr. Spariane was an
incriminating picce of circumstantial evidence. Yet, we now know from
recently disclosed police files that the police had determived that the
calier was indeed joe Sparer and that the [S]tate failed to disclose this
fact. In addition, Joe Suarez denied to the police that he had been with
the decedent on Aagust 5, 1973, Yer, in an undisclosed documented
interview, the police were able to condiude thar Snarez was with the
decedent on the night of her disappearatice.

Duaring the investigation, the State believed thidt Laura Harberts'
killer was Lynwood Tate, although none of the decaments sugpesting
Mr. Tate's guilt were disclosed to the defense at wial, Mr, Tatc was
given several polygraph tests about his role in the killing, which he
Juiled, He was a known rapist and ai of the investigators invoived con-
cluded that Tate had committed the murder. Tate told the investigators
“on several occasions” that "he didn't know whether he ¢commiited the
murder” and "that i he did, he would like to know it.” Az one time, "an
indication was made [by Tate] that there was a possibility that he may
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vant to those whose opinions mattered — the judges and governors
who decided whether he lived or died.® He is a victim of lies, in-
competent counsel, police collusion and a court’s cowardly reluc-
tance to admit error and reverse itself. Additionally, he is a victim
of a “clemency” board that dispenses mercy based on polling data;
that hears only from those who want executions carried out more
swiftly than ever; that regards all claims of innocence as equally
dubious; and that sees electrocution of human beings as the last
proof that the Florida government can do something right. Mercy
is not strained, it is vaporized. Justice lives elsewhere.

"This is my last capital case. In the end, it was two small details
that became the final straws for me. First was the United States
Supreme Court’s page Imit.?® Itis a petty thing, and its pettiness is
the point. The Justices’ law clerks could not be bothered to read
an extra forty-five, doublespaced pages about why Florida was on
the verge of executing an innocent man. This cbscene pettiness is
ironic given the Court’s alleged belief that “death is different.”*
Second, and one of the most bizarre twists of the Florida Supreme
Court’s vile performance in Mr. Spaziano’s case, was its unilateral
decision to fire me as his lawyer. This decision was applauded by

have done this and did not know it." Most important, the police located
an evewitness, Mr. William Enquist, who positively idendfied Tate as the
individual ke observed at the scene of the crime with scveral women
near the time of the killing. None of the docufents containing this
informarion were disclosed to the defense at trial

The State also falled to disclose the contents of an interview with
Mr. bilisie [sic] conducted in October 1674 (about six months before
the first disclosed interview), Although only police notes confirm this
interview (as opposed to & transcript or tape), it appears that this was
the first police interview with Dilisio [sic] where the subject of the
murders in the dump arose. The police notes indicate that all Mr,
Spaziano had ever {allegedly} said to Dilisio {sic] was, “[MJan, that's my
style.” The report does not indicate thut Mr. Spazianc admisted to the
murder or that he gave any other information to Mr, Dilisio [sic], but
he only supposedly claimed that it was his “style.” Of course, six months
later, in the first recorded staternent of Dilisio {sic], the story had radi-
cally changed. By the zime of the trial, Dilisio [sic] claimed even more
extensive staternents were made by Mr, Spasdano. Yet, defense counsel
did not have availzble the contents of the frst interview . . . .
Mello, Death and His Lawyers, supra note 20, at 28-33 {citing Michael Mello, Draft of
Editoriul: Save an Innocent Man, the Courts Refuse (June 4, 31995) {on file with au
thor} {emphasis in original)}.
22 Mello, Death and His Laswyers, supra note 20; Mello, The Hypnotizved Witness and
the Condemned Man, supra note 20.
23 Sue. Cr. R, 83.3.a., supre note 5.

2 Gregg v. Georgia, 428 US. 153, 188 (1076).
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the Orlando Sentinel® the St. Petersburg Times and — most pain-
fully to me — the Miami Herald®™ The Florida Supreme Court’s
determination to fire me from this case was readily apparent. After
the Florida Supreme Court modified its September 8, 1995 deci-
sion,”® Mr. Spaziano filed numerous motions in the days that fol-
lowed. On September 20, 1995, I received a letter from the
Supreme Court of Florida, Office of the Clerk. It said in its
entirety:

Your letter to Joseph Spaziane, Motion 1o Hold Evidendary
Hearing in Abeyance Pending (1) Resolution of the Counsel
Question and (2) the Filing and Disposition of a Timely Petition
for Writ of Certiorari, and Motion to Treat Previously Filed Re-
hearing Motions as Petitions for Habeas Corpus, and for Ex-
traordinary Relief have been received via our FAX on
September 14, September 15 and September 18, respectively.
These have not been docketed and will not be forwarded to the
Court.

The Colurt has authorized me to direct you not to FAX any
more pleadings or lewers in re: the Spaziano case since you are
no longer counsel in the case.

Our FAX is to be used for death warrant cases and emer-
gencies only.*®

When Mr. Spaziano moved to recuse four justices of the Flor-
ida Supreme Court, that court issued the following Order:

‘The Mation to Recuse Four Justices of the Florida Supreme
Court, Appendix A, and the Supplement to Renewed Notice of
Appeamnce§ filed in the above cause by Michael A. Mello are
hereby stricken as they were filed by an attorney not authorized
by this Court to appear for appellant.>

The Florida Supreme Court’s Orders reveal two things. First,
they expose the length to which the court will go to deprive Mr,
Spaziano of his constitutional right to effective assistance of coun-

25 fustice for Spazians, G ANDO SENTINEL, Aug. 25, 1995, at ALZ,

26 Lucy Morgan, Spaziane Report to Remain Secret, $7. PETERSBURG Tnags, Aug. 26,
1995, at 48.

27 Less Panic’ for Spazians, Miami Herarp, Sept. 13, 1995, at 10A

28 Spazianc v, State, 660 So. 2d 1863 (Fla) (per curiam}, modified, {1995}, cert.
denied, 116 8, Ct. 722 (1906). See infra pp. 34142 and notes 78-82.

20 Letter from 5id ] White, Clerk, Supreme Court of Florida, to Michael Mello,
Professor of Law, Vergmont Law School {Sepr, 20, 1995). The text of this letter ap-
pears in its original form. It has not been altered in any way {original on file with the
New York City Law Review).

36 Spaziano v, Sthte, No. 67,929 (Fla. Jan. B, 1986}, The text of this Order appears
in its original form. It has not been altered in any way {original on file with the New
York City Law Eevigw}.
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sel. As the Supreme Court of Florida knows — and as Mr, Spazi-
ano reaffirmed in a2 Retainer Agreement, signed and notarized on
December 21, 1995 and provided to the Florida Supreme Court »
1 am Mr. Spaziano’s appellate attorney. The legality of the.court’s
ruling is the precise question presented in Mr. Spaziano’s United
States Supreme Court Certiorari Petition. Second, the Florida
Supreme Court’s Orders confirm that it would not “authorize™! —
to use the court’s own term - me to represent Mr. Spaziane in the
appeal that was certain to follow from the evidentiary hearing. But
for the intervention of Holland and Knight,”® Governor Chiles
would likely have signed a new death warrant on January 10, 1996.
Thus, Mr. Spaziano would have been unrepresented, and executed
without any appeal at all.

The Florida Supreme Court’s Orders crystallize the essence of
this case. The Orders are a breathtakingly raw and naked exercise
of brute judicial power, without even the pretense or the trappings
of legality. The Florida Supreme Court’s lawless dictates cite no
authority, perhaps because there is none to cite. Federalism® is
based on trust. In this case, the Florida Supreme Court has proven
itself unworthy of such trust

The Florida Supreme Court, that angel of oblivion, has a his-
tory of evading and defying the United States Supreme Court’s
constitutional commands.>* However, never before has the Florida
Supreme Court's arrogance of power been so obvious. The most
recent Florida opinions in Spaziane demonstrate that the Florida
Supreme Court has learned nothing from Gideon v. Wainwright™®

oI

32 Holland and Knight is Florida's largest and richest Iaw firm, with offices alf over
the State. It might be characterized as a whiteshoe, establishment firm. To say thatic
is politically well-connected would be an understatement.

38 "The fedexal principle or system of political organizaton . ... Of or partaining
to, or of the nature of, that form of government inr which two or more states consti-
tute a political unity whife ramaining wore or less independeut with regard 1o theix
internal affairs.” Tre Onrorn Encrs Dicrtonary 795 (2d ed. 1989},

34 Se Hitchcock v. Dugger, 481 1.8, 393 {1987) (Court held jury instroctions to
consider only statutory mitigating factors in capital case was improper as any relevant
mitigating evidence, including nonstatutory mitigating circumstances, should be con-
sidered); Gardner v. Florida, 430 U8, 349 {1977} (Court held defendant’s due pro-
cess violated when confidential information that wounld have persuaded the jury to
sentence defendant to life in prison rather than death was witlheld during resentene-
ing hearing); Argersinger v. Hamlin, 407 U.S. 85 {(1972) {Court held imprisenment
without benefit of counsel even for misdemeanors and petty offenses a violation of
due process); Gideon v. Wainwright, 872 U.8, 8384 (1968} (Court ruled that a right w0
counsel was necessary to protect indigents even during prosecution of lesser crimes).

35 572 U.S. 334 (1963).
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and Argersinger v. Hamlin,®® both Florida cases.

We learned in Gideon and Argersinger, and most recently in
Hitcheock v. Dugger® that the only apparent way for the United
States Supreme Court to prevent the Florida Supreme Court from
evading federa] constitutional law is for the Court to grant plenary
review and regoundingly reverse Florida cases in no uncertain
terms. Sadly, the Florida Supreme. Court’s dictates in this case
show that court cannot be trusted to enforce the federal Constitu-
tion, Certainly, Florida cannot be trusted to decide who dies in
secret.

As 1 write these words, Joseph Spaziano has a stay of execu-
tion.?® What the Florida Supreme Court will ultimately do with his

86 407 U.5. 25 {1972).

37 481 U8, 393 {1987).

38 3 you've skipped ahead to “The Happy Ending.” see infra pp. 438-44 and notes
12026, then this is o surprise. The stay is duc to the enormeous press coverage gen-
erated hy his plight, and not due to anything done by any defense Iawyer or judge. 1
am most grateful to the Miami Flerald, although the newspaper is not shy about claim.
ing full credit for saving My, Spaziano’s life. Of course, the Herald did not adopt Mr.
Spuariano out of altruism. The newspaper had its own institutional reasons. Neither
the Herald’s reasons, nor its self-promotion, diminish the public service it performed
in the Spaziano case.

1 wili never find the words to express my profound gratitude to the Herald for
saving Joe's life, even if only for a short time. 1 will not say that the amount of fime
does not matter, because it does; more time is always better than less. Siull, what
matiered most to me - and, I think, 1 Joe - was the fagt that somceone had Listensd to
the record in his cabe, and that someone had written it down and published it. That,
and the fact that the Herald s stay let him enjoy another Thanksgiving, Christraas and
New Year. Thatis how Joc and 1 have marked the passage of time over the years, one
holiday season zt adime.

And vet . . . the Herald's success only underscored my failure as Joe's lawyer. [
have poured my soul into Joe's case, for as long as § have been e jawyer, and | never
succeeded in convincing a single judge 10 even consider the evidence of innocence. If
I could not persuade any court apywhere not to kill my innocent client, then what was
tlie point? Maybe the “system” is too obtuse to care, or maybe T am just not sch of 2
lawyer. Either way, It seers time to quit. It's far past time, actually. The biggest
mistake I made in Joe's case was going 10 the Herald in 1995, rather than in 1983, 1
piayed the poiite professional far longer than the courts deserved. [ trusted the judi
ciary not to kili an innocent man.

The media's coverage of Spazians, with the exception of the Orlando Senting,
comes far closer to the truth than anyihing yet written by a judge or a law clerk. See,
2., Liz Baimaseda, WChiles” Logis, Like This Case, Is Full of Holes, Misst HeraLp, Aug. 3,
1995, 2t Bl Wiﬁiam Booth, Gov. Chiles Halts Execution Afler Witness Recants, WasH,
Post, June 17, 1995, at AB; Cartoon, Moana HERaLD, Aug. 31, 1995, at 20A; The Death
Penatty: Change of Heart, Economst, fune 24, 1905, at 28; Death by Secret Evidence, Musaat
Heraip, Aug. 25, 1995, at 22A; A Death Penalty Mistahe, S1. PerERsporc TivEs, fune 4,
1998, at 2, Death Unwaerranted, Mison Hiralp, June 16, 1995, at 30A; Martin Dyck
man, Coll Again for Clemency, Sv. Pererspurc Trvzs, June 13, 1905, at 11A; Martin
Dyckman, A Man May Die Under Couer of Secrecy, St. Prrerspurc Trwes, Aug. 27, 1995,
at 31y, The Executioner’s Song, Tue NeEw Rerualic, July 17 & 24, 1995, at 9; Tom Ficdler,
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Tuking the Politics Out of Capital Punishment, Miamt Heravp, June 18, 1995, at I1G; Linda
Gibson, Court Gives "Crazy Joe' 11ih-Hour Reprieve, NaT'n. L, Sept. 25, 1995, at AlY;
Michael Griffin, Spaziano Ashs Chiles, Cabinet for Clomensty Hearing, ORIANDO SENTINEL,
June 29, 1995, at Al10; Michae! Griffin & Fim Leusner, Ghiles to O.K. Spaziane's Death,
Orianpo Sextings, Aug. 24, 1998, at ALy Justics for Spazians, Orranpo SenmineL, Aug.
285, 1995, at A1%; James §. Kilpatrick, Florida May Execufe Innocent Man, Miamy Herar D,
June 8, 1995, at 21A; Lawyer for Spaziane Asks for More Time, T ALLAHASSEE DEMOCRAT,
Sept. 12, 1995, at 8B; Less ‘Panic’ for Spaztano, Miamy HErsLn, Sept. 13, 1995, at 104;
Jim Leustier & Michael Griffin, Chiles Keeps FDLE Records of Spaviane Review, OReANDO
SENTINEL, Ang. 26, 3095, at DB; Bryan K Marquard, Lawyer Strefches the Ethics Enwelope,
Varrey News, Oct. 8, 1895, at 1; Bryan K. Marquard, Oppesition 10 Capital Punishment
Goes Back o Teen Years, Varinmy News, Apr. 8, 1094, at 3; John D, McRinnon, Speviens
Lawyer: Hearing a ‘Sham,” Miana Heratn, Sept. 19, 1988, at 6B; Kevin Metz, Clemency
Sought in Death Case, Taves Frasung, June 29, 1995, Kevin Metz, Chiles Orders Execution
of Riller, Taira Trisung, Aug, 25, 1995, at 1; Kevin Metw, Spariane Gets Stay of Execution,
Tamps Tripune, Sept. 13, 1995, at 4; Bill Moss, Joe Spazians Gets Fifth Death Warrant, Sr.
Prrerssire Times, Aug, 25, 1995; Tim Nickens & Lori Rozsa, Gov. Chiles Steps in; Exe-
cution Called Off Muavn Heratp, June 16, 1995, at IA; Tum Nickens & Lori Rozsa,
Governor Conviders Staying Execution, Mtamt Heralp, June 15, 1995, at BB; Touny Proscio,
Anatomy of a Lie Miamt FiERaLD, Sept. B, 1995, at 25A; Tony Proscio, ‘Memory' of Mur
der, Mochery af fustice, Miayn HEraLD, June 14, 1985, at 15A; Diane Rado, Justices Grant
Stay to Spariane, S1. PETERsURc TiMes, Sept. 13, 1995, at 1B; Diane Rado, Spazianc'’s
Layer Says State Lied, St. Perzrssurc Trqps, Sept. 1, 1995, at 5B; Larry Rohter,
Though Witness Recants, Florido Muan Faces Death, NY. Towes, Oct, 3, 1995, at Al4 Lord
Rozsa, & Case Built on Hypnosis Crumbles, Misvs Herarp, June 16, 1995, at 1A, Lot
Rozea, Case # 75430, Mians Hurarn, Nov. 19, 1995, ar 1A: Lori Rosa, Chiles Based His
‘Crazy Joe' Decivton. on Flawed Report, Miami Herarn, Sept. 18, 1995, at Al; Losi Rozsa,
Candemned Inmate Gets New Hearing, Miaa Herarn, Sept. 9, 1995, at 1A; Loyt Rozsa,
Murder and Memary: Witness Recants, But the Chair Awaits, Miava Herarp, Sept. 6, 1985,
at IA; Lori Rozsa, Crazy Joe'Is Granted a Heprieve, Miaat HERALD, Sept. 13, 1995, at 14;
Lori Rozsa, ‘Crazy Joe' Trial Witness Told Pastor That He Lied, Miamt Heratd, Sept. 21,
1995, at 1A; Lori Rozsa, Governor Ashed to Free “Greazy Joe," Misva HEraLp, June 30, 1995,
at 5B Lori Rozsa, Peyehic ‘Sees® More in ‘Crazy_joe’ Case, Miasn Flerary, Oct, 15, 1995, at
1A; Lord Rousa, Witness: Don't Kilf Convict, Mias HERAID, June 11, 1995, at 1A; Lord
Rozsa & Mark Silva, Witness® Change of Heart Fuils to Persuade Chiles To Spare ‘Crazy Joe,'
Mizmi Herald, Aug. 25, 1995, at 1A; Brace Shapiro, Not for Burning, Tue Narton, July
17724, 1995, ar 79; Mark Silva, ‘Crazy Joe's’ Lawyers o Square Off Today, Miamt Herarp,
Sept. 7, 1995, at BN, Mark Siiva, Court Faces Quandary on Spaxiano, Miav Herarn, Sept.
8, 1995, at 5B; Mark Silva, Spazianc May Lack Lawyer for Hearing, Maamz Herarn, Sept,
12, 1995, at 5B; Beth Taylor, Essay Writing Lauyer Rejoins Kitler's Case, ORLANDO SENTE
~NEL, Junie 8, 1993, at B, Tiek-Tick for Crazy Jos' Miame HErary, Aug. 30, 1995, at 104;
Time Is Bunning Out, 5. Peterssurc Tivzs, June 15, 1995, at 14A; Too Much Doubt in
Spraztane Case, Tampa TrISUNE, June 17, 1995, at 12; David Von Drehie, A Fyprotized
Wirness, Wasn, Post, Sept. 15, 1955, at A2E;, World News Tonight with Peter Jennings:
Hypnolized Witness Recants Story (ABC television broadcast, June 30, 1995) (transeript
on fite with the New York City Law Review}.

The best accounts of the evidentiary hearing regarding Anthony Dilisio’s re-
cAnted testimony are: Cart Hiaasen, Fuirly Convict Crazy Joe - or Let Hun Live, Miamy
Herats, Jan. 1%, 1996, at BL; John D. McKinnon, One fudge Holds Key to Crazy Joe's Fate,
Miami HeraLp, Jan. 16, 1996, at 1A; John D. McKinnon, Tables Turned, Stale Grills Ex-
Star Witness, Mianr Herawp, Jan. 11, 1996, ar 5B; John D. McKinnon, Witnesses: Truth
wocts Told én 776, Mraan Heravp, Jan. 14, 1996, at 6B; Retry 'Crazy Joe', Misan Herarp,
Jan. 17, 19986, at 10A; Lori Rozsa & John D. McKinnon, ExGirlfriend: ‘Craxy Joe' Foreed
Me to Lie, Miast Henarp, fan, 12, 1906, at 5B,
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case is impossible to know. He may have been executed by the
time you read these words. He may have been released from
prison. In a cockeyed way, it will not matter; cither way, Joe is
dead, He could be released from prison tomorrow, but he is an
old man now who spent his hife on death row for crimes he did not
commit. He trusted the judges, in part because I told him he
shouid, He trusted me. I failed We failed. Joe could be freed
tomorrow. He could make it to Vermont to teach me to ride a
Harley. He could do many things, He’d still be a dead man
walking.

But right now, Joe has a stay, and 1 am guardediy nonpessimis-
tic that his stdy will hold, There is a moment toward the end of
Carnus’ The P{agw“ when, against all expectations, signs emerge
of a slight abatement of the horror.® The season slowly changes,

By far the worst accounts of the hearing are the “coverage” provided by the Or
lando Sentinel. Michael Griffin & Beth Taylor, Brother Against Brother, ORLANDO SENTE
NEL, fam 14, 1996, at Al; Michael Griffin & Beth Taylor, Dilisios Facts Weblie
Oruanpo SentineL, Jan, 11, 1996, at Al; Michael Griffin & Jim Leusner, Spazians
Brothers: Joe Said He Killed 6 Nurse, OrLANDO SENTINEL, Jan. §, 1996, at A%, Michael
Griffin & Jim Leudner, Spazians s Former Girlfriend Contradicts DiLirio's Stary, ORLANDO
Servruves, Jan. 12, 1996, at AL Michael Griffin & Jim Leusner, Spasianc s Life Flinges on
Whether fudge Befieves Witness's Latest fsic} Story, Oruaning Seeermy, Jan, 7, 1996, at Al;
Jim Leusner & Michael Griffin, Former Outlow: Spaziane Enjoyed Killing, ORLANDO SEN
TINEL, Fas 8, 1996, at CL, Jimm Leusner & Beth Taylor, Spaziane’s Future is Now in
Hands of Circuit fudge, Oreanpe Spvres, Jan, 16, 1996, at AT Jim Leusner & Michael
Griffin, Stepmother Disputes Dilisin’s New Version, OrLANDO SENTHNEL, Jan. 13, 1996, at
Al; Beth Tavlor & Michael Griffin, Ditisio: 7 Wronged Spaziane, OrLANDO SENTINEL, Jan,
16, 1996, at Al.

The Sentinel hns cheapened public discourse over Mr. Spaziano’s guilt. It has
cheapened journalism, Both deserve better. ¥ was unable o comprehend Michael
Griffin's difficulty in understanding 2 one page motion 1 filed in the Flonida Supreme
Court in September 1595, The motion's caption, as well as its nonlegalistic and clear-
asa-bell contents, made clear that it was 1 request for judiclal guidance about whether
I should move to withdraw as My, Spaziano's appellate counsel. Mr, Griffin read the
motion as & motion to withdraw, and mischaracterized the motion in his newspaper,

The homicide and the resuliing trial occuarred in the Sentfinel’s back yard in Semi-
nole County. After the Senfinel slept on the case for almost two decades, the Herald
secured the break that turned the case around and that resulted in two stays of execu-
don and an evidentiary hearing - after working on the case for a mere three weeks.
The Heralds investigations seem 10 cast doubt on the Sentinel’s findings and reporss.

From the beginning, it appears that the Sentinel received information from other
sources which were not disclosed to Mr, Spaziano and his attorney, Thus, the Sentingd
published “confidential” information immune from cross-examination or any other
means of adversarial testing.

39 "The phrase, of course, comes from Sister Helen Prejean’s haunting memoir. See
Heien Pagman, 8.1, Duap Man Warkinag: An BEvewiragss Account Or The Dearn
Penacty In Tue Unrren Stares {19983,

0 ArperT Camus, THE PLacur {Stuart Gilbert, wans, Alfred A, Knopf 1968)
{1948).

41 I at 241
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but not everyone can adapt.*® Camus writes the following:
Some of them plague had imbued some of them with a skepti-
cisrn so thorough that it was now a second nature; they had be-
come allergic to hope in any form. Thus even when the plague
had run its course, they went on living by its standards. They
were, in short, behind the times. ®®

The only solace left for me now is knowing that, no matier
what happens, the governor and the Florida Supreme Court can
destroy Joseph Spaziano’s body, but they cannot destroy his soul or
his story. 1 will not allow them to write his history—our history.

This story begins on August 25, 1995, . . .

42 Id. ar 24344,
48 Jd at 244,
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{I. LerrEr TO FLORIDA GOVERNOR Lawron CHILES,
Aucust 25, 19954

I wrote this letter to the Governor of the State of Florida, Law-
ton Chiles, on the day after he signed Joseph Spaziano’s fifth death
warrant. At that time, Mr. Spaziano’s execution was scheduled for
September 21, 1995 at 7:00 a.m.

[sic]August 25, 1995

Governor Lawton Chiles
The Capitol
Talinhassee, ¥, 32399.0001

via fax (904) 4889810
Dear Governor Chiles:

I learned from yesterday’s Orlando Sentinel » rather than from
any member of your staff - that you signed another death warrant
on Joseph Spaziano. The Sentinel also reported a secret FDLE re-
port that relied upen alleged statements made by unnamed and
unidentifiable persons, Ron Sachs apparently leaked both the
FDLE report and the fact that a warrant would come yesterday.

k

Your decision to inform the media that a person 's death war-
rant would be signed — rather than to tell the man’s attorney first
- i3 beneath contempt. The only thing more revolting is that you
base the warrant on secret information allegedly received from se-
cret sources not subject to cross-examination to test the reliability
of their witness.

In a letter you wrote on Auguast 17th — the existence of which
Ilearned on August 25th, the day after you signed the warrant and
two days after you leaked the report to the Orlando Sentinel — you
directed the ¥DLE that its investigative materials “may not be in-
spected or copied” - by Mr. Spaziano’s counsel or by any media
organization other than those reporters selected by yourself. In
the end, have you no shame sir? Have you no shame at all? Your
approach bears more resemblance to the Star Chamber than to a
hall of justice. {sic]

4% The text of this lewer appears in iis original form. Tt has not been altered in any
way, as indicated by the use of {sic] {copy on file with the New Yok Gity Law Review).
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[sic] As 1 know you are aware, actions have consequences.
Ideas have consequences. If my idea, explained to you in great and
documented detail, is correct, and Mr. Spaziand is innocent, then
his execution is simple murder.

“Murder” is the word Mr. Spaziano uses to describe what the
state has been trying to do to him for the past two decades, and
“murder” is the right word. It’s a word he had used often in private
conversations with me over the years, but when he used it in an
ABC Nightly News interview, 1 cringed inwardly. “Jesus, joe,” 1
though; this kind of hyperbole doesn’t help us.” But, the more |
thought about it, the righter my client sounded to me. Once
agalnst, the plain spoken common sense of my notformally-edu-
cated client had trumped my law-trained lexicon; Mr. Spaziano's
intuitive, earthy naming had cut through the tissue of complexified
legalisms that have always tended to obscure the bonelevel unfair
ness in this case. Mr. Spaziano is innocent. Killing an innocent
person is simple murder. People who, aware of the facts, order the
killing of innocent people are simply murderers. Their accom-
plices are treated as legally — and morally — equivalent to mur-
derers; accomplices stand in the shoes (morally, if not legally) of
their principals.

That murder will have many accomplices. Governor Lawton
Chiles. Dexter Douglass, your general counsel, who sees his job as
being the whitewashing of the state’s frameup of my client. Attor-
ney General Butterworth. Your unindicted co-conspirators at the
Orlando Sentinel bulletin board.,

None of the people named will actuaily throw the fatal switch.
But under wellsettled criminal law principles of accomplice liabil-
ity, they acted in ways that reasonable people would expect to re-
sult in the killing of an innocent man. The killing of that innocent
man was the natural and probable consequence of the facts and
circumstances as they knew them {0 be. 'These people cannot plead ig-
norance of the facts. They knew the facts as set out in papers.

The people named would reply that they are not murderers,
that they acted under the color of law - and, in a positivistic sense,
they'd be right. But the whole point of the Nuremberg trials was
that government bureaucrats who commit murder under color of

fsic]
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[sic]law are still murderers — if they possess knowledge of the facts
and circumstances that animate their actions and that imbue those
acts — actus reas, we call them in the criminal law dodge — with
mental awareness — mens reg that defines one’s quantum of culpa-
bility for homicide. Under our criminal law, what distinguishes
capital mmurder from manslanghter from blameless homicide is the
mental state and informational awareness of the killer: murder is
the purposeful homicide, or homicide with such a high degree of
knowledge and certainty that the law will treat it as purposeful kill-
ing; homicide done with lower levels of mental awareness — negli-
gence or recklessness, say — are considered manslaughter. Same
homicidal act. What distinguishes murder from manslaughter
from non-culpable homicide (killings committed in self-defense,
for instance) is the mental state of the killer. What did he know,
and when did he know it.

As I set out in Mr. Spaziano’s clemency application, the named
people who are accomplices to the murder of Joe Spaziano knew
this, That makes them all accomplices to murder. Of course,
they'll never be charged. They're judges and lawyers, who are just
doing their jobs, just following orders, Who will judge the judges?
Or the govemf)r?

To paraphrase the New Republic writing of the genocide in Bos-
nia, evil is a mirror, and the evil of Joseph Spaziano’s case is 1 mir-
ror, too. Among the images in the Florida glass is an image of
America, and it’s not pretty. Your office seems to be taking a sab-
batical from legal seriousness, blinding itself to the moral and prac-
tical imperatives of its own power 1o stop this killing, to prevent this
particular murder from being committed in our name.

Well not exactly done in our name. You would be an accom-
plice to murder. Not so the American public, not even the Florida
public. The Fig)rida governor does not have the right to make the
people of their state seem as indecent as you are. You have the
power, but you do not have the right. The evidence is everywhere
that more and more Floridians, even proponents of capital punish-
ment -~ especially proponents of capital punishment, God bless’em
— would like to know why Joseph Spaziano is being killed in their
name. They await your answer. Mr. Spaziano and his family await
your answer. Your whole world is watching — and waiting.

[sic]
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fsic]Sincerely,
/s/
Michael Meilo
Professor of Law
Counsel for Joseph Robert Spazianoisic]
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HI. Memoranpum, Aucusr 27, 190540

I sent this memorandum to a group I hold near and dear.
They are colleagues and staunch supporters of Mr. Spaziano’s
plight. They include Pat Doherty, a Clearwater, Florida criminal
defense attorney who was my co-counsel for a brief time; Mark Ol-
ive, my boss when I worked at Capital Coliateral Representative
(CCR), and the best capital post-conviction litigator in the country,
as far as I'm concerned, for his nontraditional Litigation tactics;
Jenny Greenberg and Matthew Lawry, Co-Executive Directors at
Volunteer Lawyers’ Post-Conviction Defender Organization of
Florida, Inc. (VLRC); Steve Gustadt, a pro boneo investigator with
VLRC before it lost funding on October 1, 1995 and was forced to
close its doorsi and George Kendall, Associate Counsel, National
Association for the Advancement of Colored People, lLegal De-
fense and Education Fund, Inc. in New York.

[siciIMEMORANDUM
DATE:  August 27, 1995
TO: Pat, MO, Jenny, Matthew, Steve, §11d George
FROM: Mello
RE.: Why 1 will nof take Joe Spaziano’s case back into federal
court'on a successive habeas, or into the state trial
court on a fifth Rule 8.850 motion

E
H

All of you are understandably skeptical about my decision not
to take Joe’s case into Federal court. I'll try here to sort out my
thought processes.

There is an undeniable legal benefit in going into every possi-
ble court to se€k a stay: The system of capital punishment is ran-
dom, and we might get lucky and get a stay from the federal courts
- if we don’t ask, we don’t get. There is also a psychological bene-
fit: we feel better, because we've done all we can do as lawyers; our
client feels hetter, knowing that we've knocked on every legal door,
the judges feel better, because they can tell themselves “the de-
fense system worked because they defense lawyers scurried like rats
from court to court, raising every conceivable issue (we chide them
for doing that, but we don’t mean it);” ditto the public feels better.

{sic}

# The text of this memorandusm appears in its original form. It has not been
altered in any way, as indicated by the use of [sic} (copy on fite with the New York City
Law Review),
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[sic] So the benefits of the eleventh hour dash are clear and
familiar to us; we've all been through the drill before. But every
litigation decision we make — be it 10 go into court or not o —
entails risks as well as benefits. The risks are as un-quantifiable as
the benefits, The best I can do here is try to identify the risks as well
as the benefits in choosing whether to take Joe's case into federal
coust under a fifth {count ‘em} warrant.

First, the cost of foregoing the federal courts are minimal: to
paraphrase Lincoln in 1862, for Joe Spaziano, there is no North —
not on a successive habeas petition, at any rate. The “federal
courts” here mean Kendall Sharp, Ed Carnes, and the Big Bill
Rehnquist Court. Sharp has never granted CPC, much less a stay
or an evidengary hearing; in 13 years on the bench, Brother Sharp
has not once found a single claim by a condemned prisoner to be
non-rivolous - to say nothing of sufficiently potentially meritori-
ous to justify-a stay, Ed Carnes — the Alabama capital prosecutor
cross-dressing as a federal appellate judge - requires no com-
ment. My, Ed wrote the Eleventh Circuit’s opinion on Joe’s case,
and he spent more energy bitching about the page limit for my
brief than he devoted to the evidence of innocence 1 raised in the
goddamn brief. So we clear the Fleventh Circuit on a successive
habeas petition in a 20-year-old case on which the Court granted
plenary review in 1984, with no stay and no CPC. The innocence-
based cert. petition | filed in November did not get a single vote
for cert. And thatwas on a first habeas - a habeas based on pretty
compelling evidence of innocence, some of which wasn’t procedur-
ally defaulted.

Our evidence on innocence is pretty powerful, but we don’t
have a videotape showing that Joe was elsewhere at the precise time
of the murder. The videotaped alabi isn’t a hypo, of course; that's
what Lloyd Schlup had in his successive habeas petition. And all
Schhup got out of the Rebnquist/Scalia, Thomas (“bitch set me
up”) court was an evidentiary hearing — and that only by a razor
this margin of 5-4, the same number of votes we'd need (5, not 4;
remember Streetman and Herrera?) for a stay in Joe’s case.

So the real legal test, as opposcd to the black letter law, is: If
you have a videotaped alabi, and you're in successor habeas status,
then you might be able 10 scrape together five votes for a chance to

[sic]
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[siclprove your claim at an evidentiary hearing — a hearing which,
in Joe’s case, would occur before Judge Kendall Sharp. And a hear-
ing before Sharp is the most we can expect to get out of the federal
Judiciary, We have Little chance of getting even that, it seems to
me. We don’t have a videotaped alabi, or anything close. Like
Schiup, we're a successor; unlike Schlup, Joe ran innocence as the
centerpiece of his first habeas — and of the 13 federal judges who
could have considered that evidence, none did — not a single one.
In federal court, innocence is irrelevant. The Supreme Court says
s0, and the lower courts listen — as they’re required to do.

So [ think we give up little by foregoing the federal courts.
Let’s take their procedural default/retroactivity/abuse-of-the-writ
rhetoric seriously. Fuck "em.

On the other hand, the risks of going into federal court are
great. We waste our scarce time and energy on essentially hopeless
litigation before judges who don’t think we belong there — and, if
the Supreme Court’s pronouncements in Tzague and Sykes and Me-
Cleskey and Coleman and Parks ate the law, then those judges are
right. We don’ belong in federal court. The Supreme Court has
said s0 again and again. Maybe it's time to start listening to those
robed assholes.

More significantly, it seems to me, by doing the 50-yard dash
from court to court, we shift attention from Chiles and from the
FSC. Most critically, we diffuse responsibility among Chiles, the
FSC, and the federal courts. It's an intersticial, systemic manifesta-
fion of the Private Slovick syndrome and the Caldwell problem: If
everyone shares some responsibility for the killing of this innocent
man, then no one does.

I have long thought that the diffusion of responsibility was the
fundamental systemic and institutional problem with this case.
The jury wasn't sure Joe was guilty, but they knew he was an Qut-
Jaw, and it was Orange County in the mid-1970s. So they split the
difference, and they found Joe guilty but recommended life. The
trial judge didn’t know about the jury’s lingering doubt about
guilt, so he overrode and imposed death. So the jury shifted re-
sponsibility to the judge, and vice versa. And the same thing hap-
pened at each other sequential step along the capital assembly line.

[sic}
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[sic]The FSC deferred to the jury and trial court, as principles of
appellate practice dictate. And the federal courts deferred to the
state judiciary, as principles of federalism command.

Finally, the judiciary (state and federal) deferred to the clem-
ency authority of the governor — which, under Hervera and Graham
they were supposed to do, no matter how idiotically unrealistic Her-
rera and Graham might seem to us. Finally, in 1995, the responsibil-
ity for executing this innocent man rested on the shoulders of one
person: Lawton Chiles. The buck stopped there, and he knew it.
That's why the Heralds coverage persuaded him to stay the warrant
in june, 'm convinced.

And, I'm afraid, I erred in giving Chiles an out when i filed in
the FSC. FDLE and the Orlande Sentinel gave him all the political
cover he needed. We were back in the F8C, so it was the court’s
problem - not his. If we lost in the FSC, Chiles would expect us to
dash into FDC, then the Ilth Circuit and the Supreme Court.
With thudding predictability, the stay would then be denied the
night before the scheduled execution, and all of the attention
and any blame — would stick to the judges and not to Gov. Chiles.
As we all know, that’s the expected drill: the motherfuckers run us
ragged from court to court, thén they kill our clients and blame it
on us for filing at the eleventh hour.

In my opinion, Joe has some (very little) chance of getting a
stay from either of two places: the FSC and Chiles. If the FSC has
any interest in doing right in this case, they have the opportunity to
do so with the out-of-time rehearing motions pending before them.
If the FSC has any inclination now - and they have never shown
the slightest inchination in the eight other times Joe's case has
come before them - in cutting through the procedural screens
the court itself has erected to avoid e¢ven considering the evidence
of innocence here, now they have a chance. T have no reason to
think they will suddenly seize that opportunity. If they don’t, [ see
no reason to give either the FSC or the trial court yet another
chance to default and abuse us.

That leaves Chiles as our best shot at a stay. It is very depress-
ing thought, and I want to be clear that I do not for a moment
think that Chiles will grant a stay out of any impulses of justice or

[sic]



1996} LIES, SECRETS, AND SILENCE 281

{sic]fairness or decency. I keep hearing what a decent fellow
Chiles is, but the May warrant, the stay (in-the wake of public pres-
sure}, and the present warrant (now that the media attention has
died down; remember Larry Joe Johnson?) leave me convinced
that Chiles uses the killing machinery of the state according to the
crass political calculus perfected by Bob Graham, the original wimp
who transformed himself intc a national political force, and who
did so on the charred bodies of our clienss.

That political calculus is, I believe, our only real chance for a
stay, It’s not rauch of a chance, but neither are the courts. It
worked in jumj-;‘. to the amazement of us all (especially me). It may
well not work égain, as it wasn’t supposed to work last time, either.
What we must!do is to maximize the pressures on Chiles.

The key to maximizing the pressures on Chiles is to eliminate
any opportunity for him to pass. the huck to the courts, to close off
all possible escape routes. Thus, it seems to me, our chance with
Chiles hinges on our ability to keep the responsibility for killing
this innocent man squarely on Chiles and on Chiles alone. That’s
why I won’t go' to federal court. That’s why, should we lose in the
F3SC, I won’t file a new 5.850 in the trial court.

‘The magnitude of the pressure Chiles will face will depend,
more than anything else, on our (and the media’s) ability to dis-
credit FDLE’s secret, Star Cliamber “process.” That means getting
access 1o FDLE's report and its underlying materials and exposing
them as the product of a whitewash with a foreordained conclu-
sion. Perhaps the combination of the report and the Oriando Senti-
nel will provide Chiles with enough political cover regardless of
what we are able to ferret out. But I stili think that Joe’s best shot
at a stay — and liis only shot at any real, substantive relief — lies in
my joint investigative venture with the Herald The paper isn’t be-
holden to me or to Joe of course; if they discover evidence joe is
guilty, they'd print it; they’d have to print it. Still, I plan to con-
tinue to treat the Herald as an investigative partner, giving them full
and open access to my files and my thinking. By now, I trust
Miller’s, Holmes’ and Rosza’s ability to distinguish the real, reliable
evidence from FDLE’s smoke screens and McCarthy-esque guilt by
association,

[sic]



282 NEW YORK CITY LAW REVIEW [Vol. 1:259

[sic] It’s terrifying to think that Joe's life is in the hands of a
politician — a politician who has signed two warrants on him
within three months, noimﬂzstandmg the evidence of innocence.
But | believe our best shot is in keeping the responsibiity on Chiles
and on Chiles alone.

If Joe is killed, 1 want there to be no doubt that the final re-
sponsibility rests with one man, a man who must be thinking about
his place in history. 1 want them to know that, no matter how
much good he did the Senate and in the governor’s mansion, it
will all be eclipsed by this; it will all be outweighed by his killing
this man. Tony Proscio was right that this really is a defining mo-
ment for America; it will, T can only hope, be the moment for Law-
tonn Chiles to define how he is to be remembered. This will be the
ultimate measure of the grain of his character and the content of
his soul. This will be in his obituary, no matter how few column
inches he rates when he dies.

Waynie Gretzky (cameo star of Mighly Ducks, I } asked the se-
cret of his success in hockey, said, “I always skate to where the puck
is going, not to where it’s been.,” The continuity of our litigation
strategy under warrant contrast sharply with the discontinuity of
events — the “federal courts,” especially our lower federal courts)
have been packed with hacks by Reagan and Bush — suggests that
perhaps we, by continuing to do the death warrant Shinkansen
through the federal courts, are skating to where the judicial puck
has been. Or maybe it’s the political puck. Or maybe P'm just plain
wrong about all of this, and maybe my wrongheadedness will cause
the death of my one innocent client and close friend. Gene Miller
accused me yesterday of “playing games” with Joe’s life, and maybe
he’s right. On some level this & all a high-stakes game — so is
Russian Roulette, and so are Pentagon war exercises in the Persian
Gulf — but if it &5 all a2 game, then I think we need to consider
changing the rules. My recent experiences with CCR convince me
now — and better late than never, I guess — that Millard was right
when he said at Airlie in 1986 that we risk becoming “the mask of
the executioner.” Better that Joe have no lawyer at all - and that
the world clearly sees that he has no lawyer — than that Joe have
the illusion of a lawyer, a hack PD office like CCR that plays by the
rules laid down by the people whose job it is to kill their clients.

Isic]



1996] LIES, SECRETS, AND SHLENCE 283

{sic] One final word about taking responsibility. This call is
mine {and Joe’s). T've been privileged to have the input and advice
of many, many people far smarter than i, and for that I am deeply
grateful. But the final responsibility is mine alone. I hope I'm
making the right decision on this; I hope even more that we won’t
need to find out, because the FSC will grant a stay to consider the
rehearing motions now pending before it. Gulp.

God help Joe. God help us.[sic]
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IV, UNTENDERED STATEMENT TO FLORIDA: GOVERNOR LAWTON
CHILES AND ATTORNEY GENERAL ROBERT RUTTERWORTH

Actor Mike Farrell co-wrote this Statement and gathered most

46 The text of this Statement and notes 47 and 48 appear in their original form,
‘They have not been altered in any way, as indicated by the use of [sic] {copy on file
with the New York City Low Beview). The signatories include: Sons of Itly Amici
Lodge #2478, Palm Bay, FL. (A5l the members of this lodge are united and
unanimous in requesting 2 new trial.); Sons of kaly Lodge #2648, Marion County, FL.;
Senator George McGovern, Former Democratic Presidential candidate, 1972; Tatbot
’Alemberte, President, Florida State University, Tallahassee, FL., Former Dearn,
Florida Stte University College of Law, Former President, American Bur Association,
Stephen H. Sachs, Parmer, Wilmer, Cutler & Pickering, Washington, D.C., Former
Attorney General for the State of Maryland (1979-1987), (Argued and won the
leading case establishing the constitutionality of Maryland's capital punishment
statute, ), Former U8, Atorpey, District of Maryiand; Professor Michael Millemann,
University of Maryland Law Schoel, Baltimore, MD, Former Chief, Civil Division and
Former Chief General Counsel, Maryland Attorney Genperal’s Office (1979-1981);
James R, Acker, Associate Professor, State University of New York, School of Criminal
Justice, Albany, NY; Anthony G, Amsterdam, Edward Weinfcld Professor of Law, New
York University School of Law, New ¥ork, NY; Aris and Carclyn Anagnos, Los Angeles,
Ca; Congressman John Anderson, Washington, D.C.; Cengressman Tom Andrews,
Washington, D.C.; Dr. Maya Angelon, Winston-Salem, NG; Ira Arlook, Washington,
D.C.; Edward Asner, Los Angeles, CA; Professor David Baldus, University of fowa
Coliege of Law; Alec Baldwin, New York, NY: Professor Susan Bandes, DePaui Law
School, Chicagn, IL; Paul Basile, Editor, Fiu Nei, Chicago, F.; Meredith Baxter, Los
Angeles, CA; Hugo Beday, Anstin Fletcher Professor of Philosophy, Tufts University,
Medford, MA; Dr. joan Willens Beerman, Los Angeles, CA; Rabbi Leonard Beerman,
Los Angeles, CA; Marilyn and Alan Bergman, Los Angeles, GA; Rose Marie Boniello,
State President, Order of the Sons of Italy, Grand Lodge of Florida, Fr. Landerdale,
FL: Scott ¥. Brassart, Editor, Northeastern University Press, Boston, MA; Jackson
Browne, Los Angeles, CA; Brad Buckner, Los Angeles, CA; Richard Capozecla,
Apopka, FL; Erwin Chemerinsky, Lex Legion Professor of Law, University of Southern
California School of Law, Carol Chomsky, Associate Professor, University of
Minnesota Law School; Diane V. Cirincione, Tiburon, CA, Pavid Clennon, Los
Angeles, CA; Professor Douglas Colbert, University of Maryland School of Law,
Battimore, MD; Eimberly Cook, Assistant Professor of Criminology, Mississippi State
University; Professor Mary Coombs, University of Miami School of Law, Coral Gables,
FL; Phyllis L, Crocker, Assistant Professor of kaw, Cleveland Marshall College of Law,
Cleveland, OH; Micki Dickoff, Pro Bono Productions, Los Angeles, CA; Professor §.
Herbert DiFonzo, Hofstra University School of Law, Hcmpstcad, NY, Dominic
Difrisco, President Emeritus, Civie Committee of Ralian Amerieans; Professor Joshua
Dressier, McGeorge School of Law, University of the Pacific; Richard Dreyfuss, Los
Angeles, CA; N. Bruce Duthu, Associate Professor, Vermont Law School, South
Royaiton, VT; Professor Linda H. Edwards, Walter F. George School of Law, Mercer
University, Macon, GA; Nancy Ehrenreich, University of Denver College of Law,
Denver, CO; Diane G. Emery, Human Rights Activist; Shelley Fabares, Los Angeles,
CA; Mike Farrell, Los Angeles, CA; Magda Finnegan, Lifelines Ireland, Dublin,
Ircland; Professor David Firestone, Vermeont Law Schodl, South Rovalten, VT; Robert
Foxworth, Loz Angeles, CA; Bonnie Franklin, Los Angeles, CA; Professor Eric M.
Freedman, Hofstrz University School of Law, Hempstead, NY: William A, Frohlich,
Director, Northeastern University Press, Boston, MA; Michae! Froomkin, Associate
Professor of Law, University of Miami School of Law, Coral Gables, FL: Professor
Linda Galier, Hofstra University School of Law, Hempstead, NY; Professor Leandra
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of the supporting signatures. This document was prepared to be
sent to Governor Chiles in the event that Mr. Spaziano exhausted
all of bis appeals. It's purpose is to beg the Governor for clemency.
What a depressing thought.

[sic]STATEMENT TO GOVERNOR LAWTON CHILES AND
ATTORNEY GENERAL ROBERT BUTTERWORTH IN
SUPPORT OF A NEW TRIAL FOR JOSEPH
ROBERT “CRAZY JOE” SPAZIANO

August 24, 1995, Governor Lawton Chiles signed a death war-
fsic]

Gassenheimer, Walter ¥. George Sthool of lLaw, Mercer University, Macon, GA;
Willaim 8. Geimer, Professor of Law, Washington and Lee University, Lexington, VA;
Sharon Gelman, Los Angeles, CA; Professor Dan Givelber, Northeastern University
School of Law, Former Dean, Northeastern University School of Law; Danny Glover,
Los Angeles, CA; Ann Goldstein, Visiting Professor of Law, University of Texas School
of Law, Austin, TX; John D. Gregory, Hofstra University School of Law, Hempstead,
NY: Alan Grier, Miayni, FL: Bishop Thomas §. Gumbleton, Detroit, MI; Rabbi Steven
Jacobs, Los Angeled, CA; Dr. Gerald G. Jampolsky, M.D., Tiburon, CA; Professor Peter
1. Kahn, Catholic University Scliool of Law, Washington, D.C.; Casey Kasem, Los
Angeles, CA; Richard Kletter, Los Angeles, CA; Professor Stefan H. Krieger, Hofstra
Unéversity School of Law, Hempstead, NY; Charles &, Lanier, State University of New
York School of Coiminal Justice; Piper Laurie, Los Angeles, CA; Jack Lemmon, Los
Angeles, CA; John Lewis, Atlanta, GA; Holly Maguigan, Professor of Clinical Law, New
York University Law School, Dr. Kathleen Maguire, State University of New York
School of Criminal Justice; Ronald D. Maines, Maines & Harshman, Washingion,
D.C.; Rablbi Robert Mam, (lencoe, 1L; Andrew A. Mcthenia, Professor of Law,
Washington and Lee University, Lexington, VA; Professor Michael Mello, Vermont
Law School, Soith Royalton, VT; Gregg Meyer, Staff Attorney, South Royalton Legal
Clinie, South Royalion, VT; Chandier R, Muller, Winter Park, FL; Denise Nicholas,
f.os Angeles, CA: Michael O'Keefe, Los Angeles, CA; Edward James Olmos, Los
Angeles, CA; Gregory Peck, Los Angeles, CA; Deapna . Peterson, Wilder, VT,
Elizabeth Peterson, Minneapolis, MN; Sarah Pillshury, Los Angeles, CA; Sister Helen
Prejean, Author; David Protess, Professor of fournalism, Chicago, H: Bonnie Raite,
Los Angeles, CA; Jefirey T. Renz, Assistant Professor, School of Law, University of
Monsana; Dy, Timonthy Reynolds, M.D, Tos Angeles, CA; David W. Rintels, Los
Angeles, CA; Dr. Victoria Riskin, Los Angeles, CA; Phil Alden Robinson, Los Angeles,
CAc Marianne Rogérs, Athehs, GA; Grant Rosenberg, Los Angeles, CA: Engenie Ross
Leming, Los Angeles, CA; Diane Rust-Tierny, American (ivil Liberties Union,
Washington, D.C.; Professor Jack L. Sammons, Walter F. George School of Law,
Mercer University, Macon, GA; Ed Saxton, New York, NY; Bruce Shapiro, Associate
FEditor, The Nation; Joriathan Sienon, Associate Professor of Law, University of Miams,
Miami, FL; Robert Singer, Los Angeles, CA; Stacy Smith, University of Denver College
of Law, Denver, CO; Scott E. Sundby, Professor of law, Washington and Lee
University, Lexington, VA; David Tarbert, Director, Criminal Justice Clinic, Assistant
Professor of Law, Southern Methodist University School of Law, Dallas, TX; Frank
Torrillo, President, 'Sons of Haly Lodge, Boyton Beach and Lakeworth, FL; Margaret
Vandiver, Assistant Professor of Criminology, University of Memphis, Memphis, TN;
David B. Walter, Walter F. George School of Law, Mercer University, Macon, GA;
Professor Sidney D. Watson, Walter ¥, George School of Law, Mercer University, Ma-
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[sic]rant ordering the execution of Joseph Robert Spaziano, a for-
mer Orlando biker, was scheduled to be executed for a crime he
probably did not commit — the 1973 murder of Lawra Harberts, a
young woman found dead in a Seminole County garbage dump.
The electrocution is scheduled to occur at 7:00 a.m. on September
21, 1995,

We are attorneys, professors, writers, artists-and lay observers
of the Florida legal system. Some of us support capital punishment
as a legitimate sodial policy in the war on crime; others of us op-
pose it.

Although of diverse personal, professional and political back-
grounds, we are united in our conviction that the execution of jo-
seph Robert Spaziano, in the absence of a new trial, would offend
the evolving standards of decency that mark the progress of a ma-
turing society.*” Several reasons reinforce our conviction that Mr.
Spaziano must receive a new murder trial; any one of these reasons
demands a new trial — the combination makes a new trial a com-
pelling moral necessity. Consider:

* There was absolutely no physical evidence linking Mr, Spaziano
to Ms. Harbert’s death. Mr. Spaziano’s conviction was based
solely on the testimony of a teenager who did not “remember”
anything about Spaziano or the alleged crime until police re-
moved him from a juvenile detention facility, dropped pending
investigations on breaking and entering charges, and then “re-
freshed” his memory with grossly suggestive hypnosis sessions,
conducted by a selfstyled police “ethical hypnotist.” This teen-
ager, Anthony DiLisio, is now 37 years old. In 1995, Dilisio and
his lawyer formally joined Mr. Spaziano in asking the governor
for clemency and in asking the courts for a new trial on both the
Harberts homicide conviction and on the previous, unrelated
rape and mutilation of Vanessa Dale Croft, of which Mr. Spazi-
ano was convicted in 1975 — again, based in large part on the
purchased testimony of Anthony Dilisio. Today, Dilisio dis-

[sic]

con, GA; Dennis Weaver, Los Angreles, CA: Richard L. Wiener, Professor, Saint Louis
University; Peter Yarrow, New York, NY ; and Maryann Zaver, Professor, South Royal-
ton Legal Clinic, South Rovyalton, VT (Afflietion 4 for identification purposes only and
does not imply any énstitutional endorsement).

47 Obvicusly, not all of us have read the trial transcript. However, Mr. Spariano’s
attorney has made the transcript and all other files available for our inspection.



1996] LIES, SECRETS, AND SILENCE 287

[sic]avows his testimony in both cases, saying he had been “hrain-
washed” by the police at the time.

At his trial, the prosecution withheld evidence that police had
better suspects in the murder.

The prosecution offered only one piece of circumstantial evi-
dence at trial; the prosecutor knew the evidence was false but
withheld the truth from the defense, judge and jury.

A post-conviction investigation showed that the jury had serious
doubts that Mr. Spaziano was guilty, but because he was a2 mem-
ber of the Outlaws motorcycle club — a frightening thought in
the early 1970s — the jurors voted him guilty to keep him off the
streets. In an effort to show mercy, they recommended a life
prison sentence, but the judge overrode their recommendation
and sentenced Joseph Spaziano to death in Florida’s electric
chair.

Less than a decade after Mr. Spaziano’s conviction, and shortly
after his conviction became final on direct appeal, the Florida
Supreme Court ruled that testimony gathered with the use of
hypnosis cannot be used as evidence because it is unreliable and
potentially harmful. The court relied on experts who said that
subjects who undergo hypnosis become extremely vulnerable to
suggestion and form hardened beliefs that what they
“remembered” while in the trance, no matier how ue or faise,
is absolutely accurate.

The ruling, which came during convicted murderer Theodore
“Ted” Bundy’s appeals, was not retroactive. So even though the
Florida Supreme Court indirectly discredited the only evidence
used to convict Joseph Spaziano, he has been sitting on death
row for 19 years,

There is a popular misconception that criminals often ‘get off’
on legal technicalities; Joseph Spaziano is about to be executed by
one. Society, wrapped up in a frenzy of desire to exact revenge on
murderers, doesn’t seem to care. Despite massive evidence that he
was wrongly convicted, numerous judges have disregarded his ap-
peals as frivolous. Governor Lawton Chiles has refused to grant
[sic]



288 NEW YORK CITY LAW REVIEW [Vol. 1:259

[sic]Joseph Spaziano a clemency hearing. Attorney General But
terworth has argued — with great success - that courts ought to
use procedural devices to avoid deciding the merits of Mr. Spazi-
ano’s claim of innocence. Mr, Spaziano’s appeals — an exercise in
futility — are all but exhausted. The only thing between Joseph
Spaziano and the electric chair is the wait. And he’s scared.

General Butterworth, your office has relentlessly opposed any
new trial in this case, or even any temporary stay of Mr. Spaziano’s
execution. In refusing to join Mr. Spaziano’s (and, today, Mr.
Dilisio’s) requests for a new trial, you are legally correct. Florida
law does not require retrial in cases involving fresh evidence, such
as Mx. Spaziano’s. You are legally correct — but not morally right.
You can, and should, go beyond the minimal requirements of the
law to permit a new trial.

It ought to go without saying that a capital prosecutor’s job is
not to effect as many executions as he can — by any means neces-
sary. Such an act would be moraily reprehensible; prosecutors
swear to uphold the United States Constitution, which directs them
to seek the truth, not stack the deck.

The police officers and prosecutors in this case had a duty to
accurately record the statements of the witnesses, to fairly investi-
gate the case, and to disclose all exculpatory evidence, Moreover,
they had a duty not to prosecute an innocent man. They failed in
these duties,

Whether Joseph Spaziano ought to be executed — in the ab-
sence of a new trial — is one of those choices that tests a civiliza-
tion’s soul. Out of all the static about “defining moments” that
crowds the narrow bandwidth of modern politics and law, here —
finally ~ is a real defining moment for a real public and a real
governoy. What you do in this case will tell wha_t morality, if any,
guides Florida government. The issuc is life and death, and the
choice is yours.

Governor Chiles and General Butterworth, this is no longer a
case about the death penalty. It should not be a case about poli-
tics. It is-a case about public morality, our government’s commit-
ment to human life, and about simple decency. This case tests the

[sic]
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[sicJmoral fiber and legal quality of civilization. The evidence is
cverywhere that more and more Floridians, even proponents of
capital punishment — especially proponents of capital punishment
- would like to know why Joseph Spaziano is being killed in their
name. We await your answer,

Signed:*®{sic]

48 Journalistic ethics preciude professional jourrualists from signing this sort of
statement. However, nationally syndicated columnists James |, Kilpatrick and Colman
McCarthy, National publications including: The New Republic and The Nation, and col-
umns or editorials in every major Florida newspaper have publicly opposed the execn-
tion of Joseph Spaziano. These inciude The Miagmi Forald, The Palm Begek Post, The St
Petersburg Times, The Tampa Tribune, The Lakeland Ledger, and The Gainesville Sur, dlong
with columnists Tom Fledler, Carl Hinason, Tony Proscio, Martin Dyckman and Tom
Biackburn., The Spazano story has been covered by ABC Nightly News with Peler Jen-
nings, The Washington Posi, The Economist, The Nation, Thé New' Republic, The Christian
Science Mondtor and Fra Not {"Chicagolands falian American Votee”), as well as virtu-
ally every Florida newspaper.
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V. OraL ArcouMent, FLorima SurreEME COURT,
SEPTEMBER 7, 1995%°

I filed a Motion for Out of Time Rehearing on behalf of Mr.
Spaziano on July 4, 1995. On Tuesday, September 5, 1995, at 4:00
p.m., the Florida Supreme Court notified me in Vermont that oral
argument on this motion would be heard two days Iater on Thurs-
day, September 7, 1995, at 2:00 p.m. I spent the next day, Wednes-
day, traveling from South Royalton to Tallahassce. On Thursday, I
stood before the Florida Supreme Court in what would prove to be
my last oral argument in a Florida death case.

The oral argument on Mr. Spaziano’s stay application was
straight out of Through the Looking-Glass® Black was white, and
white was black. Florida’s judicial system was not what it was meant
to be, it was a legal fiction. The atmosphere in the courtroom re-
flected the universe of capital punishment itself; chaotic, irrational,
characterized by random acts of violence and mezrcy.

ORAL ARGUMENT

Ladies and gentemen, the Florida Supreme Court. Please be
seated.

Good afternoon. The only case on the docket is Spaziane v.
State.

MELLQO: Mr. Chief Justice. May it please the court. My name is
Michacl Mclle from South Royalton, Vermont, and it is my honor,
my great honor, to be representing Joseph Robert Spaziano in the
proceedings before this court. There are a number of motions
pending before the court and 'm not certzin whether there are
specific motions or specific aspects of specific motions that the
court would like me to focus on but it seems to me that a large
amount of paper pending before the court right now essentially
boils down te four basic points. First and foremost, Joseph Robert
Spaziano is innocent of the events for which he was sentenced to
death nineteen and a half years ago and for which he is scheduled

4% The official record of Florida Supreme Court oral arguments is available only
on audiope from the Florida Smte University College of Law Library. This
document is a transcription of the September 7, 1895 argument as audiotaped by the
personnel at the Florida State Unjversity College of Law Library {original sudiotape
on file with the New York City Law Review).

58 Lrwis Carrorz, Tie Works or Lewss Carroryt 111219 (Roger Lancelyn Green
ed., 1965).
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to be executed two weeks from today. That was my paosition before
this court almost exactly ten years ago when I argued in favor of a
stay of execution on Mr. Spaziano’s first death warrant signed by
then Governor Bob Graham. Mr. Spaziano is innocent, factually
innocent, and I want to be very clear about that. All of the other
factual issues in this case, all of the legal issues in this case, every-
thing I have to say of importance about this case boils down, in my
opinion, to that one basic fact. Second, if, I believe that if I had an
opportunity to prove Mr. Spaziano’s innocence before a jury, he
would be acquitted. All I am asking for at bottom before this court
right now is a stay of execution and the provision of resources to let
me do my job as a capital defense lawyer. I want an opportunity to
prove it to a jtiry. The State has been urguing on the basis of the
record until fairly recently and within the past few weeks on the
basis of superdecret information that supposedly reliable witnesses
supposedly told FDLE that supposedly accurately reported it to the
governor that they have yet more evidence of this crime and they
have attempted to link Spaziano to other crimes. Well, if they've
got the evidence, if it’s so great, let them present it to a jury. If they
want to convict him, if they want to kill him, let them do it the old
fashioned ways What I’'m asking for at bottom is a jury. Give me 2
Jury. If they want o kill him [inaudible].

THE COURT: As I view this, the question here at this moment is
Mr. Desilio’s [sic] alleged recantations of his testimony which . . ..
Your contention is that this was the sole evidence upon which his
conviction was based. Would not the proper procedure be at this
junction to remand this matter to the trial court to conduct a hear-
ing to determine whether or not Mr. Desilio {sic] perjured himself
and gave false testimony at the original trial and then if the trial
judge so found, the trial judge would then proceed to grant you
that new trial in front of a jury. Now how can we as a court bypass
the judge’s hearing on this particular matter and just say you can
have the jury?

MELLO: A couple of points, if I may. First, if the court is willing to
grant a stay and remand the case to the trial court with directions
that I file a 3.850 motion in this case, I will do so. And I will do so
as quickly as possible. The main problem before this court right
now and when we go back to the trial court, if we go back to the
trial court, is Idon’t have an investigator. 1, at this point, and since
this most recent death warrant was signed, VLRC, Volunteer Law-
yers Resource Center, has ceased to exist, and I have been and Mr.



292 NEW YORK CITY LAW REVIEW [Vol. 1:259

Spaziano has been totally reliant upon the good graces and ex-
traordinarily extensive work conducted by the investigative report:
ers at the Miami Herald. They've done a wonderful job, and I am
incredibly grateful to them and joe Spaziano is incredibly grateful
to them, but I would really like to be able to do my own investiga-
tion, not Just of Tony Dilisio’s recantation. That, I think - Tony
Dilisio’s recantation, it seems to me, is a fairly good metaphor of
everything else that’s wrong with this case. When 1 was arguing

THE COURT: Has he recanted under oath?

MELLO: Yes sir, he has. As 1 understand, that he was under oath
when FDLE interrogated him last June. He was not placed under
oath in the version of the video tape of that interrogation that 1
have, which is sort of the other huge lurking problem in this case.
If FDLE had its way, if Governor Chiles had his way, I would not
have that video tape. I would have had to have answered your
question . . . .

THE COURT: You do not have, nor have you filed with this court,
the matter that he has recanted his testimony under oath, do you?
That is not before the court.

MELLO: Oh, I believe that.is before the court. That's before the
court in my motion to reopen the direct appeal to reconsider the
sufficiency of the evidence point and it’s before the court . . . .

THE COURT: [A]lnd I'm saying that you don’t have an affidavit
from him signed by him.

MELLG: That’s correct.

THE COURT: Under cath?

MELLQO: That’s correct.

THE COURT: Recanting his testimony?

MELLOQO: That’s correct. I do not have that affidavit and 1 cannot
get that, affidavit because he lives in Pensacola, is represented by

counsel; 1 live in Vermont and Tony Dilisio doesn’t like to sign
things. I have the next best thing, it seems to me. What ] have isa
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video tape or a portion of a video tape. I am now no longer certain
that the version of the video tape that came into my possession, no
thanks to the government, and that I provide to this court was in
fact the full video tape. But according to the video tape that I have,
Tony Dilisio is very, very clear and very, very emphatic that the
critical, the weight-bearing beam of his testimony at trial was not
true. He said that under oath. He said that to the police, which, it
seems to me, is considerably more reliable than him saying it to me

or signing . . . .

THE COURT: Did he also say that he would not sign anything to
investigators that had come to him asking him to sign something?

MELLO: So far as [ know, no investigator of mine has asked him to
sign something. 1 understand . . ..

THE COURT: Who's the investigator called Hummel?

MELLO: That’s 2 CCR investigator. And according to the video
tape, Mike Hummel and another CCR investigator did atternpt to
get Mr. Dilisio to sign an affidavit. I've never seen a copy of that
affidavit. T don’t know what was in the affidavit. Idon’t know that
affidavit exists.

THE COURT: Any statement by Mr. DiLisio has under oath said
that he committed perjury at the original trial? Where did he do
that under oath?

MELLO: I don’t think I said that he said under oath that he com-
mitted perjury at the original trial. He doesn’t use the word per-
jury. What he has done and what he did under cath - assuming
that .. ..

THE COURT: When was it that he was placed under cath and
gave contradictory testimony?

MELLO: T assume that he was placed under oath when FDLE in-
terrogated him. That fact is not reflected on the version of the
video tape - the bootlegged version of the video tape that I was able
to get on my own, but I understand, although not from first hand
knowledge, that when Florida law enforcement take formal video
taped depositions of witnesses, and especially this witness, that they
would have placed him under ocath. His understanding was that he
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was speaking under oath. And when I alluded to his attorney that I
would very much like a signed statement from Tony Dilisio just to
have something very clear nailed down without any of the ques-
tions that had been raised by - about the veracity of the video tape,
whether he was under oath, he was not enthusiastic about that
idea. And the reason she said her client wasn't enthusiastic about
the idea was because he said, “I've already said that under cath. I
said that to the police under oath. I said it in the FDLE video tape
and I said it very clear, very emphatically in the FDLE video tape.”
Now when I had that conversion with Relly McGray, with Tony
DiLisio’s lawyer, T hadn’t - I didn’t have a copy of the video tape.
All I had was Dexter Douglas being quoted int the Miami Herald as
saying, “There 18 no recantation on this video tape. Tony DiLisio
Just says he doesn’t remember anything before his twenty-first
birthday.,” And based on those representations, which I now know
were willful misrepresentations of the truth, I tried to get Tony
Dilisio to sign an affidavit. But once I got a hold of the video tape
and learned that Tony DiLisic was telling the truth about the video
tape ~ that Kelly McGray, his lawyer, was telling the truth about
what was on the video tape, that the governor’s office was not, 1
didn’t pursuc the affidavit rap.

THE COURT: Let me ask you two questions - if you had an investi-
gator, do you think that DiLisio would talk to that investigator?

MELLO: Yes,
THE COURT: Cn what do you base that?

MELLO: Conversations that I have had with his attorney. Conver-
sations - one conversation that 1 had directly with him at his attor-
neys’ behest, a conversation that I was very squeamish about doing
because I knew that he was represented by counsel, but he very
much wants to tell the truth in this case.

THE COURT: Specifically, how are you being handicapped by not
having an investigator at this point? I know, as a general thing, you
would like for him to do, you know, do what investigators do, but
can you be any more specific than that?

MELLO: 1Isure can. According to the Miami Herald yesterday, and
the reason I keep referring to newspaper articles here is because
that’s my only source of information about the kind of investigs-
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tion that I would like my investigator to be able to do. According
to the Miam: Herald yesterday, there is now some serious question
about whether the State even identified the right remains. The
State’s theory at trial, and 1 tagged two or three dozen references
in the trial transcript to this, the uitimate dump being a dumping
ground for girls. This is where the Outlaws dumped girls, and the
State at least.xaised the very strong inference at trial that the other
identified body was female as was Laura Lynn Harberts’s remains.
Well, it now turns ont that the State knows now or may well know
now, and might well have known then, that the other body was not
female, that the other body was male, which kind of blows their
whole scenario as fanciful, as it always seemed to me it was, of this
being an Outlaw dumpmg ground for girls. 1 would like to get 2
forensic anthropologist in to look at those bones. I've got some-
one at Emory University who would love to do it if I can pay his
expenses, which I can’t. That’s one point. 1 mean that .. ..

THE COURT: I will pick up all your . . ..

THE COURT: Let me ask you a question. I don’t want to cut you
off, go ahead. . ..

MELLO: The znvestxgauon point is the critical one to me. And 1
would - I mean, I could go on for wo or three hours about the
investigation T want to do, and this is not fishing expedition stuff;
tliis is very specific avenues of investigation that Steve Gustaff, my
investigator at VLRC, was working on actively when he got his walk-
ing papers and VLRG shut down.

THE COURT: Okay, let me ask you. Why - kind of a follow-up to
Justice Shaw’s question - why didn’t you file a 3850 back in January
instead of filing with us a motion to reopen a rehearing that was
closed ten years ago?

MELLO: A couple of reasons, one of which relates to Justice
Shaw’s question about resources. 1 didn’t have the resources to put
together . . ..

THE COURT: But of course you had the volunteer people
then. ...

MELLO: They were working on the case then along with all their
other cases. No one expected a death warrant to be signied, at least
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no one that I was talking to expected a death warrant to be signed
when it was last May, and certainly no one expected a death war-
rant to be signed . . ..

THE COURT: How can you say that in the context of this particu-
lar case cause it’s been here, | think, cight times, and there was a
proceeding and an extensive opinion written by the Eleventh Cir-
cuit Court of Appeals and released last October. The United States
Supreme Court denied cert. on that appeal in January. There was
no other proceeding pending, and given those total circurmnstances,
you had to accept that this was a primary case in which a death
warrant would be signed.

MELLO: I made the mistake in January, and I have made the mis-
take as recently as a few weeks ago, of believing the information I
was getting from the governor’s office. That's why 1 - that was the
source of the information. The information was wrong; it was a
mistake for me to rely on it; if I would have - the main point here, it
seems to me, is that if L messed up in not filing this as a 3850, in not
filing it irf January, please don’t take that out on my client.

THE COURT: What was the second reason that you didn’t file?

MEILLQO: The second reason, and this is the reason that | feel a
little more comfortable about than the first reason - the second
reason was precisely because this case had been before this court so
many times in the past, and 1 didn’t want to file a new lawsuit,
because what I was reaily trying to get the court to do, substantively
in the papers itself, in the pleadings themselves, was to get the
court to take another look at the direct appeal judgment, the suffi-
ciency of the evidence judgment, which was based on Tony
DiLisio’s supposed trip to the dump with Joe Spaziano. I mean,
that’s not me - that's the prosecutor, that’s every prosecutor up
until the most recent ones. And since that was the basis - 1 mean,
since that's really what the pleading was about, I decided to call a

THE COURT: Letme ask you one other question. You make ref-
erence to conflict with CCR. What's this conflict?

MELLO: The conflict with CCR is as follows: In the FDLE video
tape, Tony Dilisio accuses CCR’s investigators, Mike Hummel and
one of his colicagues, of essendally trying to strong-arm him into
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signing an affidavit that he didn’t want to sign. My understanding
of the Florida ethics rules and of the Florida statutes on obstruc
tion of justice and witness tampering is that those allegations, if
true, and I underscore if frue, would place CCR’s interests in de-
fending itself against those charges in a position directly conflice
ing with the position taken by the State’s only real witness against
their client at trial who has now recanted. CCR would be placed in
the position of having to argue, and I think CCR would be In the
position of having to argue when Tony DiLisio did the video tape
with FDLE, he was telling the truth when he disavowed his testi-
mony about the trip to the dump with Joe, but he really is not
credible when he talked about CCR. And in fact, | understand that
after - soon after FDLE’s interrogation of DiLisie, FDLE went back
and talked to CCR and asked them, you know, essentially, what's all
this about? And it seems to me that the only ethical course of ac-
gon that CCR could have done at that point, since CCR at that
time still represented Joe Spaziano, was to show the FDLE the door
and not to answer their questions.

THE COURT: Let me ask you this - on the matter of this particular
case - DiLisio, by the recantation of testimony under oath, the testi-
mony at tral y‘ya.s not the only testimony that he gave under oath.
Am I correct?

MELLO: You-are correct.
THE COURT: In other words, he gave testimony under oath in
deposition and assuming he gave testimony under oath before a

grand jury?

MELLO: Yes. Grand jury, I don’t know about the deposition |
have, Yes sir.

THE COURT: Now, the other during the course of the case, there
were two witnesses that testified that Spaziano had a relationship
with the victim. Am I correct? Both her roommate and the room-
mate’s bovfriend . . . .

MEILLO: Not that Spaziano had a relationship with the victim, but
that Spaziano, I suppose it depends on how one defines relation-
ship, but, supposedly, Spaziano had come to the apartment look-
ing for her. | mean, thatwas . . ..
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THE COURT: They both identified him at the trial, did they not?

MELLO: Wel], true, but their identifications, and this did come
out at trial, their identifications are pretty shaky. Their identifica-
tions were that they identified Joe Spaziano by locking at him
through transtucent doors, and I'm not sure how they . . ..

THE COURT: [Wlhat you're challenging, that particular testi-
mony at this stage, now, in addition, and this was at the time just
before she disappeared. Correct?

MELLO: Correct.

THE COURT: And also at the time, at that particular time, an-
other witness testified that Spaziano took him out to the dump to-
gether with another individual in his pickup truck.

MELLO: Took them out to the dump area to look for his stash -
for his stash of marijuana.

THE COURT: Yeah, well, and Spaziane and the other individual
said, “Stay there.” But this was at a time, was it not, at the dump
where the hodies would have been there.

MELLO: Maybe, maybe not. Those witnesses, if memory serves,
and I can double check the record when I sit down, my memory of
the record is that those witnesses were not real clear on the time
frame. But even if those witnesses are right, all that proves is that
Joe Spaziano came to - even if you believe them, and I suggest that
neither of them are believable, but even if you do believe them, all
they show is that Joe Spaziano had gone out to the dump area.

THE COURT: Well, basically, none of these witnesses had any rela-
tion - the witness that went out with Spaziano had no relationship
with the roommate and her boyfriend?

MELLO: Right. Well, I think . . ..
THE COURT: Each of these witnesses had to be wrong.
MELLO: 1 think that they did have a relationship. 1 think all of

the State’s witnesses in this case had a relationship, and I think that
relationship is Detective George Abdey who was desperate to nail



1996] LIES, SECRETS, AND SILENCE 299

the Outlaws. And I think he is the one who is responsible for what
happened to Tony Dilisio and, to the extent that there are ques-
tions about the credibility of other witnesses, and | believe that
there are substantial questions, that’s the common link. That’s the
common ihread, it secrs to me,

THE COURT: It just answered that one question.

THE COURT: The guestion before you sit down, as is obvious the
proceedings before us have taken 4 rather free form. This is the
way that you have approached this case with the court, and it is
obviously causing us considerable difficulty with the pleadings that
you filed, the various filings that you filed with the court. But a
court concern that we have is whether or not this issue could have
been or should have been properly raised in a post-conviction re-
lief motion. Now, if it had been presented in that form, and now
I'm talking about the recurring issue in all of your filings focusing
on recanted testimony by the witness DiLisio. Now, if it had been
filed in that form in a postconviction motion, you would have had
the burden of demonstrating, first of all, that it would have made a
substantial difference in so far as the outcome of the case is con-
cerned of trial. But also, you would have carried a burden of dem-
onstrating some good reason why this couldn’t have been
presented before, why it wasn’t discovered before or whatever.
Now, and the State, you know, would have had an opportunity to
respond to that. We've got a considerable problem with the free
form here of the way that this is being presented. But can you
demonstrate with what you have filed with the court so far, those
ordinarily two essential ingredients that would entitle you to a
hearing before a trial judge to resolve those two questions that I
put. Have you made sufficient allegations or statements in the
pleadings that you have filed that in any way might permit this
court to treat that as the claim that you are seeking or at least one
of the claims that you are secking. One, that you have discovered
new evidence that clearly would make a difference in the cutcome,
and two, that you couldn’t reasonably have discovered that evi-
dence before that time. Could you help us with that, and am |
right, is that the recccurring basis for your claim here and can and
where in your pleadings, or how have you demonstrated that to the
court at this time?

MELLQO: I believe that we have demonstrated in the pleadings and
in FDLE's own video tape that Mr. Spaziano is entitled to a new
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trial. If not entitled to an order of immediate release by vehicle of
reopening this court’s direct appeal judgment on . . . .

THE COURT: What about those two ordinary hoops that you
would have to jump through to entitle you to a hearing before a
trial judge on this? First of all the substantial new evidence, and
secondly, why that hasn’t been presented to the court before?

MELLQ: { can’t imagine new evidence more substantial than a dis-
avowal of the critical testimony by the witness that the trial prosecu-
tOr . .. .

THE COURT: That has not been filed - there are over 1,500 pages
over there that have been filed in this proceeding.

MYILLO: The trazzscrip{s not there?

THE COURT: Well, no, just motions and things that have been
filed in this proceeding, but you have not filed in this proceeding a
statement by Dilisio that his testimony was false.

MELLO: 1 believe . . ..

THE COURT: There is nothing - you do not have any statement,
any affidavit or the transcript of his stating under oath his testi-
mony was false. Isn’t that correct?

MELLO: No sir, that’s not correct. I do have a transcript of him
stating under oath, and as I understand him to be stating under
oath to the police . . ..

THE COURT: You have not filed in this record anything that says
“I swear”, an oath by Dilisio, correct?

MELILO: No, ] don’t have him saying under oath because 1 have,
because FDLAE, because the governor’s office, because the attorney
general has not given me their version of the video tape. Maybe
it’s on their version.

TIHE COURT: That doesn’t mean that you can’t go to him and get
an affidavit from him, does it?
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MELLO: 1live in Vermont. He Hves in Pensacola. He is difficult to
deal with . ...

THE COURT: The investigators that have talked to him since at
lease June . . .

MELLO: They are Miami Herald investigators who have talked to
himz. They are newspaper investigators . . . .

THE COURT: There are CCR investigators that talked to him.

MELLG: He wouldn’t talk to CCR, and I am as curious as you are
as to why that is. He gave an explanation in the video tape why he
wouldn’t talk to CCR, and if his explanation is right, it’s a pretty
good reason, I don’t have an affidavit from him and if I have to
have, in order to get a stay of execution, a signed affidavit from
Tony DiLisio, I do not have that today.

THE COURT: Counsel, you are way over time, but that’s because
we asked you a lot of questions. I'm gonna give the state, if they
need it, another five minutes in addition to their 20 minutes, and
I'll give you a couple of minutes for reburtal.

MELLQO: Could 1 just address, literally in two seconds, your last
point . . .

THE COURT: The second prong, if you will.

MELLO: 1 have not set out in the papers why I was not able - why
my investigators in the past were not able to turn Tony Dilisie
around. I don't have a good explanation for that. My investigator
tracked Tony DiLisio down to Vista, California, in 1985 before the
first death warrant was signed, tried to get him to talk to him, and
he wouldn’t. CCR’s investigator approached him twice earlier this
year, tried to get him to talk to him, and he wouldn’t. Laura Rose
of the Miami Herald tracked him down in Pensacola. First he
slammed the door in her face, second he slammed the door on her
foot, third he let her in to his kitchen; they talked for three hours,
and as they say, the rest is history. 1 don’t know why my investiga-
tors weren’t able to do that. I'm not gonna . . my investigators
aren’t good enough investigators .

THE COURT: Have you set out in any of the pleadings that you
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have filed at this court what you just said, that is that your investiga-
tors or GCR’s investigators have attempted to question DiLisio on
this subject, but that prior to this interview by FDLE that he had
refused to cooperate with the investigators? Is that in the
pieadings?

MELLO: I am not sure whether it is in the pleadings in that form.
1 will write it up right now and file it. I mean, that’s the case, and
to the extent that I can make oral motions, please treat that as one.
I mean, that's what happened, and I will write it up while the state

is arguing,

ROPER: May it please the court, my name is Margene Roper; [ am
an assistant attorney general, and I represent the State of Florida in
this proceeding. For the past 20 years, Joseph Robert Spaziano has
had fly-specking review from all the courts. His case was heard by
the highest court in this nation, the United States Supreme Court;
he has been before the circuit court and before this court at least
six times in.post-conviction proceedings. Mr. Spaziano recognizes
in the out-of-time motion that has been filed in this case that at this
point in time he is simply out of claims, and that clemency is the
proper proceeding. He indicates in his motion to this court—he
addresses the court mistakenly as the Board, referring to the Board
of Clemency, and he states in the introduction to his out-oftime
motion that he recognizes that the claim he has may not be of the
magnitude to require a court to give him relief, and he urges the
Board to take action. I would submit that the Executive Branch is
the proper form in such a case for Mr. Spaziano to have gained
relief. As much as Mr. Spaziano may portray this as 4 gateway claim
0 some other claim, what he has is a claim under Herrara v, Collins,
which is a freestanding claim of innocence. I would submit to the
court that Mr. Spaziano has taken that claim to the proper forum
and simply because he quarrels with the result, is not an issue that
can revoke the jurisdiction of this court. I would submit to this
court that, historically, clemency proceedings have been private
and that is a sad fact--that it's ignored to the benefit of defend-
ants. I would point out to the court that clemency was the proper
proceeding. Mr. Spaziano is out of claims, but if he does have
something he again wants to take before the courts, he’s certainly
in the wrong forum.

THE COURT: What do you say to this rebuttal? A person owns. ..
facing days away from death, all of 2 sudden his counsel finding
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out that he's without resources. He has no investigator. He
doesn’t have a system . . . volunteer Iawyer organization that he
thought he was going to have at this stage, You recognize it gets
rather stressful at this point in the scenario. Everything is being
filed, every avenue is being explored, and here is a person days
from his execution date finding himself in this position. Why
shouldn't he be given a continuance to see whether he can get an
investigator for one thing and, is there some constitutional prob-
iem with that, or you find this . . . ?

ROPER: First of all, I think it would be a mischaractization to say
that Mr. Mello, and his representation of Mr. Spazianc was without
resources. CCR has represented Mr. Spaziano for quite some time.
At this point in time VLRC, it's my understanding, is not defunct.
They will be in existence until September 30th. The warrant runs
out n this case September 26th. They are still making efforts to
get funds, which may happen at this point in time, and there’s no
reason he can't use their investigators. CCR has a statutory man-
date to handle these sort of cases. “There's absolutely no reason
why CCR can't assist Mr. Mello in his efforts. Mr. Mello, at this
point in time, seems to be the only one who is accusing CCR’s in-
vestigator of w‘rongdoing. It’s my understanding . . . .

THE COURT: There's an allegation of conflict of interests even.

ROPER: From watching the tape, your honor, I recall Mr. Dilisio
concluding at the end of the tape, after he had complained about
the biker appearance of an investigator, I recall him concluding
that since CCR had actually helped him, at the end of that tape |
didn’t see Mr. Dilisio filing any charges against GCR and I know of
absolutely no impending charges against CCR. 1 think they are
characterized as wrongdoings by Mr. Melio in an effort to get sepa-
rate funding by this court when there are resources available to
him.

i
THE COURT: Even tighter, with the state conceding he’s entitled
to counsel at this stage in the proceeding .

ROPER: I think you have to look at several things, your honor.
First of all, he is represented by counsel at this stage in the pro-
ceeding. Mr, Mello . . ..

THE COURT: Is he entitled to counsel at this stage?

W
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ROPER: 1 would submit at this stage of the proceeding, when Mr.
Spaziano’s counsel is recognized, that he has no justiciable claim to
bring before the courts and has sought clemency as a last resort,
that farther funding based on speculation would be inappropriate.

THE COURT: Buthe’snot., ...
THE COURT: Go ahead, I'm sorry.

THE COURT: He’s claiming that he has an issue that if he can
show to this court that that is a vald issue, that this court should
then send this case back to the tridl court to make a determination
as to whether or not in fact the recantation of this particular wit-
ness is in fact valid and truthful and, if so, then thar trial judge
should grant a new trial before a new jury. Now, the fact of the
matter is, if he raises that particular issue; how can you say that he
doesn’t have a viable issue before this particular court?

ROPER: Because, your honor, I know of no authority to recall a
mandate in a case a decade old. He is simply in the wrong forum
and he should be seeking funds and whatever other expenses he
may need if he can not get them from VLRC and CCR, which is
doubtful; from the appropriate forum, not this court.

THE COURT: What is the appropriate forum? He already says
that he can’t get it from C€CR because of the conflict there, and he
can’t get it from this particular group which is going out of exist-
ence at the end of the month, and as I looked at the new pleading
that I found here, I came out a few moments ago, and apparently
they are telling him, you know, that they.can’t help him. So whatis
he to do at this partcular juncture?

ROPER: I think CCR has a statutory mandate to help him and one
would ask what sort of investigation he needs at this point in time.
He certainly doesn’t need an expert .. . . .

THE COURT: He needs an investigation apparently and what he
is telling us here today, and somebody going out there to talk to
Mr. Desilio {sic] and see if Mr. Desilio [sic] will sign an affidavit.
He apparently also needs investigators to check out what the gover-
not’s office has in a file which has apparently not been released
publicly and nobody knows what's in that file other than the gover-
nor's office and perhaps the Orlando Sentinel - know what’s in that
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particular file. And what he's saying is, “I need the funds to go out
there and to investigate this particular matter to check all of this
out.” Now what is this man to do? He said, “I don’'t have the
money to do this.”

ROPER: 1 would submit that, your honor, at this late date in the
game, on the eve of execution, that investigation should have been
complete at this time. Dilisio either is or is not Mr. Mello’s
witness. . . .

THE COURT: On that point that investigation should have been
done at this particular point. The fact of the maitter is that the
investigation apparently has not been done. Apparently there is an
allegation out there, and a very strong one, that the prime witness
against the defendant in this particular case has now recanted his
testimony and has said that “I did not tell the wruth at the original
trial.” As a matter of fact, on the video tape that everyone is talking
about which is part of his particular record, he does say that the
first time I ever went to that dump where ‘the bodies were found
was when the police took me there. So we now have this particular
information, and remember what the U.S. Supreme Court said,
death is different, and it’s up to us to decide in this particular court
whether or not we say we’re sorry Mr. Spaziano, you cannot get any
relief from us despite the fact that there appears to be evidence out
there that you may be entitled to a new trial, but we can’t do any of
that for you because counsel didn't file the proper 3.850 motion or
counsel doesn’t have money to investigate this matter any further
and there are no other resources for him to go to. What do we do
as a court? Do we sit back and say, okay, you know, counsel, you
didn’t do the job you should have done. You didn’t file the right
pieading. You don’t have the money. You should have gotten the
meoney way back when, so it's tough, Mr. Spaziano, we're gonna
electrocute you because all these things should have been done
before. Now is that the state’s position?

ROPER: No, that is not the state’s position.
THE COURT: ‘What is the state’s position?
ROPER: The state’s position is that Mr. Spaziano’s counsel is in

the wrong forum. He should be making these requests in the right
forum. It’s debatable . . .
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THE COURT: Are you saying what forum is clemency? When the
fact of the matter is the governor is already investigating this. The
governor has a report that the governor refuses to release o any-
body, and therefore the governor signs and makes a death warrant.
What he's saying is, give me a kttle time, you know, I need, I've got
the evidence here. I need people to go out and investigate this
proof,

ROPER: I am saying that he is, number one, before the wrong
court quarreling about the result of the proceeding he himself
prompted.

THE COURT: Well, what court should he be in?
ROPER: He should be in the circuit court.

THE COURT: Pl grant you that he ought to file a 3.850 in the
circuit court. But are we to tell the defendant in this case, Mr.
Spaziano, you know, your attorney should have filed a 3.850, and
even though we're aware of this information, that, if true, would
entitle you to a new trial, we're just going to ignore all that and
we're gonna let your execution proceed because your attorney
didn’t file the right motion?

ROPER: No, | wouldn’t characterize the situation as that at alj,
your honor. 1would say that Mr. Mello and Spaziano are seeking a
stay of exccution and are seeking funding from this court to fur-
ther pursue litigation in another court that they should come
before this court with something beyond mere speculation, some-~
thing that would satisfy the jJones criteria, something more with a
witness who has demonstrated . . . .

THE COURT: Does that mean speculation? Do you accept the
fact that this is the state’s position that this Dilisio, in fact, has said
that his testimony that he gave at the tme of trial was not true? Do
you accept that factr

ROPER: No, I do not accept that fact.

THE COURT: You don’t accept that fact at all?

ROPER: Not from the video tape that Mr. . . ..
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THE COURT: I didn’t ask from the video tape. The state would
accept that fact - whatever . . ..

ROPER: Nao,

THE COURT: You don’t accept the fact that he has recanted his
testimony?

ROPER: No, your honor, 1 don’t. And the reason I would say to
the court that that is not the case here as if you view the video tape,
what Mr. DiLisio says is that he went to the dump with police. Well,
that was known at the time of trial that he went to the dump with
police. He was specifically asked under oath in a deposition that
the police took him there. Well, of course we know he went in a
police car and that’s what we believe . . . .

THE COURT: He says on that video tape T watched yesterday, he
says specifically that the first tme he ever went to that dump was
with the police.

ROPER: He says specifically, your honor, that he has no recall of
going there with Mr. Spaziano. That does not mean that he never
went there with Mr., Spaziano. He does not recant his deposition
testimony where he answered the question of whether the police
took him there with the response that I show them landmuarks.
There is no recantation of that whatsoever. What we have here is 2
witness who, when asked what the police said to him, said, { don’t
know what they said to me. He did not know what he said after he
spoke to the police. He did not know what he said at trial. The
investigators on the FDLE tape asked him, would you say that the
police fed you details, and he said, well, I couldn’t say that they fed
me details, but what 1 said had to come from somepiace. You basi-
cally have a man who, pursuant to Mr. Mello’s proffered evidence,
which would include newspaper clippings, had no memory of the
time of the Miami Herald investigation, has, according to the Miami
Herald articles and fighting battles with alcohol and has no memory
of his life under the age of 21 at all other than getting married, you
still have the same witness who has no memory. I would submit to
the court that it takes more than speculation after 20 years of litiga-
tion and fly-specking review by court upon court to stay an execu-
tion and give funds for further investigation on the basis of such
speculation.
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THE COURT: Let me go back to the wrong forum position that
you put forth. Is the state conceding that if - that there is anything
that has been filed in this court, that it had been filed in the circuit
court would be a basis upon which relief could be granted in the
circuit court?

ROPER: No, vour honor, the state is not conceding that at all and
that would be an issue for the circuit court. I am saying if more
funding is being requested then in the wrong forum in the first
place, then something more has to be demonstrated than the fact
that this man has no memory some 20 years later. As far as filing a
8.850, it isn’t necessary for this court to remand because Mr. Spazi-
ano and.Mr. Mello don’t need the permission of this court in the
first place to file a 3.850, and the fact that they aren’t filing a 3.850
is evidence that they have the kind of evidence that is not of a mag-
nitude to prompt court action. It’s the kind of evidence that is tak-
ing to clemency and, in this case, has been taken now
unsuccessfully. Now nothing is preventing them from bringing
such a claim to the cirenit court, but since they have not done so at
this point in time and considering the type of evidence proffered
to this court, I would submit that a stay is wholly mmappropriate and
further funding at this peint is wholly inappropriate, and. that
would ke an issue for another court. It would be wholly inappro-.
priate to fund on the basis that one of the bodies found at the
dump is now discoyered to be a male corpse rather than a female.
That’s a totally collateral issue whether the Cutaws generically
dumped zll sorts of bodies there. The fact remains that at trial
lLaura Harberts was identified by dental records, and as Justice
Overton pointed out, there is other evidence. Spaziano was identi-
fied as a travelling cook looking for the vicim by her roommate
and her roommate’s boyfriend. He was identified as that person.
He was also identified as similar to the man appearing in the trans-
lucent window that night. There are also many details linking
Spaziano there. There's a testimony of Mike Coppick and Mike El-
iis linking him specifically to the dump, and [ don’t.think the court
should also ignore the fact that a federal district court has found
this hypnosis session not to be suggestive in the least. We have
quite a bit of evidence here, and [ would submit that on what coun-
sel has shown today; this court should not grant a stay of execution
and certainly shouldr’t grant funding when VLRC is still in opera-
ton and CCR has a statutory mandate to assist in such situations.
Does the court have any further questions?
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THE COURT: All right. Mr. Mello, I said I'd give you two
minutes?

MELLO: How long?
THE COURT: Two.

THE COURT: Mr. Mello, let me ask you a follow-up question. The
precise motion upon which you are here today in asking this court
to stay this exdcution is 4 motion for rehearing of the 1985 3.850
motion.

MELLO: Two motions form the underlying - the application for
stay of execution is based on the motion to reopen the first 3.850
appeal, also . ... .

THE COURT: Was that the first - ] want to know precisely what
you're asking, what you're saying this court has a basis to reopen.
Is it that first 850, is it the 1985 850, or what basis are you traveling
on?

MELLO: The first one - 1985 was the first 850. It was filed in 1985
and under warrant and decided adversely to Mr. Spaziano by this
court in 1986. Also, I am asking for a stay of execution on the basis
of our motion to reopen the direct appeal judgment in this case,
specifically the sufficiency of the evidence determination in the di-
rect appeal determination in this case, If. . ..

'THE COURT: ;So that would be the first direct appeal?

MELLO: Yes sir. Where the court said for the first time the evi-
dence in this c:ftse at trial is legally sufficient because of the trip to
the dump. Because of the trip to the dump with Mr. Spazianc and
because Mr. Spaziano supposedly led Mr, Dilisio to the dump.
Now, the second aspect of that, I respectfully suggest, was simply a
misreading of the record. But the trip 10 the dump is - the trip to
the dump with Mr. Spaziano was the heart of the state’s case, and
as we have been saying all along - this is not just me talking - that is
the trial prosecutor who knew his case better than Ms. Roper ever
will. “If we can’t get in the testimmony of Tony DiLisio, we absolutely
bave po case here whatsoever. So either we're going to have it
through Tony or we’re not going to have it at ail.” “He's the most
important witness in this case, and I would submit to you that if you
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don’t believe Tony Dilisio, then find the defendant guilty in five
minutes. Not guilty, excuse me. Finally, as to the trip to the dump,
prosecutor on the Gardner remand, and that’s what makes his tes-
timony more than just idle gossip. The trip to the dump. Accord-
ing to the prosecutor, what makes Tony Dilisio’s testimony more
than idle gossip, in the words of the prosecutor, is the tip to the
dump. Take out the trip to the dump and all you're left with is
Tony Dilisio talking about idle Outlaw Bragadosio. Bragadosio
that not even Tony DiLisio believed and that Judge McGregor at
the original trial held inadmissible as a matter of law when Tony
Dilisio’s father tried to testify about it. Finally, one final quote:
from the prosecutor on Gardner remand, "He took Mr. Dilisio to
the Automount dump to view the bodies and confirm his alarming
statements, At the dump site Mr, Dilisio saw the bodies of two
women. Thank you.

THE COURT: Mr. Mello, the matter of your representation, and |
think that, first of all, this has been a CCR case 2ll the way along,
hasn't it?

MELLO: This was not a CCR case. This has been a CCR case from
Janwary 17 until Auguost. Tt was a CCR case when I was at CCR. . ..

THE COURT: Was it a CCR case when you were at CCR?
MELLO: In 1985 and 1986.

THE COURT: Isn’t CCR counsel of record in the proceedings
before the 11th Circuit Court of Appeals in which they rendered a
decision in Octobey?

MELLO: No.
THE COURT: That’s what it shows.

MELLQ: It’s a little complicated. 1 was appointed sole counsel to
represent Mr. Spaziano in the 11th Gircuit. I wrote the brief. I was
not able to do the oral argument for health reasons. I prevailed
upon Gail Anderson at CCR to do the orai argument. She did the
oraj argument. By the time Judge Garnes’s opinion on the 1lth
Circuit was issued . . . .
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THE COURT: But this has been - this was 2 CCR case originally - 1
mean, right - you were counsel for CCR in this case . . .

MELILO: In 1985 and 1988.
THE COURT: In this case in 1985 and 19867
MELI(: Yes.

THE COURT: And it was CCR’s investigator that was still trying to
get DiLisio to ¢hange his testimony in the spring of this year?

MELLO: As recently as two weeks before the May war . . . .

THE COURT: So basically, your representation is as a volunteer in
this particular cause?

MELLO: That's correct. Well, it is a3 a volunteer because, and [
want to be very clear about this to the court, because Mr. Spaziano
has no other attorney. CCR cannot represent him because they
have a conflict of interest. In my judgment, and more importantly,
in Mr. Spaziano’s . . ..

THE COURT: There has been no determination by this or any
otber court that there is a conflict of interest that requires an ap-
pointment of additional counsel in this case, is it?

MELLO: There has never been a determination because my un-
derstanding of the practice in that regard in the past is that those
things happen pretty informally, CCR informs me that when a con-
flict arises CCR contacts VERC and VLRC tries to find a volunteer
attorney to come in and do the case. And that essentially is what
happened here.

THE COURT: Conflict cases are those ordinarily that end up with
the matter of other - where there is anotber defendant involving
the same incident.

MEILLO: That is absolutely correct, but my understanding of Flor-
ida’s Ethics Code is that that is not the only way that a conflict of
interest can come about. CCR has a directly adverse - an interest in
this case directly adverse to the interest of the witness who is trying
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his best to correct a mistake, a hideous mistake, that he made at
this point.

THE COURT: How is CCR’s position in conflict?

MELLO: CCR, in the course of defending itself, and as [ under-
stand, in the course of CCR's defending itself to ¥FDLE when FDLE
came in and interrogated CCR’s investigators about what hap-
pened, CCR said what you would expect CCR 1o say. We didn’t
intimidate him. We didn’t do what he describes. And so CCRisin
the position of having to . . . .

THE COURT: That would be the basis of your representation . ...
MELLO: Keeps the credibility . . . .

THE COURT: So CCR .. ..

MELLO: That is part of the basis of my representation.

THE COURT: What you said in the brief was that it was because
Spaziano’s family wanted you to represent him rather than CCR.

MELLO: That was the other part. That was - when I took the case
back over in june, the conflict of interest existed, but I didn’t know
about it because up until, at that peint, the state had been success-
ful in keeping the video tape out of my hands. Ididn’t know about
it then. I undertook the representation over again at the request
of Mr. Spaziano, at the request of his mother and his daughter and
his niece for personal reasons. And if my doing that is at 2li a basis
for this court’s denying a stay or in - if my trying to help out joe
Spaziano is gonna make it more likely that he be executed, I can-
not tell you how sorry 1 am that I ever got back involved in this
case,

THE COURT: Are you asserting that CCR said we have a conflict,
we want you to represent him?

MFELLO: No, CCR never said that. I have not had that conversa-
tion with CCR.

THE COURT: Thank you. Thank you very much.
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MELLO: May I? . ..

THE COURT: Neo sir. We really went over time. The governor’s
office -~ whether you've got a copy of this or not - the governor’s
office filed a request for leave to appear before the court on spe-
cific 1ssues relating to congressional funding of the Volunteer Law-
yers Resource Center of Florida. Mr. Siackman, do you intend to
appear? Do you wish to appear?

SLACKMAN: [inaudibleh
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VI. Seaztanvo v. STa7E SEPTEMBER 8, 19953

On September 8, 1995, the defendant, Joseph Robert Spazi-
ano, whose sentence for first-degree murder had already been af-
firmed,?? and whose death warrant was signed for the fifth time,
had a final opportunity to have His appeal heard in the Florida
Supreme Court. After Mr. Spaziano filed multiple motions to open
by rehearing an appeal that was finalized more than thirteen years
earlier and a post-conviction proceeding that was terminated more
than nine years earlier on the basis of recanted testimony, the Floz-
ida Supreme Gourt granted his motion.®®

These motions fell into five distinct categories: (1) Two mo-
tions for rehearing; (2) four motions to supplement the record;
{3) two motions addressing actions by the office of the attorney
general; (4) two motions relating to my reprebcntatmn of Mr.
Spaziano; and (5) one catch-all moton concerning Mr. Spaziano'’s
rights.

The motions for rehearing, those in the first category, were
considered the principle motions by the court. They were: (1) An
out-oftime motion for rehearing of a previous Florida Rule of
Criminal Procedure 3.850 motion, which was denied by the Elev
enth Circuit in 1985 and affirmed by the Florida Supreme Court in
1986; and (Z) an outof-time motion for rehearing of the direct
appeal and judgment on the sufficiency of the evidence.® In order
to insure that these hrst two motions had enough momentum, I
filed four additional motions to supplement the record. These in-
cluded: (1) A motion to supplement the record to include a video-
tape; (2) a motion to supplement the record to include recent
media coverage of the case; (3) a motion to supplement the record
with media coverage of the FDLE investigation; and {4} a motion
to supplement the record with an unofficial transcript of the
FDLE’s interrogation of Anthony Dilisio.”® 1 also filed an affidavit
by Dilisio that stated:

KNGOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that [, Anthony Frank

DilLisio, of . . . Pensacola, Florida 52534, do make, publish and

declare freely, under penalty of perjury, this statement that I

never under any circumstances went to the dump sight [sic}

51 Spaziuno v. State, 660 So. 2d 1363 {Fla.} (per curizm), modified, (1995}, cert.
denied, 116 5, C1. 722 (1996).

5% Spazianov. State, 303 So. 2d 1119 (Fla. 1981}, appeal after ramand, 458 So. 2d 508
{1983}, cert. granted, 464 U5, 1038, affd, 468 U.S. €47 (1984].

53 Spazians, 660 So. 2d at 1364

54 Jd.

55 M.
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with Joseph Spaziano. I went there in the company of law en-
forcement investigators and only in the company of law enforce-
ment investigators 5

This statement by DiLisio was, of course, significantly different
than his statement made at trial where he testified that Mr. Spazi-
ano had taken him by special route to the dump site and shown
him the bodies of two females”

I took the hit and conceded that the motions filed were not
authorized in Florida’s present legal system.

As a motion [for] rehearing of an opinion by [thel court
rendered in 1986, this motion [was] obviously untimely.
Treated s a new claim for postconviction relief, this action
[was] barred by the one year time limit on Rule 3.851 motions.
There [were] claim and issue preclusion barriers, because all of
the legal issues raised in this motion [had] been raised by Mr.
Spaziano in the past; there fhad] been no intervening change in
the law; there [had] been new facts recently discovered, but they
may not [have been] of the magnitude necessary , under [the]
court’s [precedents], to secure review. Finally, retroactivity prin-
ciples bar{red thej court from treating several asgects raised by
Mr. Spaziano as issues cognizable at [the] time.?

Slowly but surely, the court got around to discussing the meth-
ods for considering newly discovered evidence and recanted testi-
mony. The test for newly discovered evidence had been recently
broadened to allow evidence that would “probably” affect the ver-
dict, rather than “conclusively” affect it. The standards for re-
canted testimony had been broadened as well.”® Even so, the court
held the motiohs were “clearly not authorized.” After all

Spaziano hald] been before [the Florida Supreme Court} on

seven prior occasions; he ha[dl been before the United States

District Court and before the United States Court of Appeals,

which wrote an extensive opinion examining the twenfy-three

issues raised before the United States District Court. The

United States Supreme Court ha[d] considered his case on the

merits and ha{d] denied petitions for writs of certiorari on three

occasions, bt

Nevertheless, as if the court were doing Mr. Spaziano a favor
despite his inept counsel, it remanded the “successive Rules of

36 4,

57 id.

58 Id. at 1365,

58 Jd {citations omitted),
60 If.

61 I,
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Criminal Procedure 3.850-3.851 motion” to the Circuit Court of
the Fighteenth Judicial Circuit for review stating, “consistent with
our constitutional responsibility to refrain from dismissing a cause
solely because an improper remedy has been sought, we have con-
sidered the conténts of these motions . . . to determine whether
they have any basis for relief under our jurisdiction.™

Some favor. The Florida Supreme Court scheduled the evi-
dentiary hearing on the narrow issue of Dilisio’s recanted testi-
mony for no later than September 15, 1995, one week later! And in
one more bout of insanity, the court refused o stay the
execution.®

To finish him off, the court then predictably proceeded to
deny Mr. Spaziano’s remaihing motions. The motion to supple-
ment the record with news articles was “clearly unauthorized and
improper.”®* The motions to disqualify the office of Attorney Gen-
eral Butterworth and to compel discovery from his office were de-
nied® The carch-all motion to compel release of the FDLE
investigation report, to enter a stay of execution, or te alter the
court's reading of the public records law was also denied.®

On the matter of my representation of Mr. Spaziano, the court
held *CCR has the primary responsibility for . . . representation.”®?
My motions were “not proper under the particular circumstances
of this case.”®® The court found “that Mello may continue the rep-
resentation with assistance from CCR and, if possible; with the
agsistance of any resources available from the Volunteer Lawyer’s
Resource Center.”%¢

Thank goodness three Justices had their heads on straight that
day. Justice Kogan, writing for himself and two of his colleagues,
concurring in part and dissenting in part, stated:

[ agree with virtually all that is said in the majority opinion
except that portion imposing an unrealistic time frame for
resolving what we all have now agreed is a cognizable claim for
postconviction relief. Such a restriction is without precedent in

our case law and: tends to create an aimosphere of panic for
resoiution of an issue that requires calm and deliberate resolu.

52 fd. at 1865-66.
63 Jd. ar 1366,
¢ Id,

8% 14

58 Id,

67 Id

68 K,

6% Id,
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tion. Indeed, this is an issue demanding the most careful of at-
tention because its end result could be the state-sponsored
taking of aman's life when his guilt now has been called into
question, "®

Today we are presented with a grossly disturbing scenario:
a man facing imminent execution {a) even though his jury’s
vote for life imprisonment would be legally binding today, (b)
with his conviction resting almost entirely on testimony tainted
by 2 hypnotic procedure this Court has condemned, (c) with the
source of that tainted testimony now swearing on penaity of per-
Jury that his testimony was false, and {d) without careful consid-
eration of this newly discovered evidence under the only legal
method available, Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 or 3.851.7%

[Wie are talking about a man's life here. And in that sense,
we are also talking about the moral underpinnings of the death

. penalty itseif. an abiding faithfuiness to heightened procedural

safeguards, an absolute requirement of the certamty of guilt,
and an overriding commitment to the proposition that society
should never descend into lawlessness in an effort to eliminate
the lawless, Ends do not justify means, Quite to the contrary,
the means ichosen almost always color and shape the ends
achieved.™

All that can be said with finality about this case today is that
it remains mired in serious doubt. Because of the irrevocable
nature of the death penalty, I am utterly unwilling to dismiss
those doubts without adequate inguiry into their source. The
present record presents at least a prima facie showing that the
State’s chief witriess has recanted, and I thus agree that the trial
court must review the claim presented here pursuant (o Ruie
3.850 or 3.851.7

Because of the seriousness of the claim, i further believe
this Court should enter an indefinite stay of execution to permit
the parties to develop their cases without facing the pressures of
an active death warrant, if the Governor does not stay or with-
draw his warrant in lght of our opinion today.™

Finally, as the majority indicates, the Office of Capital Col-
lateral Re;)resentaz'zve continues to be statutorily responsible for
this case.”

Hey, nobody’s perfect.

0 Id,

71 Id {citations omitted).

72 I, a1 136768 (emphasis in original}.
73 14 ar 1368,

V& Id.

I,
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VII. Tenperep sur UNFLED MOTION ¥OR REMEARING AND
KECONSIDERATION AND STAY OF EXECUTION,
SePTEMBER 8, 199570

After completing the oral argument on Thursday afternoon, |

76 This document is a reproduction of a facsimile sent to the Flerida Supreme
Court. It appears in its original form. It has not been altered by anyene, in any way,
as indicated by the use of {sic] (original on file with the New York City Low Reviaw). A,
wanscription of the facsimile appears below.

On Tuesday [9/5] at 30 pm, this court notified counse! in Vermont thart it had
scheduled oral argument for 2:00 p.m. on Thursday (3/7). {(8/6} After spending all
of Wednesday en route {from VT 10 Fla] the court granted counsel %0 minutes for
oral argument. Af 5:00 pm, a few hours before the court knew counsel was scheduled
to fleave for] Vermont {on 7/8] to teach, the court issued an order — denying a stay,
rerpanding the case for an evidentiary hearing, & "permitting” counsel to remain as
pro bono counsel with the “assistance” of CCR, 2 law firm with a conflict of interestin
this case. £*] The "hearing” wouid be in the home of the Orl Sent.

The court should be aware that counsel shail not follow the court’s unreasonable
commands ~- ot when those commands deny the reality of CCR's confliet & VERC's
sudden death. The state offends the federal constitution when it commands counsel
1o render the ineffeciive assistance of counsel US o Owonig s (1984}

If this court intends 1o kili this innocent man by depriving him of the effective
assistance of counsel, then it will do so withont my complicity. 1 will not participate in
a sham evidentiary "hearing” under warrant when I lack the time & resources to do
the job effectively. As the amicus brief sets out, VLRC is dead. As counsel has told the
court, I lack the funds 1o do a meaningfid evidentary hearing under warrant — that
is part of the reason I filed in this court. H the court waats to decide whether the CCR
has a conflict & whether CCR «<an be forced upon Mr, Spaziano, this court, then the
court should ask that the matter be fully bricfed & argued — I should not be limited
to a tiny fraction of 2 3¢ minute argument. I teach legal ethics, & I have no doubt
that GCR does have a conflict. More imporiandy, g0 does Mr. Spaziano.

The state that gave the world such famous right - so - counse] opinions as Gideon
v. Wainwright & Argersinger v. Hamlin perhaps ought not to treat counsel claims with
contempt that borders on the cavaleir. In any event, Cronic forbid court - imposed
ineffective assistance of counsel.

CCR has none of the 25 bankers' boxes of files in this case. Nor will CCR ever
have those files as CCR will never have the cooperation or acquiescence of Mr.
Spatiano.

if it wishes to base its ruling on reality, the court must know that counsel has
rejected — & will continue to reject, untl the jast dog dies ~ the court’s directive
that he do the impossible. Nor will I accept a5 “co-counsel” a law firm with interests
adverse 1o my client's — a law firm my client has rejected for very good reasons.

Specifically, the court should know that (1} I will participate in no evidentizry
hearing under warrant; (2) Neither Mr. Spaziano nor I will accept CCR as cocounsel
in this case, since COR refused to serve as co-counsel when I asked them to do so in
June; (3) counsel lacks the funds to return to Forida for purposes of any further
court pmccedings. as counsel’s few remaining personal funds were spent to attend
this court’s 30 minute oral argument.

In-shortcoumelwilk No wvalid procedural bar constintes an adeguate &
independent ground preciuding federal judicial review. Figst, Florida's default rules
are discretionary & haphazardly applied. Second, the govemor's abdication of his
clemency function {sce Herald interview with Chiles) trumps the ¢ate’s interest in
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took the opportunity on Friday, September 8, 1995 to drive out to
the Florida State Prison, in Starke, to visit Mr. Spaziano. Have you
ever been to Starke? Itis a grim place. It has the feel of a medieval
fortress. It was then that I received the Florida Supreme Court’s
response to my argument, its opinion synopsized above. 1 drove
back from the prison that night in a rainstorm, disgusted. It was at
that time that I felt the need to respond to the court’s decision.
The motion below was written on that road trip from Starke to Tal-
lahassee, then faxed to the Florida Supreme Court, Office of the
Clerk, from my hotel room at 11:10 p.m. that evening,

procedural rectinzde. We now know that the fundamental assumption of Herera v
Collins — that clemency in Texas functions 2s a faiisafe safety valve against execution
of & {ruly innocent persont -~ does not apply in Florida under this governor, Chiles
chearly thinks it’s the courts job, not his job, to prevent state killing of innocents.

The Attorney General claimed, in Thursday's oral argument before this court,
that Mr. Spariane las “run curt of legal claims.” In iss opinion, this court essentially
agreed. !

¥ All 1 have is an innocent dlient. If I had the resources, I could prove it — without
having to rely on the Migmi Herald 10 do my investigation for me. 1 have a videotaped
poltice interrogation of the state's only real witness at trial — & on that videotape that
witness disavowed the testimony the trial prosecator said was the indispensable
element of his casé.

¥ General Butterwortl: is correct that an innocent man in these circumstances
has “run out of fegal issues, * than there is something very wrong with the law.

Should this gourt choose to hold me in civit contempt, [ will waive extradition; §
learned a good bit about civil contempt from my representation of Dr. Elizabeth
Morgan. Should this court disbar me, | will plead guilty. Do you really think you can
do anything t¢ me comparabic to what you have done to my client? What you are
about o do to him? i i .

In short, undersigned eounsel ... an experienced Florida capiml appeliate
lizdgator & an éthics teacher familiar with Florida's professional responsibilicy
commands ~— will not accept this court's invitation to be ineffective. 1 you are going
to kill an innocent man without a lawyer, you will do so in such a way that the whole
world will see what you are doing. If you act as executioner of this innocent man, 1

will not be your mask.
[Signed] Michael Mello

Service by US mail to Robert Busterworth, ¥ Sat Sept 8 9, 1685

[*OCR's wonflict arises from three independenty sufficient sources: (1) the
DiLisio allegations against CCR, made in a videotaped interrogation by police, which
are at present under investigation by the Leon County State Attorney's Office; (2)
CCR's fresent overload of cases, of which CCR has been detailed in pleadings in others
matters before this court; {3) CCR's failure to investigate prior to, & during, the fost
death warrant, matters that connsel could detail o the courtif the court compels him
to do s0.}
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VIII. MEMORANDUM, SEPTEMBER 190, 199577

[sic]MEMORANDUM
DATE: September 10, 1995
TO: Folks. . . .
FROM: Michael Mello
RE: Snatching Defeat From The Jaws Of Victory

{or How We Won In The Worst Possible Way)

Ugh. This is a hard memo to write, but I'm going to uy to
explain how we really lost in court on Friday.

First, the evidentiary hearing was ordered to address the ques-
tion of Anthony Dilisio’s recantation. That means the only ques-
tion before the court will be this: Was Tony DiLisio lying when he
testified at Joe's trial 20 years ago, as he now says he was, or is he
lying now about lying 20 years ago? Tony will be called 1o the
stand, and will testify quite powerfully that he was lying at Joe’s trial
and is telling the truth now.

Here comes the hard part. Dexter Douglass has already indi-
cated to the media that the state intends to call some of its super-
secret witnesses, and we can assume they will be used to try to dis-
credit Tony's recantation. They will, in essence, testify that Tony
was telling the truth at Joe’s trial, and is lying now. We would then
have an opportunity to cross-examine those witnesses and attempt
to discredit their testimony — except that we don’t know whe those
witnesses are!

Further, even ¢f we were given the identities of those witnesses
first thing Monday morning — an cvent which is extremely unlikely,
given the pattern of state misconduct in this case ~~96 hours is not
enough time for us to investigate those witnesses, their back-
grounds, their relationship to Tony, and the validity of their test-
mony. In short, 96 hours 1s simply insufficient time to prepare any
meaningful cross-examination of critical witnesses,

Our inability to prepare for this sham “hearing” will be
[sic]

77 This memorandum appears in its original form. It has not been altered in any
way, as indicated by the use of [sic] {copy on file with the New York City Law Review).
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{sic]the surest thing to kill Joe. If we fry — if we rush around
blindly, trying to find out what we can, however we can, and wind
up doing a lousy investigation of anonymous witnesses ~— we go
into court ill-prepared, at best, and we will be unable to discredit
the state’s witnesses. And if we are unable to discredit those wit-
nesses, the judge will make a factual determination that Tony is
lying now, and was telling the truth 20 years ago at Joe's trial. That
ruling will be presumptively correct — which means it is completely
unreviewable by any other court, even the Supreme Court of the
US. In short, if we rush this and blow it, Joe is dead. Since there is
absolutely no way in which we can be prepared for a hearing in 96
hours, and given the grave consequences of a slipshod attempt, we
must prevent the hearing from happening on Friday. On this basis
I have filed a motion to stay the execution and hold the evidentiary
“hearing” in abeyance. We need more time.

In addition, I am an appellate attorney, not a trial lawyer.
Since I learned of the court’s opinion, I have been trying to find a
trial attorney willing and competent to represent Joe at the “hear-
ing” ordered by this court. As of this writing, no experienced, com-
petent attorney is willing to do so under the unreasonable tme
constraints established by the court. [ will keep looking for
one.isic}
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IX. Seazuwnvo v. Sza7s, Mopmred OpPINION, SepTEMBER 12, 199578

On September 12, four days after issuing its September § opin-
ton directing the trial court to hold an evidentiary hearing by Sep-
tember 15, and CCR to retain primary responsibility for
representation, the Florida Supreme Court modified its opinion to
respond to several motions, most especially my Motion for Rehear-
ing and Reconsideration and Stay of Execution. Justices Shaw and
Armstead opined:

In our September 8, 1995, opinion, we specifically stated
that CCR has primary responsibility for Spaziano's postconvic-
tion relief proceedings. Furthermore, we declined to appoint
Mello, nung pro tune, as Spaziano’s counsel. In rendering that
decision, this Court unanimously rejected Mello's assertions that
a conflict existed in CCR's representation of Spaziano. Addi-
tionally, when we issued that opinion, we envisioned a spirit of
cooperation between CCR and Mello that would guarantee the
best representation for Spaziano. Unfortunately, the events of
this past weekend make it clear that such cocperation does not
exist, Indeed, Mello has not accepted our findings or
conclusions.”

The fair administration of justice in Florida cannot proceed
with such flagrant disregard of this Court’'s procedures and di-
rections. In view of Mello's actions, including his refusal to
abide by this Court's directions, his staternent that he is not
competent to handle an evidentiary hearing at the trial level,
and his express refusal to appear at the evidentiary hearing or-
dered by this Court, we find that he has effectively withdrawn
from representing Spaziano.®?

Spaziano is an indigent inmate. Spaziane has previously re-
quested that this Court address the issue of investigation costs
and legal fees for his postconviction relief proceedings. We at-
tempted to provide for both Spaziano’s wishes and righls in our
September 8, 1995, opiniorn. CCR and Meilo were to work to-
gether to ensure adequate counsel and resources. That sckition
was intended to satisfy both Spaziano’s wishes and his need for
effective counsel. This past weekend's events have made it clear
that a choice must now be made. Under the present circur-
stances, we direct that CCR shall act as Spaziane’s counsel with-
out Mello’s assistance or interference ®

78 Spazianeo v. State, 660 So. 2d 13638 {Fla.} [per curiam), medified, {1995}, <ot
denied, 116 8. Cr. 722 {1996).

7% Id ar 136869,

80 M. ac 1369,

81 I4. at 1370,
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Spaziano is faced with a choice. He may be represented at
the evidentiary hearing by CCR or by competent volunteer
counsel who will comply with rules and directions of this Court
at 1o expense to the State, or he may choose 1o have no counsel
at the evidentiary hearing. It is his decision,®

Some choice.

82 Id,
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X. TeEnDErRED T UNFILED PETiTiON FOR WRIT OF CERTIORART
TO THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA,
Ocroser 10, 199588

I filed this petition along with a motion to exceed the Court’s
page limit for such filings* in the United States Supreme Court on
October 10, 1985, In its original form, this document raised three
questions presented and was one hundred and ten pages long,
forty-five pages longer than the limit. Unfortunately, the Court
could not be bothered to read these extra forty-five pages about
Mr, Spaziano’s innocence, and denied the motion. To remedy this
distasteful situation, the document was split and two petitions were
filed.

[sic]No.

IN THE
SUPREME COURT OF THE UNTITITED STATES
OCTOBER TERM, 1895

JOSEPH R. SPAZIANO,

Petitioner,
V. ;
THE STATE OF FLGRIDA,

Respondent.

PETTTION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI TO
THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Mr. Spaziano prays that a writ of certiorari issue to review final
judgement of the Supreme Gourt of Florida filed on September 8,
1995.

CITATIONS TO OPINIONS BELOW

The Florida Supreme Court rendered its judgement in this
[sic]

82 The relevant portions of the text of this Petition and notes 85110 appear in
their original form. They have not been altered in any way, as indicated by the use of
{sic] {copy on fle with the New York City Law Review).

8% Sup. Cr. R 33.5.a., supra note 5.
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[sic]case on September 8, 1995. The court’s opinion, not yet pub-
lished, is attached, as Appendix A.
JORISDICTION

The judgement and opinion of the Supreme Court of Florida
was filed on September 8, 1995. No rehearing was permitted by
the court. The Court’s opinion said: “NO MOTION FOR RE-
HEARING WILL BE ALLOWED.” Spazianc v. State, Appendix A,
So. 2d ___, slip op. at 7 (Fla. Sup. Ct. Sept. 8, 1985) (capitalization
in original)., Mr. Spaziano’s counsel did file a rehearing motion,
which the Court appeared to consider, See Appendix C; because pro
bono counsel was on the yoad (in Tallahassee, for the oral argu-
ment scheduled on short notice by the Florida Supreme Court),
covering all his own out-of-pocket travel and litigation expenses
and without secretarial or other support, he was forced to file the
rehearing in handwritten form. This rehearing was withdrawn on
September 10. Se¢ Appendix D. On September 12, 1995, the Flor-
ida Supreme Court issued a second judgment, modifying its Sep-
tember 8 opinion in ways not germane to the questions presented
in this petition. See Appendix E. The court’s mandate issued on
September 12. See Appendix F.

Jurisdiction of this court is invoked pursuant to 28 U.S.C.
§ 1254 (1993), Mr. Spaziano having asserted below and zsserting
herein deprivation of rights secured by the Constitution of the
United States.

CONSTITUTIONAL AND STATUTORY PROVISIONS

INVOLVED

This case involves the sixth amendment to the United States
Constitution, which provides:

In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shail enjoy the right o

4 speedy and public trial, by an impartial jury of the Suate and

district wherein the crime shall have been committed, which dis-

trict shall have heen previously ascertained by law, and to be

informed of the nature and cause of the accusation; ta be con-

fronted with the witnesses against him; to have compulsory pro-

cess for obwzining witnesses in his favor, and to have the

Assistance of Counsel for his defense.

This case also involves the eighth amendment to the United
States Constitution, which provides:

Excessive bail shall not be required, nor excessive fines imposed,

nor cruel and unusual punishments inflicted.

[sic]
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{sic] 'This case also involves Section 1 of the fourteenth amend-
ment to the United States Constitution, which provides in pary;

No State shall make or enforce any law which shall abridge the

privileges or Immunities of citizens of the United States; nor

shall any State deprive any person of life, liberty, or property,
without due process of law; mpr deny to any person within its

Jjurisdiction the equal protection of the laws,

STATEMENT REGARDING RELATED CASES PENDING
BEFORE THE COURT

The class action Asay v. Fla. Parole Comm., pel. for cart. filed, No
95-6807, presents, in an abstract, class-based way, the public
records issue presented in Joseph Robert Spaziano’s certiorari peti-
tion. Asay was lone of oniy two cascs cited by the Florida Supreme
Court in support of its rejection of Mr, Spaziano’s secret records /
Brady claim,

As the certiorari pctztlon in Asay sets out, the secrecy claim is
of some mgmﬁcarzt importance. However, Mr. Spaziano’s case
niight provide a more appropriate vehicle through which the
Court could decide this significant issue. Asay traces the abstract
issue in a clags action; Mr. Spaziano raises the issue in a concrete
case, where the exculpdtonness of the secret evidence could niot be
clearer. Further, the Asay class action has procedural problems, See
Appendix ___, not present in Mr, Spaziano’s case-specific presen-
tation of the question presented. Finally, unlike Asay, this Court is
familiar with the record in Mr. Spaziano’s case, having granted ple-
nary review in the case once before. Sparianc v. Florida, U.s,
(1984},

HOW THE FEDERAL QUESTIONS WERE RAISED AND

| DECIDED BELOW

Undersigned counsel presented the first two constitutional
questions raised in this petition to the Florida Supreme Court in
the form of several motions and supplements. See Appendices G-
U], The Florida Supreme Court’s September 8 opinion referred
to a “catch-all’ motion. See Appendix A. In any event, the court
refused 1o file' several motions filed by undersigned counsel. See
Appendix TT. For this reason, counsel includes the relevant mo-
tions in the appendices to this petition,

At the outset of his principal pleading in the Florida Supreme
Court, Mr. Spaziano’s counsel wrote:

Undersigned counsel candidly concedes that a plethora of pro-

cedural preclusions articulated by this court bar this instant
fsicl
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[sicjaction. As a motion to rehearing of an opinion by this
court rendered in 1986, this motion is obviously untimely.
Treated as a new claim for postconviction relief, this action is
barred by the one year time limic on Rule 3.851 motions. There
are claim and issue preclusion barriers, because all of the legal
issues raised in this motion have been raised by Mr. Spaziano in
the past; there has been ne intervening change in law; there
have been new facts recenily discovered, but they may not be of
the magnitude necessary, under this court’s precedence, to se-
cure review, Finally, retroactivity principles bar this court from
treating several aspects raised by Mr. Spaziano as issues cogniza-
ble at this time.

Spaziano v, State, ____So. 2d , Appendix A (Fla, Sup. Ct. Sept.
8, 1995).

The Florida Supreme Court decided the issues presented in
this petition on their merits — and solely on their merits — thus
forgiving any possible pmceduml bars, Id. This Court must do so
as well: Even if a petitioner committed a procedural default that
could have supplied an “adequate” and “independent” state
ground for denying relief, the procedural default doctrine does
not apply if “the last state court rendering a judgement in the case”
reached the merits of the claim.®® If the last state court in a given

{sic]

85 Harris v. Reed, 489 1U.S. 256, 262 (1988). Ses, o.g. Victor v. Nebrashe, 114 8. Ct.
1239, 1249 (1994} (“On stare postconviction review, the Nebraska Supreme Court
rejected Victor's contention that the instruction . . , violated the Bue Process Clause.
Because the last state court in which review could be had considered Victor's constita.
tional claim on the merits, it is properly presented for our roview despite Victor's
failure to object 10 the instruction at trial or raise the issue on direct appeal.” {citing
Yist v. Nunnemcker, infra}y; Greham v Coifins, 118 8. Ct. 893, 921 n.6 (1993} (Souter, .,
dissenting) {aithough at trial, habeas corpus petitioner did not seek mitigating
circumstance instruction he now daims was required, issue is “properly before us”
because, inter afin, "the Texas Court of Criminai Appeals appears to have addressed
petitiener's challenpe on the merits in a state postconviction proceeding™); Yist v
MNunnemaker, 111 8. Ct. 2590, 2593 {1991} {"}f the last state court to be presented with
a particuiar federal ciaim reaches the merits, it removes any bar o federal court rev
view that might otherwise be available”); Celifornia v. Freeman, 488 U .S, 1311, 18314-15
{1989) (O'Coensor, }., on application for stay) {direct review case} (if discussion of
state claim is interwoven with discussion of federal claim, niing or state claim may
also be ruling on merits of federal claim); Mills v. Marvland, 486 1.8, 367, 371 .3
(1988} Lowenfield v. Phelps, 484 U.8. 981, 240 (1988); Wairwright v. Greerifield, 474 U.S.
284, 289 1.3 (1886); Wamright v. Witt, 469 1.5, 412, 413 n.11 {1985) {"Under circum-
stances where the state courss do pot rely on independent state grounds . ., and
instead reach the merits . . ., the federal question is properly before us."}: Connecticut
v, Johnson, 460 U8, 73, 80 n.8 (1983) (plurality opinion) {direct review case}; Engle v.
Isaar, 456 U S, 107, 135 n. 44 {1982}, Payten v. New Yorh, 445 1UL8. B73, 582 n.19
(1980); Ulster County Ct. v. Allen, 442 U.S. 140, 152-54 (1979); Frarks v. Delaware, 438
U .S, 154, 16162 (1978); Castaneda v, Portida, 430 U3, 482, 485 n.4 {1977);, Mullaney v.
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[siclcase did not see fit to rely on any procedural ground in re-
Jecting a claim and instead decided the claim on its merits, the
federal court may do likewise, for in such cases there is no federal-
ism basis for deferring to any adequate and independent state pro-
cedural ground of decision,® and the state cannot claim that the
defendant’s default deprived the state courts of a fair opportunity
to dispose of the claim.®” As the Supreme Court has stated, “if the
state court under state law cbooses not to rely on a procedural bar

Isic]

Wilbur, 421 U.S. 684, 704 n.* (1975} (Rhenquist, |, concurring); Lefhowitr v. Newsome,
420 U.5. 288, 292 0.9 (1975); Bopkin v, Alpbama, 395 1U.S. 238, 242 (1969} (direct
review case); Warden v, Hayden, 387 1.8, 204, 207 .8 {1967); Whitney v. California, 274
.S, 357, 360-62 (1027) (direct review case); Jonkins v. Graley, 8 5.8d 505, 507 (7th Cir.
1993); Shaw v. Coflins, 5 F.3d 128, 131-32 (5¢h Cir. 1693); Sunige v. Bunned], 998 F.24
664, 667 (9th Cir. 1998); Panther v. Hames, 331 F.2d 576, 580 (9th Gir. 1993); Thomas
v. Harrelson, 942 F.2d 153840, 1581.82 (11th Cir. 1981); Brown v. Collins, 937 ¥.2d 175,
179 (5th Cir. 1681): Evans v Dowd, 932 F2d 739, 741 (8th Cir) (per curiam), cert
dented, 112 8. Cr. 385 (1991}; Thigpen v. Thigpen, 926 F.24 1003, 1011 0,18 (11th Gir.
19910); Love v fones, 928 F.2d 816, 818 0.1 (11th Cir. 1991}; Wadton v, Caspard, 916 F.2d
1852, 1856-57 (8th Cir. 1990, cert. denied, 111 8. Ct, 1887 (1991); May v Colling, 904
F.248 228, 232 (5th Cir. 1980), cort. denied, 111 8. Ct. 770 (1991); Russell w. Rolfs, 538
F.2d 1033, 1035-36 (9th Cir. 1990), cert. dented, 111 S, Cr. 2915 (1991); Smith v, Free-
man, 892 F.2d 831, 337 (8d Cir. 1989} (“Under the principles of Haris, we are not
bhound to enforce a state procedural rule when the state itself has not done so, even if
the procedural rufe is theoretically applicable to our facts”); Sauner v, Buzler, 881 F.24
1273, 128287 {Bth Cir. 1988} (en bang), affd sub nom, Sauner v. Smith, 497 U.8. 227
{1980}; Lewis v. Borg, 879 F.2d 697, 698 (Bth Cir. 1589} ("We have held that a federal
habeas claim is not barred by the procedural defauit rule when the state court de-
ciines te apply the procedural bar and adjudicates the habeas claim on the meriis");
Williams v, Armontrous, 877 F.2d 1376, 1584 n.8 {8¢h Cir, 1989}, cort, dended, 493 U S,
1082 {1990): Osbornt v. Shillinger, 861 F.2d 612, 617 (10th Cir, 1988); Mann v. Dugger,
844 £.2d 1446, 1448 n.4 {11¢h Cir, 1988), cert. denied, 489 U.8. 1671 {1989) (fedsral
habeas corpus review not barred when state supreme court chooses not to enforce its
own procedural default rule); Doucette v, Voss 842 F.2d 538, 53041 (ist Cir. 1988);
Cohen v, Tate, 779 F.24 1181, 1185 (6th Gir. 1985); Velarde v. Shulsen, 757 F.2d 1093,
1096 n.3 (10th Cir, 1985}; Briley v. Bass, 750 F.2d 1288, 1242 1.6 (4th Cir. 1084}, cort
dended, 470 1.8, 1088 (1985); Williams v. Parke, 741 F.2d 847, 848 n.1 {6th Gir. 1984),
cert, dended, 470 U8, 1029 (1985); Hux v, Murphy, 733 F.2d 737, 739 (16th Cir, 1984),
cert, dented, 471 U8, 1108 (1988); Jackson v, Amaral, 729 F.2d 41, 44 {1st Cir. 1984},
Klein v. Harris, 667 F.2d 274, 28687 (24 Cir. 1981); Washington v. Watkins, 655 F.2d
1846, 1868 {Bth Cir. 1981}, cot. denied, 456 U5, 949 (1982). The federal courts ook
o the opinion of “the Iast state court rendering a judgement in the case,” Vickr v,
Nebraska, supra, 489; LS. at 262, because “(s}iate procedural bars are not immortal
.. . they may expire because of later actions by staze courts,” Yist . Nunnenxzaker, supre
at 2693,

86 Ilster County Gt v. Allen, supra, 442 U.S. at 154,

87 Of Coleman v. psom, 181 8. Cr, . {19.) at 2855 (*in a federal system, the
States should have the first opportunity to address and correct alleged violations of
state prisoners’ federal righis . .. {and) a habeas petitioner who has failed to mectthe
State’s procedural requirements for presenting his federal claims has deprived the
state courts of an opportunity to address those claims in the first instance™}.



348 NEW YORK CITY LAW REVIEW [Vol. 1:258

[sic]. . ., then there is no basis for a federal habeas court’s refusing
to consider the merits of the federal claim.”®

The procedural barriers set out above preclude the filing of a
successive habeas corpus petition in federal district court. The dis-
trict court and the Eleventh Circuit ignored Mr. Spaziano’s evi-
dence of innocence in his first habeas petition. There is little rea-
son to think those courts would treat a second habeas petition any
differently ®

[sic]

88 Harris v, Reed, supra, 488 U8, at 265 0, 12, Accord Coleman v Thompson, supra, 111
~ 8. Gt at 2557, Yiet . Nunnemaker, supra, 111 8. Ct. at 2583,

8 The new death warrant signed by Governor Chiles, and based on the FDLE
report, left undersigned counsel with the difficult questdon of whether to take Mr.,
Spaziane's case to federal district court. This was not an easy decision but, eventually,
counsel decided not to pursue this unlikely channel of justice. Counsel made this
decision for several reasons,

There are indeed undeniable legal benefits to going to every possible court (o
seek a stay. The system of capital punishment is random: we wmight get lucky and
secure 4 stay from federal courts# we do not ask, we will not get one. There is also the
psychological benefit we feel better because we have done all we can do as lawyers;
our client feels better knowing that we have knocked on every legat door; the judges
feel better because they can tell themselves the system worked because the defense
Tawyers scurtied ke rats from coust to couri raising every conceivable issue; and, for
the same reasons, the public feels better.

8o, the benefits of the eleventh-hour dash are clear and familiar to 123, We have
all been through the drill before. Yet, the costs of foregoing the federal courts would
be minimal. The “federal courts” in this case were Kendall Sharp, district judge, and
Ed Carnes, Eleventh Circuit judge. In thirteen years on the bench, Judge Sharp has
not once found a single claim by a condemned prisoner to be nonfrivolousto say
nothing of being safficienty meritoricus to justify a stay, Judge Carnes provided even
less hope; Carnes cun most fairly be characterized 24 a capisal prosecutor cross.
dressing as afederal appellate judge. “He wrote the Eleventh Circuit's opinion on Mr.
Spaziano’s case and spent more energy complaining about the page limit for coun-
sel’s brief than the evidence of innocence he raised in the brief, And this had been
the first habeas-a habeas based on compelling evidence of innocence, some of which
was not procedurally defauited,

Qur evidence on innocence wag powerful, but we did not have a videtape show-
ing that Mr. Spaziano was elsewhere st the precise time of the murder. A videotape
was what Lloyd Schlup had in his successive habeas petition and 21l Schlup got ous of
the Court was an evidentiary hearing, and that only by a slim margin of 54, the same
number we would need for 2 stay.

So, the real legal test, as opposed to the black letter law was: if you have a video-
taped alibi, and you are in successor habeas status, then you.might be able to scrape
together five votes for a chance o prove your claim in an evidentiary hearing, a hear-
ing which wouid be before Judge Sharp, Net having a videotape, or anything close,
this was the absolute most we could hope for from the federal judiciary. We had af-
ready argued innocence 35 the basis for cur first habeas and, of the thirteen federal
judges who tould have considered that evidence, not one agrecd with us. T federal
courty innocence seems irrclevant. So, in light of their procedural default rhetoric, we
would give up littie by foregoing the federal system.

On the other hand, the costs of entering the federal courts would have been
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[sic]STATEMENT OF THE CASE
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; {sic]

great, We would waste scarce time and energy on an essentially hopeless litigation in
front of judges who did not think we belonged there.

More importaatly, it seermed to counsel, by doing the fiftyyard dash from court
to court, we deflected attention away from Governor Chiles and the Florida Supreme
Court. Most critically, we would diffuse responsibility and spread it among the Gover-
ror, the Florida Supreme Cour, and the federal courts. i everyone shared responsi-
bility for the killing of this innocent man, then no one would feel the responsibility.

Diffusion of responsibility is the fundamental systemic and institutionat problem
with Mr. Spaziane’s case. The jury was not sure that Mr, Spazianc was guilty, but they
kaew be was an Outlaw biker so they split the difference and found him guilty but
gave him life. The wrial judge was unaware of the fury’'s doubt so he imposed death,
The jury shifted responsibility to the judge and the judge shifted it to the jury. The
safne phenomena pccurred at each step of the capital assembly line. The Florida
Supreme Court deferred to the jury and triai court as principies of appellate practice
dictate. And the federal courts deferred to the state judiciary as federalism demands,

Finally, the judiciary, both state and federad, deferred to the authority of the gov-
ernor, as dizected by Flerrera v, Colling, 113 5.Ct. 853 (1993). In 1995, the responsibility
for executing this nocent man rested on the shoulders of one person, Lawton
Chiles. The buck stopped there, and he knew it. For this reason,the Herald’s coverage
persuaded him to stay the warrant in June.
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[s1c] Replace the word “FBI” with “Florida Department of Law
Enforcement (FDLE),” a now-public FBI whitewash with a still-se-
cret FDLE whitewash; rightist- militiamen with Outlaw bikers; and
the above political cartoon captures the questions presented in this
certiorari petition: law enforcement investigating law enforce-
ment, to determine if law enforcement committed hideous errors
with tragic consequences. In Ruby Ridge, the tragic consequences
were the killing of a woman and her child. In Mr. Spaziano’s case,
the tragic consequence was the 19 year incarceration on death row
of an innocent man. This case has not yet resulted in the killing of
an innocent life. Ye. And the state relentlessly keeps trying.

The proceedings in the lower court involved a number of legal
issues, but all the legal issues were grounded on the same factual
premise that has been at the core of Mr. Spaziano’s case for the
past nineteen years: Mr. Spaziano is absolutely innocent of mur-
der. He didn’t do it, period. Not “hé did it but he had a bad child-
hood;” not “he did it but he was crazy.” Mr. Spaziano is innocent
the old fashioned way: He didn’t commit the crime.,

All he has been asking for these past 19'years is an opportunity
to prove his innocence to a jury allowed to hear all the evidence,
on both sides. Give us a jury. If the state wants to kill him, let them
do it the old fashioned way: Give us a jury.

[sic]

Counsel was afraid that he had already erred in giving Governor Chiles an out
when he filed for relief in the Florida Suprems Court, and did not want to further
ditute his responsibility by filing in federal conrt. The FDLE gave Chiles the political
cover to issue another death warrant and, thereforewe were back in the Florida
Supreme Court. So it was the Court’s problem, not the Governor's. i we lost in the
Florids Supreme Court, Chiles would expect us to dash into federal distriet court,
thes the Eieventh Circuit, and the Supreme Cours, With frightening predictability, the
stay woudd be denied the night before the scheduled exceution, and &l of the atten-
ton-and any blame-would rest on the judges and not Governor Chiles. As we all knew,
that was the expected drili.

In my opinion, Mr. Spaziano had litthe chance of getting a stay from the Florida
Supreme Court. If they were concerned with providing justice, they would have cut
through the procedural screens that courts erect to avoid even considering the evi-
dence of innocence and would have already mitigated the sentence. This left Gover-
nor Chiles as our best shot at 2 stay, And the key te Governor Chiles granting the stay
was to eliminate any opportunity for him to pass the buck 1o the courts, to ciose off ail
possible escape routes. Thus, our chances for success hinged on keeping the responsi-
bility for killing an innocent man squarely on Chiles and Chiles alone. This was why
wiil not go to federal district court. Counsel hoped that by keeping the pressure on
Governor Chiles, while allowing the media to continue championing Mr, Spaziano's
innocence, we could succeed,

The magninude of the pressure Governor Chiles faces depends not only on plac-
ing the full weight of Mr. Spaziano’s death on him, but also on discrediting the FDLE
report and exposing it as 2 whitewash with a foregone conclusion.
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[sic]  Joseph Robert Spaziano has spent the past 19 years on
death row for crimes he did not commit. The evidence of his inno-
cence has been accumulating over the past two decades, but court
after court, blinded by procedural technicalities, refused to con-
sider it. But for the investigative reporting of the Miami Herald over
the past few months, Mr. Spaziano would have been killed at 7:00
a.m. on june 21, 1995, - Sez generally, Michael Mello, Death and His
Lawyers, 20 V1. 1. Rev. {forthcoming Oct. 1995). — for crimes
he did not commit.

A. The Prosecutor’s Case At Trial, According to the Trial
Prosecutor: Anthony DiLisio

Mr, Spaziano was convicted and condemned to die for the
1978 murder of Laura Lynn Harberts.

Mr. Spaziano's murder conviction and death sentence were
bottomed on the testimony of a sixteen-year-old drug abuser who
hated Mr. Spaziano and who was granted immum‘ty, and who was
twice hypnotized by a police hypnotist, before he “remembered” a
bizarre and inconsistent tale about Mr. Spaziano allegedly taking
him 10 a body and makmg inculpatory statements about the vic-

tim’s death. The witness is Anthony Dilisio, and all agree that
without his testimony there was no case against Mr. Spaziano.

In a pre-trial motion before the judge, the trial prosecutor said
that if they could not get the testimony of Anthony DiLisio admit-
ted into evidence, they would bave no case: “If we can’t get in the
testimony of Tomy Dilisio, we'd absolutely have no case here whatso-
ever....S0 either we're going to have it through Tony, or we're not
going to have it at all.” Tr, 14. The state’s case at trial was “bot-
tomed,” in the words of the prosecutor, on the testimony of
Anthony Dilisio.

In closing argument in the guilt/innocence phase, the prose-
cutor told the jury that Anthony DiLisio was “the most important wit-
ness in this case,” and told the iury “if you don’t believe DiLisio, then
Jfind the defendant not guilty in 5 minutes.” T, T15-76.

The key to the state’s case, therefore, was Anthony Dilisio.
Mr. Dilisio’s testimony consisted of two components: (1) inculpa-
tory statements allegedly made by Mr. Spaziano, and {2) a harrow-
ing trip to a dump site that Mr. Dilisio testified he took with Mr.
Spazianc so that Mr. Spaziano could, according to Mr. Dilisio,
show Mr. Dilisio the bodies of women that Mr. Spaziano had
bragged about baving killed. The believability of Mr. DiLisio’s tes-
timony about the alleged inculpatory statements depended entirely
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{siclon the trip to the dump. Without the trip to the dump, not
even Mr. Dilisio believed Mr. Spaziano’s bravado statements.
Without the trip to the dump, the statements are rendered
meaningless,

The prosecutor’s final argument urging the jury 1o recom-
mend death consisted entirely of the trip to the dump. At the re-
sentencing, the prosecutor said “this case is bottomed on the testi-
mony of Anthony Dilisio.” RT. 24546. The prosecutor later
argued that the alleged trip to the dump with Mr. Spaziano is “what
makes Dilisio’s testimony more than just idle gossip. The defendant was
actuaily bz‘agging and showing him his handiwork.... [{f’s] not some-
one sitting in a bar somewhere, the defendant is not telling this in a
bar, he’s not bragging.” (R. 257).

And on direct appeal, countering Mr. Spaziano’s claim that
the evidence was legally insufficient: “the exact cause of death was
presented through the testimony of Anthony Dilisio . . .. The Ap-
peilant bragged to Mr. Dilisio that he tortured and murdered
some girls and took Mr. Dilisio to the Altamonte dump to view the
bodies and confirm his statements. ” Direct Appeal Brief of Appellee,
at 10. The Florida Supreme Court agreed. Spaziano v. Stale,
So. 24 , {Fla. 1981). Ralph Dilisio, Tony’s father,
also wanted to testify about generic statemnents made by Mr.-Spazi-
ano about alleged atrocities he allegedly committed against alleged
(but unnamed)} “girls” - in other words, Dilisio, the father,
sought o testify about the same hearsay about which DiLisio the
younger was permitted to testify. The father said he never believed
Mr. Spaziano’s Outlaw braggadocio — but neither did DiLisio the
$SO1L.

Judge McGregor ruled the testimony of DiLisio senior inad-
missible, and he ordered it stricken. T. 716, The testimony of
Dilisio the son was held admissible.

Why was the hearsay testimony of the elder DilLisio held inad-
missible, but the very similar hearsay testimony of Dilisio the son
held admissibie? The only plausible explanation is that-the son's
hearsay testimony, unlike the father's, was made to sound credible
and reliable by virtue of the trip to the dump site.

Isic]
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[sic]B. Mr. Spaziano’s Sentencing Jury Recommended Life
Imprisonment Because of Lingering Doubts About Mr.
Spaziano’s Guilt, Even Though the Jury Knew Mr.
Spaziano was an Qutlaw Charged with an Especially
Brutal Murder, But the jury Did Not Know that Dilisio
Had Been Hypnotized, Much Less that He has Now
Recanted.

When this Court last granted plenary review in Mr. Spaziano’s
case — following direct appeal to the Florida Supreme Court, with
all parties limited to the four corners of the trial record « the
record did not reflect the reasons for the jury’s life recommenda-
tion. Spaziano v. Florida, 468 U.S. 447 (1984). Justice Stevens hy-
pothesized that

while the crime for which petitioner was convicted was quite

horrible, the case against him was rather weak, resting as it did

on the jargely uncorroborated testimony of a drug addict who

said that petitioner had bragged to him of having killed a

number of women, and had led him to the victim’s body. It may

well be that the jury was . . . sufficiently troubled by the possibil-

ity that an irrevocable mistake might be made, . . . that the jury

conciuded that a sentence of death could not be moratly justi-

fied irr this ‘case.
1d. at n.34 (Stevens, ]., dissenting).

We now know, however, that the jury harbored sincere doubt
about guilt — which was in fact a large part of the reason for it life
recommendation. We know that the jury had doubt about Mr.
Spaziano’s guiit because a juror has said so. During the course of
postconviction investigation in this case, undersigned counsel filed
Notice of Intent to Interview Jurors in this on November 6, 1985,
and notified the state by proper service. Juror Lorenzano was then
interviewed, and her affidavit was appended to the first state post-
conviction motion. In that affidavit she revealed:

During our jury deliberations at the sentence portion of the Spazi-

ano trial, I voted for a life sentence rather than the death penaity.

Nine or ten jurors felt as I did: that we did not want to see this
man die.
One of the major reasons jor most of us fovoring a life sentence was

our doudts about whether My, Spaziane was guilty of the crime as

sharged. 1 distinctly remember this being expressed as a factor in many

of the juror’s minds.

One of our major concerns was the testimony of the 16-year-old bay.

Tony Dilisio, which we didn't entirely belicve at the time of the trial,

[sic]
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{sic] Had we known his testimony was prompted by hypmosis, I believe it
wonld have made a difference.

C. Dilisio’s Secret 1995 Recantation of the Weight-Bearing
Beam of His Key Trial Testimony

In june, 1995, DiLisio — unbeknownst to Mr. Spaziano or his
counsel — recanted his crucial testimony. The recantation was un-
beknownst to Mr. Spaziano because it occurred in the course of a
secret police investigation initiated, sua sponte, by Governor Lawton
Chiles.

When Mr. Spaziano’s counsel learned of media reports about
Dilisio’s secret recantation, he made repeated requests of the po-
lice and the governor for the videotape of Dilisio’s interrogation.
They refused. The governor’s general counsel was quoted in the
media as saying that DiLisio had not, in fact, recanted.

This was a lie. We know this because undersigned counsel ob-
tained, through his own sources, a portion of the videotape, The
recantation could not be clearer.

In 1995, in connection with Mr. Spaziano’s out-of-time motion
to rehear the court’s opinion on the first Rule 3.850 motion, Mr.
Spaziano filed with the court, under seal, the videotape of FDLE’s
1995 interrogation of Mr. Dilisio. In that videotape, Mr. DiLisio
disavows his crucial testimony: the trip to the dump. The video-
tape contained the following passages:

INTERVIEWER

Ok, going back to that same time when you were with the police

officers. Did at some poini in time before hypmosis did you take them to a

place where the body of this young lady that was killed...

ANTHONY FRANK DILISIO
They took me there.
INTERVIEWER
They took you there?
ANTHONY ¥RANK DILISIO

They took me there, and a ... I remember that. I doremember that,
I remember that...and the God, like cut up pieces of a
tree. It was kind of like dump but not a dump. Nota dump for
trash, more like a dump for lawn stuff or you know what I mean.

INTERVIEWER

Was the body....still there?
[sicl
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[sic;ANTHONY FRANK DILISIO
It was like an island. Ne, )
INTERVIEWER
Alright...
ANTHONY FRANK DILISIO
The cops brought me there. The cops brought me there. I had never been
there in my Iife until they brought me there. And they made 1t look like
that a guy that they arrested, Crazy Joe, brought me there. They ave the
ones that showed me where the dump was, they were the ones that
brought me to the dump. And I remember that I didn't do something
rvight the first time that they brought me back to that office, and thal
doctors, and so they left, and they brought me back to the dump. And
ther brought me back to the office and I did really good.
INTERVIEWER
Do you recall what you told them after that experience?
ANTHONY FRANK DILISIO

No, I don't remember...that experience..no, it was almost like
buddy, buddy, you know, they played me then,
INTERVIEWER

Uh, uh. .. did they, did you give them 2 description of the body
or anything before hypnosis?

ANTHONY FRANEK DILISIO
No, they told me what he did to the girl.
INTERVIEWER
Do you recall Spilanze (sic) ever taking you to the dump?
ANTHONY FRANK DILISIO
Nv, never.
INTERVIEWER
If that in fact, did happen, do you think that you would recall that?
ANTHONY FRANX DILISIO
Most definidiely.
INTERVIEWER

You never saw Sporanuo (sic) with her or heard jJoe talk of Laura or
whalgver her name was?

ANTHONY FRANX DILISIO
N,
INTERVIEWER

What was your relationship with Sporanzo (sic)?
[sic]
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[sicJANTHONY FRANK DILISIO

His name i Spaziano.
INTERVIEWER.
Spaziano...ok....

{emphasis added).

D. The Florida Supreme Court’s September 8 Opinion: No Stay
of Execution; Denial of Appointment of Counsel; No
Defense Access to Secret Police Investigation File;
Evidentiary Hearing int Seven Days, Under Active
Death Warrant

The Florida Supreme Court held that Mr. Spaziano is not enti-
tled under Brady v. Maryland to access to the FDLE videotape of
DiLisio’s recantation, or to any other aspect of the secret police
investigation. Spaziano, Appendix A. The court also held that the
Attorney General need not be recused from this litigation. -Hd.

In its Sept. 8 opinion, the Florida Supreme Court denied a-stay
of execution but remanded for an evidentiary hearing under war-
rant. The subject of the hearing was to have been Dilisio’s recan-
tation. Under the court’s opinion, Mr. Spaziano’s counsel would
not have access to the secret report at the hearing.

The three dissenters wrote:

I agree with vxrtuaii}r all that is said in the majority opinion
except that portion imposing an unrealistic time frame for
resolving what we all have now agreed is a cognizable claim for
postconviction relief. Such a restriction is without precedent in
our case law and tends to create an atmosphere of panic for
resolution of an issue that requires calm and deliberate resolu-
don.*® Indeed, this is an issue demanding the most careful of
attention because its end result could be the state-sponsored tak-
ing of a man’s life when his guilt has now been calied into
question,

As the United States Supreme Court itself has noted, “death
is different.” Gregg v. Georgia, 428 U.S. 153, 188, 96 S. Ct. 2009,
2982, 49 L. ed. 2d 839 (1976). Unique in its finality, the death
penalty therefore is circumscribed by extraordinary procedural
safeguards designed to prevent an arbitrary or capricious appli-
cation of this most irrevocable or punishments. I cannot see

[sic]

90 1t is interesting that when the executive branch was presented with this prob-
lem, it put the entire case on hold while investigating the claim. We should do'no
less, and certainly should not force a quick decision that only enhances the further
risk of error. {footnote in original)
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[sic]how this core policy is being served by an unseemiy rush to
execute a man despite a sworn affidavit by the State’s chief wit-
ness that Mr. Spaziano was convicted on falsified evidence.”
This conclusion is all the more compelling here because the re-
cantation is only the latest in a string of troubling doubts that
have surrounded Mr, Spaziano’s conviction from the outset, re-
vealing it to be a texthbook example of how capital trials and
postconviction reviews should not be conducted.

Today we are presented with a grossly disturbing scenario: a
man facing imminent execution (a) even though his jury’s vote
for life imprisonment would be legally binding today, Cochran v,
State, 547 So. 2d 928 (Fla. 1989), (b) with his conviction resting
almost entirely on testimony tainied by a hypnotic procedure
this Court has condemned, Bundy v. State, 471 So. 24 9, 18 {Fia.
1985}, cert. denied, 479 U5, 894, 107 8, Ct. 295, 93 L. Ed. 24 269
(1986}, {c} with the source of that tainted testimony now swear-
ing on penalty of perjury that his testimony was false, and (d}
without careful consideration of this newly discovered evidence
under the only legal method available, Rule of Criminal Proce-
dure 3.850 or 3.851.%°

While each of these standing alone is cause for grave con-
cern, the apparent recantation of the State’s chief witness is the
most disturbing. The role played by this witness was vividly ex-
plained by this Court’s own words on direct appeal:

The principal witness for the state was Ralph DiLisio (sic}, a
sixteen-year-old acquaintance of the appellant, Dilisio testified
that Spaziano often bragged about the girls he had mutilated
and killed, and on the occasion Dilisio and another individual
accompanied appellant to the Altamonte dump site where
DiLisic saw two corpses, both covered with blood. Dilisio stated
that Spaziano claimed responsibility for these killings [.]

With reference to the contention that the evidence is insuf-
ficient, the appellant asks us to reject in totality the testimony of
Dilisio, DiLlﬁiO fed authorities to the dump where the bodies
were found' two years after he observed thf,, with appeila.nt
Both the jury and the trial judge had a superior advantage point
to weigh the credibility of Dilisio's testimony. We find the evi-
dence in this record was sufficient to sustain the jury’s verdict,
Spaziano v. State, 393 So. 2d 1119, 1120 & 1122 (¥la. 1981).

[sic]

91 The affidavit, quoted in the majority opinion, Is in breconcilable confiict with
DriLisio's testimony at tiul, as guoted below from this Court's opinion on direct ap-
peal. {footnote in original).

92 For rcasons not adequately explained, counsel for Mr. Spazano did not fle
under Rule of Criminal Procedure 3,850 or 3.851, but sought relief under a “motion”
of his own invention. {footnote in original).
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Isic]] think this excerpt more than amply refute any claim that
Spaziano’s conviction is adequately supported by evident apart
from DiLisio’s testimony. Were that the case, this Court in 1981
would hardly have pegged its entire analysis of the evidence’s suf-
ficiency on Dilisio’s credibility. And today, when the credibility
of that testimony has been cailed into question in the strongest
possible manner — from Dilisio’s own mouth — i think there
is only one reasonabie conclusion: This conviction bears a possi-
ble raint that must be investigated and explained before Spazi-
ano can be electrocuted.

In oral argument, the State made much of the “speculative”
nature of the allegations before us. While there certainly may
be elements of speculation in what we are reviewing here, [ am
not at all satisfied the entire claim is groundless. Dilisio’s affi-
davit alone tends to refute that contention. And in any event, it
is the trial court’s responsibility as factfinder to weed out the
speculative from the meritorious, not ours. Outsole duty at this
point is to determine is a prima facie claim has been made,
which is clearly has.

More to the point, we are talking about a man’s life here.
And in that sense, we are also talking about the moral underpin-
nings of the death penaity itsclf: an abiding faithfulness to the
heightened procedural safeguards, an absolute requirement of
the certainty of guilt, and an overriding commitmeni to the
proposition that society should never descend into lawlessness
in an effort to eliminate the Iawless. Ends do not justify means.
Quite to the contrary, the means chosen almost always color and
shape the ends achieved. This is true even when we are talking
about someone like Mr, Spaziano, whose life has hardly been a
model. One question is at issue here, and one question alone:
Was Mr. Spaziano lewfully convicted of the murder of Laura
Harberws?

All that can be said with finality about this case today is that
it remains mired in serious doubt. Because of the irrevocable
nature of the death penalty, 1 am utterly unwilling to dismiss
those doubts without adequate inquiry into their source. The
present record presents at least a prima facie showing that the
State’s chief witness has recanted, and [ thus agree that the trial
court must review the claim presented here pursuant 1o Rule
3.850 or 3.851. Any other ruling would countenance an execu-
don in the face of serious evidence that Mr. Spaziano was ille-
gally convicted.

Because of the seriousness of the claim, 1 further believe
this Court should enter an indefinite stay of execution to permit
the parties to develop their cases without facing the pressures

[sic]
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[sic]of an active death warrant, if the Governor does not stay or
withdraw his warrant in Hight of our opinion today. Experience
teaches that claims of this magnitude cannot be fully invest-
gated nor a case prepared in one week. In any event, if the ma-
Jjority’s ime table proves inadequate, counsel clearly stiil has the
ability to seek a stay from the trial court or this Court at a later
time,

Finally, as the majority indicates, the Office of Capital Col-
lateral Representative continues to be statutorily responsible for
this case, Therefore it must at least provide volunteer counsel
with the usual resources that would be available in a typical case
handled by that agency.*®

E. The Florida Supreme Court’s September 12 Opinion,
and the Court’s “Firing” of Mr. Spaziano’s Pro Beno
Appellate Counsel and Appointment of a Hack
Public Defender’s Office With a Track
Recerd of Botching the Factual Investigation into Mr.
Spaziano’s Innocence

Undersigned pro bone counsel refused to participate in an evi-
dentiary hearing under those circumstances.®* See Appendix C. So
{sic]

98 | do net find persuasive counsel's claim that the Office of Gapital Collaterad
chescnmtive has a conflict, {footnote in original),
4 Counsel circulated the foliowing on September 10:
MEMORANDUM
DATE. September 10, 1995
T BDNMCB Group (“The Best Defense No Money Can Buy")
FROM: Michael Meilo
RE: Snatching Defeat From the Jaws Of Victory
(or How We Won In The Worst Possible Way)

Ugh, This is 2 hard memo to write, but I'm going te try to explain how
we really dost in court on Friday.

First, the evidentiary hearing was ordered to address the guestion of
Anthony Dildsio’s reaction. That means the only question before the court
will be this: Was Tony Dilisio lying when he testified at Joe's trial 20 years
ago, as he now says he was, or is he lying now about lying 20 years ago? Tony
will be called to the stand, and will testify quite powerfully that he was lving
at Joe's trial and is telling the truth now.

Here comes the hard part. Dexter Douglass has already indicated to the
media that the state intends to call some of its supersecret witnesses, and we
can assume they will be used to try to discredit Tony's recuntation. They will,
it essence, testify that Tony was teliing the truth at Joe's trial, and Is lying
now. We would then have an opportunity to cross-examine those witnesses
and attempt o discredit their testimony - except that we don't know who
those witnesses aref

Further, even #f'we were given the identities of those witnesses first thing
Monday morning - an event which is extremely unlikely, given the pattern of
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[sic]did every one of the dozen Iaw firms counsel asked to consider
jumping into this case under death warrant - including Holland &
Kuight, the firm that agreed to do the hearing once the case was ne
longer under warrant,

Undersigned counsel argued in his original rehearing motion
that the “hearing” ordered by the Florida Supreme Court was more
than unfair; it was unlawful under the principles of US. v. Gronic.
Cronicheld that “[clircumstances . . . may be present on some occa-
sions when, although counsel is available to assist the accused dur-
ing trial, the likelihood that any lawyer, even a fully competent
one, could provide effective assistance is so small, that a presump-
tion of prejudice is appropriate without inquiry into the actual con-
duct of the uial” United States v Cronic, 446 U.S. 648, 659-60
(1984).%

isic]

state misconduct in this case — 96 hours is not enough time for us to investi-
gate those witnesses, their backgrounds, their relationship to Teny, and the
validity of their testimony. In short, 96 hours is simply insufficient time to
prepare any meaningiul crossoxamination of critical witnesses,

Our inability to prepare for this sham “hearing” wili be the surest thing
to kill Joe If we try — i we rush around biindly, wying 1o find cut what we
carl, however ewe can, and wind up doing a lousy investigation of unony-
mous witnesses - we go into coust ill-prepared, at best, and we will be un-
able to discredit the state’s witnesses. And i we are unable to discredit those
witnesses, the judge will make 3 factual determination that Tony is lying now,
and was tefiing the muth 20 vears ago at Joc's trial. That ruling wiil be pre-
sumptively correct — which means it is completely unreviewable by any other
court, even the Supreme Conrt of the LS, En short, if we rush this and blow
it, Joe is dead. Since there is absolutely no way in which we can be prepared
for a hearing in 96 hours, and given the grave conscquences of a stipshod
attempt, we must prevent the hearing from happening on Friday. On this
basis I have filed a motion to stay the execution and hold the evidentiary
“hearing” in abeyance. We need more time,

In addition, T am an appellate attorney, not a tral Jawyer. Since
iearned of the court's opinien, 1 have been trying to find a trial atoraey
willing and competent to represent Joe at the “hearing” ordered by this
court. As of this writing, ne experienced, competent attorney ks willing to do
so under the unreasonable time consiraints established by the court. I will
keep fooking for one.

95 The following cases either applied the rale from Crondc to presume prejudice or
refused 1o presuine prejudice when the state interfered with defendant’s assistance of
counsel. Crane v, Kentuchy, 476 U.S. 683, 690-01 (1986) (Court held that under Gronic,
lower court’s exelusion of exculpatory evidence regarding the circumstances of de-
fendant’s confession “deprives a defendant of the basic right to have the prosecutor’s
case encounser and ‘survive the cructble of meaningful adversarial testing.™); United
Siates v, Minsky, 963 F.9d 870, 874 {6th Cir. 1992) (an ex parte bench conference was
found to be a Sixth Amendment violation); Jackson v, James, 839 ¥.2d 1513 (11th Cir.
1988} (in a footnote, court stated thas trial court's decision 1o permit appointment
counse] to withdraw on morming of trind, resuiting in defendant being unrepresented
during critical stages of proceeding, made trial fundamentally unfair under Cronicy;
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Isicl On September 12, the Florida Supreme Court stayed the
execution indefinitely, moved the evidentiary hearing back two
and one half months, to November 15, “fired” undersigned coun-
sel as Mr. Spaziano’s pro bono appellate counsel, and forced upon

[sic]

Green v. Am, 615 F. Supp. 1231, 1285 (N.D. Ohio 1985} {a Constitutional error was
committed withous having to establish prejudice when the judge was informed of peti-
tioner's counsel’s scheduling problem and chose to proceed with the prosecution of
the action without counsel); Walburg v. Israel, 766 .24 1071, 107576 {7th Cir. 1985}
(trial fudge’s hostility toward defendant’s attorney justified presumption of prejudice
under Cronic); Ferry v, Leeke, 103 8. Cr, 594, 597 (1989) {Court affirmed appcllate
court’s ruling that prejudice should not be presumed under Crondc when trial court
directed defendant not to consnit with anyone, incliding his lawyer, during fifteen-
minute afternoon recess); Blanco v, Singletary, 943 F. 2d 1477, 1481 (11 Cir. 1991)
{triai court’s interference with defense attorney's calling of witnesses and overall con-
duct of defense did not justify presumption of prejudice under Crenic and not costly
1o litigate); May v. Collins, 948 F.24 162, }67 (5th Cir. 1991} (while the structure of
Texnas sentencing statute may have caused the defense counsel's ractical decision not
to present mitigating evidence, the court did not think this rose to the level of direct
governmertt interference with their ability to conduct the defense}; Steno v, Dugger,
921 ¥.2d 1125, 1164 (3l:h Cir, 1991) (wial court’s acceptance of defendant’s guilty
piea, even after the defense counsel informed him that he had not received full dis-
covery from the State and could not advise defendant of wisdom of plea, did not
reach Cromic excepton to Siricklend rule, Strickland v Washington, 466 1.5, 668
{1984); defendant’s attorney was an ¢xperienced public defender, and gave defend-
ant appropriate adyice regarding guilty pleas that defendant elected w0 enter); Brown
v Rice, 693 F. Supp. 381, 898 (WD.N.C, 1988} {court held that State's interference
with defense counsei's investigation of the case was not of sufficient magnitude fo
Justify presumption of prejudice under Crondc when fnisies of police investigation were
made known to defendant through discovery); Kelly v. United States, 820 F.2d 1173,
137576 {11th Cir. 1887} {trial court's denial of defendant’s continuance and attor-
ney's entry into case one day before 1rial did not create sufficient reason to presume
prejudice under Cronic)y Hemmonds v. Newsome, 816 F.2¢ 611, 613 (11th Cir, 1957)
(trial court’s refusal to appoint defendant's counsel during preliminary hearing did
not justify presumption of prejudice because error was harmless;, harmiess error analy-
sis, as applied to preliminary hearings, is still good law despitc Cronic and Strickland);
Crutchfield v, Wainwright, 803 F. 2d 1108, 10809 {11th Cir, 1986) (zrial court’s denial
of defendunt’s access to counsel during afternoon recess did not justify presumption
of preindice under ‘Crenic when record did not show any cohiection to court’s denial,
or any evidence that defendant wanted to speak with his attorney during the recess);
Griffin v. Adken, 775 F.24 1226, 1229-31 {4th Cir. 1985} (court refused to presume
prejudice when trial court denied continuance and public defender had litde dme to
prepare for trial); Johsson v Lumphim, 769 F.2d 630 (3th Cir. 1085) {citing Gronic for
the proposition stated above and remanding te wail court for determination of
whether federal agents insistence that defendant not advise his attorney of defend-
ant’s role in the FBI investigation interfered with defendant’s sixth amendment
rights}; Chadwick v, Green, 740 F.2d 897 (11th Cir, 1984} (trial court’s denial of contin-
uance, resulting in attorney's inability to investigate and assert insanity defense, did
not give rise lo presumption of prejudice because "any failure o investigate and pur
sue all avenues of defense is best characierized as a failure by counsel in the perform-
ance of his investigatory duties, which s to be analyzed under Strickland.”).
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[sic]Mr. Spaziano a hack public defender office with a track record
of botching the factual investigation in this case.
The three dissenters wrote:

I fully agree with the majority’s conclusion that in light of
attorney Mello’s inability or refusal to comply with this Court’s
decision of September 8, 1995, the office of the Capital Coilat-
eral Representative shall represent Spaziano in ali post-convic-
tion matters relating to this case.

I disagree with the November 15, 1995, deadline the major-
ity places on the trial court for conducting an evidentiary hear-
ing on Spaziano’s claim of recantation. As pointed out by
Justice Bogan in his opinion concurring in part, d:sserztmg i
part with this Court’s decision of September 8, 1995, this is a
highly unusual case:

Today we are presented with a grossly disturbing scenario: a

man facing imminent execution (a} even though his jury's vote
for Kife imprisonment would be legally binding today, (b) with
his conviction resting almost entirely on testimony tainted by a
hypnotic procedure this Coust has condemned, (¢} with the
source of that tainted testimony now swearing on penalty of per-
jury that his testimony was false, and {d) without a careful con-
sideration of this newly discovered evidence under the only legal
method available....
Spaziano v. State, No. 67,929, slip op. at 9 (Fla. Sept. 8, 1995)
{Kogan J., concurring in part, dissenting in part) {citations
omitted}. The problems presented in this case are further exac-
erbated by recent events as cutlined in the majority opinion.

In light of the unusual procedural history of this case, the
critical nature of the evidentiary issue before the trial court, and
recent events, I would leave the time frame for conducting an
evidentiary hearing to the trial court’s discretion. The trial
court is far better suited than we are to determine the logistical
requirements of such a hearing.

I concur in the remainder of the majority opinion.

Undersigned counsel attempted to point out the factual and
fegal errors in its September 12 opinion (including the fact that
the Florida Supreme Court lacked the legitimate power to “fire”
the undersigned, since the undersigned’s client was Joseph Robert
Spaziano, not the Florida Supreme Court). Counsel provided the
court with retainer letters from Mr. Spaziano, his mother, and his
niece. The court refused even to file the pleadings submitted by
the undersigned, explaining, in a letter dated Sept. 20, that only

[sic]
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[sic]the public defender can file papers as Mr. Spaziano’s counsel.
See Appendix TT.

F. Alone in the Electric Chair: Florida’s Crisis of
Postconviction Counsel; and The CCR Public
Defender’s Office Devolution into a Lapdog
for thé Governor and the Mask
of the Executioner

This Court recognized in McFarland v. Scott, 114 S. Ct. 2568
(1994), Texas' crisis in the provision of postconviction counsel for
death row prisoners. Since Mdrarland was decided, the death pen-
alty resource centers throughout the nation have been defunded.

The Florida Supreme Court seems to think that Florida has no
counsel crisis because the legislature created the Office of the Cap-
ital Collateral Representative (CCR). See gensrally, Mello, Fucing
Death Alone, 37 Am. U. L. Rev. 3 (1988) (tracing counsel crisis that
led to creation of CCR). But, as Mr. Spaziano’s case illustrates,
Florida does have a counsel crisis, the Florida Supreme Court’s de-
nial notwithstanding. Florida's resource center died the day after
Governor Chiles signed Mr, Spaziano’s most recent death warrant.

Joseph Robert Spaziano is indigent. He was represented in
the lower court by undersigned counsef, an experienced capital
postconviction litigator who is intimately familiar with the gigantic
record in this 19year-old case. See Appendix BB.

Undersigned pro bone counsel is a fulltime law teacher in Ver-
mont. Until the day after Governor Lawton Chiles signed Mr.
Spazianc’s fifth death warrant - August 24, 1995 — counsel re-
cetved the crucial secretarial, logistical, and investigative support
from the Volunteer Lawyers’ Resource Center of the state of Flor-
wia (VLRC). VLRC ceased to exist on August 25, 1995, as Mr.
Spaziano — supplemented by an amicus brief - documented in
the Florida Supreme Court.

The Florida Supreme Court denied the undersigned counsel’s
motion for appointment of counsel and provision of funds for in-
vestigationl of the facts proving Mr. Spaziano’s innocence. See Ap-
pendices AA-QQ. Then when pro bome counsel was unable
physically to comply with the court’s demands for a complex evi-
dentiary hearing under death warrant, at which the state could rely
on a secret police investigation — the court purported to “fire” the
undersigned and to force upon Mr. Spaziano a public defender

office that (1} had already botched this case almost beyond repair;
[sic]
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[sic] (2) had multiple conflicts of interest; (3) had as its director a
political appointee of Governor Lawton Chiles ~— the man who has
signed two death warrants against Mr. Spaziano over the past six
months; {4) has a history of tepid and inept representation of Flor-
ida death row clients, leading many to think of the office as being a
lapdog of law firm for the governor who periodically tries to kill its
clients, 2 reality that most likely results when a capital litigant (the
governor) gets to choose who his opponents’ lawyer will be.

The undersigned has found a law firm, Holland & Rnight, will-
ing to serve as trial counsel at the evidentiary hearing; he will re-
main as lead appeliate counsel in this cowrt and in the Forida
Supreme Court — without the assistance of the now-dead VLRC,

Chiles’ stay of execution lasted two months. Based on the se-
cret FDLE investigation, Chiles signed a fifth warrant. The execu-
tion was scheduled for September 21, 1995 at 7:00 am. On
September 8, the Florida Supreme Court denied a stay and or-
dered an evidentiary hearing for seven days hence - under war-
rant. As set out in his rehearing motion (see Appendix B}, Mello
declined the court’s invitation to attempt the impossible; he re-
fused to participate in such a hearing. The reason Mello defied
the Florida Supreme Court’s order for a new hearing was his inabil-
ity to prepare adequately in such a short time without support or
resouIces.

As Mr. Spaziano would prove at an evidentiary hearing, there
have been two institutions which provide legal services for capital
cases in Florida. Volunteer Lawyers Resource Center (VI.RC) was a
federally funded resource center for gro bone lawyers in capital ap-
pellate and post-conviction work. Although an excellent program,
funding for this organization ended on the day after Governor
Chiles signed Mr. Spaziano’s fifth death warrant. This was devastat-
ing to Mello’s attempts to represent Mr. Spaziano effectively. The
other legal service is the Office of the Capital Collateral Represen-
tative (CGCR), Florida’s public defense office for capital work.
Mello worked for CCR from 1985 to 1987, but since that time it has
deteriorated unul it is now as useless as the defunct VLRC,
although for a very different reason.

CCR still exists physically, but this is the kind of “help” pro bono
lawyers can expect. Not only did CCR refuse to help me in any way
with Mr. Spaziano’s representation, but CCR mounted an aggres-
sive campaign to take over the case — against the emphatic wishes
of Mr. Spaziano, his mother, his daughter, his sister, his niece, and

igic]



19961 LIES, SECRETS, AND SILENCE 365

[siclhis Jawyer (me). This raises one question, and leads to a sec-
ond, about CCR. First, if CCR is as overworked as it complains
incessantly that it is, why would CCR force itself upon a con-
demned man who would rather have no lawyer than a CCR lawyer?
Second, my experience in Mr. Spaziano’s case has led me 1o sus-
pect that CCR does not work as hard as they complain they do, so
why do we not require CCR to document their work by producing
its personnel time records, under oath?

The Florida Supreme Court’s September 12 opinion correctly
noted that Mr. Spaziano did not (and does not now) want CCR as
his lawyer, but the court ignored the good reasons why Mr, Spazi-
ano reasonably believes that having CCR as your lawyer is worse
than having no lawyer at all. CCR’s performance in Mr. Spaziano’s
case does not just suggest that the agency is overworked; it suggests
the agency is inept. Two weeks in advance of Mr. Spaziano’s sched-
uled execution — on a fourth death warrant — CCR had con-
ducted no fact investigation of any use {notwithstanding a wealth
of leads, provided mainly by the Miami Herald's own independent
investigation, which was initiated over the strong misgivings of CCR
and with no help whatsoever from CCR), CCR had drafted no
pleadings, CCR had developed no strategy, and CCR’s director,
Michael Minerva, was telling reporters (and the governor) that all
he wanted for his factually innocent client {(“innocent” in that he
did not commit the crime) was a reduction in sentence from death
to life in prison.

As undersigned counsel told the Florida Supreme Court, he
would rather go to jail for contempt than allow CCR to handle Mr.
Spaziano’s case. This is because CCR has become a pawn of the
institutional powers in Florida attemptng to kill Mr. Spaziano.

CCR says it zealously represents its clients, but its zealousness
is a pose. CCR’s director, Mike Minerva is not a fighter; he plays a
fighter on television. To accomplish what CCR did when Mark Ol-
ive and Scharlatte Holdman were running the place requires cour-
age and incredibly hard work.

The alternative to aggressive defense lawyering is an unbear-
able coziness with power, As Mr. Spaziano would prove at an evi-
dentiary hearing, CCR has suffered the same homogenizing doom
suffered years ago by the Legal Service Corporation. With one eye
on the governor to whom they owe their jobs and with the other
shut tightly, CCR lawyers have gone the way of deadening medioc-

rity. Everything that cannot be made palatable to the institutional
fsic]
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[sic]powers is killed outright. Spoiled and corrupted by the illu-
sion that it has the “ear” of Governor Chiles, CCR seeirns to have no
patience to hear my declaration that ninety-six hours is an absurdly
paltry amount of time to prepare for a complex evidentiary
hearing.

Mzx. Spaziano would prove at an evidentiary hearing that the
blame for CCR’s devolution into a hack public defender office
rests with its leadership, not with its frontline litigators. This lead-
ership constrained the aggressive litigators, making CCR a pariah
among the best capital defenders. Now CCR, although vastly over-
funded and under-worked, feeds the deadly illusion that Florida
does not have a counsel crisis because Florida has CCR, The fact is
that Florida has a counsel crisis worse than Texas precisely because
of CCR. In Texas, everyone can see death row has no lawyers. In
Fiorida, it is worse than having no lawyers, CCR provides the com-
fortable illusion that death row Aas aggressive lawyers.

In its brief, CCR pointedly told the Florida Supreme Court
that it was not “conspiring” with me to save Mr. Spaziano’s life.
That is true: CCR certainly wasn’t working with undersigned coun-
sel; they were doing all they could to give the Florida Supreme
Court pretexts for throwing him off Mr. Spaziano's case. If Mi-
nerva was “conspiring” with anyone, he was consplrmg with the
governor who appointed him, the prosecutors he’s in bed with,
and the courts whose boots he licks. CCR sure wasn’t working with
undersigned.

Minerva’s name sounded familiar to anyone familiar with the
kind of lawyers the state of Florida wants as its opponents in capital
cases. When Theodore Bundy as arrested in Florida, he wanted
Millard Farmer as his lawyer. Farmer is the best capital trial lawyer
in the United States, which is why the Florida courts found a legal
technicality to throw him off Bundy’s case. And whom did the state
want to be Bundy’s lawyer? The local public defender, who was . . .
Mike Minerva. Most serious students of Bundy believe that the dift
ference between Farmer and Minerva meant the difference be-
tween life and death for Bundy. Now, undersigned counsel is no
Millard Farmer, and God knows, Mr. Spaziano is no Theodore
Bundy. But Mike Minerva is stll Mike Minerva, and anyone who'd
entrust his life to Minerva is too dumb to live,

How different our wold would be had Chiles chosen Mark Ol-
ive, rather than Mike Minerva, to head CCR. Chiles would never
choose Olive as his adversary, any more than Florida would have

[sic]
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[sic]chosen Farmer as its opponent in Bundy. All of them - those
who will kill even an innocent man -— would rather be going up
against Mike Minerva. And with very good reason,

Florida thought it had solved its counsel crisis when it created
CCR in 1985, Mr. Spaziano’s case indicates otherwise.

One way or another, Florida will have to find a way to provide
logistical support and expertise for fro bono lawyers willing to take
these cases when the bar and the Supreme Court come asking for
help. And they will come asking.

The capital defense bar is entering a crucial time, one that
offers a chance to define our agenda for the coming crisis for capi-
tal representation. Mr. Spaziano’s case suggests that the ideas, the-
ories, and institutions of the past are no longer adequate to answer
the challenges and questions before us. For decades, Florida de-
fense lawyers have jumped in and represented condemned prison-
ers. Perhaps the time has come to stop pretending that capital
punishment is a legal system at all. If the system is as worthless as
we say, perhaps the best response is to refuse to play the game any-
more. Perhaps the time has come to say, “On strike. Shut it
down.”

On September 12, 1995, Mr. Spaziano’s 50th birthday, the
Florida Supreme Court entered an order staying the execution in-
definitely and removing Mello as Mr. Spaziano's lawyer.*® The
Court purported to fire Mello from the case and to force Mr. Spazi-
ano to be “represented” by CCR. It did not work; the Florida
Supreme Court lacks the power to fire Mello, because his client is
Mr. Spaziano, not the Court. And Mr, Spaziano most emphatically
does not want to be represented by CCR, as he and his family have
made clear in writing.

This case involves the question what kind of lawyer an inno-
cent man on death row is entitled.. Michael Mclio only asked the
¥lorida Supreme Court to help defray his enormous out-ofpocket
expenses or, in the alternative, to give him some time to find a law
firm willing to provide essential resource support.

Lawyers are not fungible. Mr. Spaziano understands this, even

[sic]
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[siclif the Florida Supreme Court does not. As Mr. Spaziano would
prove at an evidentiary hearing, for the past 12 years, Mr. Mello has
come to know more than Mr. Spaziano’s case. Mello came to
know, and to believe in, Mr. Spaziano’s innocence. Mr. Spaziano
and his family trust Mello, and they do so for good reasons. The
latest temporary stay of execution may not last-odds are it will not
last for long. Another death warrant will be signed, and it will be
carried out. But, in an odd way, that will not nullify the impor-
tance of the stay that resulted from the Herald’s coverage, no mat-
ter how transitory or ephemeral that stay proves to have been.

There is something grotesque in the Florida court’s removal
of Mr. Spaziano’s longtime and trusted lawyer a week before Mr.
Spaziano has been scheduled to be killed by the state. It was Jus-
tice Lewis Powell, of 2ll people, who recognized in Skipper v. South
Carolina, that death row prisoners are not exactly like other in-
mates: Condemned people are not just litigating; they are also pre-
paring for death — cspecially when they are on a fifth death
warrant, as Mr. Spaziano was when the Florida Supreme Court
“fired” Mello and forced CCR upon Mr. Spaziano.

Even when the stays are temporary and even when they do not
result in eventual victory-a fife sentence or.a new trial-this sort of
litigation can buy the inmate time, sometimes as little as five min-
utes and sometimes as much as years, This may not be what lawyers
usually mean when we talk of “winning.” But redefinition of the
notion of winning is an important way of coping with a system that
is often indifferent and increasingly bostile.

For the neardead, a lifetime can be lived in five extra,
snatched minutes; intimacy with death can carry with it a corre-
sponding new intimacy with life; a love of life, and 2 lust to live.
Paul Monette, writing of people with A[DS, got it exactly right: “T'm’
so rapacious of time . . . . I wander graveyards now like a math quiz
figuring who we've beaten.™ During that time, new evidence ben-
eficial to the condemned person’s case may be found by postcon-
viction counsel and presented in the postconviction system. Also
during that time, the condemned, like the rest of us, feels joy and
sorrow, has hopes and dreams, grows and changes. In short, they
live their lives. At some moments they are able to take Lambert
Strether’s advice in The Ambassadors to live all they can because it is

fsic]
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{sicla mistake not 10.%8

Living one’s life, even in the close confines of death row, is
always much more than a legal matter. This is particularly so in the
weeks and moriths prior to a scheduled execution. It is essential
that the human, extralegal needs of the immates are recognized
and, when necessary, advocated.

Part of Melio’s job as Mr. Spaziano's lawyer - a part. CCR can-
not replicate with a client whom despises the office - is to provide
the nonlegal counseling and support help transform an inmate’s
appreciation of death from abstract principle to concrete reality,
and so help the inmate-one keeps wanting to write “patient’™ pre-
pare to take care of the unfinished business of this lifetime. This
also places the legal stuggle in perspective. We fight not only
scheduled death, but also despair. Mello’s goals are to ensure that
the person he represents knows all hope is not lost, the battle con-
tnues, se will not be abandoned, but also the outlook is grim and he
should be preparing himself to die.

Experienced capital postconviction litigators know that there
is a self-defensive instinct to distance one’s self from a friend who is
about to die. Yet such distancing is the one luxury we cannot per-
mit ourselves to feel. At the very time when virtually everyone clse
is distancing himself from our dying(?) clients, we cannot do so,
even for self-protective reasons, especially for self-protective reasons.
They would be able to tell. That brand of disloyalty risks becoming
a self-fulfilling prophecy.

As Mr. Spaziano would prove at an evidentiary hearing, it is
not really—or maybe one means not only -dving at the hands of the
state. It is living the best possible life knowing that the state is oy-
ing to kill you. When one is about to be killed by the state, hope is
both a luxury and a necessity. Erica Goods made the point with
regard to the survivors of the Oklahoma City bombing, but it holds
true as well for my clients. Hope can be. like a drug, keeping the
survivors going when the shock and waves of adrenaline are not
enough, protecting them for a few more hours against the oncom-
ing tidal wave of grief. They cling tightly to their illusions. As in
war, hope is critical: without it you die. In court, we defense law-
yers wear the poker face of the war room, slipping into the official
language designed to keep the actuality of devastation at bay: the

[sie]
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[sicimoment when a waiting family was informed of a loved one’s
execution is “notification”; crisis counseling for our clients’ fami-
lies, and for ourselves, is called “debriefing.” Vet the office was hit
not by war but by something that had no ready biueprint for how
to act or what to think. People did the best they could. We think
we understand; they think they understand. For people involved in
this sort of killing, even normal gestures of everyday life can move
far beyond reach. As the hours wind down, and the execution
draws closer, hope cannot last.

(. On Lies, Secrets adn Silence

The limited evidentiary hearing ordered by the Florida
Supreme Court is still scheduled to occur onn November 15, At that
hearing, Mr. Spaziano will be represented by pro bono trial counsel.
The Florida Supreme Gourt’s ipse dixit notwithstanding, the un-
dersigned remains as Mr. Spaziano’s chief appellate counsel in this
Court and in the Florida Supreme Court.

The Florida Supreme Curt’s determination to force on Joseph
Spaziano a hack public defender office that is 2 lapdog for the gov-
ernor who is trying to kill Mr. Spaziano is not unrelated to the
Brady question presented to this court. The court’s actions de-
prived Mr. Spaziuno’s counsel of any ability to challenge effectively
the secret case the state says it has built against Mr, Spaziano. For
the second time in three months, Joseph was scheduled to die in
Florida’s electric chair. Governor Chiles signed a new death war-
rant on August 24, apparently based on alleged unidentified (and
uncrossexaminable) sources whose alleged statements to FDLE
were summarized in 2 secret FDLE report — secret to Mr. Spazi-
ano’s attorney, at any rate, In a secret letter Chiles wrote on Au-
gust 17 —- the existence of which counsel fearned on August 25th,
the day after Chiles signed the warrant and two days after he leaked
the report to the Orlando Sentinel — Chiles directed FDLE that its
Investigative materials “may not be inspected or copied” by Mr.
Spaziano’s counsel or by any media organization other than those
reporters selected by Chiles himself. See Appendix J.

Thus, the only aspect of the secret investigation Mr. Spaziano
has been able to obtain on his own — no thanks to the govern-
ment, which lied about the contents of the videotape, when the
government believed that counsel would never see the videotape
itself — hasg proven to be exculpatory in the extreme.

This petition asks the Court to grant Mr. Spaziano access to

{sic}
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[sicithe rest of the secret poiice report. If the only item we were
able to bootleg was as excuipatory as the videotaped recantation,
what else is there that the state is attempting to keep from Mr.
Spaziano by labeling the police investigation into guilt/innocence
a part of a “clemency” proceeding?

REASONS FOR GRANTING THE WRIT
I. GOVERNMENT IN THE DARKNESS, OR THE RUBY RIDGE
FBI WHITEWASH AND THE STAR CHAMBER COME TO TAL-
LAHASSEE: FDLE’S SUPER-SECRET “INVESTIGATION” OF UN-
IDENTIFIED WITNESSES OF UNKNOWN CREDIBILITY OR
SOURCES OF, INFORMATION: THAT STILL INADVERTENTLY
UNEARTHED EVIDENCE THAT WAS EXCULPATORY IN THE
EXTREME BUT WHICH WAS NEVER GIVEN TO MR. SPAZI-

ANO’S COUNSEL BY THE STATE — NOT TO THIS DAY

A. On Lies, Secrets and Silence: The Sole Aspect Of
FDLE's “Investigation” Mr. Spaziano I{as Been Able
To Obtain On His Own, No Thanks To The
State, . Has Been The FDLE Videotape Of
DiLisio -~ And That Videotape Is £xculpatory In The
Extremne: A State May Not Evade the Dictates of Brady v.
Mafyl?nd by Labeling as “Clemency” a (I} Secret Police
Investigation Based on Secret Witnesses into (2)
Whether a Condemned Person — as Opposed to
Another Person — Committed the Capital Murder
Itself, and Whether the State’s Obligations under Brady
v. Maryland Continue Through the Post-conviction
Proceedings in a Capital Case?

Mr. Spaziano presents this Court with a rare opportunity to
address an issue of critical importance to not ofily an innocent man
on death row, put to the very integrity of collateral review of every
state imposed sentence of death. He presents that issue free from
ancillary considerations which could cloud, confuse, or skew a
clear resolution by this Court. Mr. Spaziano is not currently under
warrant of death. The existence of the sought exculpatory material
is howingly obvious. By its citation to Asay, the Supreme Court of
Florida has stated unequivocally that the Brady issue and it alone is
dispositive. This Court can, with a single succinet decision, both
resolve the case and controversy before it and provide guidance to
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[sic]state courts which are increasingly becoming the primary arbi-
ter of the scope of the Fourteenth Amendment due process clause.

Mr. Spaziano, twice scheduled to be destroyed within the past
six months, has a right to know. Brady v. Manyland, 873 U.S. 83
{1963), requires the State 10 release any and all records in its pos-
session which are exculpatory in nature. This obligation extends to
all subdivisions of the State and does not end with affirmance on
direct appeal. Where state law enforcement entities, such as the
FDLE or the Florida Board of Executive Clemency, have discovered
exculpatory material during the course of a post-conviction investi-
gation of a capital case, that material is subject to disclosure so that
the same may be considered by an independent judiciary in post-
conviction proceedings. As the Florida Supreme Court noted re-
cently in Asay, one of only two cases the Florida Supreme Gourt
cited as authoritative in rejecting Mr. Spaziano’s claim:

The preliminary issue we must address is whether the Clemency
Board’s records are of a type that can trigger the requirements
of Brady v. Maryland, 373 U. S. 83, 83 8. Ct. 1194, 10 L. Ed. 2d
215 (1962}, and its progeny. . . . This is apparently 2 case of first
impression. Moreover, the federal Brady issue, and it adone, is dis-
positive of this case.

We have read the cases cited by petitioners, including United
States v, Brooks, 966 F.2d 1500 (D.C, Cir. 1992), and Miller v. Dug-
gen, 820 F.2d 1135 {(11th Cir. 1987). Like Ritchis, all focus on
statesponsored investigations that have gathered evidence
within the same basic time frame as the police investigation and
trial, even if only disclosed much later. Florida clemency investi-
gations, however, by their very nature gather materials well after
the trial and appeals have ended, except for those materials ac-
tually contained in the trial court and appeals records review-
able by the Clemency Board. We find this to be a critical
distinction between this case and those cited by petitioners and
reason enough to deny this petition,

Moreover, Rilchie itseif suggested that records afforded a high
degree of confidentiality may be immune from the Brady re-
quirements. Ritchie, 480 U.S, at 57-58, 107 S.Ct. at 1001-02.
Under Florida law, clemency records enjoy a similarly high level
of confidentiality. Lockett. The state has a strong policy to main-
tain that confidentiality based on the unusually sensitive nature
of some clemency evidence and the exclusive authority of clem-
ency given to the executive by the Florida Constitution. Art. IV,

[sic]
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isic]§ 8, Fla. Const. This, 100, is reason encugh to deny the
petition.

Furthermore, the decision in Brady has been in existence since
1863. In that time, no reported case apparently has ever sug-
gested that cdemency-rejated investigations occurring well after
trial and appeals have ended may be the subject of 2 Brady
claim. The lack of precedent even from lower courts is a strong
indicator that Brady was never intended to apply in this context.
Accordingly, we decline to extend the rule, and we bold that
Brady has no application to clemency proceedings in Florida.

Secrecy is a petri dish for corruption and miscarriages of jus-
tice. Under such cover, a less trustworthy administration easily
could sell pardons. It happened in Tennessee under Ray Blanton.
Ruby Ridge has taught many of us that police agencies cannot be
trusted to investigate themselves in secret. But Mr. Spaziano’s case
shows that this Iesson of Ruby Ridge has been lost on Florida’s
FDLE, Governor, and Attorney General.

At present, there are almost 3,000 persons sentenced to death
in 58 states, 389 in Florida alone. In each of these states, the gover-
nor, acting alone or in concert with a board of pardons or some
other administrative body, has the power to commute these death
sentences-to lengthy prison terms. Governors (as opposed to par-
don boards} have the final say in 24 of the 38 death penalty states;
eleven states require the concurrence of another body with the
governor; the remaining four death penalty states vest the entire
power in a board of pardons. Note, Reviewing Mercy in the Structure
of Capital Punishment, 99 Yary 1.J. 389, 392 (1989).

Each of these death row prisoners has the privilege or the
right to some form of clemency review by the chief executive or
other official body. “The laws governing the exercise of clemency
are diverse among the jurisdictions but they share these basic fea-
tures: Clemency decisions are standardless in procedure, discre-
tionary in exercise, and unreviewable in result. As a result, the
clemency hearing in capital cases constitutes a terminal stage of
lawlessness in criminal justice decisionmaking that is symmetrical
with the lawlessness of the initial stage, controlled as it is by the
prosecutor’s comparably unregulated and discretionary decision
making authority.” Hugo Bedau, The Decline of Executive Clemensy in
Death Penalty Cases, 18 NY.U. Rev. L. & Socian Crancg, 255, 256-
57 (1990-91).

Mr. Spaziano is net challenging the “lawlessness” of the clem-
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{siclency “procedure;” he is not asking the Court to impose due
process procedures upon Florida’s clemency system. What Mr.
Spaziano ¢s asking for is access to excujpatory matertal that comes
into possession of the state as a result of operation of the clemency
process. No matter how states choose to structure clemency proce-
dures, exculpatory evidence that is generated by those procedures
must be given to the condemned person - particularly here, where
the state’s highest court has mandated a judicial evidentiary hear-
ing op the basis of information produced by the secret police
“clemency” investigation into Mr. Spaziano’s guilt or innocence.

1. Brady and Truth

‘The state has an affirmative obligation to deliver exculpatory
evidence whenever and wherever found. “[Alfter a conviction the
prosecutor . . . is bound by the ethics of his office to inform the
appropriate authority of after-acquired or other information that
casts doubt upon the correctedness of the conviction.” Imbler v.
Pachtman, 424 U 8. 409, 427 n. 25 (1976); Walton v. Dugger, 634 So.
2d 1059, 1062 (Fla. 1993) (addressing public records disclosure in
postconviction proceedings and “emphasiziing] that the State
must still disclose any exculpatory document within its possession
or to which it has access, even if such document is not subject to
the public records law”) (citing Brady); See also Moore v. Kemp, 809
F.2d 702, 780 (11th Cir. 1987) (defendant who was not given Brady
material in postconviction proceedings did not get “full and fair”
hearing in that proceeding); Amadeo v. Zant, 486 U.S. 214 (1988)
(there is no procedural defauit when the state fails to disclose evi-
dence supporting the postconviction petitioner’s claim; the evi-
dence should be heard when it comes to light); Thomas v
Goldsmith, 979, F.2d 746, 749 (9th Cir. 1992) (rejecting the state’s
argument that the defendant/petitioner should have sought Brady
material and have made a Brady claim earlier because the informa-
tion: sought was “under control of the state” and the defendant/peti-
tioner couid not “make the showing which would justify” relief
without it —“We do not believe that {the Brady claim is defeated by
this conundrum. Rather, we believe the staie is under an obligation to
come forward with any exculpatory . . . Evidence.”) {emphasis sup-
piied); id. at 750 (the constitutional “duty to turn over excuipatory
evidence” applies in postconviction proceedings.); Walker v. Lock-
hart, 763 F.2d 942 (8th Cir. 1985) {(en banc) {relief granted under
Brady twenty years after conviction where it took that long for evi-
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Isicldence which the state had earlier failed to disclose to come to
light} (emphasis supplied).

In the 30 years after Mooney v. Holohan, 294 U.S. 108 (1935)
(per curiam), the Court identified an important class of due pro-
cess rights now commonly referred to as the Brady doctrine. The
state has an obligation to disclose any evidence which tends to ne-
gate a defendant’s guilt. Brady v, Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963);
Giglio v. United States, 405 U.S. 150 (1972). Through this series of
cases, the Court has uniformly condemned the prosecution’s pres-
entation of evidence that is false, that is known to create a false
impression and the suppression of evidence that is favorable or ex-
culpatory to the defense.

The Mooney Court recognized that due process is violated
when “a state has contrived a conviction . . . through a deliberate
deception of court and jury by the presentation of testimony
known to be perjured.” 294 U.S. at 112. Less than ten years later,
the Court held that the same principle extended beyond the pres-
entation of false evidence to include the prosecution’s “suppres-
sion . . . of evidence favorable to” a defendant. Pyle v. Kansas, 317
U.S. 231, 216 (1942).

In Alcorta v. Texas, 355 U.S. 28 (1957) (per curiam), the prose-
cution suppressed information which would have “impeach{ed the
state’s witness’] credibility,” and could have “corroboratefd} the
petitioner’s contention.” 355 U.S. at 3]. The Court held that the
prosecution’s presentation of evidence that creates a "false impres-
sion” and the suppression of evidence that ‘corroborates” the de-
fendant’s theory of defense violates due process under the
principles enunciated in Mooney and Pyle. I,

In Napue v. Iilinois, 360 U.S. 264 (1959), the court held that
there is no difference between false evidence offered by the state
and false evidence offered by the state and false evidence that goes
“uncorrected when it appears,” 360 U.S. at 268. The Court accord-
ingly held that'the rule of Mooney

that a State may not Xnowingly use false evidence, including
false testimony, . .. does not cease to apply merely because the
false testimony goes only to the credibility of the witness, The
jury's estimdte of the truthfulness and reliability of a given wit-
ness may well be determinative of guilt or innocence, and it is
upon such subtle factors as the possible interest of the witness in
testifying falsely that a defendant’s life or liberty may depend.,

Id. at 269.
fsic}
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[sic] In the landmark case of Brady v. Maryland, 373 1.8, 83
(1963}, the Court framed the holdings of the above cases into a
general principle. The Court again noted the prosecution’s obliga-
tion to disclose any evidence in its possession that is favorable to
the defense or that may “tend to exculpate [the defendant] or re-
duce the penalty.” Id. at 88. Brady held

that the suppression by the prosecution of evidence faverable to

an accused upon request violates due process where the evi-

dence is material either to guilt or to punishment, irrespective

of the good faith or bad faith of the prosecution.

878 U.S. at 87 (emphasis added).

The Brady rule is quintessential truth-seeking. An individual’s
right to a fair trail requires that the false or suppressed evidence be
disclosed so that a defendant is assured “of the basic right to have
the prosecutor’s case encounter and ‘survive the crucible of mean-
ingful adversarial testing.” Crane v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 683, 690-91
{1986} quoting United States v. Cronic, 466 U.S. 648, 656 (1984).
The truth-seeking policy underlying the Brady doctrine mandates
that it encompass two situations: the prosecution’s offering of evi-
dence that it knew or should have known to be false and the prose-
cution’s suppression of evidence favorable to the defense. Because
each type of prosecutorial misconduct perverts and “corrupt(s] . . .
the truth-seeking function of the trial process.” United States v.
Agurs, 427 U.S. 97, 104 (1976), the Court has uniformly and ada-
mantly denounced both.

When an individual raises a claim of prosecutorial misconduct
under the rule.of Brady forbidding suppression of evidence, the
inquiry necessarily takes into consideration the reliability of the
verdict and specifically asks whether confidence in the jury’s ver-
dict 1s undermined. In order to prove a due process violation, a
petitioner must show that the prosecution failed to disclose mate-
rial evidence that was favorable or exculpatory to the defense, The
test for materiality was first announced in United States v. Aguss,
supra, and was jater refined in United States v. Bagley, 473 U.S. 667
(1985).

Bagley reformulated the criterion for materality in light of
Strickland v, Washington, 466 U.S, 668 (1984), an ineffective assist-
ance of counsel case involving “undisclosed evidence” that high-
lighted the importance of the fact finders’ ability to arrive at a just
result based upon all probative evidence. The Bagley phurality held:

The evidence is material only if there is a reasonable probability

fsic]
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{sic]that had the evidence been disclosed to the defense, the
result of the proceeding would have been different. A ‘reason-
able probability’ is a probability sufficient to undermine confi-
dence in the outcome.
Bagley, at 682. The inquiry seeks to determine “whether there is a
reasonable probability that, absent the errors, the fact finder would
have had a reasonable doubt respecting guilt.” Bagly, at 682 n. 13,
quoting Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. at 695,

This test is not outcome-determninative. An individual

need not show that the [error] more likely than not altered the

outcome of the case. The result of the proceeding can be ren-

dered unreliable, and hence the proceeding unfair, even if the

{suppression of the evidence] cannot be shown by a preponder-

ance of the evidence to have determined the outcome.

Strickland, 66 U.S. at 693-94; accord Lockhart v. Fretwell, 113 8. Ct.
838, 842 (1993) (the essence of the inquiry considers whether the
error caused the verdict to be unzeliable or the proceedings unfair
rather than a “mere outcome determination”).

Bagley requires the reviewing court to consider whether the
prosecutor’s suppression of evidence has “adverse{ly] affect{ed]
the defendant’s ability to subject the state’s case to meaningful ad-
versarial teszzng and to present evidence in his favor. 473 U.S. at
683. The reviewing court must “assess the possibility that [an ad-
verse] effect might have occurred in light of the totality of circum-
stances” paying due respect to the “difficulty” of speculating how
the trial would have evolved absent the suppression, Id.

2. The Irrelevancy of How The Government Acquires The
Exculpatory Information Showing that the State is
About to Execute the Wrong Man: Calling a
Police Investigation “Clemency” Does Not
Nullify Brady

a. Brady Matters; Labels Do Not

This Brady obligation does not magically disappear simply be-
cause the state fabels the police investigation into guilt/innocence
“clemency.” The state’s label "clemency” does not alter the charac-
ter of what happened here: A governor, acting sue sponle, ordered
the police to reinvestigate whether the police correctly identified
the right person as Laura Harberts’ killer 23 vears ago.

As a threshold matter, it is hard to see why this police investi-

gation had anything to do with “clemency.” Governor Chiles stayed
[sic]}
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[sic]Mr. Spaziano’s execution on his own - no stay application or
clemency petition were pending when Chiles acted. Mr. Spaziano
certainly did not request an FDLE investigation, secret or otber-
wise; undersigned counsel protested the nature, character, and in-
tegrity of the investigation as early as June — two months before
FDLE reported its secret results to Governor Chiles,

It is no answer to suggest that the FDLE “investigation” exists
in a world separate from this litigation. Attorney General But-
terworth acknowledged as much when he moved the Florida
Supreme Court to hold this case in abeyance pending FDLE’s in-
vestigation — a motion this court granted. Further, by leaking the
FDLE report to specific journalists, the State of Florida — be it in
the form of General Butterworth, Governor Ghiles, or FDLE has
forged an intimate connection between the unchallengeable asser-
tions supposedly made by their supersecret sources and Mr. Spazi-
ano’s attempts to prove his innocence in this litigation.

The Dilisio videotape is exculpatory in the extreme. The
state continues to hide the videotape, along with the rest of its “in-
vestigative” materials. What else is exculpatory? Mr. Spaziano’s at-
torpey doesn’t know. It's a secret.

Two months ago, the governor stayed Mr. Spaziano’s execu-
tion after evidence of innocence arose. The Governor investigated
with tons of resources, sealed the results, and re-scheduled the exe-
cution. Undersigned counsel for Joseph R. Spaziano, Michael
Mello, is a distant lawyer who took the case only when a warrant did
not exist, because no-one ¢lse had done anything, and because
VI.RC was available. Now, for Mr. Spaziano, there is no VLRC, no
CCR, and a new death warrant that could be signed any day.

If Joe Spaziano had a fair trial, so did Randy Weaver, his wife
and his child -— and so did the Salem witches. It is useful to recall
that a few years after the “witches” were executed, they were
exonerated.

For 302 years, no other American bas been put to death on
the unsupported testimony of an addicted teenager. The state’s
only witness now insists he lied under the influence of police pres-
sure, hypnosis and possibly drugs at Spaziano’s murder trial 21
years ago. Yet the governor has ordered Spaziano’s electrocution
to proceed Sept. 21. How can Lawton Chiles, a decent and consid-
erate man, be so certain. Even the jurors weren’t. They recom-
mended life.

Because this killing will be done in our names, we had all bet-
[sic)
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{sic]ter pray that Spaziano really is the man who raped and butch-
ered Laura Lynn Harberts. But even if he is, there are serious im-
plcations that will far outlive him. It will be the first time in
memory that someone went to his death on the strength of secret
evidence. Secret evidence! Even the Salem witches were condemned
entirely in public.

Well, not lotally secret — notwithstanding the relentless at-
tempts by the government to keep it so. The only piece of FDLE’s
“investigation” Mr. Spaziano’s counsel has been able to obtain ~—
independently of the governmental actors — is the videotape of
FDLE's interrogation with Anthony Dilisio, which Mr. Spaziano
has provided to this court. But before undersigned counsel was
able to obtain a copy of the FDLE videotape, Dexter Douglass, Gov-
ernor Chiles’ general counsel, lied to reporters about what was in
the tape. When Douglass was confident that Mr. Spaziano’s attor-
ney would never see the videotape, the governor’s lawyer said, re-
peatedly, that Dilisio did not recant his eritical trial testimony ——
that critical trial testimony was the wip to the dump with My
Spaziano. '

So: the governor’s office wilifully misrepresented the truth
about the one component of FDLE’s investigation I have been able
10 obtain, notwithstanding the relentless stonewalling and dis-
information campaign by Florida’s governmental officials. The ob-
vious question becomes: If Chiles’ office lied about the videotape,
why should we believe any of their other new “evidence” -— espe-
ciaily when they insist on cloaking it in secrecy?

Counsel for Mr. Spaziano obtained the videotape from sources
other than FDLE or the governor’s office. Counsel filed this copy
of the videotape under seal; when counsel learned that the govern-
ment had leaked the videotape to the Orlando Sentinel, he withdrew
the sealing request. See Appendices 1-().

However, the videotape Mr. Spaziano’s counsel provided to
the court might well have been tampered with, and seiectively ed-
ited, by the government before it was given to the private citizen
who provided it to Mr. Spaziano’s attorney. The videotape counsel
filed in this court was 50 minutes long. But Dexter Douglass was
quoted in the Palm Beach Post as saying the videotape lasted almost
twice as long: an hour and 45 minules,

This is no minor 18-1/2 minute gap. Douglass says the video is
aliost fwice as long as the videotape possessed by Mr. Spaziano’s
attorney. Mr. Spaziano’s counsel cannot explain the discrepancy,

{sic]
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fsicibecause as stated, FDLE and Chiles stll refuse to provide us
with thetr version.

When governmental officials are this relentless in keeping
something this secret, it is usually because they have something to
hide. The government’s disinformation about the videotape belies
its claim that secrecy is needed because their new “witnesses” fear
retribution from the big, bad bikers. There is a simple, more com-
mon sense explanation: The government doesn’t want Mr. Spazi-
ano’s lawyers to know even the identities of their new, secret
“witness” because those witnesses could easily be exposed as wrong
or as liars,

The governor has a Florida Department of Law Enforcement
report supposedly showing that the key witness, Tony Dilisio, was
teiling the truth then (and not now) when he testified that Spazi-
ano took him to the dump and boastfully showed him the corpses
of Harberts and another woman who was never identified. The
FDLE’s new “witnesses” have never been heard or cross-examined
in any court, however. They never will be, if the governor has his
way, because FDLE promised them confidentiality.

it is claimed they are afraid of Spaz.lano s former associates in
the Outlaws motorcycie g2ng. This is a cowardly smokescreen:
courts have ways of putting witnesses on the stand without jeopard-
izing them. For example, one of the governor’s secret witnesses is
said to be another former QOutlaw already in the federal govern-
ment’s witness protection program as an FBI informant. He says
— according to the governor’s news release — that Spaziano had
admitted to him before standing trial that he had killed the two
women and had showed their bodies to a young man who he
feared would betray him.

Very interesting. For all we know, it could have been this wit-
ness himseif who killed the women. Is this justice? We don’t know.
It’s a secret.

The governor’s secret witnesses zlso supposedly include
friends and family members who assert that the police and their
hypnotist didn’t manipulate DiLlisio and that he had told the story
he now denies before the hypnosis, before the trial, and for 20
years since. That may be true, although Douglass’ misrepresenta-
tion about the contents of the videotape do not inspire confidence.
But the governors’ secret evidence also includes the FDLE’s video-
tape of a June 14 interview with Dilisio in which he insists in force-
ful terms that what he says NOW is the truth. Such conflicts belong

Isic]
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[sic]in open court rather than a secret file — especially when a life
is at stake. In the unofficial transcript of the taped interview,
Dilisio says of the crucial visit to the dump that “The cops brought
me there. I had never been there in my life until they brought me
there.”

Did Spaziano ever take him?

“No, never.”

Had he ever told the police anything before being
hypnotized?

“No, all the facts that I had I got from them to be able to read
them back to them.”

Throughout the transcript, the FDLE's crack agent repeatedly
refers to Spaziano as “Foranzo,” “Sporanzo,” or Spilanzo,” until
Dilisio eventually corrects him. Could that be one of the reasons
why the governor doesn’t want the file made public? What else did
the FDLE get wrong? What other exculpatory evidence are they
hiding - besides.the FDLE videotape, that is.

And what has happened to the nation’s best open-government
laws? Relying on a 1993 revision that caught the media lobby nap-
ping, Chiles invokes a total exemption for any record having to do
with executive clemency. How convenient. Clemency happens to
be one of the black holes of American jurisprudence. The Florida
Supreme Court won’t touch it. For all the courts care, the governor
could go to Doak Campbell stadium at halftime and let the ¢rowd
decide Spaziano’s fate with thumbs up or thumbs down, Roman
style.

The governor’s spokesman, Ron Sachs claims that it is not a
secret report because the governor and his staff have reviewed it
“thoroughly.” Indeed.

Maybe DiLisio is lying now in his recantation, even though in
doing so he has nothing to gain and everything to loose.

But God help us all, what if he is telling the truth?

b. FDLE: The Keystone Cops

As the Dilisio videotape demonstrates, the FDLE investigation
did reveal exculpatory information. Such was inadvertent.

Again, Ruby Ridge is a fair metaphor for the quality and relia-
bility of the FDLE “investigation.” Whatever faith we initially pos-
sessed in the objectivity or integrity of the Florida Department of
Law Enforcement investigation into what actually happened in this
case in the mid-1970’s had evaporated even before its secret find-

[sic]
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[siclings were transmitted to Gov. Chiles and leaked by him to se-
lected newspapers — to newspapers that could be counted upon to
serve as journalistic bulletin boards for the governor, printing un-
critically whatever his staff spoon fed them, and printing it on page
one, complete with convenient bullet points. The “investigation”
was a whitewash. First, FDLE's institugional and bureaucratic bias
in favor of validating earlier state governmental actors — police
and prosecutors — is too obvious to require much comment. In
the “investigation,” Florida governmental agents are investigating
the alleged misconduct of other Florida governmental agents, and
the outcome of such “investigation® may be e¢xpected to be thud-
dingly predictable. Such bias in favor of the police and prosecu-
tors in 1975 and 1976 is the simplest explanation for the way in
which ¥FDLE has carried out its "investigation.” Second, FDLE ini-
tally said that it was anxious to polygraph Dilisio, but when we
insisted that such polygraph ought to be reliable and professionally
done, the FDLE lost interest.

Third, the thrust of FDLE's investigation appears to be an at-
tempt to smear and discredit Anthony Dilisio, by interviewing
friends and his family members, apparently with an eye to discred-
iting Anthony Dilisio’s memory of today, as opposed to attempting
to ascertain why and under what circumstances Mr. Dilisio was
manipulated by the police in the mid-1970’s. Fourth, four months
have now gone by since FDLE videotaped its interview with Mr.
Dilisio, and the repeated requests by counsel for both Mr. Spazi-
ano and Mr. Dilisio for a copy of the videotape have been met with
2 stone wall of silence. Rather, state officials have selectively leaked
supposed information supposedly said by Mr. Dilisio on the sup-
posed videotape. Fifth, Governor Chiles’ chief Iegal advisor, Dexter
Douglass, told the Oriando Sentinel that DiLisio hadn’t recanted his
testimony and that there is nothing to show that Mr. Spaziano was
wrongly convicted. “The record to me is clear,” Douglass told the
newspaper. “This man tortured and killed this young woman.
Nothing I have seen or heard from Mr. Dilisio or anyone else
changes that.” Douglass said that after Spaziano’s execution was
stayed, agents with the FDLE questioned Dilisic again. “All he has
told FDLE is that he can no longer remember” his testimony,
Douglass said. “That, to me, does nothing to discredit the testi-
moeny of 1976.” These facts — and the logical inferences about the
quality and the integrity of FDLE's “investigation,” do not inspire
confidence that the FDLE's agenda was anything more than a

[sic)
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[sic]maneuver designed to provide political cover for the signing
of another death warrant.

After two months of intensive investigation, conducted at an
undisclosed expense to Florida taxpayers, FDLE made the ex-
traordinary discovery that . . . Tony DiLisio is a liar and a manipuia-~
tor and a general ratbag. None of this is news. The fact that Tony
Dilisio was a ratbag was the central point that Mr. Spaziano’s de-
fense lawyer was atternpting to make about the state’s only real wit-
ness 20 years ago, at the original trials. So, 19 and 20 years after the
trial, the state’s Jaw enforcement bureaucracy had finally learned
that Mr. Spaziano was right about Tony Dilisio 20 years ago. Bet-
ter jate than never.

Of course, FDLE was conducting its investigation in 1995, and
was limiting that investigation to the 37-year-old, comparatively ma-
ture, dried-out and sobered-up Tony Dilisio. So imagine what
DiLisio was like 20 years ago, when he was a teenager, in trouble
with the police for drugs and for criminal activity that included
breakings and enterings, and the like. That Tony DiLisio — Tony
Dilisio the younger - was the pathetic instrument that Florida po-
lice and prosecutors used to frame Joseph Robert Spaziano. If
Tony DiLisio is the scumbag described by FDLE in 1995, just imag-
ine what Tony DiLisio was like and what Tony DiLisio was 20 years
ago, when the cops and the prosecutors used him to frame Joseph
Spaziano for a rape and a murder he did not commit.

All 38 states which have authorized capital punishment have
constitutional or statutory provisions for executive clemency. Her-
rerg v. Collins, 113 8.Ct. 853 (1993). Like Flornda, all have post-
conviction mechanisms for either the presentation, or investiga-
tion, of evidence which would tend to show that the accused is in-
nocent, has been unfairly tried and/or convicted, or is otherwise
undeserving of the death penalty. Indeed, under Florida law, that
postconviction mechanism presents the only state court opportu-
nity for capital defendants to present claims arising outside the rec-
ord on appeal. Nixon v. State, 572 So. 2d 1386 (Fla. 1990); Cumper
v. State, 506 So. 2d 89 (Fla. App. 2 Dist. 1987); Whitaker v. Stale, 433
So. 2d 1352 (Fla. App. 3 Dist 1983). The decision of the Florida
Supreme Court allows the State of Florida to conceal exculpatory
evidence relevant to not only Mr. Spaziano’s right to post-convic-
tion review, but also to the integrity of his conviction and sentence.
The decision leaves Florida’s post-conviction proceedings neither
full nor fair and deprives death-sentenced individuals of the due

[sic]
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[siclprocess afforded under the Fourteenth Amendment to the
Constitution.

In other capital cases, General Butterworth has, with thudding
predictability, contended: namely, that a defendant may not raise a
challenge to a conviction based upon a state suppression of evi-
dence if the state successfully suppresses it long enough. The
subargument presented by the state is that it is the defendant’s re-
sponsibility to look under the correct shell for evidence; not the
state’s trial and post-trial obligation to deliver exculpatory evidence
whenever found.

This proposition is incorrect. It turns on itself —. thefact that
the state successfully hides evidence is the proof of, not a defense
to, a Brady or a newly discovered evidence claim.

B. Brady and Its Progeny Are Applicable to the FDLE
Police and the Florida Board of
Executive Clemency

In Brady, the Court specifically held that “the suppression by
the prosecution of evidence favorable to an accused upon reguest
violates due process where the evidence is material eithér to guilt
or to punishment, irrespéctive of the good faith or bad'faith of the
prosecution.” Brady, 83 8.Ct. at 1196-1197. Bredy’s meaning on the
surface is obvious - the prosecution has an obligation to disclose
favorable evidence to the defendant if requested. The true signifi-
cance of Brady, however, is found outside the literal statement of
the prosecutor’s obligation. As indicated by the Supreme Court,
the requirement that the government disclose exculpatory evi-
dence is grounded in notions of due process:

The principie of Mooney v. Holohan is not punishment of society

for misdeeds of a prosecutor but aveidance of an unfatr trial to the

accused. Society wins not only when the gutity are convicted but when

criminal trials are fair; our sysiem of the administration of justice suffers
when any accused is treated unfairly. An inscription on the walls of

the Department of justice states the proposition candidly for the

federal domain: "The United Srates wins its point whenever jus.

tice is done its citizens in the courts.’

Brady, 83 S.Ct. at 1197 (emphasis added).

In United Staies v. Bagley, 473 U.8. 667 (1985), the Court em-
phasized that “{tthe Brady rule is based on the requirement of due
process. Its purpose is not to displace the adversary system as the
primary means by which truth is uncovered, but to ensure that a

[sic]
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[sic]miscarriage of justice does not occur.” Bagley, 105 §.Ct. at
3379-3380 (footnote omitted). If the proceeding is unfair, the ac-
cused has not received due process. The accused does not receive
a fair judicial proceeding, nor due process, if material exculpatory
evidence is withheld, regardless of where the evidence is located.
US. v. Spagnoulo, 960 F.2d 990, 994 (11th Cir. 1992) (“this court
has declined to draw a distinction between different agencies
under the same government”); Martinez v. Wainwright, 621 ¥.24
184, 18688 (bth Cir. 1980) {different "arms” of the government
are not "severable entities®).

Disclosure obligations thus should be heid to extend beyond
the actual prosecutor. In Pennsylvania v. Ritchie, 107 S.Ct. 989
{1987}, this Court framed the issue as follows:

The question presented in this case is whether and te what ex-
tent 2 State's interest in the confidentiality of its investigative
files concerning child abuse must yield to a criminal defendant’s
Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to discover favorable
evidence.

Id. ar 993994,

At issue is Ritchie were the files of the Children and Youth Serv-
ices [hereinafﬁer CYS], a protective service agency established to
investigate cases of suspected child mistreatment and neglect. CYS,
an agency created by the state, was an unrelated third party to the
criminal action, as are the FDLE and the Board of Executive Clem-
ency in the case at bar. CYS did not have any prosecutorial func-
tion. In fact, the Supreme Court specifically noted that *{tihere is
no suggestion that the Commonwealth’s prosecutor was given ac-
cess to the file at any point in the proceedings, or that he was aware
of its contents™ Ritchiz, 107 S.Ct. at 994 n 4.

In Ritchie, this Court was faced with CYS's failure to comply
with the defendant’s subpoena requesting exculpatory information
contained in its files, because it claimed its records were privileged
and confidential under a state statute, After recognizing that it tra-
ditionally evaliated claims such as those raised by Ritchie under
the broader protections of the Due Process Clause of the Four-
teenth Amendment,” Ritchie, 107 S.Ct at 1001, it acknowledged
that “[i]t is well-settled that the government has the obligation to
turn over evidence in its possession that is both favorable to the
accused and material to guilt and punishment.” Id. at 1001 (em-
phasis added). This Court went on to note that “[m]oreover, the
duty to disclose is ongoing; information that may be deemed immaterial

[sic]
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[siclupon original examination may become imporiant as the proceedings
progress, and this court would be obligated to release information material
to the fairness of the trial.” Id. at 1003 {emphasis added).

Under Riichie, the Brady obligation is on the governmeni, not
just the prosecutor,

At this stage, of course, it &s impossible 1o say whether any information

in the CYS records may be relevant to Ritchie’s claim of innocence, be-

[siclcause neither the prosecution nor defense counsel has seen the infor-

mation, and the trial judge acknowledged that he had not reviewed the

Sfull file. The Commonwealth, however, argues that no material-

ity inquiry is required, because a statute renders the contents of

the file privileged. Requiring disclosure here, it is argued,

would override the Commonwealth’s compeliing interest in con-

fidentiality on the mere speculation that the file ‘might’ have
been useful to the defense.

Although we recognize that the public interest in protecting this

type of sensitive information is strong, we do not agree that this

interest necessarily prevents disclosure in all circumstances.
Id. at 1001 (emphasis added).

The court concluded that “Ritchie is entitled to have the CYS
file reviewed by the trial court to determine whether it contains
information that probably would have changed the outcome of his
trial.” Id. at 1002,

The Court’s recent decision in Kyles v. Whitley, 115 S.Ct. __,
57 Cr.L. 2008 (1995), affirms that the strictures of Brady apply to
the government, not just the prosecuting attorney. Kyles states:

While the definition of Bagley materiality in terms of the cumula-

tive effect of suppression must accordingly be seern as leaving the

government with 2 degree of discretion, it must also be under-

stood as imposing a corresponding burden. On the one side,
showing the prosecution knew of an item of favorable evidence
unknown to the defense does not amount to a Brady violation,
without more. But the prosecution, which alone can know what

1s undisclosed, must be assigned the consequent responsibility

to gauge the net effect of all such evidence and make disclosure

when the point of “reasonable probability” is reached. This is

wrn means that the individnal prosecutor has a duty to learn of

any favorable evidence known fo others acting on the government’s

behalf, including the police.
1d. 57 Cr.L. at 2008. {Empﬁasis supplied).

None of the concerns expressed by the Florida Supreme Court
Justify a departure from this rule, As to the contention that clem-
ency records are unusually sensitive: The Florida government’s

{sici
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[sicidecision to withhold its materials from counsel — but not
from its selected journalistic bulletin boards — evinces the
govermnent’s bad faith in this case. So does its selectivity:

AFFIDAVIT OF IAN HAIGLER

STATE OF FLORIDA
COUNTY OF LEON

1, tan Haigler, having been duly sworn, hereby depose and say:

1. My name is Ian Haigler, and I have been employed by the Volun-
teer Lawyers’ Resource Post-Conviction Defender Organization
(previcusly known as the Volunteer Lawyers’ Resource Center)
for over six years. Among various other duties, part of my re-
sponsibilities have been the collection and maintenance of
records relevant to cases on which the office has worked.

2. In the course of my employment I have very often requested and
been given access to clemency records on capital cases. This has
generally been accomplished by an informal telephone call to
the Governor's Legal Office at The Capitol; I would tell a repre-
sentative of that office which case I was interested in either re-
viewing or having photocopied. Usually, within one or two days,
I would either review the file in a conference room to determine
what items we wished to have copied or request that the entire
file be copied (in cases where the file was very large, arrange-
ments would be made for it to be copied by a private business).

3. Within the past few months, protocol for these requests changed
slightly; I was asked to address a letter to the governor requesting
access to the files. In two instances, | sent letters by facsimile
transmission and was thereafter given access to the files. In the
first instance, I requested that the entire file be copied and ar-
rangements were made with a private firm; in the second, [ was
given the file to review in a conference room and thereafter
made copies, personally, of those materials which 1 had been in-
structed to find.

4. 1 have never been denied access to original clemency records or
have them photocopied; in fact, it has always proven a very casual
process. Even in those two instances for which written requests
were required, 1 was very soon thereafter given free access to
what was originally represented 1o me as fuli and complete clem-
ency fiies.

FURTHER AFFIANT SAYETH NAUGHT

/s/
JAN HAIGLER
fsic]
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[sic]1SWORN TO and SUBSCRIBED before me by Ian Haigler,
personally known to me, on this 30th day of August, 1995.

/s/

NOTARY PURLIC

STATE OF FEORIDA

Mr. Spaziano does not necessarily seek a wholesale disclosure
of clemency records, rather in camera review by an independent
judicial tribunal and, after such a review, disclosure of only excui-
patory material. As to the fact that the Florida state constitution
vests clemency power.in the executive branch of state government,
the state constitution cannot trump the federal constitution.

Furthermeore, under Florida law, the Attorney General of the
State of Florida, the same person prosecuting Mr. Spaziano during
both direct appeal and post-conviction proceedings, is one of the
members of the clemency board and has access to the very materi
als being denied petitioner. Itis simply impossible to seriously con-
tend that it does not violate the Constitution of the United States
of America for the State of Florida to sllow capital defendants to be
marched through the postconviction process while opposing
counsel conceals exculpatory material under a claim of siafe execu-
tive privilege. Even if Brady applied only to information within the
prosecutor’s personal knowledge, it would apply to the FDLE and
the Board of Executive Clemency.

C. Brady and Its Progeny Require the State to Disclose
Exculpatory Material Discovered After Affirmance
on Direct Appeal.

In Asay, the Florida Supreme Court rested its decision primar-
ily upon a determination that Brady and its progeny do not require
the state to disclose exculpatory information acquired by the state
after a capital conviction and sentence has been affirmed on direct
appeal.

People whom the government are trying to kill are entitled to
due process beyond the parameters of their trial. The United
States District Court for the Fastern District of Louisiana discussed
this precept in Monroe v. Butler, 690 F.Supp. 521 {E.D.1a. 1988):

Although DBrady dealt with trial conduct, its theoretical focus

deals more broadly with the fairness of the proceeding in which

the condemned conduct occurred. In Brady, that occurred at

trial. The State has never disputed the fact that the nondis-

closed evidence is favorable to Monroe. Nor does the State con-
tend that the evidence is not exculpatory. And this Court found
[sic]
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[sic]that the evidence was material; it had all the conceptual un-
derpinnings of Bradytype facts.

Nonetheless, the State argued that Brady did not apply because
the nondisclosure did not occur until after the trial. Itis instrue
tive to note that nothing in Brady or its progeny limits its doc
trine of fact-characterization to the preconviction context.
Brady doctrinally stands for the notion that it is fundamentally
unfair for the prosecution to withhold material, exculpatory evi-
dence from the defendant and that the proceeding in which the
unfairness occurred should be overturned so that the merit of
the Brady facts can be considered. Clearly, such nondisclosure is
as unfair where it prevens a defendant from taking full advan-
tage of post-conviction relief as it is when it results in the forfei
ture of the defendant’s right to a fair trial The prosecutor’s
duty to disclose material, excuipatory evidence continues
through the peried allowed by the State for post-cenviction re-
lief. Any other conclusion would, in the words of the Brady
Court, “cast | ] the prosecutor in the role of an architect of a
proceeding that does not comiport with the standards of jus
tice....” 373 U.S. at 88, 83 §.Ct, at 1197,

Id. at 525 (footnote omitted).

As Justice Marshall observed in his denial of petition for writ of
certiorari in Monroe v. Blackburn, 476 U.S. 1145 (1986), any other
reading of the rule would be contrary to the basic tenets of Brady:

In Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83, 83 5.Ct. 1194, 10 L.Ed.2d 215
(1963), this Court heid that “the suppression by the prosecution
of evidence favorable to an accused upon request violates due
process where the evidence is material either to guilt or to pun-
ishment, irrespective of the good faith or bad faith of the prose-
cution.” Id., 8373 U.S.,, at 87, 83 8.Ct,, at 1196-1197. In United
States v, Agurs, supra, we recognized that

“there are situations in which evidence is obviously of such
substantial value to the defense that elementary fairness requires
it to be disclosed even without a specific request. For though
the attorney for the sovereign must prosecute the accused with
carnestness and vigor, he must always be faithful to his client’s
overriding interest that ‘justice shall be done.” Id, 427 U.S,, at
110-111, 96 8.Ct., at 2401 (footnote omitted).

The message of Brady and its progeny is that a trial is not a mere

“sporting event”; it is 2 quest for truth in which the prosecutor,

by virtue of his office, must seck truth even as he seeks victory.

See United States v. Bagley, 475 U.S, 667, 675, 105 5.Cu 3375,
fsic]
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[sic]3380, 87 L.Ed. 2d 481 (1985). {(Brady rule to “ensure that a
miscarriage of justice does not occur”™).

The quest for truth may not terminate with a defend-
ant's conviction. In Louisiana, 2 convicted defendant
must receive a new trigl whenever “inlew and material
evidence that, nowwithstanding the exercise of reason-
able diligence by the defendant, was not discovered
before or during the trial, is available, and if the evi-
dence had been introduced at the trial it would proba-
bly have changed the verdict or judgement of guilty.”
La.Code Crim. ProcAnn., Art 851(8) (West 1984),

When the sovereign has decided that justice will best be served
by qualifying the finality of a conviction so that a convicted de-
fendant may yet prove his innocence, its attorney is not free to
choose otherwise. And until factfinding proceedings, or the
possibility of them, is terminated, the State remains bound by
the rules of simple fairness that Brady held to be of constitu-
tional dimension. It would hardly make sense to hold the Siate
to a special duty to disclose exculpatory evidence in any adver-
sarial proceeding and then permit the State to avoid this obliga-
tion by suppressing the very evidence that would enable &
defendant to trigger such proceedings.

In this case there can be no doubt that petitioner’s due process
rights were violated by the State’s failure to disclose to him the
information that Detective Gullardo related to the New Orleans
police. That the information lay undisturbed in the files of the
police and not those of the prosecutor should make no differ-
ence. This police files that so readily provided the State with the
incriminating material to convict a defendant cannot be tarned
into a deadietter repository where evidence of innocence is con-
cerned. See Moore v. Illinios, 408 1.8, 786, 810, 92 S5.Ct. 2862,
2575, 33 L.Ed.2d 706 (1972) (MARSHALL, |., concurring in
part and dissenting in part); Smith v Florida, 410 F.24 1340, 1351
(CAS 1059). If by now police are not fully aware of their consti-
tutional obligation to disclose exculpatory evidence even in the
absence of a specific request by the prosecutor or defense coun-
sel, this Court should seize this case as a chance to educate
themn.

The State of Florida’s obligation to place «lf favorable evi-
dence in the crucible of an adversarial testing does not disappear
when an individoal’s conviction and sentence of death have

[sic]
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[siclbeen affirmed on direct appeal. The postconviction process
affords Mr. Spaziano his only opportunity to have extra-record
claims considered by the Florida state courts. That opportunity s
neither full nor fair if the state can conceal favorable evidence
from an independent judiciary. Insofar as the state has maintained
that its state post-conviction remedies are entided to deference, it
eannot be heard to say that it can skew those remedies by conceal-
ing relevant exculpatory evidence.

D. The Jpse Dixit of Labeling this Police Investigation into
Guilt Innocence as “Clemency,” and Herrerg v.
Collins Magnification of the Importarice that
Clemency Procedures Be Reliabie and Fair.

1. "The Right Not to be Killed by the State for a Crime You
Did Not Commit: Merely a “Liberty” Interest or a
Fundamental Right to “Life” Itself

The role of clemency as an integral part of our justice system

was reaffirmed by the Court in Herrera v. Collins, 113 8. Ct. 853
(1993). In Herrera, the Court considered whether the Due Process
Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment entitled the petitioner to a
new trial or to a vacation of his death sentence in light of newly
discovered evidence supporting liis claim that he was innocent. By
a six to three vote, the Court held that the Constitution did not
require that Herrera's execution be stayed pending an evidentary
hearing on his innocence. The Justices in the majority wrote four
separate opinions, three of which focused primarily on what the
Justices considéred to be the overwhelming evidence of Herrera’s
guilt.”® However, Chief Justice Rhenquist in his opinion for the
Court suggested that Herrera was not entitled to a new trial on due
process grounds because of the availability of cdlemency
*[cllemency is deeply rooted in our Anglo-American tradition of
law, and is the historic remedy for preventing miscarriages of jus-
tice where judicial process has been exhausted. Id. at 866 (foot-
notes omitted). Thus, executive clemency, which is available in all
thirty-six states which authorize capital punishment, is the “fail
safe’ in our criminal justice system.” Jd. at 867-68 (quoting
[sic]

98 Chief Justice Rhenquist delivered the opinion of the court, with Justice
O'Connor concurring and filing an opinion in which Justice Xennedy joined, Justice
Scalia concwrring and filing an opindon in which Justice Thomas joined, Justice White
concurnng in the fudgement, and Justice Blackinun dissenting and filing an opinion
in which Justices Stevens and Souter joined in part. Jd,
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{sic]KaTHLEEN D. MOORE, Parbons: Justice, Mercy, Anp Tue Pus-
ric InteresT 131 (1989)). Justice Scalia similarly observed that
although the Constitution would allow the execution of an inno-
cent person who had received all the process that our society has
traditionally deemed adequate, convincing evidence of innocence
would undoubtedly result in an executive pardon being granted.
Id. at 875.

The Court’s reasoning in Herrera suggests that the due process
protections of Brady apply to capital clemency decisions. Chief Jus-
tice Rhenquist’s reliance on clemency a8 the historical “fail safe” in
our justice system is justified only if meaningful review of capital
clemency requests is mandated by the Constitution. The petitioner
in Herrera had not yet availed himself of a Texas procedure for
seeking clemency because of innocence. Id at 868-69. But what if
the State of Texas failed to provide a fair procedure for consider-
ing capital clemency applicatons and simpily decided whether to
grant such.requests by lottery? Or if it conducted a secret police
investigation, generated evidence that the state was trying to kill
the wrong person, would Brady require Texas to disclose such ex-
culpatory evidence to the defense?

Given that clemency is an essential part of cur system of jus-
tice, the assumption that it couid be wielded in a blatantly arbitrary
or discriminatory manner is simply anachronistic. An analogy can
be drawn to executive discretion in deciding whether to prosecute
a particular case. Although the executive has broad, some might
say “unfettered” discretion to determine whether to enforce the
laws in a specific case, it cannot exercise this discretion in a seiec-
tve manner that violates the Equal Protection Clause of the Four-
teenth Amendment. Wayte v. United States, 470 U.S. 598, 607-09 &
1.9 (1985) (holding that, although the executive has broad discre-
tion as to whom (0 prosecute, a decision to prosccute selectively
may violate “ordinary equal protection standards”™); United Staies v.
Batchelder, 442 U.S. 114, 125 & n.9 (1979) (holding that selectivity
in the enforcement of federal criminal laws is subject to equal pro-
tection constraints). In like fashion, the broad executive discretion
that exists at the other end of the punishment continuum to de-
cide after conviction whether to commute a sentence does not
mean that the clemency authority can be exercised in an arbi
or discriminatory fashion. But ¢f. Solem v. Helm, 463 1.8, 277, 301
(1983} (asserting that an executive “may commuie a sentence at
any time for any reason without reference to any standards™). The

[sic]
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[sic}Supreme Court implicidy recognized as much when it noted
that the president may freely exercise the clemency power in a
manner “which does not otherwise offend the Constitution.” Schick
v. Reed, 419 U.S. 256, 266 (1974); see also Daniel T. Kobil, The
Quality of Mercy Sirained: Wresting the Pardoning Power from the King,
69 Tex L. Rev. 569, 617-18 (1991) (arguing that equal protection
constraints apply to use of the clemency power); Elkan Abramowitz
& David Paget, Note, Executive Clemency in Capital Cases, 39 NY.U. L.
Rev. 186, 181-82 (1964} (suggesting that racial discrimination in
granting clemency may give rise to an action for violation of consti-
tutional rights}.

In view of gxisting constitutional precedent and the important
role clemency plays in our system of justice, it appears that die pro-
cess protections do apply to clemency procedures, at least in capi-
tal cases. Kentucky Department of Corrections v. Thompson, 490 U.S. 454
(1989} is illustrative of the analysis currently employed by the
Supreme Court in procedural due process cases. The Court in
Thompson utilized a two-step test, asking first whether there exists “a
liberty or property interest which has been interfered with by the
State,” and second, “whether the procedures attendant uapon that
deprivation were constitutionally sufficient.” Jd. at 460 {(citations
omitted).

Applying this test to the process employed when determining
whether to commute a death sentence, the question arises, is the
applicant asserting a “liberty” interest, or an interest in fife itself? As
the above quotation from Thompson illustrates, the Court has omit
ted mention of the protection of life from most discussions of pro-
cedural due process. Moreover, virtually all lower courts that have

considered due process challenges to capital clcmcncy proccdures
have analyzed the interest being asserted as one in “liberty.” Spinkel-
link v. Wainwright, 378 F. 2d 582 (bth Cir. 1978), cert. denied, 440
U.S. 967 (1979); Bundy v. Dugger, 850 F. 2d 1402 (11th Cir. 1988),
and Otey v. State, 485 N.W. 2d 153 (Neb. 1992). Generally, these
courts rely on Connecticut Board of Pardons v. Dumschat, 452 U.S, 458
(1981) which characterized the respondents’ alleged interest in
commutation of their life sentences as “liberty interests.”*® In
Dumschat, the Court held that the respondents’ interests in liberty

' [sic]

100 Based on the facts in Dumschat, in which respondents were seeking relief from
their confinementrather than presecvation of their life or protection of their prop-
erty, the Court undoubtedly was correct in identifying the asserted interest as one in
“tiberty.”
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[siclvia commutation could only be revived by state rules or stat-
wtes creating a “right’ to clemency'® because no state statute cre-
ated such 2 right, the respondents lacked requisite liberty interest
and due process protections were therefore not triggered.

By contrast, it is difficult to say that one who seeks commuta-
tion of a sentence of death lacks the requisite protectable interest.
An unfavorable decision by the clemency authority will deprive
him of life, an interest he presently has (unless we are prepared to
make the harrowing admission that for purposes of the Due Pro-
cess Clause he is already dead).*® Justice Stevens’ natural law ar-
gument in Dumschat, that a liberty interest continues while one is in
the legal custody of the state, has greater force with respect to a
“life” interest, since life quite obviously had its “roots” in a source
deeper than state law or ruies. Dumschal, 4562 U.S, at 468-69 (Ste-
vens, |, dissenting}. Recognition that the asserted interest in life
also vitiates what justice Stevens has characterized as the unsatisfac-
tory distinction, employed for purposes of determining when due
process is triggered, between losing what one has and not getting
what one wants. Id. at 470 (Stevens, J.. dissenting). Under this ap-
proach, originally put forward in Greenholiz v. Inmates of Neb. Penal
and Correctional Complex, 443 U.S. 1, 9-10 (1979}, when one is de-
nied what one has {i.c. when punishment is imposed}), due process
applies, but when one is denied what one wants, (i.e. when commu-
tation is denied), due process is not triggered. A capital clemency
applicant clearly still has life, the loss of which will directly and
inevitably follow a denial of clemency. Consequently, the clemency
process in a capital case would implicate an interest specifically
protected by the Fourteenth Amendment, and any procedure em-
ployed in deciding whether to grant clemency would have to com-
port with due process.

[sic]

101 Bumechat, 562 1.5, at 464-65. Presumably this is because, as luter cases have indi-
cated, prisoners’liberty diminishes following incarceration. Fewitt v, Helms, 459
11.5.460,467 (1988) Later cases suggest that liberty interests may alse be created inde-
pendently of state faw by the Due Process Clause itself, E.g. Kentucky Department of
Corrections v, Thompson, 490 11.5.454,460 (1989).

02 Along this line,one might argue that once an individual has been convicted ad
sentenced to death in aceord with constitutional procedures, his Hife is effectively for-
feited. Thus,in order 1o e protected by the due process, his “life interest {as distinet
from mere life} must be resurrected through some reasonable expectation based on
state rules or statutes or the Fourteenth Amendment.Such an argument, as my col-
league William Bluth has dryly remarked, would seem to be the ulttmate legal fiction.
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[sic]2. The Inapplicability of Dumschat

However, even if the Court was to determine that capital clenr-
ency decisions implicate “liberty” interests, we believe that the pro-
cedural due process requirements of Brady are nevertheless
applicable. Aswe discuss below, Dumschat v, Connecticut Beard is not
[sic]dispositive of the issue of whether a capital clemency applicant
has a right to fair procedure. As the Eighth Circuit pointed out in
Otey v. Hopkins, 972 F. 2d 210, 212 (8th Cir. 1992) the respondents
in Dumschat were alleging that, because of the frequency with
which clemency was granted in Connecticut, the Board of Pardons
had to explain its reasons for denying commutation in a particular
case. The majority in Dumschat responded to this argument by not-
ing that, although commutations in the past may have been readily
forthcoming, the absolute discretion of the Board to grant or with-
hold clemency undercut the prisoners’ assertion that they had a
right to clemency which triggered due process. 452 U.S. at 465-67,
By contrast, the argument for procedural due process advanced in
this article is not based on any expectation by the applicant of actu-
ally receiving clemency. The relevant expectation which triggers
the Due Process Clause is the his capital clemency request will be
given mearingful consideration by the ultimate decisionmaker.!®
Such an expectation may be rooted either in the Due Process
Clause itself of in specific staie procedures used in evahiating re-
quests for clemency in-capital cases.

Although the Court has never held that a capital clemency ap-
plicant has a liberty interest in his request being given meaningful
consideration, the Court should recognize such an interest under
the Due Process Clause or the Eighth Amendment. The Due Pro-
cess Clause seems to be the most logical source of such a right.
However, in its recent death penalty jurisprudence, the Court has
used the Eighth Amendment’s proscription of “cruel and unusual
punishment” to impose procedural requirements on the use of
capital punishment. E.g., Ford v. Wainwright, 477 U.S. 399, 405
(1986). Thus, any challenge to capital clemency procedures should
also take into account the protections of the Eighth Amendment.
Because clemency is an integral part of our federal constitutional
scheme and all state systems of justice, it ought to function in a

fsic]

188 In Ofey v. State, 485 N.W. 158, 166 (Neb. 1892}, the Nebraska Supreme Court
held that the relevant expectation is merely to "seek a commutation.” However, such
aright to “seek” clemency would be empty if it did not presuppose that an application
for eapital clemendy will receive meaningful consideration.
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[siclmeaningful way, If a criminal punishment system which in-
cludes the death penalty, but not executive clemency, is indeed “to-
tally alien” to Amnerican notions of justice, Gregg v. Georgia, 428 U S.
153, 199 n.50 (1976) (Stewart, Powell, and Stevens, JJ.).then it
would seem that the dispensing of clemency must be more than a
sham or perfunctory exercise. The Court has held that a con-
demned prisoner has no due process right to an adversarial heas-
ing when the governor has the sole responsibility for determining
the sanity of a person as a prerequisite to execution. Solesbee v.
Batkeom, 339 U.S. 9 (1950). However, Solesbee would not be control-
ling in the context of an executive clemency decision in a capital
case today. The Supreme Court effectively overruled Solesbes in
Ford v. Wainawright, 477 1J.8. 339 (1986), in which it held that the
Fighth Amendment prevents states from executing insane prison-
ers; thus, the state must employ substantial procedural protections,
including an adversarial hearing, when making a sanity determina-
ton. 477 U.S. at 416-18. Justice Frankfurter’s caretul, wellrea-
soned dissent in Solesbee, which relied heavily on historical analysis
and the practices used by most states, clearly has more vitality than
Justice Black’s terse majority opinion. This.is particularly true in
death penalty cases where there is a heightened need to be sensi-
tive to the values underlying the Due Process Clause and where
clemency is historically the vehicle for preventing miscarriages of
justice. Herrera v. Collins, 113 8. Ct. 8538, 866 (1993}, justice Harlan
remarked in Reid v. Covert, 354 U.S. 1, 77 (1957) (Harlan, ]., con-
curring) that capital cases stand on entirely different footing that
other offenses, and thus the law is especially concerned with proce-
dural fairness in these cases. Just as the process afforded to one
faced with a fine or prison offense may not satisfy the requirements
of the Constitution in a capital case, so to due process interests may
be implicated in a capital clemency case that are not extant in
other clemency requests. Such a distinction is neither "novel, nor
is it neghgible, being literally that between life and death.” Id.
Recognition of the unique nature of the death penalty under-
lay the-Arizona Supreme Court’s decision in McGee v. Afizona State
Board of Pardons and Paroles, 376 P. 2d 779, 781 (Ariz. 1962) (en
banc} which heid that a prisoner applying for commutation of a
death sentence is entitled to die process in the form of notice, an
opportunity to be heard, and a meaningful hearing. The court
noted that if the State is to justify taking a human life, an act that
has long been considered immoral, “it must not. be done with less

[sic]
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[sic}formality that the spirit and traditions of the law contemplate.”
Id. Evidently, the McGee court believed that imposing formal proce-
dural protections benefits not only the individual, but society as
well, for these protections give the condemned “his full measure in
the struggle against the pubic’s will” Id. Therefore, the court or-
dered that the Board of Pardons and Parole grant McGee a hear-
ing at which he would be allowed to present evidence that had
bearing upon his application for commutation,

Although the opinion in McGee does not offer a wealth of rea-
sons supporting its holding, the court appears to have been con-
cemed with the intrinsic value of due process in “generating the
feeling, so important to a popular government, that justice has
been done.” Marshall v. Jericho, Inc., 446 U.8. 238, 242 (1980)
(quoting Joint Anti-Fascist Refugee Comm v. McGrath, 341 U.S. 123,
172 (1951} (Frankfurter, ]., concurring)). As Justice Blackmun has
noted, imposing procedural protections may enhance our sense of
a decision’s legitimacy. O'Bannon v. Town Court Nursing Ctr., 447
U8, 778, 801 (1980) (Blackmun, J., concuiring in judgement).
And society, no less than the prisoner condemned to death, has an
interest in enduring that capital clemency applicants are “persen-
ally falked to about the decision rather than simply being dealt with.
TRIBE, supra note 10, § 10-7, at 667 {emphasis in original).

Just as importantly, procedural protections serve society’s in-
terest in assuring that accurate decisions are made in cases involv-
ing deprivations of important rights. Id. at 666-67. Generally, in
capital proceedings the Court has required that procedures aspzre
to a higher standard of reliability because death if “the most irve-
mediable and unfathomable of penalties.” Ford v. Wamwnghzf, 477
U.S. 399, 411 (1986). Thus, due process should require meaningful
consideration of capital clemency requests because such decisions
are the last chance for the State to identify instances of wrongful
conviction or other circumstances that would merit remission of
this absolute punishment.

Florida has promulgated rules governing the procedure for
considering death penalty commutation requests. 1992 Florida
Ruies of Execiitive Clemency applicable to commutation of death
sentences, These rules, although less comprehensive than the ones
previously in £or ree, still provide for a thorough investigative report
by the Parole Commission, a hearing before the Clemency Board
with requisite notice to the condemned inmate’s attorney, and an
opportunity for the applicant to present evidence at the hearing.

[sic]
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[sic]ld. However, the rules also specify that they are not to be con-
straed as limiting in any way the powers of the Parole Board and
they suggest that the investigation and hearing provisions are trig-
gered only at the Governor's discretion. 7d. at Rule 15 (“The inves-
tigation shall begin immediately after the Commission receives a
written request from the Governor.”). Suppose that the Governor,
for whatever reason - personal animus, political expediency, or
perhaps administrative oversight — did not request that an investi-
gation and hearing be conducted by the Clemency Board in a capi-
tal clemency case. In such an event, would the Constitution allow
the application to be summarily denied? We do not believe that it
would. Since the state has raised an expectation that requests for
commutation of the death sentence will be meaningfully consid-
cred, the Due Process Clause imposes a requirement that proce-
dures to ensure meaningful consideration be employed.

In Connecticut Board of Pardons v. Dumschat, 452 U.S, 458 (1981}
the United States Supreme Court considered whether due process
protections of the Fourteenth Amendment apply to non-capital
clemency decisions. The Court in Dumschat reversed a decision of
the Second Circuit Court of Appeals (Dumschat v. Board of Pardens,
618 F. 2d 216, 21822 (2d Cir. 1980) (per curiam) (holding that
because inmates had demonstrated a legitmate expeciation of
commuiation, procedural due process protections attached)) and
held that prisoners sentenced to life in Connecticut prisons did not
possess a protectable Iiberty interest in baving their sentences com-
muted and, hence, were not entitled to procedural due process
from the Connecticut Board of Pardons.

The respondents had argues successfully in the courts below
that life prisoners possessed a due process right to written state-
ments from the Connecticut Board of Pardons explaining why they
had been denied commutation of their sentences. See id. at 217-22,
The Second Circuit upheld the trial court’s ruling that the Board
of Pardons had created a legitimate expectation of clemency and
release by virtue of the regularity with which the Board granted
clemency to “lifers.” The appellate court relied on findings that
more than seventy-five percent of Connecticut’s prisoners serving
life sentences had their eligibility for parole accelerated by the
Board through a grant of clemency and that ninety percent of
those inmates were then granted parole witliin their first year of
eligibility. Id. at 218-20. According to the appeals court, this “al-
most invariable practice™ (/4. at 220 (quoting Dumschat v. Beard of

[ste]
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[sic] Pardons, 593 F. 2d 165, 166 (2d Cir. 1979)) and the “over-
whelming likelihood” that life inmates would be pardoned and re-
leased before completing their a life terms gave them a liberty
interest in clemency proceedings. Id. The Second Circuit re-
manded to the district court to determine how many years prison-
ers with life [sicsentences must serve before the probability of
clemency became so significant as.to give rise to a protectable lib-
erty interest. Jd. at 221.

This Court, by a vote of seven to two, overturned the decision
of the Second Circuit. Connecticut Bd. of Pardons v. Dumschat, 452
U.S5. 458 (1981). Although the Court recognized that a state-cre-
ated right can, in some circumstances, implicate procedural due
process protections, the historically high probability of being
granted clemency under the generous practices of the State of
Connecticut did not give rise to such a right. Id. at 46365. Accord-
ing to Chief justice Burger, the respondents and the courts below
had misconceived the nature of the clemency decisionmaking
process:

In terms of the Due Process Clause, a Connecticut felon’s expec-

tation that a lawiully imposed sentence will be commuted or

that he will be pardoned is no more substantial than an inmate’s

expectation, for example, that he will not be transferred to an-

other prison; it is simply a unilateral hope.
Id. at 465 (footnote omitted).

The mere frequency with which commutations were granted
did not create a constitutionally protected liberty interest; instead,
in the majority’s view, such a claim must be based in “statutes or
other rules defining the obligations of the authority charged with
exercising clemency.” Id. Justices White and Brennan concurred
separately in the judgement, but both emphasized that protectable
liberty interests may be found in sources other than state statutes
or rules. Sez id. at 467, (Brennan, J., concurring) (sources of liberty
interests include “statute, regulation, administrative practice,
contractual arrangement or other mutual understand-
ing...particularized standards or criteria [which] guide the State’s
decisionmakers”); id. at 468 (White, |., concurring} (not “all liberty
interests entitled to constitutional protection must be found in
state law”). Since the clemency statute did not provide any stan-
dards or criteria and effectively conferred unfettered discretion on
the Board of Pardons to grant or deny clemency,'®* the Court held

fsic]

104 The Connecticus statate in guestion provided:
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[siclthat the Connecticut law created no constitutionally cogniza-
ble entitlement.

justice Stevens, in a dissenting opinion joined by Justice Mar-
shall, disagreed with the majority’s contention that liberty interests
are created solely by state law. For the dissenting Justices, it was
‘self evident’ that individual liberty has far deeper roots.” 452 U.S.
at 469 n.1 (Stevens, ]., dissenting) (arguing that all persons are en-
dowed with unalienable liberty rights independent of state laws).
Because of its natural law origins, liberty to some extent survives
after conviction regardless of whether state law so provides: Thus,
the dissenters reasoned, the decision of the Board of Pardons to
grant or deny clemency implicates a prisoner’s liberty, and the
State violates the Due Process Clause when it acts arbitrarily in
making this decision. Id. at 470-71 (Stevens, }., dissenting). Justices
Stevens and Marshall believed that prisoners applying for cdem-
ericy, unlike ordinary litigants, have few procedural protections
against arbitrary action, and at a minimum, are entitled to a brief
statement of reasons from the Board of Pardons when clemeney is
denied.

The Dumschat decision is relevant to, but not dispositive of, the
issue of whether the Brady continues through in capital clemency
cases. First, the case suggests that Fourteenth Amendment proce-
dural protections may apply te the clemency decisionmaking pro-
cess where the discretion of the decisionmaker, unlike
Connecticut, is “fettered” as a matter of state law. The Court found
it relevant that the Connecticut clemency statute “imposes no limit
on what procedure is to be followed, what evidence may be consid-
ered, or what criteria are to be applied by the Board.” Id. at 466. By
implication, a cdemency scheme which included some .or all of
these strictures would create a constitutional entilement worthy of
due process protections.

Second, the clemency applicants in Dumschai were arguing
that they actually had an expectation of receiving clemency, and

[sicl

{a} Jurisdiction over the granting of, and the authority to grant,
commutations of punishment or releases, conditioned or absolute, in
the case of any person convicted of any offense against the state and
commutations form the penalty of death shall be vested in the board of
pardons.

(b} 3aid board shail have authority fo grant pardons, conditioned
or absolute, for any offense against the state at any time after the impo-
sition and before or after the service of asty sentence.

CONN. GEN, §TAT. § 18-26 (1981).
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[sic]thus, the Board of Pardons had to explain its reasons for deny-
ing it. Consequently, Dumschat does not answer the question of
whether a capital clemency applicant has an expectation of receiv-
ing meaningful consideration of his clemency request, regardless of
whatever substantive decision is ultimately made.

Perhaps most significantly, the reasoning of the Court in Diom-
schat is applicable only to those cases in which a fiberty interest is at
stake. Since Dumschat, the Court has not followed Chief Justice
Burger’s notion that protectable interests are created solely by state
law, having held in later cases that liberty interests may also arise
from the Due Process Clause itself. FE.g., Hewitt v. Helms, 459 U.S.
460, 466 (1983) (liberty interests may arise from two sources: the
Iaws of the states and the Due Process Clause itself). Chief Justice
Burger in his opinion for the majority simply did not respond to
Justice Stevens’ assertion that individuals possess a residuum of
constitutionally protected liberty even while in the custody of the
State. 452 U.S. at 469 (Stevens, J., dissenting). Moreover, the ma-
jorigy’s contention that the basis for a protectable liberty interest
must be found in either state rules or statutes.defining the obliga-
tions of the clemency authority fails to take into account several
cases in which the Court has found a liberty interest in other
sources. Ses Ingraham v. Wright, 430 U.S. 651, 672-74 (1977)
{child’s interest in physical integrity is a liberty interest because it
has historically been protected); Owen v. City of Independence, 445
U.S. 622, 633 n. 13 (1980) (interest in reputation in conjunction
with dismissal from employment constitutes a liberty interest); Wis-
consin v, Constantineau, 400 U.S. 433, 437 (1971) ("Where a per-
son's good name, reputation, honor, or integrity is at stake because
of what the government is doing to him, notice and an opportunity
to be heard are essential.”). However, in the case of a clemency
request by a prisener sentenced to death, is it not an interest in life
that is being asserted, rather than an interest in liberty? Bui ¢f.
Bundy v, Dugger, 850 F. 2d 1402, 1423-24 (11th Cir, 1988} (charac-
terizing the interest being asserted as “liberty”); Spinkellink v. Wain-
wright, 578 F. 2d 582, 617-19 (5th Cir, 1978), cert. denied, 440 U.S,
976 (1979} (rejecting applicability of due process protections to
capital clemency request relying on “liberty interest” cases); Otley v.
State, 485 N.W. 2d 153, 166 (Neb. 1992} (finding that clemency
procedures did not implicate a “liberty interest”}. A life interest
would seem to be extant so long as the person draws breath, re-
gardless of state rules or regulations which might be significant in

fsicl
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[sicldetermining whether an interest in liberty continues. In his
short concurring opinion in Dumschat, Justice Brennan stated that
the clemency decisionmaker “can deny the requested relief for any
constitutionally permisgsible reason or for no reason at all.” Dum-
schat, 452 U.S. at 467 (Brennan, J., concurring). Thus, he believed
that no liberty interest in a pardon existed and due process would
not be implicated,

However, it seems unlikely that Justice Brennan would have
extended such reasoning to clemency decisions in capital cases,
For example, could a decision to deny capital clemency be made in
an entirely arbitrary manner? Notwithstanding the vast discretion
typically vested in clemency decisionmakers, surely a governor or
pardon board could not decide to spare the life of every person
whose name begins with the first ten letters in the alphabet. While
this might arguably provide a basis for an equal protection chal-
lenge, such a practice would most clearly run afoul of the Due Pro~
cess Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment,

E. The Florida Supreme Court’s Penchant for Secrecy in
Deciding Who Dies, and for Lying About What
Happens in Its Secret Proceedings.

Federalism and comity are based on trust. Past experience
teaches that Florida government cannot be trusted to decide who
dies — at least not when those death decisions are made following
secret police investigation of police investigation into whether the
police and prosecutor sent an innocent man to death row and has
kept him there for 19 years (and counting) and five death warrants
(and counting).

The principal legal authority for Mr. Spaziano’s claim that he
ought not be killed on the basis of supersecret “information,”
presented and represented by the government as being inculpatory
provided to law enforcement by unidentified people, who allegedly
provided such information under unknown circumstances—un-
known to Mr. Spaziano and his counsel, that is—are Gardner v. Flor-
ida and Ford v. Wainwright, which extended Gardner’s principles to
Florida’s executive clemency/death warrant “process.,” Perhaps it
is no coincidence or accident that Gardner and Ford both arose out
of Florida,

This court has had occasion to invalidate Florida's repeated
attempts to base death decisions on secret evidence. Gardner v,
Florida, 430 1.8, 349 (1977), is the most obvious example, but Alvin

fsic]
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[sic1Ford’s case is both more recent and more germane. Ford v.
Wainwright, 477 U.S. 399 (1986), presented a powerful record that
a condemned inmate had become insane following his conviction.
The Governor of Florida proposed to execute him anyway, re-
jecting his lawyers’ evidence of his insanity after executive proceed-
ings that had none of the attributes of a fair hearing. The
constitutional claim might have been cast in cither of two ways: (1)
as an argument that due process requires fair procedures for deter-
mining the sanity of a condemned inmate who asserts that s/he is
mentally incompetent to be executed {even if the right not to be
executed while mentally incompetent is purely a matter of state
law); and (2) as an argument that there is a substantive Eighth and
Fourteenth Amendinent right not to be executed while insane;
that 2 deferral habeas corpus court is obliged by Townsend v. Sain,
372 U.S. 203 (1963), and 28 US.C. § 2254(d) to make an in-
dependent determination of sanity for this purpose unless the
State employs full and fair procedures to determine the facts bear-
ing upon a death-row inmate’s mental competency; and that the
Florida Governor’s procedures in Ford were neither full nor fair.
However, the decision whether to make both forms of argument
was quite complicated. Among other concerns. there was a risk
that the first argument, while easier to win because of its limited
implications for other cases, would cornmend itself to the courts as
a compromise: but Jeave Ford exposed to execution after a second
Governor’s hearing, employing improved procedures, produced
the same predictable determination by partisan state officials that
Ford was mentally sound as & bell. Ford's lawyers did eventually
choose to make both arguments but refined them by emphasizing
that a competency hearing conducted by partisan executive offi-
cials could meet neither habeas due process requirements nor the
Townsend§ 2254 standards requiring federal habeas courts to defer
to state factfindings made pursuant to “full and fair” hearing proce-
dures. In this form, the second constitutional argument was proba-
bly narrower in its implications than the first, and it prevailed in
the Supreme Court.

Commentators have, in receni years, acknowledged that the
Fiorida Supreme Court’s treatment of Gardner v. Florida has been
less than forthright. David von Drehle; Neil Skene. The court’s
fallest elaboration of Gardner concerned the infamous “Brown
issues.”

The so-called “Brown” (Brown v. Wainwright, 92 So. 2d 1327

[sic]
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[sic}{Fla.), cert, denied, 454 U.8. 1000 (1981)) claim was the follow-
ing: a constitutional challenge to the Florida Supreme Court’s se-
cret, ex parle solicitation of psychological screening repoits on
Florida death row prisoners. The reports, prepared by the Florida
prison system as part of its routine procedures for handling new
prisoners, wound up in the Florida Supreme Court files of at least
25 capital inmates between 1976 and 1978, Neil Skene, Review of
Capital Cases: Does the Florida Supreme Court Know What It's Doing?, 15
StaTsoN L. Rev. 263, 286 (1986); see alse Brown v. Watrnwright, 454
U.S. 1000, 10060-03 (1981) (Marshall, ]., dissenting from demal of
certiorari). The problem apparently began as early as 1975. See
Ford, 696 F.2d at 874 (Johnson, ]., concurring in part and dissent-
ing in part}. The information had not been disclosed to defense
counsel who were appealing the inmates’ convictions and
sentences to the Florida Supreme Court.

Soon after the court’s secret practice came to light—fortui-
tously during an oral argument before the Florida Supreme
Court—all 123 inmates then on Florida's death row, at various
stages of their appeals and postconviction proceedings, filed a class
action petition for habeas corpus in the Florida Supreme Court.
Brown v. Wainwright, 392 So. 2d 1327 (Fla.}, cert. denied, 454 U.S.
1000 (1981). Prisoners able to prove that information in their
cases had in fact been Secretly solicited relied upon Gardner v. For-
ida, 430 U.S, 349 (1977} which recognized a defendant’s right to
see and challenge information used against him in capital sentenc-
ing proceedings. Inmates who could not demonstrate that secret
information had actually been obtained by the Florida Supreme-
Court in their cases argued that the use of the screening report in
some cases tainted the overall fairmess of capital sentencing and
required the invalidaton of all death sentences in Florida. Brown,
392 So. 2d at 1328-30. Since Joseph Green Brown was first on the
alphabetical list of class members, the case became styled Brown v.
Wainwright, and the claim becamne known as the “Brown issue.”’%
(fronically, Joseph Green Brown was most likely innocent of the

[sic]

105 392 So. 24 1827 (Fia.), cort. demied, 454 U 8., 1000 {1981). Richard Blumenthal, I
An Inmocent Person Can Be Fxecuted, the Death Penally 5 Unworkable, Hardord [Conn.i
Courant, May 17, 1987, at D}; Styron, Death Row, NY. Times, May 10, 1987, at A25, col.
1; Siegal, Sentencing the Wrong Man to Dig, LA, Times, May 10, 1987, at Al, col. 1; Fink,
Giver, New Life After Death Row, Man Fights Capital Punishment, Hartford [Conn,] Cou-
rant, Mar. 19, 1987, ar Al; Krasnow, Eefnmate Wants Story To Be Told, Florida Times-
Union/Jacksonwville Journal, Mar, 14, 1987, at Al; Port, Freed Prisoner Talks of Brush With
Degih, St Petersburg [Fla.} Times, Mar. 14, 1987, at Al
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[sicloffense for which he was sentenced to death; in 1986, the Elev-
enth Circuit mandated retrial due to prosecutorial misconduct, the
state elected not to retry Green, and he was released from prison in
1987).

As 10 the class action “Brown issue” the Supreme Court of Flor-
ida denied the habeas petition on the merits, as a matter of law.}%
The court stated that “the doctrines of constitutional law here ar-
gued are singularly unpersuasive.” Id at 1331, Moreover, the court
held that “[e]ven if petitioners’ most serious charges were accepted
as true,” that would not change the court’s decision: “[Als a matter
of law our view of the non-record information petitioners have
identified is totally irrelevant either to our appellate function in
capital cases as it bears on the operation of the statute, or as to the
validity of any individual death sentence.” Drawing a distinction be-
tween sentence “review” and sentence “imposition, the court con-
cluded that” [s]ince we do not impose’ sentences in capital cases,
Gardner presents no impediment to the advertent or inadvertent
receipt of some non-record information. . . . [N]onwrecord infor-
mation we may have seen, even though never presented to or con-
sidered by the [trial] judge, the jury, or counsel, plays no role in
capital sentence ‘review’.” Id. at 1332.33. Accordingly, “[a]s we
view the case .. . appellate review can never be compromised . . . by
the receipt of any quantity of non-record information.” Jd. at 1333
n. 16. All relief was denied to each petitioner.

Because Florida Governor Robert Graham signed his death
warrant, Alvin Ford became the first member of the 123-prisoner
Brown class to reach the Eleventh Circuit. Ford v. Strickland, 676
F.2d 434 (lith Cir. 1982), vacated by operation of law for rehearing en
banc, 696 F. 2d 804 (ilth Cir. 1983) {en banc). A panel of the
Eleventh Circuit had temporarily stayed Ford's then-imminent exe-
cution to allow for review, but subsequently denied substantive re-
ef. See Ford v. Strickland, 676 F. 2d 434 (11th Cir. 1982). By a
narrow 6-5 vote, with Judge Vance casting the dedsive sixth vote,

isic]

106 Browm, 392 So. 2d at 1333, The court criticized the procedure of joining mulii-
pie habeas corpus betitioners in a single petidon, and said that "[i]n the future, at-
tempis to create a class action habeus corpus proceeding in situations such as this wil
be rejected summarily.” 7d. at 1330, However, in the present case *{t}o avoid absurd
technicaticies,” the court “decline{d] to treat cach petition as if it were separately filed
and enter a separate order or opinion on each. Rather, {the] disposition of Brown's
petition effectively dispose(d} of all claims for relief of those petitioners who have
joined with Brown." Id, The court's fimal ovder was that “[tihe pedtions of Brown and
the others for wiits of habeas corpus and for other extraordinary relief are denied.”
Id. at 1333,
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[sic]the en banc Eleventh Circuit found Florida’s procedure con-
5zjtutionaliy tolerable. Ford, 676 ¥.2d at 808-11. It based that deter-
mination on Alice Through the Looking Glass reasoning that the Flor-
ida Supreme Court deliberately and regularly abtamed €x ;'Jaﬂe infor-
mation of an important nature, but then failed to “use” it. judge
Vance at oral argument had been “cbviousty unsatzsﬁed by these
verbal distinctions. ‘I'm trying desperately to understand you,” he
intejected [into the prosecutor Charles Corces’ argument]. ‘I just
want one plausible explanation.” Davip von DxryHLE, AMONG THE
Lowest oF Tae Deap: Tae Curture OF Tar ConpEMNED 176 (Ad-
vance Readers’ Fdition Random House 1995). Von Drehle wrote
that "under attack, Corces fell back on his gutlevel argument-—the
dignity of the state supreme court. ‘We are not dealing with a law-
suit with private citizens. We are talking about judges. Judges who
have almost absolute immunity,” he said. Corces appealed to the
court’s sense of itself, of the station and integrity of their office as
Judges. An institution as lofty as the Florida Supreme Court must
be given the benefit of the doubt, he insisted. “When they say they
did not consider it, we have to accept it.””

The Eleventh Circuit majority view was expressed in two opin-
ions. The plurality opinion assumed that resort by an appellate
court to secret materials in reviewing capital sentences would vio-
late Gardner v. Florida. Id. at 809-10. However, the plurality read
the Brewn opinion as a statement that the Florida Supreme Court
did not “use” the materials it had solicited. Jd. at 811. Judge
Tjoflat concurred specially. He determined that the Florida court
had read the materials but that it had not relied on them. Id at
832-33 (Tjoflat, J., concurring in part and dissenting in part.) The
concurring opinion then noted that the outcome might have been
different had Mr. Ford scparately alleged that “as a matter of fed-
eral constitutional law, members of the Florida Supreme Court
should be forced to step down in this situation on the ground of
appearance of impropriety.” Jd. at 833.

The logic of the plurality would be laughable were it not so
important to the lives of six score human beings. Twenty-three
members of the Brown class have since been executed Drati Row,
U.S.A. (listing all post-Furman executions); Brown v. Wainuwrigh,
392 So. 2d 1527 (Fla.) {style of case listing class members), cert.
denied, 454 1.8, 1000 (1981): Nollie Lee Martin, Carl Shriner,
Daniel Thomas, Aubry Adams, David Funchess, James Raulerson,
Raymond Clark, Marvin Francois, James Adams, Anthony Antone,

[stc]
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{sic]Bernard Bollander, Theodore Bundy, Arthur Goode, Timothy
Palmes, Roy Stewart, Robert Sullivan, Buford White, Jesse Tafero,
Willie Darden, Ronald Straight, Johnny Witt, Ernest Dobbert, and
David Washington. All were members of the Brown class. At least
17 others remain under sentence of death: Douglas Meeks, Robert
Heiney, Marvin Johnson, Bobbie Lusk, Jimmie Lee Smith, Gregory
Mills, Raleigh Porter, McArther Breedlove, Levis Aldridge, Paul
Scott (scheduled to be executed on November 12, 1994}, Terry
Sims, William White, Gary Alvord, Stephen Booker, Carl Jackson,
Frank Smith, and Walter Steinhorst, 197

The Ford plurality’s major premise was that the Florida
Supreme Court did not “use” the ex parte materials that it had solic-
ited. Yet, as Justice Marshall wondered in dissent from the denial
of certiorari in Brown, “if the [Florida Supreme] [Clourt does not
use the disputed nonrecord information in performing its appel-
late function, why has it systematicaliy sought the information?”
Brown v. Wainwiright, 454 U.S. 1000, 1002 (1981) (Marshall, J., dis-
senting from denial of certierari). Fuarther, the Florida Supreme
Court in Brown did not quite say otherwise. Eleventh Gircuit Chief
Judge Godbold noted (charitably} “the intractable ambiguity” of
the Florida court’s Brown opinion. Ford, 676 F.2d at 821 {Godbold,
CJ., dissenting in part and specially concurring in part). He ob-
served that a majority of Eleventh Gircuit judges inferred that the
Florida Supreme Court had not used the secret material; another
circuit judge said the Florida court “actually did consider” the ma-
terial; and still another judge said the Brown opinion raised a “pre-
surnption” that the material had been used.

‘The secret practice itself betrays the hollowness of the plural
ity’s semantic distinction between “use,” on the one hand, and “so-
licit,” “receive,” “see,” “read,” “review,” and “consider,” on the
other. Word games aside, the 6 to 5 majority’s conclusion in Ford
that the Florida Supreme Court did not “nse” the materials was
belied by actudl experience. The oral argument before the Florida
Supreme Court that inadvertently revealed the practice to the
outside world made the point. Paul Magill had been sentenced to
death. At oral argument on direct appeal before the Florida
Supreme Court, Magill’s attorney urged that z life sentence should
have been imposed. She relied, in part, upon psychiatric informa-

[si]

107 Telephone conversation with Dr. Michael Radelet, Professor of Griminclogy,
University of Florida, May 29, 1591, Some of these inmates {Jimmie Lee Smith, Ste-
phen Booker and Frank Swmith, for example) are pending resentencing.
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[sic]tion presented to the trial court. Gounsel was then questioned
by Florida Supreme Court justice about an inconsistent, extra-rec-
ord psychological evaluation®® that the Florida Supreme Court
had secretly obtained from the prison. See Skene, supra, at 286 {(cit-
ing Scott Justices Saw Confidential Psychological Profiles of Death Row
Innmates, St. Petersburg [Fla.] Times, Aug. 19, 1980, at 1B). David
von Drehle provides the history behind-the-scenes in Avone Tue
Lowssy Or TaE Deap: Tue Cuvrure oF The ConpeEmnen (Ran-
dom House Advance Reader’s Ed. Feb, 1995). That is “use.” Res
ipsa loquitur.

F. Anatomy Of A Whitewash: The Flipside of Brady, and
the State’s Super-Secret “Process” and the Super-
Secret Witnesses That “Process” Produced: “}.].

Hall,” For Example? Mr. Spaziano’s
Attorney Doesn’t Know: ft’s A Secret

Governor Chiles signed the active death warrant on joseph R
Spaziano based on alleged information allegedly provided 1o FDLE
agents by unidentified -— but really really trustworthy and reliable
our government.oificials demand us to take on faith — people who
live their lives in the federal witness protection program. For all we
know, 1J. Hall — or a dirtball like him — was FDLE’s and Gover-
nor Chiles’ super-secret “information” that formed the bhasis of the
active death warrant. Mr. Spaziano does not know, of course, who
these secret witnesses are against him. But we do know the kind of
secret witnesses that state and federal law enforcement have used
in the past, particularly one }J. Hall. As set out in Appendix __
the }J. Hall example does not inspire confidence,

G. Without Access to Crucial Public Records, Mr. Spaziano
Cannot Effectively Respond to the Government’s
Stealth Assault Against Him in the Media.

The Florida Supreme Court requires that a prisoner whose
case has become final receive criminal investigative police records
as provided in Chapter 119. See Anderson v. Statg, 627 So. 2d 1170

fsic]

108 The exchange between the justice and Magill's lawyer was preserved on the au-
dio tape of the oral argament. Florida Supreme Court oral argument tapes are avail
able to the public and may be obtained from the court clerk’s office in Tallahassee,
Florida.

The published opinion resulting from the oral argament is reported as Mapill v
Stats, 386 So. 24 1188 (Fla. 1980}, cert. denied, 450 U.S. 927 (1081). The Magill opin-
ion sheds no light up on the Brown issue.
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[sic](Fla. 1998); Muhleman v. Dugger, 623 So. 2d 480 (Fla. 1993);
Walion v. Dugger, 634 So. 2d 1059 (Fla. 1993}, State v. Kokal, 562 So.
24 324 (Fla. 1990); Provensano v. Dugger, 561 So. 2d 541 (Fla.
1990). See also Mendyk v. Stats, 592 So. 2d 1076 (Fla, 1992). An
evidentiary hearing may be required on the public records issues.
Walton v. Dugger, 634 So. 2d 1059 (Fla. 1993). The Court will ex-
tend the time period for filing Rule 3.850 motions where public
records have not been properly disclosed. Jennings v. State, 583 So.
2d 316 {Fla. 1901); Engle v. Dugger, 576 So. 2d 696 (Fla. 1991);
Provenzane, sufpra.

Crucial public records have not been released to petitioner.
Once such information is released counsel will respond to General
Butterworth’s factual contentions. Cf. Brown (Larry) v. State, 596 So,
2d 1026 (Fla. 1992); Woods v. State, 531 So. 2d 79 (Fla. 1988}, See
aiso Rule 3.851 (b)(3) (*[T}his time limitation shall not preclude
the right to amend or to supplement pending pleadings pursuant
to these rules.”)

The State of Florida is required to provide counsel to death
row inmates to prepare and file postconviction actions. Deathsen-
tenced inmates are entitled to the effective assistance of such coun-
sel. Spalding v. Dugger, 526 So. 2d 71 (Fla. 1988).

As set out in documents filed previously with this court, the
Capital Collateral Representative — the state agency charged with
the representation of death-sentenced inmates — does not repre-
sent Mr. Spaziano.

Undcrsxg&ed counsel has accomplished very little of that to
which Mr. Spdziano is entitled. This incomplete motion is filed
because it is r%c;uirc:d to be filed before Mr. Spaziano is scheduled
to be killed. Petitioner believes that this motion contains grounds
upon which relief must be granted. However, this motion does not
contain all the grounds upon which relief must be granted, and the
claims as presented herein will have to be amended, due to Peti-
tioner not yet: having received the assistance required by Florida
law.

The Florida Supreme Court and the Florida rules recognize
that circumstances arise under which it is impossible for 2 mean-
ingful Rule 3.850 motion to be filed within the time limitations
provided in Rule 3.850. When problems with the repmscn{at.ion of
a death-sentenced inmate arise which make it impossible or im-
practical for tIslat inmate to be meaningful reprcsemed the Court
will extend the time for the filing of 2 Rule 3.850 motion. Se¢ Wick-
ham v. Singletary, No. 73,508 (Order entered May 20, 1994); Routly
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[siclv. Wainwright, No. 69,089 (Order entered December 30,
1986); Wright v. State, No. 64,391 (Order "entered January 21,
1988); Atkins v. State, No. 65,974 (Order entered January 19, 1989);
Dufor v. State, No. 65,694 (Order entered February 1, 1989).1°

iI. THE FLORIDA ATTORNEY GENERAL MUST RECUSE IT-
SELF FROM THIS LEGAL CASE BECAUSE OF A CONFLICT
OF INTEREST ARISING FROM ITS MANDATED ROLE AS A
MEMBER OF FLORIDA’S CLEMENCY BODY?

Florida Attorney General Butterworth’s last motion for exten-
sion of time in the Florida Supreme Court evinced his prejudg-
ment of Mr. Spaziano’s pending application for executive
clemency. Clemency in Florida requires a recommendation by the
governor and four votes from the executive cabinet. The attorney
general is one of seven members of the cabinet, any one of which
can call for a clemency hearing.

General Butterworth’s long-standing position befgre the state
and federal courts - that procedural technicalities preclude judi-
cial consideration of Mr. Spaziano’s evidence of innocence w com-
promises any pretense of neutrality when he acts in his capacityas a
member of the executive cabinet. This Court lacks the constitu-
tionial power to remove General Butterworth from his position as
judge of Mr. Spaziano’s clemency.

But the Court does have the constinitional power to remove
General Butterworth from his role as zealous advocate for Mr.
Spaziano’s execution without need for a new trial. This Court has
the constitutional duty to cnsure that law firms pracnczng before
this court are not burdened by conflicting interests. In the interest
of ensuring General Butterworth's actual and apparent neutrality in
his role as cabinet member, Mr. Spaziano moves for this court to
remove General Butterworth, and the law firm over which he pre-
sides, from Mr. Spaziano’s case, and to permit the state courts to
appoint a special prosecutor not burdened by General But-
terworth’s conflicting institutional functions.

Isic]

i09 TInder Rule 3.851, a death-sentenced inmate is entitled to have vounsel assigned
to his or her case and “addressing the petitoner's postconviction issues within thirty
days after the judgement and sentence becomes final.” An extension of time is ex-
pressly provided for “if the petitioner’s counsel makes a showing of good cause for
counsel’s inability to file” the postconviction pleadings in a dmely manner. Id, at sub-
section 8. Furthermore, Rule 3851 expressly provides for amendment and supple-
mentation of pending Rule 3.850 motions.
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[sic] Governor Ghiles’ denial of Joseph Spaziano’s most recent
clemency application does not moot the conflict of interest prob-
lem set out by Mr. Spaziano’s previously-filed recusal motion. An-
other clemency application might be filed at any time.

Further, General Butterworth, through his Assistant Attorney
General, Margene Roper, responded to Mr, Spaziano’s recusal mo-
tion by making factual representations about the lines of communi-
cation within the Attorney General’s office.

Putting such facts into dispute, is, of course, the tactical pre-
rogative of General Butterworth. However, now that General But-
terworth has chosen to pierce the veil of confidentiality of the law
firm ~ by raising factual issues concerning what of the firm’s law-
yers knew what, when they knew it, and what they did with that
knowledge — Mr. Spaziane is entitled to full discovery on the fac-
tual issues that General Butterworth has raised. Ms. Roper’s willful
misrepresentation of the truth concerning her idiotic “service of
process” claim - contained in her latest motion to delay judicial
consideration of this case, rebutted in Mr. Spaziano’s reply to Ms,
Roper’s response, and not disputed in any way in Ms. Roper’s sab-
sequent filings — do not inspire confidence in her latest factual
representations.

Further, the Florida Attorney General’s office has a history of
lying to courts about even the public records in this case {(as op-
posed to the supersecret information about which Florida’s gow-
ernrmmental officials ask us to take at their word}. Mark Menser, Ms.
Roper’s predecessor counsel in this case, was compelled to own up
to factual misrepresentations of the truth he made during oral ar-
gument in Spaziano v. Florida in the United States Supreme CGourt,
in 1984, .

April 20, 1984

Alexander 1. Stevas, Clerk

United States Supreme Court

First and Maryland Avenue, N.E.

Washington, D.C. 20543

Re:  Spariane v, State of Florida
Case No. 85-5596

Dear Mr. Stevas:

During oral argument in the above-referenced case, I inadver-

tently stated that Spaziano had been convicted of ceriain crimes
[sic]
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[sic]for which he was still a suspect. His correct record is con-
tained in the presentence investigation filed in the joint
appendix,

Please convey my apologies to the Court for this error,

Sincerely,
/s/

MARK C. MENSER
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

April 20, 1984

Mr. Alexander Stevas
United States Supreme Court
First and Maryland Avenue, N.E
Washington, D.C.
Re:  Spaziano v., Florida,

Case Number: 83-5596

Dear Mr, Stevas:

'This second letter is being submitted because of information ob-
rained upon full review of the record.

As noted in my first letter, 1 represented during oral argument
that Mr. Spazianio was involved in sore homicides and bomb-
ings, without mentioning he was still under mvestigation (or, as
suspect). Since then, I have reviewed his presentence investiga-
tion more thoroughly and have detected a second error.

The young lady Mr. Spaziano attacked in Orlando was stabbed
around the eyes as characterized in oral argument. However, 1
did not recall the fact that her eyesight was restored (or saved).

{sic]While these facts do not relate directly to the legal ques-
tions before the court, I wish to correct any error or misimpres-
sion caused by my mistakes. I am deeply embarrassed by the
errors and assire you that they were the product of 2 bad mem-
ory (and stage fright) and not any desire or intention to mislead
the court,

Twould like to file a corrective pleading, if you think it necessary
to make certain the record is clear.

Again, I deeply regret the error and wish my apologies w0 be
[sic)



1996} LIES, SECRETS, AND SILENCE 413

[siciconveyed to the court. Hopefully this will correct any
misimpressions.

Thank you,
/s/

Mark Menser
Assistant Attorney General

1. THIS COURT'S NEW PAGE LIMIT OUGHT NOT APPLY

TO DEATH ROW PRISONERS SEEKING PLENARY REVIEW
BY THIS COURT: LIMITING MR. SPAZIANO’S CERTIO-
RARI PETITION TO FORTY PAGES WOULD VIOLATE MR.
SPAZIANCO’S RIGHTS TO THE EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE
OF APPELLATE COUNSEL, AND REQUIRE COUNSEL TO
VIOLATE NATIONAL STANDARDS FOR COMPETENT
PERFORMANCE OF PRO BONQO CAPITAL APPELLATF
COUNSEL.

This Court has repeated the conventional wisdom that appel-
late counsel should narrow the range of issues to be considered by
an appellate court, Jones v. Barnes, 463 U.S. 745, 751-53 (1983), buc
has never addressed counsel’s responsibilities to narrow issues in
the deuath penalty context. Counsel maintains that he would vio-
late national standards for competent performance of capital ap-
pellate counsel to do less than raise all issues he wished to raisc and
to raise them fully for reversal. Both the American Bar Association
and the Nationil Legal Aid and Defender Association agree that
capital appeilate counsel

should seek, when perfecting the appeal, to present all arguable

meritorious issues, including challenges to any overly restrictive

appetiate rules.

ABA Guidelines for the Appointment and Performance of Counsel in Death
Penally Cases, Guldeime 11.9.2.D {i989); National Legal Aid and
Defender Asaoczatxon Standards for the Appointment and Peformace
of Counsel in Death Penally Cases, Standard 11.9.2(d) (1989). The
reason for this strategy stems from the dual role of counsel in
death cases: On the one hand, counsel must persuade the appel-
late court that prejudicial error occurred, but at the same fime
counsel must preserve all arguable issues for review.

Defense counsel cannot anticipate with any certainty future
capital punishment law: It is still of recent origin, bewilderingly

complex, and subject to frequent change. Faced with strict default
{sic]
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[sic]rules and confusing constitutional commands, counsel can
only conclude that his client will more likely face execution if is-
sues are “narrowed.” The ABA and NLADA explain:

Traditional theories or appeliate practice notwithstanding, ap-

pellate counsel in a capital case should nef raise only the best of

several potential issues, [Footnote omitted.] Issues abandoned

by counsel in one case, pursued by different counsel in another

case and ultimately successful, cannot necessarily be reclaimed

later. When a client will be killed if a case is lost, counsel (and

the courts) should not let any possible ground for relief go

unexplored or unexploited.

Guidelines, supra at Guideline 12.9.2.D Conunentary; Standards, supra
at Guideiine 12.9.2(d) Commentary.

Taking from capital defense counsel the power of deciding
how many issues to raise counsel and in what form wiolated Mr.
Spaziano’s right to effective assistance of appellate counsel. Even
when the federal court acts to protect a strong state interest, orders
impingimg on the professional judgment of counsel must give way
to ensure the right to counsel. Geders v. United States, 425 U.S. 80,
87 (1976) (important judicial interest in no coaching of defendant
before testimony does not overcome interest of defendant in his
right to confer with counselj.

Likewise, when counsel believes briéfing many issues is in his
client’s best interest, the right to counsel outweighs the interest of
the appellate courts in having short briefs or petitions. Interfering
in this professional judgment would require — and in this case did
require counsel to forge substantial factual and legal argumenis.
professional judgment, partly based upon the ABA and NLADA’
standards of competent performance, distinguishes this case from
Jones v. Barnes. In fones, this Court held that defense counsel need
not raise eery colorable claim requested by a client. However, the
Court’s holding in jores — while partly based on the benefits of
Isiclnarrowing issues - raised heavily on counsel’s professional
Judgment, which in this case is that all colorable issues must be
raised. Mr. Spaziano suggests that it would conflict with the hold-
ing in fones to say that it is the business of the courts, not counsel,
to decide how many issues should be raised.

Although courts may have an interest in controlling the size of
a party’s brief, they cannot-legitimately require counsel to fully
brief complex constitutional and factual issues on pain of defauit
— and then limit the brief’s size. This Court’s guidance is needed
on this unresolved issue, one which is likely to recur in light

Isic]



1996] LIES, SECRETS, AND SILENCE 415

[siclof the evolving ABA and NLADA standards for capital appel-
iate counsel.

Rules which interfere with functions properly exercised by
counsel violates the sixth amendment. Strickland v. Washington, 466
11.8. 668 (1984). When counsel finds numerous errors in a death
penalty case, a court order to reduce a brief as drasticaliy as in this
case guarantees that counsel will forgo substantial factual and legal
arguments. The ABA has adopted the standard that counsel
should seek to present all arguable issues in a capital appeal.
[sic]Moreover, this Court has recognized that a capital appeal must
be thorough to ensure meaningful access to postconviction relief.

The order at issue here required counsel to ignore his proper
function to persuasively brief the issues presented. If he keeps all
his issues but reduces arguments thereon, so much substance will
be cut as to render the result unreliable. If he drops or lists issues,
or files 2 supplemental brief, his claims will likely be defaulted.

The Iength of the brief counsel wished to file in this case was
due to counsél’s choice to raise certain significant issues and,
equally important, to raise such issues adequately. Such a decision
follows national standards for competent performance by appellate
counsel. Compliance with the court’s page limit would require
counsel to consider the workload interests of the court over the
client’s interests, interfered with the proper fimction of counsel in
deciding which issues to brief. Counsel professionally and compe-
tently chose to raise Mr. Spaziano’s issues in reasonable space, con-
sidering the enormous complexity of the case. No suggestion has
been made that counsci has raised any frivolous issues, The Court
should issue its writ of certiorari to prevent he usurpation of coun-
sel’s authority.

The issues presented here by Mr. Spaziano are important and
appear to be of first impression.

CONCLUSION

Joseph Robert Spaziano is innocent. The state possesses evi-
dence showing his innocence. The principles of Brady require the
state to reveal that evidence to Mr. Spaziano; Brady must require
Iite state to disclose all evidence suggesting it is attempting to kil
an innocent man.

The fact that the state has chosen to label the state-ordered
police investigation into whether Mr. Spaziano is innocent as part

[sic]
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[sic]of a “clemency” proceeding does not nullify the state’s duty of
disclosure under Brady.

The one bootleg piece of the secret police investigation M.
Spaziano’s counsel has been able to obtain on his own - the FDLE
videotape— is exculpatory in the extrerne. When Governor Chiles
thought Mr. Spaziano would never see the videotape, he lied about
the contents of the videotape, claiming Dilisio did not recant on
the videotape. Now the state asks us to accept, on its word of
honor, that nothing else exculpatory came into possession in the
[sic]course of its sug sponte police investigation into Mr. Spaziano’s
guilt or innocence.

Brady requires the state to reveal what ofher exculpatory evi-
dence it acquired in its secret police investigation. The writ should
issue.

Respectfully submitted,

MICHAEL A, MELLOY¢
Vermont Law School

South Royalton, VT 05068

(802) 295.5724

Pro Bono Apvpellate Counsel for
Ioseph R, Spaziano(sic]

130 Joseph Spaziano, his family and his counsel wish to express our gratisude to a
group of current and former Vermont Law Scheo! students, who generously worked,
£ro bons, on all aspects of the conceptualizaton and creatdon of this petition and who
fomred themselves into a pro bono “law firm” calied BDNMCR (“The Best Defense No
Money Can Buy"}: Deanua Peterson, Katherine Clarke, Daniel Factor, Christopher
Gilmore, Douglas Gould, Cahteryn: Brigid Lynch, Fhomas Malone, Sharon Pappas,
Laurie Rosenweig, Elyse Ruzow, Tanja Shipman, Alexandra Varlay, Emilia Vargas
Ashby. '
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X1, Unrpsp MotioN 1o ReEcuse Four Justices OF THE FLORIDA
SupreME COURT, DECEMBER 22, 19957

L attempted to file this motion in the Florida Supreme Court
on December 22, 1995, As you now know,'? the elerk refused to
file this motion because the court ruled on September 12, 1995
that I had “effectively withdrawn” as Mr. Spaziano’s representative.

[sic]IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JOSEPH R. SPAZIANO,

Petitioner-Appellant,

V. Case No. 67,929
THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent—Appe]Iee.

MOTION TO RECUSE FOUR JUSTICES OF THE FLORIDA
SUPREME COURT

L INTRODUCTION AND STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A fair heanng before an impartial tribunal is a basic require-
ment of due proccss Marshall v. Jerrico, 446 U.S. 238 (1980); In re
Murchison, 349 11.8. 333 (19b5); Porter v. Singletary, 49 F.3d 1483,
148788 (11th Cir. 1955). “Every litigant { ] is entitled to nothing
less than the cold neutrality of an impartial judge.” State ex rel
Mickle v. Rowe, 131 So. 2d 332, 332 (Fla. 1930). Absent a fair tribu-
nal there is no full and fair hearing. Suarez v. Dugger, 527 So. 2d 190
(Fla. 1988) teaches that even the appearance of prejudgment is sufh-
cient to warrant reversal, In capital cases, judicial scratiny must be
more stringent than it is in non-capital cases. The impartiality of
the judiciary is particularly important in “this first-degree murder
case in which [Mr, Spaziano’s] life is at stake.” Livingsfon v. State,
441 So. 2d 1083, 1087 (1083).

In Livingston and Suarez, this court concluded that the failure
of the judge to disqualify himself was error due o apparent pre-
judgment and bias against counsel, and predetermination of the
facts at issue. 'Consequently, the supreme court reversed and the
matter was remanded for proceeding before a different judge. In

[sic]

111 The relevant portions of the text of this Motion and notes 11319 appear in
their original form, They have not been altered in any way, #s indicated by the use of
[sic] feopy on file with the New York City Law Review).

Y12 See supra pp. 261, 31417, 341-42 and notes 67, 51-75, 7882,
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[sic}Suarez, the issue arose before a postconviction hearing in a
capital case, and concerned a judge's comments to the media
about a pending death warrant. There the trial court erred in fail-
ing to grant a motion to disqualify after expressing an opinion as to
the issues hefore the court prior to receiving testimony.

As this court reiterated only three months ago, 4 judge must
recuse him or herself if a “party fears that he or she will not receive
a fair trial or hearing because of specifically described prejudice or
bias of the judge.” Cave v. State, 660 So. 2d. 705, 707 (Fla. 1995)
{quoting Fla. R. Crim. Proc. 2.160). The court in Cave also set out
the procedure judges must follow when faced with motions to re-
cuse. Rule 2.160 of the Rules of Judicial Administration became
effective January 1, 1993. It replaced the differing rules governing
disqualification of judges that had been contained in the Civil,
Criminal, and Juvenile Rules of Court. The Forida Bar Re: Amend. To
Fla. Rules, 5309 So. 2d 465 (Fla. 1995), Under new Rule 2.160, a
party is entitled to the disqualification of one, i.e, an initial, judge
purely on procedural grounds; recusal motions after the initial one
are judge on substance, not procedure.*'® Mr. Spaziano success-
fully moved to recuse trial judge Robert McGregor. This is hus first
motion to recuse an appellate judge.

Undersigned counsel respectfully moves for the recusal of the
four justices of this court who formed the majority in the court’s
September § opinion in this case, demanding that Mr. Spaziano’s
pro bono appellate attorney violate his ethical duties to Mr. Spazi-
ano as a precondition of the court’s “permission” for the under-
signed to continue as Mr. Spaziano’s appellate attorney. Spaziano v.
State, 660 So. 2d 1363 (Fla. 1995), This court’s September 8 and
September 12 opinions evince these justices’ animus towards Mr.
Spaziano and his counsel, Reasonable people reading this court’s
opinions in this case, combined with this court’s refusal even to file
pleadings submitted by Mr. Spaziano’s appellate counsel, could
fairly question these justices’ neutrality in this case.

fsie]

113 The judge against whom an initial motion to disqualify . . . i directed shali
determine only the legat sufficiency of the motion and shall not pass on the truth of
the facts alieged. If the motion is legally sufficient, the judge shall immediately enter
an order ‘granting disqualification and proceed no further in the action.

{A] successor judge shall not be disqualified based on a successive
motion by the same party unless the suceessor judge rules that he or she
is in fact not fair or impartial in the case. Such a successor judge may
pass on the truth of the facts alleged in support of the motion.

Rule 2.186{f) and {g).
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[sic}] A complicated counsel crisis developed in this court during
the last death warrant. Undersigned counsel’s reasons for refusing
to participate in the Florida Supreme Court’s sham “hearing”
under warrant are set out in three documents appended to this
motion: {1) the rehearing motion filed in this court on September
8 and misrepresented in this court’s September 12 opinion; (2) a
memorandim dated September 10; and (3) a law review article. See
Appendices A, 1 and J.

As set out in Mr. Spaziano’s previous filing, joseph Spaziano
has spent the past 19 years on death row for crimes he did not
commit. But for the investigative reporting of the Miami Herald
over the past few month, Mr. Spaziano would have been killed at
7:00 a.m. On June 21, 1995, See generally Michael Mello, Death and
His Lawyers, 20 V1. L. Rev. 19 (1995), Mello, The Hypnotized Witness
and the Condemned Man, ____ Fra. ST. U. L. Rev. (1996);
Mello, OutlawAttorney, ___ STETSON L. Rev. ___ (1996); Mello,
On Laies, Secrets and Silence: The Florida Supreme Court Deals With Death
Row Claims of Factual Innocence, StETson L. Rev. (1996).

Mr. Spaziano’s conviction was based on the testimony of
Anthony DilLisio. Mr. Spaziano’s previous filings, in june 1995,
Dilisio - unbeknownst to Mr. Spaziano or his counsel — re-
canted his crucial testimony. The recantadon was not known to
Mr. Spaziano because it occurred in the course of a secret police
investigation initiated, sua sponte, by Governor Lawton Chiles.

A. This Court’s September 8 Judgement: No Stay of
Execution; Denial of Appointment of Counsel; No
Defense Access to Secret Police Investigation
File; Evidendary Hearing in Seven Days.

In its September 8 opinion, this court denied a stay of execu-
tion but remanded for an evidentary hearing under warrant. Spazi-
ang, supra at 1366. The subject of the hearing was to have been
Anthony Dilisio’s recantation. Under this court’s opinion, and
over the express objections of Mr. Spaziano’s counsel, Mr. Spazi-
ano’s counsel would not have access to the secret FDLE report,
including the videotape of DiLisio’s recantation, at the hearing. Id.

Additionally, this court demanded that Mr. Spaziano’s pre bono
counsel investigate the case for less than a week before participat-
ing at the evidentiary hearing ordered by the court. In contrast,

FDLE, with combined human, fiscal and information resources,
[sic]
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[sic]took 2 1/2 months to conduct its investigation, and the Miami
Herald's investigation has lasted six monihs - and counting.

Until the day before Governor Chiles signed Mr. Spaziano’s
fifth death warrant, “volunteers” who represent indigents in state
and federal postconviction proceeding had been supported by the
VLRC. The VLRC is the agency that had been funded by Congress
at the request of the Committee on Defender Services to assist pro
bono lawyers in investigating and preparing their cases, The VLRC
has since been dismantied, as even this court can no longer deny.
Spaziare, supra at 1366 n.6.

B. This Court’s September 12 Judgement: The Court’s
“Firing” Mr. Spaziano’s Pro Bono Appellate Counsel;
and Appointment of a Hack Public Defender’s
Office With a Track Record of Botching the
Factual Investigation into Mr. Spaziano’s Innocence.

For reasons set out in the appendices, undersigned fro bono
counsel refused to participate in an evidentiary hearing under the
circumstances set out above. So did every one of the dozen law
firms counsel asked to consider jumping into this case under death
warrant — including Holland & Knight, the firm that subsequently
agreed to do the hearing once the case was no longer under
warrant,

On September 12, this court stayed the executing indefinitely,
moved the evidentiary hearing back two and one half months, to
November 15, “fired” undersigned counsel as Mr. Spaziano’s pro
bono appellate counsel, forced upon Mr. Spaziano 4 hack public
defender office with a track record of botching the factual investi-
gation in this case and a possible conflict of interest. Spaziano .
State, supra at 1368-71.

Undersigned counsel attempted to point out the factual and
legal errors in the Florida. Court’s September 12 opinion (includ-
ing the fact that the Florida Supreme Court lacked the legitimate
power to “fire” the undersigned, since the undersigned’s client was
Joseph Robert Spaziano, not this court), Counsel provided the
court with retainer letters from Mr. Spaziano, his mother, and his
niece. The court refused even to jfile the pleadings submitted by.
the undersigned, explaining, in a letter dated Sept. 20, that only
the public defender can file papers as Mr. Spaziano’s counscl. See
Appendix C.

[sic]
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[sic]C. CCR’s Conflicts of Interest, Alleged Misconduct and
Purported “Overload”

As set out in Mr. Spaziano’s September 8 rehearing and his
othér filing, CCR’s conflicts of interest had three independent
sources: (1) CCR’s misconduc, as alleged by Anthony Dilisio; (2)
CCR's general misbandling of Mr. Spaziano’s case; and (3) CCR’s
self-prociaimed case “overload.” See In re: Order of Prosecution, b61
So. 2d 1130, 1135 (Fla. '1990).

I. What CCR Has Become

CCR’s investigators are alleged to have engaged in unethical,
and quite possibly illegal, conduct in attempting to coerce Anthony
Dilisio, the state’s key witness against Mr. Spaziano at trial, into
recanting his trial testimony. Mr. Dillisio described CCR’s miscon-
duct in a videotaped interrogation he did with FDLE.

CCR'’s strongarm tactics did not succeed, but failure to coerce
is no defense to a charge of witness tampering or obstruction of
Justice. Mr. Dilisio did eventually recant, and the FDLE investi-
gated the truthfuiness of his recantation.

As part of i 115 investigaton, FDLE interrogated CCR personnel.
CCR umidt(,ral!y waived their client’s (Mr. Spaziano’s) prmlcge of
confidentiality and spoke with the members of the FDLE. CCR im-
peached Dilisio’s credibility as to his allegations concerning CCR’s
misconduct. As a result, FDLE later submitted a report to Gover-
nor Chiles, concluding that DiLisio’s recantation was untruthful.

When confronted by Mr. Spaziano’s counsel with DiLisio’s al-
legations against CCR, CCR denied them and misrepresented what
Dilisio had told the FDLE. When confronted with the videotape
itself, CCR changed its tactics and minimized its conflicts of inter-
ests. It did so in pleadings filed in the Florida Supreme Court.
Based on CCR’s misrepresentations, the court found that CCR had
no conflict of interest and acceded to CCR’s request that it take
over Mr. Spaziano's case from the undersigned. Undersigned
counsel filed two discovery requests with CCR seeking information
regarding their conflicts of interest in this and other capital cases.
To date, CCR has ignored those reports.

CCR was Mr. Spaziano’s sole counsel from January to June
1995, CCR alst (ﬁd an oral argument on Mr. Spaziano’s behalf in
the federal court of appeals, do primarily to the fact that the un-
dersigned was too ill to do it. CCR also represented Mr. Spaziano
nine and ten years ago, when the undersigned was a Senior Assis.

fsic]
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[sicltant on CCR’s staff. Then in May 1995 Governor Chile’s
signed Mr. Spaziano’s fourth death warrant.

Two weeks in advance of Mr. Spaziano’s scheduled execution
- o1 a fourth death warrant - GCR had conducted no fact inves-
tigation of any use. This occurred despite the wealth of leads, pro-
vided mainly by the Migmi Herald's , independent investigation.
The Herald'’s investigation was initiated over the strong misgivings
of CCR and with no help whatsoever from them. CCR had drafted
no pleading; CCR had developed no strategy; CCR’s director,
Michael Minera, was telling reporters (and the governor) that all
he wanted for his factually innocent client (“innocent” in that.he
didn’t do the crime, period}, was a reduction in sentence from
death to life in prison.

Undersigned counsel sent a detailed letter to CCR, which they
never responded to. When the undersigned received CCR’s files in
this case, he learned why: CCR had done none of the basic investi-
gative tasks set out in the letter, much less initiated CCR’s own fol-
low-up of the multitude of promising leads indicated by the Miami
Herald’s extensive investigative reporting into Mr. Spaziano’s claim
of absolute innocence.

2. CCR's “Overload”

The ineptitude of CCR’s investigation and handling of this
case was obvious even to CCR’s condemned client. Mr. Spaziano
and his family asked the undersigned to undertake Mr. Spaziano’s
pro bono representation. Undersigned counsel agreed.

But CCR later attempted to supplant the undersigned as Mr.
Spaziano’s lawyer. In aid of its hostile takeover CCR misrepre-
sented facts to the Florida Supreme Court. The court relied upon
those misrepresentations when it purported to remove the under-
signed from Mr. Spaziano’s case and assign the case to CCR.

CCR’s relentless campaign to take over Mr. Spaziano’s case
was in direct opposition to the clearly stated written wishes of Mr.
Spaziano and his family. Mr. Spaziano’s refusal to have CCR as his
lawyer was entirely reasonable and based on his recent experience
with CCR’s botched and inept factual investigation into Mr. Spazi-
ano’s innocence.

CCR’s campaign to take over Mr. Spaziano’s case is puzzling in
one respect. At the very time CCR was attempting to force itself
upon Mzr. Spaziano, the agency was telling this court, in pleadings,
that the office was so overloaded that it could not undertake any

[sic]
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[siclnew cases. See infra note 2. This court recently rejected GCR’s
complaints about overwork, perhaps because those complaints
were belied by CCR’s relentlessness to add Mr. Spaziano’s case to
its already “overloaded” docket.

It is unsurprising that General Butterworth would prefer to
have CCR as his “adversary” of choice. The Governor appeinted
the current director of CCR, and Chiles appointed him because he
could be trusted to be good lapdog. He has not disappointed his
patron. CCR has already botched this case, perhaps beyond repair.
Neither General Butterworth nor Governor Chiles nor the Florida
Supreme Court has the legitimate power to force a hack public
defender office upon an innocent man who is litigating for his life
and who is nof so crazy as to permit CCR to represent him.

{i. THE LAW

A party may present a motion to disqualify at any point in the
proceedings as long as there remains some action for the judge to
take. If the motion is legally sufficient, “the judge shall proceed no
further.” Lake v. Edwards, 501 So. 2d 759, 760 (Fla. bith DCA 1987)
{quoting Fla. R. Civ. P. 1. 432(d}). Florida Rule of Criminal Proce-
dure 3.230(d} contains virtually identical language to Fla. R. Civ. P,
1.432(d). See also Fla.R.Jud.Admin. 2,160,

The Florida Supreme Court has repeatedly held that where a
movant meets these requirements and demonstrates, on the face of
the motion, a basis for relief, a judge who is presented with a mo-
tion for disqualification “shall not pass on the truth of the facts
alleged nor adjudicate the question of disqualification.” Suarer v.
State, 527 So. 2d 191 (Fla. 1988) (emphasis added); Livingston v.
State, 441 So. 2d 1083, 1086 (Fla. 1983); Brady v. Rudd, 366 So. 2d
440 (Fla. 1978). Rather, to establish a hasis for relief, a movant:

need only show “a well grounded fear that he will not receive a

fair trial at the hand of the judge. It is not a question of how the

judge feels; it is a question of what feeling resides in the athiant’s
mind and the basis of such feeling.” State ex rel. Brown v. Dewell,

131 ¥la. 566, 579 So. 2d 694, 69798 (1938). See also Hayslip v.

Douglas, 400 So, 2d 558 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981). The question of

disqualification focuses on those mater from which a litigant

may reasonably question a judge’s impartiality rather than the
judge’s perception of his ability to act fairly and impartially.
Livingston, 441 So. 2d st 2086. Rule 2.160 of the Florida Rules of

Judicial Administration specifically provides:
[sic]
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[sic] (f} Determination—Individual Motion . The judge against
whom an initial motion to disqualify under subdivision {d}(1) is
directed shall determine only the legal sufficiency of the motion
and shali not pass on the truth of the facts alleged. I the mo-
tion is legally sufficient, the judge shall immediately enter an
order granting disqualification and proceed no further in the
action . . ..

Fla R. Jud. Admin. 2.160(f)
The United States Supreme Court has recognized the basis
constitutional precept of a neutral, detached judiciary.

The Due Process Clause entitles 2 person to an impartial
and disinterested tribunal in both civil and criminal cases. This
reguirement of neutrality in adjudicative proceeding safeguards
the two central concerns of procedural due process, the preven-
tion of unjustified or mistake deprivations and the promotion of
participation and dialogue by affected individuals in the dea-
sion making process. See Carey v. Piphus, 485 U.S. 247, 259-262,
266-267, 98 8, Cu. 1042, 1043, 1050-10562, 1053, 1054, 55 L.Ed.2d
22, (1978). The neutrality requirement helps 10 guarantee that
life, liberty, or property will not be taken on the basis of an erro-
neous or distorted conception of the facts or the law. See Mai-
thews v. Eldridge, 424 U.S. 319, 844, 96 8. Ct. 893, 907, 47 L.Ed.2d
18 {1976}. At the same time, it preserves both the appearance
and reality of fairness, “generating the feeling, so important to a
popular government, that justice has been done.” joint Anti-Fas-
cist Commiitee v. McGrath, 341 1.8, 123, 172, 71 S.Ct. 624, 649. 95
L.Ed. 817 (1951) (Franidurter, J., concurring}, by ensuring that
no person will be deprived of his interests in the absence of a
proceeding in which he may present his case with assurance that
the arbiter is not predisposed to find against him.

Marshall v. Jerrico, Inc., 446 U.S. 238, 242 (1980).

Due process guarantees the right to a neutral and detached
judiciary in order “to convey to the individual a feeling that the
government has dealt with him fairly, as well as to minimize the
risk of mistaken deprivations of protected interests.” Carey v.
Piphus, 425 US. 247, 262 (1978). The United States Supreme
Court has explained that in deciding whether a particular judge
cannot preside over a liigant’s wial:

the inguiry must be not only whether there was actual bias on

respondent’s part, but also whether there was “such a likeli-

hood of bias or an appearance of bias that the judge was unable

te hold the balance between vindicating the interests of the

court and the interestss of the accused.” Ungar v, Sarafite, 376
[sicl
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[siciU.5. 575, 588, 84 8.Ct. 841, 11 L.Ed. 2d 921 {1964). “Such a
stringent rule may sometimes bar trial by judges who have no
actual bias and who would do their very best to weigh the scales
of justice equally between contending parties,” but due process
of law requires no less. In re Murchison, 349 U.S. 133, 136, 76
S.Cu 528, 624, 99 L.Ed. 942 (1955).

Taylor v. Hayes, 418 U.S. 488, 501 (1974).

The purpose of the rules of disqualification ‘emanates from
the directive of the judicial canons that a judge must avoid even
the appearance of impropriety. Canon 3(C) of Florida’s Code of
Judicial conduct states:

(I} A judge should disqualify himself in a proceeding in which

his impartiality might reasonably be questioned, including

but not limited to instances where:

{a) he has a personai bias or prejudice concerning a party,
or personal knowiedge of disputed evidentiary facts
concerning the proceeding;

{b) he served zs lawyer in the matter or controversy, or a
lawyer with whom he previously pract'zced law served
during such association as lawyer concerning the mat-
ter, or the judge or such lawyer has been 2 material wit-
ness concerrting it .

Fla. Code of Judicial conduct, Canon 3(C)(1)(a) and (b). The
commentary to this provision specifically provides, moreover:

A lawyer in a governmental agency does not necessarily
have an association with other lawyers employed by that agency
within the meaning of this subsection; a judge formerly em-
ployed by a2 governmental agency, however, should disqualify
himself in 3 proceeding if his impartiality might reasonably be
questioned because of such association.

The purpose of the disqualification rules direct a judge must
“avoid even the appearance of impropriety.”

1t is established law of this States that every litigant, includ.
ing the State in criminal cases, is entitled to nothing less than
the cold neutrality of an impartial judge. 1t is the duty of the
court to scrupuiousty guard this right of the litigant and to re-
frain from attempting tc exercise jurisdiction in any matter
where his qualificatton to do so is seriously brought into gues-
ton. The exercise of any other policy tends to discredit and
place the judiciary in a compromising attitade which is bad for
the administration of justice. Grosby v. Stare, 97 So. 2d 181 (Fla.
1957); State ex rel. Davis v. Parks, 141 Fia. 516, 194 So. 613

[sic]
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isic} (1939, Dickenson v. Parks, 104 Fla. 577, 140 So. 459 (18982);
State ex rel, Mickle v. Rowe, 100 Fla. 1382, 131 So. 3531 (19303,

The prejudice of a judge is a delicate question for a litigant

to raise but when raised as a bar to the trial of a cause, if predi-

cated on grounds with a modicum of reason, the judge in ques-

tion should be prompt circumstances is warranted in sitting in

the trial of a cause whose neutrality is shadowed or even ques-

tioned. Dickenson ©.Parks, 104 Fla. 577, 140 So. 459 {1952); Sate

ex. vel. Aquiar v. Chappell, 344 So. 2d 925 (¥la. 3d DCA 1977).
State v. Steele, 348 So. 2d 398 (Fla. 8d DCA 1977). In capital cases,
judicial scrutiny must be more stringent than in non-capital cases.
The impartiality of the judiciary is particularly imporfant in “this
first-degree murder case in which [Mr. Spaziano's] life is at stake.
Livingston v. State, 441 So. 24 at 1087.

1. WHAT HAPPENED TO JERRY WHITE WOULD HAVE HAP-
PENED TO JOSEPH SPAZIANO--HAD UNDERSIGNED
COUNSEL FOLLOWED THIS COURT'S DICTATES

Two series of events confirm counsel’s decision to defy this
court’s “hearing” under the September warrant. The first is the
killing of Jerry White. The second are subsequent events in Mr.
Spaziano’s case.

CCR’s special blend of cowardice and ineptitude came very
close to killing Joe Spaziano. It didkill a man named Jerry White in
December 1995. The paraliels between White and Spaziano are
frightening, and Mr. White’s fate shows what would have happened
to Mr. Spaziano had undersigned counsel followed the Florida
Supreme Court’s dictates and handed the case to CCR under death
warrant.

Like Mr. Spaziano, Mr. White had, prior to the warrant, been
represented by volunteer, pro bono counsel. As in Spaziano, in
White CCR told this court that it could not competently represent
Mr, White due to CCR’s caseload;* this court has recognized that

[sic]

134 Motion for Relief by CCR, In Re: Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.85], No. 82, 322
(Filed in Flz Sup. Ct. June 23, 1985}; Supplemental to Motion for Relief, supra, at 2
("Even before the closing of the Resource Center was announced, CCR had notified
this court of its inability, due to nnderfundings to carry out the statutory mandate of
representing all i present and potendal clients within the rime Hmits established by
Rule 3.851"); CCR’s Motion for Clarificaton and clarication, supra at 3 {"We respect-
fully reasseri that we are not adequatety funded due to the confinence of the one-year
filing time with unprecedented rate of direct appesal affirmance™ Pleading Regarding
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[sic]“when excessive caseload forces the public defender to choose
between the rights of various indigent criminals defendants he rep-
resents, a conflict of interest is inevitably created,” In re: Order on
Prosecution, 561 So. 2d at 1135, As in Spaziano, in Whzle this court
(with two dissenting justices} disbelicved CCR’s overload represen-
tations and ordered CCR to represent Mr. White anyway, under
warrant. As in Spaziane, CCR then folded iis counsel arguments
and undertook the representation—under circumstance which
CCR itself had just told this court it could not render effective
assistance of counsel. See supra note 2.

There the comparison between While and Spaziano ends. In
Spaziano, undersigned counsel refused to permit CCR to take over
as counsel . No onc was there to prevent CCR from taking
over White, So it did—while confessing its own conflicts, see supra
note 2. CCR dashed from court to court, pretending that it could
and was representing Mr. White effectively.?’® Mr. White was exe-
cuted on December 4. (The electric chair malfunctioned during
Mr, White’s electrocution; he screamed, and his scream was heard
by the execution witnesses, Another CCR client, Philip Atkins, was

/ {sic]

Status of Counsel, In re: Jerry White, No. 86, 706 (fifed Oct. 19, 1998}, at 1-2 (. ..
Jerry White Is currently unrepresented snd is therefore without counset to assist him
during his pending death warrant, {CCR] further notifies the Cours that {CCR] . . . 1s
presently unable to fulfil] its statutory mandate obligation to provide “the effective
agsistance of counsel! to My, White during this critical warrant period . . "} id. at 8
{"These warrant have come at a tme of groat valnerability and crisis for those at
tempting t0 provide counsel to approximately 200 death - sentenced ... ") 4d 2t 10
{". .. CCRis so swamped it has not assigned counse] o twenty-five clients when such
assignraesnt 15 required . ., Thus [sic] inadequacy of resources for post-conviction
counsel has been brought to this Court’s attention in the recent past. The deteriorat-
ing situation as described . . ."); id. at 12 (“The soeam of new clients likely to be
coming o CCR in the ensuring months as volunteer Jawyers drop off portends a con-
stang tension betwten clients already assigned to CCR and ones which come here
from other counsel in various stages of liigation, including those like Jerry White with
an active warrant but no lawyer”); id. at 14 {(“Jerry white has 3 death warrant and no
attorney. CCR cannot give him adequate representation in the time remaining before
the execution. Attempting to do 5o forszkes the interests of some other client or cli-
ents. This predicament is a direct resuit of an unusually large number of affirmed
death sentences coupled with the legislature’s failure to increase CCR budget at all");
id at 16 {"CCR cannot render effective representation to My, White™); i at 27
(sarne); Summary of Initial Brief, White v, State, No. 86, 960 {filed Dec. 1, 1995), at
72 {*1t has become apparent during these past several weeks that My, White has not
been receiving the effective assistance of counsel"); id. at 77 ("Mr. White is net receiv
ing the effective assistance of counsel”)

315 For example of an argument that underfunding might generate system-wide in-
effective assistance of counsel, see $amuel Stretton, Defense of the Indigent Crimanal De-
Jendant: When Does the System Become Unethical?, THE Crampeion, Sept. .Oct. 1991, at 26,

!

)
b
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fsiclexecuted 22 hours later.)*'® Whether effective counsel could
have prevented Mr. White's execution we will never know. Jerry
White’s Killing makes it 2 moot point anyway.’'”

In White, CCR had told this court it could not render the effec-
tive assistance of counsel. See supra note 2. Yet, CCR represented
Mr. White anyway, after this court ordered it to do so. This means
that CCR either (1) lied to this court about its inability to represent
Mr. White effectively, or (2) CCR wasn’t able to, and didn’t repre-
sent Mr, White effectively. There are no other possibilities. Jerry
White’s execution is a pretty good metaphor for how GCR works
today.

IV, WHAT DID HAPPEN IN THIS CASE: REASONABLE
CROUNDS FOR FEARING BIAS

What happened in White was precisely what undersigned coun-
sel was afraid would happen in Spazieno. That is why counsel defied
this court’s demand that he hand Mr. Spaziano’s case over to CCR.
Counsel is convinced that, had he done so, Joseph Spaziano would
have been killed at 7:00 a.m. on September 17, 1995,

Events in Mr. Spaziano’s own case have proven the correctness
of undersigned counsel’s argument to this court that a complicated
evidentiary hearing on six days notice was no hearing at all. This

court gave undersigned pro bono counsel 96 working hours to in-
vestigate and prepare for the hearing under warrant. By contrast,
in its September 12 opinion, the court gave CCR——a law firm with
22 attorneys and a mult-million dollar budget—iwo months 1o pre-
pare for the hearing. And, when Flerida’s largest law firm, Hol-

Isic]

136 The execution of Mr, White and Mr. Atkins reduced CCR's caseload by two, but
it Is indecent wo contemplate the possibility thar CCR woudd, in light of its overoad
representations to this court, now aceept two new clients to “repiace” Mr. White and
Mr. Atkins. To offer CCR's stots left by its two most recently executed clients—to offer
such spots 1o Mr, Spadano or anyene else—would compound CCR's existing and scif-
confessed conflicss of interest, see supra note, 2, with a conflict that would be
macabre.

117 GCR's ineptitude in White carried through to the very end of CCR’s representa-
tion of Phillip Atkins. CCR’s director, Michael Minerva, and asked Richard Jorandby,
the Public Defender in West Palm Beach, to witness Mr. Atkin's cxecution.jorarldby
drove from West Palm to Starke for that sad reason. He arrived in Starke the night
before the execution occurred. But, on the moming of the killing, when Jorandby
arrived at the prison 10 witness the electrocuton of Jersy White, the prison personnel
told Jorandby that he was not on the witness Hist. Bureancratic foul up, but not the
prison’s. CCR had forgotten o put Jorandby or the wimess list. He was escorted off

prison grounds by five prison guards.




1996] LIES, SECRETS, AND SILENCE 429

[sic]land & Knight, took the evidentiary hearing portion of this
case over from CCR, the firm asked this court for twe additional
months. See Appendix X. The court gave it to the law firm. Se¢ Ap-
pendix L. Finally, the Miami Herald, Florida’s largest newspaper,
has, to date been intensively investigating Mr. Spaziano’s case for
eight months. That investigation has disclosed new facts about the
crimes for which the state set up Mr. Spaziano, as evidenced in the
news stories appended to this motion. See Appendices M, N.

So0. This court gave me 96 hours—knowing that VLRC was re-
cently dead, that I was representing Mr. Spaziano pro bone, and
that I was on the brink of personal financial bankruptcy. The court
gave Florida’s largest law firm four months. Florida’s largest news-
paper has taken eight months.

Thus, implicitly and grudgingly, this court has agreed with me
that 96 hours was not enough time for any lawyer--not even Flor-
ida’s largest law firm—to investigate and prepare for this complex
evidentiary hearing on whether Florida was about to execute an
innocent man.,

A. “Effective Withdrawal™ A Doctrinal Fiction
Manufactured in This Case

This court indicated that undersigned pro bono counsel for
Joseph Spaziano has effectzvely withdrawn” and that CCR would
now represent Mr. Spaziano in the capital appeals process. Spaziano
v. State, supra. This order is contrary to both the wishes of the af
fected client, Mr. Spaziano, and his attorney, Michael Mello. An
attorney cannot “effectively withdraw” as representative of a client.
Any withdrawal from representation must be affirmative and,
under certain circumstances, with the permission of the court.
'This court “effectively fired” Mr. Spaziano’s attorney. The court
erred because it does not have the power to “fire” an attorney, the
<lient, who hired the attorney, is the sole party who may terminate
the relationship in such a matter.

Rule Regug)ating the ¥loridd Bar 4 .1.16{b} provi.des the formal
procedures for withdrawal which require a lawyer to take several
affirmative steps to terminate the attorney - relationship. The Flor-
ida Bar v. King, 1995 Fla. LEXIS 1471, *6 (1995) {(noting that an
attorney “could not simply stop representing his clients without fol-
lowing the procedures for withdrawal”). [These rules do not indi-
cate that an attorney’s actions can imply that he has withdrawn as

the representative of his client’s interests. The spirit of the rules
fsie]
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[sic]“presumes that an attorney will follow the representation to
completion unless withdrawal is necessitated by one of the condi-
tions {stated in the rule].” Faro v. Romani, 641 So. 2d 69, 71 (Fla.
1994). Complying with these conditions for withdrawal is so impor-
tant that the Florida Supreme Court has held that an attorney for-
feits his rights to compensation if he withdraws from
representation without having one of the conditions under the
rale occur. Kay v. Fome Depot, Inc., 623 So. 2d 764 (Fla. 5th DCA
1993). The Florida Supreme Court seems to generally place a high
value on the procedure involved in withdrawal from representa-
tionn. However, the same value was not placed on the procedure in
Mr. Spaziano’s case.

There are formal procedures for withdrawing from represen-
tation and even disputes that arise between the client and attorney
require compliance with these procedures. “Once an attorney has
appeared in pending litigation to represent a party, that attorney
cannot withdraw from the case pursuant 1o discharge by the client
without leave of the court granted by order after due notice to
both the attorney and client.” Brown v. Vermont Mut. Ins. Co., 614
So. 2d 574, 579-580 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998), By requiring close com-
pliance with the procedures for withdrawal in one case, how can
the Florida Supreme Court turn around and imply the same with-
drawal in another case? There are no cases which indicate that the
Florida Supreme Court has the unfettered discretion o hire or fire
the counsel representing parties before the court. There are
checks on the system and the Florida Rule requires compliance
with formal procedures in order to ensure that the client’s interests
are preserved. Mr. Spaziano's adamantly wishes that Mr. Mello re-
main his attorney and these rules were made to protect his interest
in this area.

In this case, undersigned pro bono counsel had has not initi-
ated any procedures to withdraw as counsel for Mr. Spaziano. In
fact, he has worked diligently to represent Mr. Spaziano’s interests
for over twelve years. The undersigned has not withdrawn as repre-
sentative of Mr. Spaziano’s interest and he has not implied this
withdrawal through his actions. To understate, this court erred in
that it may not imply that counsel has “effectively withdrawn” until
that counsel affirmatively states his intention to withdraw.

Florida’s statutes and its common law guarantee a right to
post-conviction counsel to death row prisoners. Spalding v. Dugger,
526 So. 2d 71 (Fla. 1988). Mr. Spazano was effectively “without

[sic]



1996} LIES, SECRETS, AND SILENCE 431

[sic]counsel who can effectively and reasonably assist him in post
conviction proceedings.” Scott v. Dugger, 634 So. 2d 1062 (Fla.
1993). Previously, the Florida Supreme Court has not permitted an
execution to be carried out vuder such circumstances. Scott, 634
So. 2d at 1064-65; Mendyk v. Dugger, 592 So. 2d 1076 (Fla. 1992)
(Court will not allow “indigent inmates to be executed without
legal representation”); Rivera v. Dugger, 629 So. 2d 105 (Fla. 1993)
(same). In other cases, the Florida Supreme Court has recognized
that this statutory right to counsel carries with it the right to the
effective assistance of counsel. In this case, however, Florida’s high-
est court told Mr. Spaziano that, because Florida is not required to

rovide him with postconviction counsel, he had better be satis-
fied with whatever hack lawyers the state, in its generosity, chooses
to give him.

This bait-and-switch scam. It is more than grotesquely unfair
to an innocent indigent man trying to prove his innocence froman
isolated prison, cell on Florida's death row. Itis unconstitutional as
well. The United States Counstitution and the Florida Constitution
are violated when a state guaranteed post-conviction attorney is
forced and required to provide ineffective assistance of counsel to
a death row petitioner at an postconviction evidentiary hearing to
determine the petitioner’s factual innocence

The reason it is upconstitutional may be illustrated by Tippins
v. Walker, 889 F.Supp. 81 (S.D.NY. 1995}, In Tippins, defense coun-
sel, Lows Tirelli, slept through substantial portions of the tal
Judge Kennan held this to be a per se violation of the habeas peti-
tioner’s Sixth Amendment right to counsel, reasoning that an “ac-
tual or constructive denial of the assistance of counsel constitutes a
per seviolation of the sixth amendment.” Jd. at 93 (citing Strickland
v. Washington, 466 U.8. 668, 692 (1984); Jaour v. United Staies, 724
F.2d 831, 833-34 (9th Cir. 1084)).

Under the logic of this court’s opinion in Mr. Spaziano’s case,
the sleeping lawyer in Tippins could move to Florida, take over Mr.
Spaziano’s case, botch it as pitifully a8 he botched Tippins, and this
court would find no problem. Since Mr. Spaziano is entitled to no
lawyer at all, he had better just be satisfied with his sleeping lawyer.
Having a sleeping lawyer is better than having no lawyer at all.

Or is it? Actually, having a sleeping lawyer is worse than having
no lawyer. A sleeping lawyer provides the ilusion of having a law-
yer. CCR is not exactly like having a sleeping lawyer, but it’s the

{sic]
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[sic]next best thing -— as Mr. Spaziano alleged and offered to
prove at an evidentiary hearing.

Undersigned counsel argued in his original rehearing motion
in this court that the “hearing” ordered by the Florida Supreme
Court was more than unfair; it was unlawial under the principles of
United States v. Cronic, 466 U.S. 648, 659-60 (1984). In Cronic, the
Court held that “[clircumstances . . . may be present on some occa-
sions when although counsel is available to assist the accused dur-
ing trial, the likelihood that any lawyer, even a fully competent
one, could provide effective assistance is so small, that a presump-
tion of prejudice is appropriate without inquiry into the actual con-
duct of the trial.” Id. Without VLRC and without the FDLE file, no
lawyer, even a fully competent one, can adequately represent Mr.
Spaziano at the evidentiary hearing, This court has ordered an evi-
dentiary hearing to test the validity of the key witness’s recantation,
but has at the same time ruled that My. Spaziano has no right to
evidence of Mr. Dilisic’s recantation in the state’s possession.

In Crane v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 683, 690-91 (1986), the United
States Supreme Court held that exclusion of exculpatory evidence
regarding the circumstances of defendant’s confession “deprives a
defendant of the basic right to have the prosecutor’s case encoun-
ter and survive the crucible of meaningful adversarial testing,” Id.
{guoting United States v. Cronic, 460 U.S. 648, 659-60 (1984)). Mr.
Spazianc counsel’s cannot subject the state’s case to “meaningful
adversarial testing” at the evidentiary hearing because this court
has denied counsel access to the exculpatory evidence in the hands
of the State. This court’s order for the hearing, and its simultane-
ous denial of Mr. Spariano’s right to review the evidence to be
tested at the hearing, violates Mr. Spaziano’s constitutional rights
as set forth Cronic and Crane .

B. The Puzzing Analogy of Paul Hill

The court’s treatment of Paul Hill’s request for counsel of his
choice provides an interesting contrast to its treatment of the same
issue in Mr. Spaziano’s case. See Appendix O. Unlike Mr. Spaziano,
Mr. Hill wants to die. This court granted Mr, Hill's request that he
be representcd by a prolife movemnent lawyer, even though that
Jawyer is not a Florida bar member and even though he has no
capital appellate expenence whatsoever. See Appendix O.

‘The attorney in Hilland Spaziane both made clear to this court
that they were willing to work pro bono, so this court’s unwilling-

[sic]
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[sicIness to spend tax dollars to provide competent counsel for
death row prisoners does not distinguish the two cases. Under-
signed counsel did ask this court for reasonable accommodations
in light of his public service representation of Mr. Spaziano, and he
made such requests because, in the past, this court has recognized
that it is unseemly for this court to bend over backwards to make
such pro bono work as difficult as possible for Florida bar members
who are attempting to discharge their ethical duty to donate their
time and out-of-pocket expenses to represent poor people free of
charge-as this tourt did in granting Holland and Knight to reason-
able extensions of time for the evidentiary hearing.

There are differences between Hell and Spaziane. First, Mr. Hill
does not dispute the factual basis of his homicide conviction, and
he wants a lawyer to aid him in his goal of becoming a martyr to his
cause. Mr. Spaziano is factually innocent and wants undersigned
counsel in aid of proving his innocence. Second, Mr. Hill’s lawyer
is not a Florida bar member, and he lacks any capital appellate
experience, Undersigned is an experienced Florida capital appel-
late litigator. Third, the appellate public defender who otherwise
would have represented Mr, Hill — William McClain - has a long
track record of competence and expertise in capital appeals. This
court’s September 12 opinion forced Mr, Spaziano to be repre-
sented by CCR. Fourth, in Hill this court did not place impossible-
m—mcet condltmns on Mr. Hill’s pro bono counsel as a conditon
of its pcrm:ssrlon that Mr. Hill receive the lawyer he wanted. As
set out in this motion and in Mr. Spaziano’s previous filing, this
court did precisely that here.

As the court seem to recognize in Hill, lawyers are not fungi-
ble, Mr. Spaziano understands this, even if the Florida Supreme
Court does not. As Mr, Spaziano would prove at an evidentiary
hearing, for the past 12 years, Mr. Melio has come to know more
than Mr. Spa:ziano s case. Mello came to know, and to believe in,
Mzr. Spaziano’s innocence. Mr. Spaziano and his family trust Mello,
and they do so for good reasons. The latest temporary stay of exe-
cution may not last — odds are it wili not last for long. Another
death warrant will be signed, and it wili be carried out. But, in an
odd way, that will not nullify the importance of the stay that re-
sulted from the Heralds coverage, no matter how trausitory or
ephemeral that stay proves to have been.

There is domething grotesque in this court’s (1) manufactur-
ing a doctrine of “effective withdrawal”; (2) misreading the record

[sic]
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[sicjto find that counsel had “effectively withdrawn”: and (3) refus-
ing to give counsel any opportunity to respond to the court’s doc-
trinal innovation-all to justify removal of Mr. Spaziano’s longtime
and trusted lawyer a week before Mr. Spaziano has been scheduled
to be killed by the state. It was Justice Lewis Powell, of all people,
who recognized in Skipper v. South Carolina, that death row prison-
ers are not exactly like other inmates: Condemned people are not
just litigating; they are also preparing for death — especially when
they are on a fifth death warrant, as Mr. Spaziano was when the
Fiorida Supreme Court “fired” Mr. Mello and forced CCR upon
Mr. Spaziano.

Even when the stays are temporary and even when they do not
result in eventual victory - a life sentence or new trial - this sort of
litigation can buy the inmate time, sometimes as little as five min-
utes and sometimes as much as years. This may not be what lawyers
usually mean when we talk of “winning.” But redefinition of the
notion of winning is an important way of coping with a system that
it often indifferent and increasingly hostile.

For the near-dead, a lifetime can be lived in five extra,
snatched minutes; intimacy with death can carry with it a corre-
sponding new intimacy with life; a love of life, and a lust to live.
Paul Monette, writing of people with AIDS, got it exactly right: “I'm
so rapacious of time . . . I wander graveyards now like a math quiz
figuring who we’ve beaten.”*'® During that time, new evidence ben-
eficial to the condemned persont’s case may be found by post-con-
viction counsel and presented in the postconviction system. Also
during that time, the condemned, like the rest of us, feels joy and
sorTow, has hopes and dreams, grows and changes. In short, they
live their Hves. At some moments they are able to take Lambert
Strether’s advice in The Ambassadors to live all they can because it is
a mistake not to.'¥

Living one’s life, even in the close confines of death row, is
always much more than a legal matter. This is particularly so in the
weeks and months prior 1o a scheduled execution. It is essential
that the human, extralegal needs of the inmates are recognized
and, when necessary, advocated.

Part of the undersigned’s job as Mr. Spaziano’s lawyer — a
part CCR cannot replicate with a client whom despises the office

{sic]

18 Paur Monerte, New Year's af Lawrence’s Grave, in WEST oF Yesrerpay, East oF
SenamEr 37 {1994),
319 Henny James, THe Avsassavors (18763,
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{sic]is to provide the nonlegal counseling and support help trans-
form an inmate’s appreciation of death from abstract principle to
concrete reality, and so help the inmate —— one keeps wanting to
write “patient” — prepare to take care of the unfinished business
of this lifetime. This also places the legal struggle in perspective.
We fight not only scheduled death, but also despair. Our goals arc
to ensure that the person he represents knows all hope is not lost,
the battle continues, he will not be abandoned, but also the outlook is
grim and he should be preparing himself to die.

Experienced capital postconvicition litigators know that there
is a seif-defensive instinct to distance one’s self from a friend who is
about to die. Yet such distancing is the one luxury we cannot per-
mit ousselves to feel. At the very time when virtually everyone else
is distancing himself from our dying(?} clients, we cannot do so,
even for self-protective reasons, especially for selfprotective reasons.
They would be abie to tell. That brand of disloyalty risks becoming
a selffulfilling prophecy.

As Mr. Spazianc would prove at an evidentiary hearing, it is
not really - or maybe one means not only — dying at the hands of
the state. It is living the best possible life knowing that the state is
trying to kill you. When one is about to be killed by the state, hope
is both a tuxufy and a necessity. Erica Goods made the point with
regard to the survivors of the Oklahoma City bombing, but it holds
true as well for my clients. Hope can be like a drug, keeping the
survivors going when the shock and waves of adrenaline are not
enough, protecting them for a few more hours against the oncom-
ing udal wave of grief. They cling tightly 1o their illusions. As in
war, hope is critical: without it you die. In court, we defense lawyers
wear the poker face of the war room, slipping into the official lan-
guage designed to keep the actuality of devastation at bay: the mo-
ment when 2 waiting famﬂy was informed of a loved one’s
execution is “notification”; erisis counseling for our clients’ fami-
lies, and for ourselves, is called “debriefing.” Yet the office was hit
not by war but by something that had no ready blueprint for how
to act or what to think. Peopie did the best they could. We think
we understand; they think they understand. For people involved in
this sort of killing, even normal gestures of everyday life can move
far beyond reach. As the hours wind down, and the execution
draws closer, hope cannot last.

V. CGONCLUSION

For the moment, Mr. Spaziano is alive; he will likely be dead
fsic]
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[sic]soon ~ a victim of lies, incompetent counsel, police collusion
and.a court system’s cowardly reluctance fo admit error and re-
verse itself; a victim of a “clemency” board that dispenses mercy
based on polling data and that hears only from those who want
executions carried our more swiftly than ever, who regard all
claims of innocence as equally dubious, who see electrocution of
human beings as the last proof that Florida government can do
something right, after all. The guality of mercy is not strained; it is
vaporized. The quality of justice lives elsewhere.

Joseph Spaziano is not on-death row because he is a murderer
or because he is a rapist. He is on death row because he is an Qut-
law ~ president, én absentia, of the Outlaws Motorcycle Brother-
hood, Orlando Chapter.

It is ironic and churlish - although unsurprising ~— that this
court refuses to permit to be filed the results of the Miami Herald’s
investigation into the facts of this case. Such self-imposed igno-
rance is the obtuse equivalent of this court’s willingness to allow an
innecent man to be killed based on a secret governmental investi-
gation. Neither Mr. Spaziano nor the undersigned will ever find
the words to express our profound gratitude to the Herald for sav-
ing Joe’s life, even if only for a short time. We won’t say that the
amount of time doesn’t matter, because it does; more time is al-
ways better than less. Still, what mattered most was the fact that
someone had [stened to the record in his case, and that someone
had written in down and published it. That, and the fact that the
Herald’s stay let him see another Thanksgiving, Christmas and New
Year. That’s how we have marked the passage of time over the
years: one holiday season at a time.

Andyet. .. the Hergld’s success only underscored my failure as
Joe’s lawyer. Pve pour my soul into joe’s case, for as long as Ive
been a lawyer, and I never succeeded in convincing a single judge
to even consider the evidence of innocence. If 1 couldn’t even per-
suade a1y court anywhere not to kill my innocent client, then what
was the point? Maybe the “system” is too obtuse to care, or maybe
I'm not just much of a lawyer. Either way, it seems time to quit.

It’s far past time, actually. The biggest mistake I made in Joe
Spaziano’s case was not going to the Hersld in 1995; it was in not
going to the Herald in 1983; it was in playing the polite professional
for longer than the courts deserved; it was trusting the judiciary not
to kill an innocent marn.

Either way, Mr, Spaziano is dead. He could be released from

[sic]
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[sic}prison tomorrow, but he’s an old man now who spent his life
on death row for crimes he did not commit. He trusted the judges,
in part because I told him he should. He trusted me. [ failed. We
failed.

But right now, Mr. Spaziano has a stay. There is 3 moment
toward the end of Camus’ The Plague when, against ali expectation,
signs emerge of a slight abatement of the horror. The seasons
slowly changes, but not everyone can adapt. Camus writes. “Plague
had imbued some of them with skepticism so thorough that it was
now a second nature, they had become so allergic to hope in any
form. Thus even when the plague had run its course, they went on
living by its stdndards. They were, in short, behind the time.”

For the moment, as I write these words, Joseph Spaziano has a
stay. He’ll probably be executed on the next warrant. Or maybe
he’ll be releaséd from prison. In a cockeyed way, it won’t matter.
Joe could be freed tomorrow; he could make it to Vermont by De-
cember 30 to be the best man at my wedding; he could teach me to
ride a Harley; he could watch the house while I am on our honey-
moon. He could do all those things. He’d still be 2 dead man
walking.

At the minimum, Mr. Spaziano’s innocence claim ought to be
decided by fair and impartial judges -~ not by judges who are obvi-
ously sick of Mr. Spaziano, sick of his innocence claim, and sick of
undersigned counsel’s attempts to represent his innocent client
zealously, withiny the bounds of the law and the ethnics of his pro-
fession. Mr. Spaziano moves for recusal of the September 8
majority.

CERTIFICATE OF GOOD FAITH
The undersigned counsel certifies that he is appellate counsel
of record in this cause and that this motion to disqualify judge and
supporting points of authority is made in good faith for the pur-
poses described in Florida Rules of judicial Administration.
Respectfully submitted,

/s/ Michael Melio
MICHAEL A. MELLO
Vermont Law School

South Royalton, VT 05068
(802) 295-5724

Pro Bono Appeliate Counsel
¥or Joseph R. Sparziano[sic]
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XII, Fue Harpy Enpmve: Tar Orner MANDATING A
New Trzarn'?®

The United States Supreme Court denied certorari.™ In the
meantime, it became apparent to me that I could no longer act as
Mr. S’paz:iano’s attorney before the Florida Supreme Court. I di}:i
not have the personal resources. Additionally, VLRC lost its fund-
ing on October 1, 1995 and had alrcady indicated to me that it
could no longer assist in Mr, Spaziano’s defense.'® 1 persuaded
Holland and Knight to get involved before the hearing. Finally,
the unreasonableness of its Order became apparent to the court
when even Holland and Kaight could not be ready to adequately
defend Mr. Spaziano according to the court’s timetable. By sepa-
rate Order dated October 12, 1995,”* the Florida Supreme Court
moved the evidentiary hearing originally scheduled for no later
than September 15, 1995, then moved to no later than November
15, 1995, to no later than January 15, 1996.

On January 22, 1996, following a weekdong evidentiary hear-
ing, Seminole County Circuit Judge O.H. Eaton, Jr. issued the fol-
lowing opinion:

{siciIN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE
EIGHTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

IN AND FOR SEMINOLE COUNTY,
FL.ORIDA

CASE NO. 75-430.-CFA

STATE OF FLORIDA,
Plaintiff,
Vs

JOSEPH R. SPAZIANG,
Defendant.

Isic]

120 Florida v. Spazisno, No. 75-430.CFA, slip. op. {Fla, Cie. Ct. Jan. 22, 1996}, This
Order has been previously published. See Meilo, Postseript-Death and His Lawyers, supra
note 20, This Order and notes 124 and 125 appear in thelr original form. They have
not been altered in any way, as indicated by the use of [sic]} (original on file with the
New York City Law Review).

121 Spaziane v, Floride, 116 5, Cu. 722 (1966).

122 Letter from Matthew Lawry, CoDirector, Volunteer Lawyers' Post-Conviction
Defender Organization of Florida, Inc., to Michael Metlo, Pro Bono Appeilate Coun-
sel {Aug. 23, 1995) (on fle with the New York City Law Review).

123 Spariano v. State, No. 67,929 {Fia. Oct. 12, 1998) {order to extend evidentinry
hearing).
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{sic]ORDER VACATING JUDGMENT AND SENTENCE
AND
SETTING TRIAL DATE

On September 12, 1995, the Supreme Court of Florida en-
tered an order treating two out-of-time motions for rehearing as a
successive Rules of Criminal Procedure 3.850-3.851 motion based
upon newly discovered evidence of the recantation of the testi-
mony of a significant witness and remanded this case to this court
for consideration of that issue. Spaziano v. State, 660 So.2d 1363
{Fla. 1995). By separate order dated October 12, 1995, the
Supreme Court directed this court to commence an evidentary
hearing no later than January 15, 1996. The hearing commenced
on January 8, 1995, and was completed on January 15, 1996, At
that time the matter was taken under advisement.

The Issue

The issuc to be decided is whether, due to the newly discow-
ered evidence of the recanted testimony of Anthony Dilisio, the
defendant is entitled to a new trial.

The Law of Newly Discovered Evidence and Recanted Testimony

In order to prevail on newly discovered evidence the defend-
ant must prove:

1. the evidence has been discovered since the former trial;

2. the evidence could not have been discovered earlier

through the exercise of due. diligence;

3. the evidence is material to the issue;

4. the evidence goes to the merits of the case and not merely

impeachment of the character of a witness;

5. the evidence must not be merely cumulative; and

6. the evidence must be such that it would probably produce a

different result on retrial.
Jones v. State, 591 So0.2d 911 (Fla. 1992); Henderson v. State, 135 So.
625 (Fla. 1938); Smith v. State, 156 So. 91 (Fla. 1934); Beasiey v. State,
315 $0.2d 540 (Fla. 2d¢ DCA 1975); Weeks v. Stats, 253 So.2d 459
{(Fla. 3d DCA 1971).

In determining whether a new trial is warranted due to recan-
tation of a witness’s testimony, a trial judge is to examine all the
circamstances of the case, including the testimony of the witnesses
submitted on the issue. Armstrong v. Statg, 642 So.2d 730 (Fla.
1994); Bell v. Stats, 90 So.2d 704 (Fla. 1956). Moreover, recanting

[sic)
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[sicltestimony is exceedingly unreliable, and it is the duty of the
court to deny a new trial where it is not satisfied that such testi-
mony is true. Especially is this true where the recantation involves
a confession of perjury. Id. at 705; Henderson v. State, supra.
Findings of Fact

Trial judges are taught to determine the credibility of a wit-
ness and the weight to be given to testimony by considering the
demeanor of the witness; the frankness or lack of frankness of the
witness; the intelligence of the witness; the interest, if any, that the
witness has in the outcome of the case; the means and opportunity
the witness had to know the facts about which the wimess testifies;
the ability of the witness to remember the events; and the reasona-
bleness of the testimony considered in light of all of the evidence
in the case. Additionally, trial judges atternpt to reconcile any con-
flicts in the evidence without imputing untruthfulness to any wit-
ness. However, if conflicts cannot be reconciled, evidence
unworthy of belief must be rejected in favor of evidence which is
worthy of belief. These principals have been applied here,
although it has not always been easy.

The crucial testimony at the trial of this case in 1976 came
from the mouth of Anthony Dilisio. It was he who provided the
only evidence of the cause of death of the decedent and it was he
who supplied the jury with the evidence connecting this tragic
event to the defendant. Without his testirnony, there simply is no
corroborating evidence in the trial record that is sufficient to sus-
tain the verdict - not even any evidence from the medical examiner
who performed the autopsy.

DiLisio now testifies that he did not tell the truth during the
trial and provides a complicated explanation of the events which
led up to his trial testimony. This testimony is credible and is cor-
roborated by other evidence to a significant extent.

Dilisio testified that he and his five siblings lived in a dysfunc-
tional family ruled by his father, Ralph Dilisio, who physically
abused them.*** DiLisio tried to please his father but he never suc;
ceeded. His father owned a boat dealership known as

isic]

124 Two of Delisio’s sisters testified at the hearing. Neither of them were directly
asked to corroborai¢ the testimony of systematic physical abuse. Mowever, Donna
Yonkin indivectly corroborated the testimony when she related the physical alterca
tion which occurred when Delisio was arrested for drug possession at his father's resi-
dence. The testimony concerning abuse is accepted as tue.
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[sic]Maitland Marine and Dilisio frequented the business as a
young tecnager.

Ralph Dilisio started an affair with a younger woman em-
ployee named Keppy who seduced DiLisio when he was fifteen and
with whom he had frequent sexual intercourse for about two and
one half years, His father and Keppy ultimately married. DiLisio
had sex with her for the last time on their wedding day. It was
during this time that DiLisio started using drugs including mari-
juana, hash and alcohol.?®®

‘The defendant worked at the marina and DiLisio knew who he
was. There is a conflict as to just how close their relationship was
but none of the witnesses who testified were able to establish a fast
friendship.

Not suprisingly, Keppy began to have a sexual relatienship
with the defendant. Ralph DiLisio found out and became angry.
At some pomnt Keppy accused the defendant of raping her, It was
about that timé that Ralph Dilisio asked his son if the defendant
had told him that he mutilated women. Dilisio testified that the
defendant never said anything like that to him. But the idea was
planted in his mind.

Dilisio’s mid-teenage years included several brushes with the
law. He ran away from a drug treatment center in a stolen car with
two other juveniles and ended up in Volusia House. It was there
that Detective Abbgy and Martindale, who Were investigating the
homicide in this case, approached Dilisio for information. After
being encouraged by his father to cooperate with the police, he
agreed to be hypnotized in order to refresh his memory.

The dectectives induced DiLisio to cooperate by inferring that
his cooperation would get him out of Volusia House and would
result in several serious criminal charges being dropped. They also
supplied him with bits of information prior to the hypnosis session.
He was scared. He went along with the police in an effort to please
them and his father,

After the first hypnosis sessiont was over, DiLisio did not think
the police believed he cooperated. In fact, he “recalled” very litile
during the hrst.session. It was then that the police took him to the
scene of the homicide. A second hypnosis session was scheduled
the next day,

{sic]

125 He stated that he tried an animal tranguilizer called T.H.C. but he must have
meant P.C.P. T.H.C. is the active chemical agent in marijuana.
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fsic] Tapes of the sessions are in evidence as are the transcripts.
The hypnotist does not give the listener confidence in his abilities.
The defense experts who testified about the sessions and proce-
dures agreed. One of them gave the hypnotist a “double F” and the
other rated his skill level at “zero.” It is plain from the testimony of
these two distinguished experts that the reliability of the procedure
used should be seriously doubted and that the information which
was produced as a result was unreliable. Both experts agreed that
hypnosis cannot improve recall beyond that which can be recalled
through conscious cfforts and that is exactly what the hypnotist
thought he could do. It is most likely that the crime scene depicted
by DiL.isio is a scene that he created for the purpose of pleasing the
police and his father. One of the experts even pointed out that the
actual crime scene did not match Dilisio’s depiction in several ma-
terial respects.

The State called several witnesses in order to attack DiLisio’s
testimony and destroy his credibility. Many of these witnesses had
major credibility problems themselves. One of the witnesses, 2 mur-
derer in the Federal witness protection program, testified that he
and the defendant were in prison together after the defendant was
sentenced to life for rape but before the trial in this case. The
witness heard the defendant express concern over a young boy
whorn he had taken to see some dead bodies. The reliability of
that statement is questionable, If the statemenf was made, it is
likely that the defendant was discussing the testimony he had
learned Dilisio was going to give at trial. That is the only way to
reconcile the testimony with Dilisio’s version of the events without
rejecting it as being untrnuthful

Another witness, Bill O’'Connell, was a counselor at the Volu-
sia House and knew DiLisio while he was there. He stated that
Dilisio was having trouble sleeping and told him that he had taken
the police to a grave site. However, that statement, if made, does
not agree with other credible evidence in the case unless it was
made after Dilisio had developed his testimony for the tral. The
same is true of the statement Annette Jones says Dilisio made to
her and the statement Dildsio says he made to Sandy Vohman.

Conclusions of Law

In the United States of America every person, no matter how
unsavory, is entitled to due process of law and a fair trial. The de-
fendant received neither. The validity of the verdict in this case

Lsic]
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[siclrests upon the testimony of an admitted perjurer who had
every reason to fabricate a story which he hoped would be believed.
The couris of this county should not tolerate the deprivation of life
or liberty under such circumstances. A fair trial requires a determi-
nation of the truth by an informed jury. The verdict of an unin-
formed jury results in an unfair trial. An unfair trial is an unlawful
trial because it produces an illegal result.

The evidence of recantation in this case is newly discovered
evidence which could not have been discovered earlier through
the exercise of due diligence. It is material evidence which goes to
the merits of the case. It is not camulative evidence and it would
probably produce a different result on retrial. As Justice Kogan
stated in his concurring opinion remanding this case to this court:

Today we are presented with a grossly disturbing scenario: a

man facing imminent execution (a) even thougl: his jury’s vote

for life imprisonment would be legally binding today, (b} with

his conviction resting almost entirely on testimony tainted by a

hypnotic procedure this Court has condemned, (¢} with the

source of that tainted testimony now swearing on penaity of per-

Jury that his testimony was false, and (d} without careful consid-

eration of this newly discovered evidence under the only legal

method available, Rule of Griminal Procedure 3.850 or 3,851,
Spaziano v. State, supra at 1367. That careful consideration has now
been given and the validity of the Judgment and sentence has been
found to be so questionable that it cannot stand.

il IS ADJUDGED:

1. The Judgment rendered on January 28, 1976, and the sen-
tence entered on june 4, 1981, are vacated.

2. This case is set for trial during the trial period commencing
March 25, 1996, with docket sounding on March 12, 1996.
ORDERED at Sanford, Seminole County, Florida, this 22nd
day of january, 1996.
/57
O. H. EATON, JR.
Circuit Judge Isic}

Following the issuance of Judge Faton’s Order, the State of
Florida appealed. The arguments were fully briefed and submitted
to the Florida Supreme Court, and the court heard oral argument
in early December 1996. As of this writing a decision is pending.

It will be said of Mr. Spaziano’s new [trial] order: The sys-
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tem worked., “In fact, it was the lawyers and reporters who
worked. The legal system did its powerful best 1o kill.” In the
same week that Joe Spaziano won a new trial, Delaware hanged a
man and Utah executed another man by firing squad. %6

128 Mello, Postscript-Death and His Lowyers, sugra note 9, at 950 (citations omitted),



A CRITIQUE OF THE SECOND CIRCUIT’S
ANALYSIS OF NEW YORK AND NEW JERSEY
JOINT VENTURE LAW IN ARDITI v. DUBITZKY
AND SAGAMORE CORP. v. DIAMOND WEST
ENERGY CORP.

Robert Steinbuch¥

When one party is encumbered with a liability, it will often
look for another party to assume some of the costs. One method
of forcing costs to be shared by another is to have a joint venturer
contribute. Not surprisingly, when a liability arises, the liable party
will be liberal in its interpretation of who among its relationships is
a joint venturer, while & potential contributor will be conservative
in ifs interpretation. Thus, it is important to identify analytical
tools to determine if a joint venture exists. The first section of this
article discusses the core legal clements of a joint venture and
presents basic techniques for determining its existence. The sec-
ond section discusses the majority view regarding the relationship
between joint ventures and the corporations created to effect their
purposes; the New York and New Jersey exception {the “Excep-
tion”) to that view; and the Second Circuit’s interpretation of the
Exception. Under the Exception, which can potentially determine
cost allocation, a valid joint venture and attendant labilities cease
to exist once the joint venture incorporates. The Second Circuit’s
interpretation has essentially permitted the rule to consume the
Exception.

I Jomnr VentUrEs

A Definition

Although descriptions of joint veatures have varied and courts
have been reluctant to formulate a precise definition of the term,
some common elements in courts’ reatment of joint ventures ex-
ist.! “A ‘joint ( jventure,’ as a legal concept, is of comparative[ly]

+ 1D, 1992, Columbia Law School; M.A., and B.A., 1989, University of Penne
sylvania. Trial Attorney, United States Departinent of Justice, Former judicial faw
clerk to the Honorable Paul H. Roney of the Fleventh Circuit. The views expressed in
this article are those of the author and not necessarily those of the Department of
Justice or any other government agency.

v Ses generally 2 Samues. Winrrston & Wavtser HLE, Jaroer, A TreatisE ON THE Law
oF CONTRAGTS § 518 (3d ed. 1059 & Supp. 1095); Porter v. Cooke, 127 F.2d 833 {5th

445
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recent origin and is founded entirely on contract, either express or
implied.”® In addition to a contract asserting the creation of a joint
venture, courts often require that certain elements be present in
the relationship to find that a joint venture exists.?

Although its existenice depends on the facts and circumstances
of each particular case, and while no definite rules have been
promulgated which will apply generally 1o all situations, the de-
cisions are in substantial agreement that the following factors
must be present:

{2} A contribution by the parties of money, property, effort,
knowledge, skill or other asset to a2 common undertaking;

{b) A joint property interest in the subject matter of the
venture;

(¢} A right of mutual control or management of the enterprise;
(d) Expectation of profit, or the presence of “adventure,” as it is
sometimes called;

(e} A right to participate in the profits; {and]

(f) Most usually, limitation of the objective to 2 single undertak-
ing or ad hoc enterprise.®

Accordingly, if disputes arise as to the existence of a joint ven-
ture contract, courts may look to see if any of the additional requi-
sites of a joint venture are present. As a logical matter, the
presence of these typical elements will not satisfy the first require-
ment of the test (i.e., a contract). As a practical matter, however,

Cir.), cert. denied, 317 ULS. 670, reh’y denied, 317 U8, 710 (1942); United States v. Stan-
dard Olf Co., 155 F. Supp. 121 (S.DNY. 1857}, «ffd, 270 F2d 50 (2d Cir. 1959);
Harris v. Morse, 54 F.24 109 (S.D.NY. 1931).

2 Wirsisron & Jaecer, supre note 1, § 318, at 553 {quoting Rockett v. Ford, 326
P24 787 (Olda. 1940)). See Porter, 127 ¥.2d at 868; 1nited States v. Consolidated Rai}
Corp., 729 F, Supp. 1461, 1469 (D. Del. 1990) (“one appellate court has stated a
prervequisite to finding a joint ventire is a “willingness to be joint venturers, share
contred, and [2] division of profits and losses™ {citing Fdward Hines Lumber Co. v,
Vulcan Materials Co., 861 F.24 155, 188 {7h Cir. 19883} ); Hellenic Lines Lid. v, Com-
modities Bagging & Shipping Process Supply Co., 811 F. Supp. 665, 679 (D.N,]. 1988);
Standard Oil 155 F. Supp. at 148; Universal Sales Corp. v. (alifornia Press Mig. Co.,
128 P.2d 665, 673 (Cal. 1942} ("Whether the parties (0 a particular contract have
thereby ereated, as between themselves, the strict relation of joint adventurers or
some other refation involving cooperative effory, depends upon their actual inteation,
which is determined in accordance with the ordinary rules governing the interpresa-
tion and construction of contracs.”).

5 WirrisTon & JarcHr, supra note 1, § 3184, at 556.

4 Wirnsston & Jarcer, supre note %, § 8184, ar 56365 {cimations omitred). See
Helfenie Lines, 611 F. Supp. at 679, see also Consolidated Rait, 729 F. Supp. at 146%; Shell
Oit Co. v. Prestidge, 249 F.2d 413, 41516 {9th Cir. 1957); George . Horning v.
McAleenan, 149 F.2d 561, 566 (4th Cir.), cert. dended, 826 11 8. 761 {1945); Consoli-
dated Fisheries Co. v. Consclidated Solubles Co., 112 AZd 30, 35, reh'y denied, 113
A2d 576 {(Del, 1955); Albert Packing Corp. v, Fickling Properties, 200 S0. 907, 908
(Fla. 1941},
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their presence allows courts to infer the existence of the joint ven-
ture contract. This “leap of faith” or "argument from existence”
analysis, however, does not state that the essential elements prove
the agreement, but simply implies that since the elements are
there, the agreement must exist despite the fact that there is no
independent evidence to support it. This distinction is of littde
comfort to practitioners who are less concerned about a court’s
reasoning than about its conclusion.

B.  Anciliary Tools

The statute of frauds and tax laws could aid in determining
whether or not a joint venture was formed. Simply looking for the
actual written joint venture contract or examining parties’ tax re-
turns couid provide the added evidence necessary to determineif a
Joint venture exists.

It is a fundamental principle of contract law that when both
sides reach an agreement as to the terms of a deal, they are bound
regardiess of Whether the agreement is oral or written.” However,
due to the many difficulties of enforcing oral agreements, most ju-
risdichions in frhe United States have enacted a statute of frauds,
which requires that certain types of agreements be in writing in
order to be enforceable.® These include, inler alia, contracts for

5 RESTATEMENYE (Srconp} oF Conrracts § 4 (1981) ("A promise may be stated in
words either oral Or written, or may be inferred whoily or pardy from conduct.”}.

6 Ses, eg., Ara! Cope 8§ 79203, 891 (1993%); Ariz. Rev. Stat. Arne § 443101
(West 1094); Cas. Crv. Conk § 1624 (West 1985 & Supp. 1096); Coro. Rev, Star.
Ann. §8 38-10-103, ‘~106 (West 1990}; Conn, GeN, STaT. AnN. § 52-550 (West 1991 &
Supp: 1996); Drr.Cope Ann. tit. 6, §§ 1-206, 2-201, 8319 (1993} D.C. Covr Ann.
§ 28-3501 £1991): Fra. STar. AN, § 686.01 (West 1994}, §795.01 (West 1988); Ga.
CoDE ANN. § 15530 (1982 & Supp. 1995); 740 hu. Compe. StaT. 80/1, 80/2 (West
1493); Iowa Conr An. § 622,82 (West 1950); Ran. Srar. Ann. § 33-101 {1986); Kv,
REv. STAT. ANN. § 355,2.28]1 {Michie 1987); Mz, Rev. Stat. Anw. tit, 13, 8§ 1.208, 2-
201, §-319 {West 1995), tit. 33, § 51 (West 1988); Mass. Gen, Laws Ann, ch, 306, §§ 1-
206, 2207, 8319 (West 1990}, ch, 259, § 1, ch, 260, § 18 {West 1092}; Mmn. Syar.
Anw, 85 515.01, 513.03 {West 1900} Miss. Copne AN, § 15-3-1 {1995}; Mo. ANN. 87aT.
§ 432.016¢ {West 1992); Nib. Riv. Stat. Ann. §§ 36-103, 36-107, 56202 (Michie 1993);
Nev. Rev. Star. Amn, §8 113,205, 111210, 111.820, 111.285 (Michie 1993); N.H. Rev.
Star. Ann, §§ 582-A:1-206, $82-A:2-201, 582-A:8-319 (1994); N.|. Rev. STaT. §§ 12A:]-
206, 12A:2-201, 12A:8-319 (1962), §25:3-1 (1940 & Supp. 1996); N.M. StaT. Ann
§ 46.2-18 (Michic 1989); NY. Gen, Osuic. Law § 5701 (Consol. Supp. 1996); NY.
U.C.C. Law §§ 1208, 2201 (McKinney 1993 & Supp. 1996}, § 8-319 {(McKinney
1890); N.C. G, StaT. §§ 22-1, 224 {1586); N1 Cen, Cone § 90604 (Supp. 1995),
§ 47-10-0% {1978); Omo Rev. Cope Awnv. §§ 1801.12, 1802.04, 133501, 1835.04-05
(BanksBaldwin 1993); Oxra. STar. Ann. it, 13, §§ 136, 324325, tt. 16, §4 (West
1691); 53 Pa. Cons, Star. Avev. § 1 (West 1967); R.L Gen. Laws §§ 6A-1-206, 64-2-201,
6A-8-319 (1892); 8.C. Copg Ann. §§ 82:8-10, 32:3-20 {Law Co-op. 1991}; 8.D. Copirep
Laws § 45-32.5 (Allen Smith 1983), § 53-8-2 (Michie 1990); Trnn. CODE ANN. § 29-2-
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the sale of land, agreements that will not be fully performed within
one year, promises to answer for the debt of another, agreements
modifying written contracts, contracts for the sale of goods in ex-
cess of $500, contracts for the sale of personal property in excess of
$5,000, and contracts for the sale of securities.”

'If 2 contract falls within a jurisdiction’s statute of frauds, it will
usually only be enforceable if the agreement is in writing and the
writing specifies the partics and subject matter of the contract.®
Accordingly, if the alleged joint venture falls within the scope of
the statute of frauds, the absence of a written -agreement couid be
evidenice that a joint venture does not exist. However, this analysis
is of limited usefulness because of the lack of clarity as to the appli-
cability of the statute of fraudsto joint venture agreements.” More-
over, the statute of frauds can also be satisfied by partial
performance.’® Thus, if a court finds evidence that the parties
were acting as if they were bound by an agreement that would nor-
mally require a Wwriting under the statute of frauds, the court may
choose to enforce the agreement even absent a writing. For exam-
ple, if an oral contract for the sale of goods worth $10,000 requires
ten installment payments, two or three payments could constitute

101 (Supp. 1995}; Tex. Bus. & Com. Coopy Ann. § 2601 (West 19687); Uran Cons
Ann. 5§ 25-5.1, 2559 {1985); V. Star. Ann. git. 94, §§ 1-906, 9201, 8-319 {1994}, tit.
12, § 181 {1973 & Supp. 1095), §§ 182-183 (1973), Va. Cobx Ann, §§ 11-1, -2 {(Michie
1963), §8 55-2, -3 (Michie 1986); Wasn. Rav. Cone Ann, § 5.52.000 {West 19095},
§ 19.36.010 {West 1089), § 624.1.206 (West Supp. 1996), § 62A.2-201 (West 1995),
§ 62A.8-113 (West Supp. 1996), §64.04.010 (West 1994); W. Va. Cope § 36-1-1
(1985}, § 48-3-9 (1995}, § 55-1-1 (1994); Wis, StaT, Ann, § 240.10 (West Supp. 1995},
§241.02 {(West 1987}, § 241028 (West Supp. 1985), § 24100 (West 1987),
§§ 401.266, 402.201, 408.319 (West 1595), § 704.05 (West 1981) Wyo. Statr. AnN
§ 34.1-3-119 {Michie 1996},

7 NJ. Rev, Srar. § 25:1-5 (1940 & Supp. 1996); N.Y. Gen, Onsric, Law § 5.701
{Consol. Supp. 1996}, Se, £g., Inter-City Tire & Auto Center, Inc, v. Uniroyal, Inc.,
70% F. Supp, 1120, 1125 (DNJ. 1988), aff'd, 888 F.2d 1380 (3d Cir. 188%), aff'd sub
nom. Uniroyal, Inc. v. Erbesh, 888 F.2d 1382 (3d Cir. 1989); Kahn v. Massler, 140 F,
Supp. 620, 643 (DN 1956}, affd, 241 F.2d 47 (3d Cir. 1957).

& Ses e, NJ. REv. Star, § 25:1-5 (1940 & Supp. 1896} NY. Gan, Opric. Law § 5-
701 (Consol. Supp. 1896).

9 Compare Sugar Creek Stores, Inc. v. Pitts, 604 N.Y.5.2d 407, 408 (N.Y. App. Div.
1993) {"While an oral agreement may be sufficient to create a joint venture relation-
ship, the Stamue of Frauds appiies to_joint ventures, which, as here, have a stared térm
of more than one year.” {citations omitted}) with Blank v. Nadler, 533 N.Y.5.2d 891,
8592 {N.Y. App. Div. 1988} ("It is weli[-]settied that an oral agreement may be suffi.
cient to create a joint-venture relationship and that the Statute of Frauds is generally
inapptlicable thereto.” {citationy omitted}},

10 SeeBanker's Trust Co. v. Steenburn, 409 NY.S.2d 51, 61.62 (NY. Sup. Cr. 1978},
affd, 418 N.Y:8.2d 723 (NY. App. Div., 1079),
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partial performance, and the court may enforce the contract.’?

Additionally, joint ventures sound in partnership law and,
thus, similar rules apply to both. relationships when determining
respective parties’ obligations.}* Federal tax law deems a joint ven-
ture equivalent to a partnership and requires joint ventures to pay
taxcs as if they were partnerships.’® Thus, an examination of the
parties’ filings should provide evidence as to whether the partici-
pants intended to be joint venturers.

H. Jomr VEnNTURES AS CORPORATIONS

Whether the persons deciding to create an organization to ef-
fectuate a joint enterprise (the “organizing parties”) properly fol-
low the procedures of incorporation, and do in fact form a
corporation, will not in iself determine the permanence of the
joint venture.'* The permanence will depend initially on whether
the jurisdiction allows joint ventures to take the form of a corpora-
tion. If it does not, then the joint venture gives way to the corpo-
rate form and no confidential fiduciary duty ¢xists among the
shareholders.’® Consequently, liability among the organizing par-
ties is limited, and equitable claims, such as those for an account
ing, cannot be brought by one of the former joint venturers
(presently shareholders) against any of the others. If, however, the
jurisdiction allows a joint venture to take the form of a corporation,

11 See Ebker v. Tan Jay Int’l, Lid., 739 F.2d 812, 828 (2d Cir. 1984}, affd, 930 F.2d
909 (2d Gir), cerv. denied, B02 U.S. 853, roh'y denied, 502 U.S. 1600 (1991).

12 Wiaasron & JarcEr, supra note 1, §§ 318, 318B, at 550-32, 585-616; Walter v.
Holiday Inns, Inc., 784 F. Supp. 1158, 1167 n.16 (D.N]. 1992), offd, 985 F2d 1232
(3d Cir. 1998}, Roberts v. Craig, 268 .2d 500, 504 (Cal. Dist. Ct. App. 1954} Lesser v,
Smith, 160 A. 302, 304 (Conn. 1932); Ross v. Willetr, 27 N.Y.8. 783, 786 {(N.Y. Sup. Ct
1894).

13 WaLISTON & JAEGER, supra note 1, § 318B, at B85, See Stuart v. Willis, 244 F.2d
925, 928 {9th Cir. 1957} (“A joint venture as defined by the Internal Revenue Code is
a partnership “* ¥ # [gic] through or by means of which any business, financial opera-
tion, or veniure is carried, and which is not, within the meaning of this tide, & wust or
estate or corporation.” {citation omitted}}; Boone v. United States, 374 F. Supp. 115,
120 {DN.D. 1973).

14 The organizing partics can be real persons or legal persons, i.., corporatiens.
Corporations are generally empowcered to form partnerships or joint ventures with
other corporations. Sz g, NJ. Srar. Anw. § 14A:5-1(m) {West 1960); NY. Bus.
Gorp. Law § 202(a) (15} {McRinney 1986). Of course, the fact that corporations can
become members of partnerships does not make the aggregation of the partners {eif
a corporation. The issue here is whether an srranpement between two or more per-
S0NS OF corporations, or any combination thereof, can itself take the form of 2 corpo-
ration, yet remain a joint venture with all of the anendant responsibilities and
liabilities,

5 See, gg., Weissnan v. Awnuir Corp. of America, 144 N.E.2d 415, 418 (N.Y. 1957).
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then the court must determine whether the organizing parties in-
tended the joint venture to continue even after the enterprise in
question was incorporated.’® In this regard, the interposition of a
corporation will not negate the existence of a joint venture, “{bjut
it is an important consideration in that direction and will be con-
clusive in the absence of compelling factors to the contrary.”™” If
the jurisdiction allows joint ventures to take the form of a corpora-
tion, and both the joint venture and the corporation are valid, then
the parties to the joint venture shall be liable to each other as joint
venturers, while the incorporated venture shall have lintted liabil-
ity as to third parties.’® Indeed, the majority view is that, while a
partnership may not take the form of a corporation, a joint venture
may. In these jurisdictions, individuals or corporations can form a
corporation as a joint venture, resuiting in limited liability as to
third parties but not as between themselves.’® Thus, whether the
jurisdiction allows joint ventures to take the corporate form is criti-
cal. It will determine the type of liability that the relevant parties
face.

A.  The New York and New fersey Exception

A minority of jurisdictions refuse to recognize as valid a joint
venture in the form of a corporation,®® In Weisman v. Awnair Corp.
of America,”* the New York Court of Appeals held that “the rule is
well{-]settled that a joint venture may not be carried on by individ-
uals through a corporate form,”*® In its decision, the Welsman
court relied on the New Jersey state case of Jackson v. Hooper® In
Jackson, the court held that it would violate public policy to allow a
corporation to maintain the corporate veil against the public, but
not allow its shareholders the same protection for disputes among

15 United States v, Standard Gil Co., 155 F. Supp. 121, 156¢ (S.D.NY. 1957}, aff'd,
270 F.2d 56 (2d Cir. 18569).

17 X,

18 Wirriston & JAEGER, supra note 1, § 318C, at 619,

19 WirssTon & JasGER, supra note 1, § 318C, at 618. See Enos v. Picacho Gold
Mining'Co., 138 P.24 663, 667 (Cal. Dist. Ct. App. 1948); Hathaway v, Porter Royalty
Pool, Inc., 295 N.W. B71, 57778, amended by 299 N.W. 451 {Mich. 1941).

26 Winrsston & JAEGER, supra note 1, § 318C, at 619,

21 144 NE.2d 415 (NY. 1957),

%2 14, at 418, See Yonofsky v. Wernick, 362 F. Supp. 1005, 1022 (S.D.INY. 1973
{*When joint adventurers carry on their business through a corporate endyf,} they
cesse being loint adveniurers and assume the rights, duties and obligations of stoeck-
hotders.” {eiting Waisman, 144 N.E.2d ar 449)); Noto v. Gia Sequia i Armanento, 310
F. Supp. $39, 646 (8D .NY. 1970); Bevilacque v. Ford Motor Co,, 509 N.Y.5.24 595,
599 (MY, App. Div. 1986},

23 775 A. 568 (NJ. 1810).
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themselves.** Thus, these courts hold that once a joint venture in-
corporates, the joint venture ceases to exist and the parties become
only shareholders. They are no longer fidueiaries to each other
anid no longer personally liable. A result is that the very powerful
equitable relief available to partners and joint venturers, receipt of
an accounting, is not available to the organizing parties.

B.  The Second Circuit’s View

The Second Circuit’s interpretation of the Exception severely
limits the force of Weisman, In Arditi v. Dubitzky,®® the Second Cir-
cult stated that the laws of New York and New Jersey are for all
practical purposes identical with regard to joint ventures.” The
court, restricting Weisman and Jackson, held that joint venture obli-
gations can exist among members of a corporation if it is the inten-
ton of the parties that the corporation simply be a means of
carrying out the joint venture.®’ Since Arditiis the Second Circuit’s
interpretation, it is persuasive but not binding on either of these
state courts. More importantly, the Ardiff court relied on cases not
strongly supportive of its viewpoint. In fact, the Arditi court cited
the New York and New Jersey state court cases of Mackiem v. Marine
Park Homes, Im % M.P.E. Holding Corp. v. Freeman's Dairy, Ine,®
Leoverdos v. %mvozzms,"“ and Fortugno v. Hudson Manwure Co® to sup-
port its proposition that the Weisman/Jackson line has been
restricted.

Macklem was decided at the trial level in 1855 before the Weis-
man opinion was issued, and affirmed in 1960 after Weisman was
decided. To stpport its proposition that Macklem is distinguished
from Weisman) the Arditi court cited the unattributed quote that
the corporation was “merely * * [sic] an adjunct of a joint ven-
ture.”* This quote, however, does not appear in the Macklem opin-
ion. The trial court in Madkler concluded that the parties did not
intend to carry on the venture as stockholders in a corporation.™

24 Id at 573, See WiLnisTon & Jaresr, supra note 1, § 318C, at 619.26; Ault & Wi-
borg of Canada v. Carson Carbon Co., 160 Sc. 288, 300 {La. 1935).

25 354 F.2d 483 {2d Cir. 1965).

26 Fd, at 485,

27 Id, ar 487,

28 161 NY.5.2d 874 (NY. Sup. Cu 1055}, offd mem., 191 NY.5.2d 545 (NY. App
Div, 1959), appeal dismissed, 165 N.E.2¢ 201 (N.Y.}, affd, 17¢ N.E.2d 455 (N.Y. 1960).

49 252 NY.5.241689 (N.Y. Sup. Cu. 1962},

30 200 NY.5.24:921 (N, Sup. Cu. 1960},

5% 144 A.2d 207. (NJ. Super. Ct. App. Div. }958).

32 Ardid v, Dubluzky, 354 F.2d 483, 486 (2d Cir. 1965).

5% Macklem, 191 NX.5.2d at §76.
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Further, the court held that “[i]t is very likely, under the facts as
developed at the trial, that were this an action brought by a cred}-
tor of [the parties to the joint venture] the ‘corporate veil” would
be ‘pierced.’”®* It also held that “[tlhe incorporators were ‘dum-
mies’ and apparently no corporate meetings were held and no
stock issued,” and that the party seeking a distribution of stock
was prohibited by state law from receiving stock for his services.”®
Although Macklem may provide support for the Arditi opinion, the
irregularides with the corporation in question seem to have been
critical to the court’s analysis. As a result, the applicability of
Macklem 1o cases involving valid corporations is dubious.

M.P.E. Holding Corp. and Loverdos clearly support Weisman, de-
spite the Ardils court’s reliance on them. Conversely, Fortugno pro-
vides some support, albeit limited, for Arditi. The Fortugno court,
using equity, despite the “lack of precedent,” held that the “part-
nership’s stock ownership was not for the purpose of participating
in corporate affairs in the normal manner, but was resorted to in
order to simply make each corporation an instrumentality or de-
partment of the integrated family enterprise.”®” The Arditi court
claimed to be following precedent when it cited Fortugno®® Iromi-
cally, the Fortugno court disavowed the existence of any precedent
on the issue®®

‘The Second Circuit further demonstrated how overreliance
on, and the misapplication of, precedent can be detrimental in
Sagamore Corp. v. Diamond West Energy Cmp.‘w Therein, the court
again relied on unsupportive case law. The court indicated that
almost as soon as the ink was dry on the Weisman opinion, the New
York courts began to retreat from the rule laid out thercin.*® The
parties in Sagamore validly formed a joint venture and then formed
a corporation to cffect the venture.®** The court held that the Tule,
in New York under such circumstances is that when parties to a
Joint venture merge the entire joint venture agreement into the
corporation, the enterprise is governed by corporation law.® How-

84 Id.

85 i,

86 74

37 Fortugno v. Hudson Manure Co, 144 A.2d 207, 237 (NJ. Super. Ct. App. Div.
1958},

38 Arditi v. Dubitzky, 354 F.24 488, 485 (24 Cir. 1965},

39 Fortugno, 144 A2d at 217.

4¢ 806 F.24 873 (2d Cir. 1956},

41 M. at 878.

42 [d. ar 374, 376.

43 Id. at 878.
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ever, when parties to 2 joint venture form a corporation to carry
out one or more of the joint venture’s objectives and intend the
joint venture to exist along with the corporation, the rights and
duties under the joint venture agreement still exist.** Like Anditi,
the Sagamore Tule is bifurcated. It allows joint venture obligations
to exist after incorporation in some situations, but not others.
However, the Sagamorerule appears more constrained than the one
set out in Ardifi, The Sagamore court seems only to allow the inter-
vention of a corporation inte a joint venture if the corporation has
& limited focus,

As in Arditi, the case law cited by the Sagamore court does not
strongly support its holding. The Sagamore court relied on Arditi™
and Mackiem,*® on four cases that held that a joint venture no
longer exists when it is merged into the ensuing corporation,*” and
on two cases that the court contended demonstrate that a joint ven-
fure and corporation can exist simultaneously.*®

The reliance by the Sagamore court on the above four cases as
support for the claim that there is a bifurcated standard under New
York law was misplaced. Two of these cases rest squarely on Weis-
man, which mandates the Exception and, therefore, does notailow
for the bifurcated rule.*® Under Weisman, joint venture obligations
simply do not éxist after incorporation.®® Of course, Weisman sup-
ports the half of the bifurcated rule preventing joint venture liabil-
ity after incorporation, but Weisman swallows and prevents the
exemption Sagamore tries to develop. It is one thing for the Sage-
more court to simply state that Weisman goes too far, and then re-
strict the Weisman holding. It is wholly different to claim that
Weisman’s progeny have limited Weisman, when they clearly have
not. Miglietia v. Kennecott Copper Corp>* and Farber v. Romano,5? also
cited in the Segamore opinion, rest their decisions upon Manacher v.

* Id

45 Sapamore, 806'F.2¢ at 578,

46 Hd,

47 Id (citing Beck v. General Tire & Rubber Co., 469 N.Y.8.24 785 (N.Y. App. Div.
1983), appeal dismissed, 463 N.E2d 102 (NY. 1984); Judelson vy, Weintraub,
390 NY.5.24 455 (N.Y. App. Div. 1977); Miglietta v. Rennecott Coppar Corp., 266
N.Y.5.2d 836 (N.Y. App. Div. 1966); Farber v. Romano, 232 NY.5.24 285 (N.Y. Sup. Ct.
1962)).

48 14 at 87879 {citing Triggs v. Triggs, $85 N.E.2d 1254 (N.Y. 1978); Shapolsky v.
Shapo]sl;y, 279 NY.S.24 747 (NY. Sup. Cr. 1966), affd, 282 N.Y.5.2d 163 (N.Y. App.
Div. 1967}).

49 Sge Beck, 469 NY.8.2d at 786; Judelson, 300 NY.5.2d ar 456,

50 See Berk, 469 N.Y.5.2d at 786; fudelsor. 390 NY.5.2d at 456.

81 266 N.Y.5.2d 936 {(N.Y. App. Div. 1966}.

52 282 N.Y.82d 285 {N.Y. Sup. Ct. 1962).
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Central Coal Co™ Manacher, relying on Juckson, concluded that a
Joint venture agreement can run
[Allong side of the path of the corporation[, but] [wlhen the
two merge . . . and relief is sought upon the ground that the
corporation has become a mere agency or instrumentality for
the performance of an independent agreement of joint adven-
turers or partnersi,] the aggrieved party is relegated 10 his rights
as 4 stockholder and may not sue in his individual capacity.**

The Manacher court aptly summed up its decision as follows:
“Individuals may enter into partnership agreements or joint ven-
tures independent of the corporate form but they may not organ-
ize a corporation for the purpose of carrying on a joint venture,”?®
Thus, Manacher only appears to have provided for a qualification to
the Exception in limited situations where a joint venture has organ-
ized a corporation to effect one part of a multifaceted joint
venture.

Finally, the Sagamore court relied on Arditi, Triggs v. Triggs®
Shapolsky v. Shapolsky®’ and Fromkin v. Merrall Realty, Inc.,%® to sup-
port the proposition that parties to a joint venture, in forming a
corporation to carry out one or more of its objectives, may reserve
certain rights inter sese under their agreement.

As with previously discussed cases, Fromkin rests upon and sup-
ports Weisman.®® Triggs does not involve a joint venture, but simply
deals with an agreement between corporate sharcholders regard-
ing a stock purchase option.®* Shapoisky involves a unique factual
situation that seems to have dictated the outcome. In that case,
plaintiff and his brother, the defendant, agreed to purchase real
estate for speculation and to take title to such in the name of sev-
eral corporations®? Plaintiff contended that his brother never
gave him stock certificates in the aforementioned corporations.®®
The court merely held that this was not a derivative action, and

55 181 N.Y.8.2d 671 (N.Y. App. Div. 1084}, offd, 125 N.E.2d 431 (NY. 1955).

54 I, at 676,

55 Jd. at 677.

86 285 N.E2d 1254 (NY. 1978},
. 5'; 279 N.Y.8.2d 747 {N.V. Sup. Ct. 1966), zffd, 282 NY.S.2d 163 (N.Y. App. Div.
9673,

B8 225 N.Y.5.2d 682 (NY. App. Div.), appeal denied, 183 N.F.24 778 (NY. 1962).
lggz}Sagamore Corp. v. Diamond West Energy Corp., 806 F.2d 373, 878-70 (24 Cir.

60 Fromkin, 225 N.Y.5.2d at 635.

6 Trigm, 383 NE.24 a1 1254,

82 Shapolsky, 270 N¥.5.2d at 740.

03 Id ar 7490.50,
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plaintiff could maintain an action against his brother for the stock
certificates, as plaintiff’s right to recovery had its origin independ-
ent of and extrinsic to the corporate entity.%*

Finally, in a recent federal district court case in New York, Zahr
v. Wingate,5 the court explicitly followed Weisman and its progeny.
Zahr, howevery did not specifically address Arditi and Sagamore
Therefore, we cannot be sure whether the court, in properly fol-
lowing New York precedent, recognized its departure from the Sec-
ond Circuit’s \;riew of the law.

I, ConcLusion

3
The Second Circuit should follow Zahr and its proper adher-
ence to New York law, Weisman created the Exception whereby
joint ventures could not incorporate, but the Second Circuit weak-
ened the Exception to the point of virtual elimination. Like any
United States Court of Appeals reviewing a district court’s interpre-
tation of state law, the Second Circuit is in a delicate position
thrust upon it by the principles of federalism embodied in the Con-
stitution. Such a court must take pains to interpret the state Iaw as
the state court would. If the court is unsure of the state law or the
state has not addressed a particular issue, the court can certify a
question for state court review. Rewriting the state law, however, is
inappropriate. This, though, is exactly what the Second Circuit has
done. The Sebond Circuit should revisit the issue and revitalize

Weisman. ;

!

t

9% fd at 7HL

65 327 F. Supp. 1061, 1068-68 {S.D.NY. 1933} ("It is axiomatic that individuals may
not, as a matter of daw, operate a business entity as a partnership for the purposes of
defining their rights visawvis each other while concurrently holding the entity out 10
the general public as a corporation.” (citing Weisman v. Awnatr Corp. of America, 144
N.E.2d 415, 418 (N.Y. 1957} and Jackson v. Hooper, 75 A, B68, 571 {N]. 1914))}.



THE INDEPENDENCE OF THE JUDICIARY?

Edward I Koch?

I, IntroDUCTION

New Yori( State and New York City, like most states and cities,
elect many of their judges.* These elections can produce good
judges, bad judges, and mediocre judges. Many efforts have been
made to change the City of New York’s current system and estab-
lish one of merit-based judicial selection? The State of New York,
however, has successfully moved to a merit-based system for some
positions, For example, New York State Court of Appeals judges
are appointed by the governor.? The governor must choose from a
short list of well-qualified candidates who are nominated by the
Court of Appeals Nominating Commission.* That commission is
bipartisan in nature, and the governor may appoint only four of its
twelve membeis.® Efforts at constitutional change to unify all New
York courts by appointing judges, instead of electing them, have
not been succéssful,

I believe that the caliber of judges is not necessarily deter-
mined by the process used in their ascension to the bench. How-
ever, I believe that a merit-based judicial selection system is better
overall. It is far less political and more openly public. Moreover,
there is strong evidence that this appointment system enables more
women and minorities to reach the bench than in the elective

+ Partner, Robinson Stiverman Pearce Aronsohn & Berman LLP, New York, New
York; 105th Mayor of the City of New York, 1978-1089; Member, 1.8, House of Repre-
sentatives (D-N.Y.}, 19681977, Member, New York City Council, 1966-1968.

1 Seq, e, NY. Const, art. VI, §§ 6(c), 10(2), 18{a), 15{a), 16(h}, 17{d}.

2 Generally, meri¢ selection is a strategy to select judges “on the basis of ability,
character, training, and experience . . . .” HANDSOOK 0f GOURT ADMINISTRATION AND
ManacemenT 209 (Steven W, Hays & Cole Blease Graham, Jr. eds., 19908} {internal
citation omitted). ;Merit selection, or the Missouri Plan, “requires the creation of 2
non-partisan nominating board consisting of the chief justice of the state supreme
court, who acts us chairperson, three lawyers elected by the state bar association, and
three laymen . . . .7 J4d (internal citations omitted).

B Jee NY. Const. art. Vi, § 2(b)-(e); see also U.S. DEr’T oF Justics, Stare Coury
OrcanizaTion 1498, ur 88-89 (1995}, The governor's appeointments are confirmed by
the New Vork State Senate. See NY, Const. art. V1, § 2{e); ser also ROBERT A. Carr &
Romarn Srinam, funicial, Process iy Averrca 258 (8d ed. 1896).

4 See NY. Congy, art. VI, § 2{¢): se2 also U8, Dep'r or JUSTICE, sufrn note 3, at 80-
83; HaNDBOGK OF COURT ADMINISTRATION AND MANACEMENT, supra note 2, at 289,

B See NY. Congy, art, Vi, § 2{d) (1}; see also Hanoaook oF COURT ADMINISTRATION
AND MANAGEMENT, supra note &, at 944,
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system.®

In New York State, each party’s judicial convention determines
candidates for the state supreme court judicial elections. Conse-
quently, many of those nominated by the conventions will have
political obligations to the party leaders instrumental in getting
them the party designation. On the other hand, senators in some
states designate the federal district court nominees using a merit-
based judicial sclection process. Many conversant with both the
federal and state judiciary would say that the appointment system
used in the federal selection system leads to fewer political obliga-
tions and, overall, attracts more distinguished jurists.

II. MErr-Basen Jupicial, SELECTION IN THE Criy OF NEw YORK

When I became Mayor of the City of New York in 1978, I, like
every mayor before me, had absolute power to appoint anyone 1
decided worthy to the criminal and family courts.” The only limita-
tions were constitutional requirements that the appointee must
have been a lawyer for at least ten years and a resident of the City
of New York.®

Mayor Wagner,? followed by Mayors Lindsay*® and Beame,"!
created a screening, non-merit judicial selection system. While still
not 2 merit-based selection system, it was, better than that of their
predecessors because qualifying committees were asked to appraise
the proposed candidates’ professional qualifications. Nevertheless,
it also happens that each of the three mayors, on at least one occa-
sion during their time in office, rejected the negative rating given
to a particular candidate by the qualifying committee and ap-
pointed him or her anyway.’* As mayor-elect, I denounced this ac-

& Ses eg, The Fund for Modern Courts, Inc, The Success of Women and Minori-
ties in Achieving Judicial Office: The Sclecton Process $2-33 (1985).

7 See NY. Cowgr, art. V1, §§ 13(a), 15(a).

8 See id. §8 13€a), 1B{a), 20{a).

¢ Robert F. Wagner served as Mayor of the City of New York from 1954 to 1963,
See Crry oF New Yome, Tue 1994895 Cryen Booxe Oweicay, Digeerory oy vus Crey oF
New York 4 (1994} Thereinafter THE GreEEn BoOK].

10 John V. Lindsay served as Mayor of the City of New York from 1866 1o 1973, Se
id.

it Abraham ID. Beame served as Mayor of the Gity of New York from 1974 to 1977
See id.

12 For example, in Mayor Beame’s case, after losing the primary in 1977 and
before leaving office, he appointed ten people to fill judicialvacandies, The two com-
mittees authorized to review the candidates’ qualifications were the Mayor's Commie
tee on the Judiciary {to which he appointed all the members) and a commitiee of The
Association of the Bar of the City of New York. The latter found the ten selections
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tion and announced my intention to not reappoint these
candidates when their terms ended. That self-imposed prohibition
ended with my creation of a merit-based judicial selection system
for the City of New York.

After 1 was inaugurated, I asked members of my administra-
tion to propose 4 totally merit-based selection system for the ap-
pointment of judges. I adopted and created by Executive Order
the system that they proposed.’® In this system, the mayor ap-
pointed the Chair of the Mayor's Committee on the Judiciary
(“Mayor’s Committee”) and twelve of its members.** The two pre-
siding justices of the First and Second Departments of the Appel-
late Division of the State Supreme Court each appomted another
six members, and the deans of various law schools in the city ap-
pointed the othf:r two members on a rotating basis.’”® Thus, the
Mayor’s (‘ommlttee had twentyseven members'® and fewer than
half were appomted by the mayor.

I also made a commitment concerning all reappointments. If
both committees, the Mayor’s Committee and The Association of
the Bar of the City of New York {“City Bar Association”),!” recom-
mended that any sitting judge be reappointed at the end of his or
her term, I would reappoint that person without exception. Simi-
larly, if either of those two committees recommended that a sitting
judge not be réappointed, 1 would, without exception, follow its
advice.

The most important aspect of the new merit-based judicial se-
lection systemn was that I, as Mayor, voluntarily waived my rights to
submit names for consideration to the Mayor’s Committee. 1 re-
quested that the Mayor’s Committee submit three names to me for
cach vacancy.'® I retained overall responsibility and accountability
by personally interviewing the three candidates, from which I se-
lected one. If I found none of the three submissions to be satisfac-
tory, I would ask the Mayor’s Committee for three more names.
This did not apply to sitting judges where both committees recom-
mended reappointment. ¥ either committee recommended de-

ungualified to sit aé criminal or furnily court judges, but Mayor Beame appointed
them anyway.

15 Exec. Order Na. i0 (Apr 11, 1978).

¥ . The Mayor's Cominittee on the Judiciary nominates candidates for criminal,
civil, and family courts, Se U8, DEPT OF JUSTICE, sufrz note 3, at 8183,

i3 Exec, Order 0 16, § 5 (Apr. 11, 1978).

16 14,

17 An unofﬁczal arrangement started by mayors before me, allows the City Bar
Association 1o evaluate fudicial candidates.

18 Ses Exec. Order No. 10, § 2{d) {Apr. 11, 1978},
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nial of the reappointment, the vacancy would be filled in the above
way.'® I also directed that anyone who wanted to be a judge could
apply directy to the Mayor’s Committee and ask for a hearing on
his or her request for appointment®*® In addition, the Mayor’s
Committee was authorized to seek candidates.™

I believe my appointments to the family and criminal courts
enormously raised the caliber of the judiciary in those courts. This
quality was affirmed by Governors Carey™ and Cuomo® when they
selected many of my appointees to serve as New York State Court of
Claims judges. A further indication of the quality of my appoint-
ments was the selection of many of these individuals by the judicial
convention to become candidates for the New York State Supreme
Court. The convention is a highly political candidate selection pro-
cess. This merit-based judicial selection system was continued by
Mayor Dinkins®* without change, and by Mayor Giuliani®> for a
brief period.

I served as the Mayor of New York City for twelve years, from
1978 to 1989. Since the terms of both criminal and family court
judges are ten years, all ten of Mayor Beame’s original non-quali-
fled candidates came up for reappointment during my third
term.®® When that happened, despite my original intention not to
reappoint them, I abided by the decisions of the two committees to
reappoint without exception. Those committees recommended
that about one-half of the original ten be reappointed and that the
others not be reappointed. I adhered to their decisions.

Indeed, there were other occasions when both committees
recommended that individuals not be reappointed. Often judges
were highly regarded by other members of the judiciary, who asked
me to override the committees’ recommendations. I never did. If
the mayor had knowledge concerning a candidate or someone
secking reappointment, it would have been perfectly proper for
him or her to bring the information to the attention of his or her

19 1d. § 2{e).

2G I, § 2(b).

21 M. § 2(a).

22 Hugh L. Carey served as Governor of the State of New York from 1975 to 1982,
Sez Tun Gregx BOOK, supra note 9, at 367,

23 Marlo M. Cuomo served a5 Governor of the State of New York from 1983 1o
1994, See Twie Greew Boox, supre note §, at 367,

24 David N. Dinkins served as Mayor of the City of New York from 1090 to 1993, See
THE GrREEn BOOK, supra note 9, at 4.

2% Rudolph W. Giuliani wook office as Mayor of the City of New York in 1994. See
Tre Green Boox, supre note 9, at 4.

28 Ser supra note 12 and zccompanying text.



1996] INDEPENDENCE OF THE JUDICIARY? 461

1
committees. However, under my “procedure” once the cominit-
tees made a recommendation on reappointment, the mayor would
accept and implement it.

I should point out that it is often a painful decision not to
reappoint judges, particularly when, as is often-the case, they and
their friends importune you to change your mind. However, if a
mayor wishes to claim the judicial system is non-political and totally
meritorious, such decisions are a necessary part of the process.

My original Executive Order on reappeintments directed the
Mayor’s Committee to “{elvaluate the qualifications of each incurn-
bent judge for reappointment to judicial office and report the
committee’s réecommendation to the Mayor, provided that if the
committee shall recommmend against reappointment it shall nomi-
nate three candidates for appointment to the resulting vacancy as
provided above.”” However, Mayor Giuliani issutd a revised provi-
sion on reappointments.” Through this revision, the Mayor gave
himself the authority to deny reappointment 2 sitting judge,
even if the Mayor’s Committee had recommended reappointment,
and to direct the Mayor’s Committee to propose three new
candidates.

27 Exec. Order No. 10, § 2(e) (Apr. 11, 1978).
28 Exec. Order No. 10 (Jauly 20, 1864}, This section of the Executive Order now
reads in its entirety:

Secdon 2. Functions. The Commitiee shalk:
{a) Recruit angd receive from any source the names of candidates ap-
peaning o have the highest qualifications for judicial office;
(&} Fvaluate and conduct all necessary buiqucy to dedermine those persons
whose character, ability, training, experience, temperament and com-
mitment to equal justice under law fuily qualify them for judicial office;
{c} Consider ali relevant information to determine which of the fully
qualified candidawes are best gualified for judicial office, and refer fo the
Department of Tnuestigation for screening all persons the Committes proposes to
nominate for appointment;
(d) Nominate and present to the Mayor three candidates for appointment
to each vacaht judicial office, except that if there are numerous vacan-
cies the Comynittee, in ils diseration, may present Jess than three nomina-
tions (unless the Mayor requests three nominations) for each vacancy,
and provide such information as may be necessary to inform the Mayor
of the qualifications of each nominee; and
{e) Evaluate the qualifications of each Incumbesnt judge for reappoins
ment 1o judicial office and fresens the Commiitee’s recommendation 0
the Mayor, provided that either at the request of the Mayor, orif the Com-
mittee shall recommend against reappointment of an incumbent, the Com-
mitter shall nominate and presest lo the Mayor three candidates for
appointment 10 the resulting vacancy other than the incumbent.

1d. {emphasis added 1o amended text).
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III. Tue INDEPENDENCE OF JUDGES SCHWARTZWALD, KAY, AND
TREEDMAN?

Farly in Mayor Giuliani’s administration, I received a call from
his counsel, Dennison Young, who told me that the Mayor was con-
sidering reducing the Mayor’s Committee from the existing twenty-
seven members to nincteen. He wanted to know my opinion. I
told him that I thought it was a bad idea; the system was not broken
and there was no need to fix it. He raised no other change with
me.

Subsequently, Mayor Giuliani announced that he was not
reappointing Judges Eugene Schwartzwald and Jerome Kay, two of
the original ten criminal court judges appointed by Mayor Beame,
and whom 1 reappointed, and who had been recommended for
reappointment by the two committees for the second time. I im-
mediately criticized Mayor Giuliani for rejecting the recommenda-
tions of the committees.®

Mayor Giuliani denounced those of us who criticized his ac-
tions, including Judith Kaye, Chief Judge of the New York State
Court of Appeals.” Judge Kaye met with Mayor Giuliani when the
Mayor announced he was rejecting the committees’ recommenda-
tions, and asked him to reappoint both judges to full ten-year
terms. When she publicly criticized Mayor Giuliani’s decision, he,
in turn, “criticized her for criticizing him, saying she had over-
stepped her bounds.” Furthermore, the New York Law Jowrnal re-
ported that “{o]ne court administrator, angered by the way the
reappointments had been handled, said, ‘[n]o one in the mayor’s
office’ can point to ‘any complaints about (the judges’) work per-
formance.” The administrator added that failure to reappoint the
two ‘destroys the whole idea of a non-political merit appointment
process.””%

2% BPavid Firestone, Koch and Dinkins Denounce Mayor in ¢ Feud Over Judges, NY.
Tmaes, Dec. 23, 1995, at 29 {"iFlormer Mayor Edward I. Xoch called the decision
‘scandalous’ and ‘calamitous,” and said he could never endorse a candidase for mayor
who had injected politics into the courtroom.™}.

# David Firestone, Gintiani and Ex-Mayors Intensify Battle ouer Judicial Demotions, NY.
Taves, Dec. 28, 1995, at Al.

81 Id,

32 Danfel Wise & Matthew Goldstein, Mayor’s Adtion on _Judges Stirs Dissent, NY.LJ.,
Dec. 26, 1995, at 1 {hercinafter Wise & Coldstein, Mayor’s Action]., Moreover, as the
New York Law Journal further pointed out, Mayor Gluliani “may not have followed his
own procedure for naming judges to repiace [Schwartzwald and Kayl.” Matthew
Goldstein & Daniel Wise, Process Used by Giwliand for Judges Is Questioned, NYI1.]., Jan. B,
1896, at 1.

Seven months after taking office, the Mayor issued an execative o
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In support of his decision, Mayor Giuliani announced that his
standards were higher than those of the committees.* He further
stated he would exercise those standards in overruling the commit-
tees in these two cases and where appropriate in the future because
he wanted judges of the very highest quality.® At a press confer-
ence, Mayor Giuliani attacked former Mayor Dinkins and me and
accused both of our administrations of making political appoint-
ments to the bench.? Later in the press conference, he stated that
“{former Mayor] Dinkins and [former Mayor] Koch reappointed ‘a
significant number of Democratic machine politicians despite their
hypocritical allegiance to some pristine process.” " Mayor Giu-
liani then added that his process was a way 1o protect himself politi-
cally.®” Moreover, he stated that former Mayor Dinkins and I used
our process in an “under the table” manner, then added “1 know
that went on ... . .™* Mayor Giuliani then held up a copy of City for
Sale,*™ a book written by two reporters who were hostile to me dur-
ing my adminjstration. Mayor Giuliani twice repeated a partial line
from the book about “[t]he Koch collapse on judicial selection.”*
The New York Times columnist Joyce Purnick later pointed out that
Mayor Giuliani failed to note “that the reference was to a different

der that altered the process for reappeinting incumbent judges and
gave himself somewhat greater Jatitude than his two predecessors.
The provision in the July 26, 1994, order gave the Mayor authority
to ask his Advisory Committee on the Judiciary to provide him with the
names of three qualified candidates to suceeed an incwnbent judge in
the event he decided not to reappoint a sitting judge, ¢ven if the com-
mittee had recommended reappointment of the sitting fudge. Aceord-
ing to Gity Hall officials, no additional names were requested to replace
the two demoted judges, Fugene Schwartzwald and Jerome M. Kuy.
The Mayor’s vounsel, Dennison Young, Jr., said the new language
was added “to try to enhance the quality of the judiciary.” Buat Mr
Young vigorously disputed that the change obligated the Mayor to re-
quest three new names and asserted that the Mayor already had an ade-
quate number of candidates before him when he made his choice,
Id,
38 Don Van Njtia, Jr.. Giuliani’s Choice for fudge: A Question of Experience, N.Y. Tougs,
Dec. 30, 16905, at 99,

34 Firestone, supra note 29, at 29 (“Mr. Giuliani . . . said that if anything he
planned to remove more sitting judges from the bench when their terms ended
Lo 3

33 Firestone, supra note 29, at 29,

38 Joyce Purnick, Heading Only His Own Gavel, A Mayor Pays, N.Y. Times, Dec. 28,
1995, at Bl

47 Firestone, supra note 29, at 29,

88 Firestone, sufra note 29, at 29,

*2 Firestorne, supra note 29, at 28,

40 Tack Newrsp & Wanne BarwerT, Crry For Sate (1988).

4 I, at 172,
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process and court<-a 1979 nomination for the [New York] State
Supreme Counrt, an elective position unrelated to the Koch judicial
screening committee, and his own judicial appoinnnents.”‘*2

An inference could be drawn from Mayor ‘Giuliani’s state-
menis that, as a U.S. Attorney,® he had access to confidential infor-
mation. There was a false implication that T lied when 1 said 1
never recommended anyone to the Mayor’s Committee. If in fact
did-what Mayor Giuliani implied, thent it would mean that twenty-
seven members of the Mayor’s Committee, most of thenr outstand-
ing lawyers with great reputations, were part of a conspiracy. This
would include David Trager, the Chairman of the Mayot’s Commit-
tee during my last eight years in office. Mr. Trager also served as
the Dean of Brooklyn Law School, was a former U.S. Attorney; and
now sits as a federal judge. Moreover, the conspiracy would also
include all the members of the judicial committee of the City Bar
Association. Furthermore, how could I send anyone to the Mayor’s
Committee for evaluation without-actually intending an evaluation
to occur? Had there been a conspiracy, would not a number of the
several dozen lawyers involved have broken ranks and confirmed
the Mayor’s false, cowardly, and unprofessional statements?

Suffice it to say that the two persons appointed by Mayor Giu-
liani do not appear to bear out his stated reason for the appoint-
ments, that they were far superior to those whom they were
replacing. It now seems, according to The New York Times, that the
Mayor’s first replacement, Charles A. Posner, had “very little court-
room experience, having tried just seven cases in his six years as a
top aide” to Brookiyn District Attorney Joe Hynes.** Mayor Giu-
liani's other replacement, Robert Torres, according to The New
York Times, “flunked out of Brooklyn Law School twice and never
earned a law degree but became a lawyer by studying on his own
and passing the bar exam,”™® The New York Times further stated that
Judge Torres had unsuccesstully applied for a seat on the bench
before three other committees:** Governor Cuomo’s, Mayor
Dinkins’, and mine. With all due deference to judge Torres,
Mayor Giuliani’s comparing him, as he did, to Abraham Lincoln is

42 Purnick, sufra note 36, at Bl

42 Rudolph W. Gigliani served as the U.S. Attormey for the Southern Bistrict of
Mew York from. 1983 to 1989, See Curis McNicxer, To se Mavor or New York: Erunic
Porrrics worae Coy 286496 (1998,

#% Don Van Naua, Jr., Giuliand Judicial Selection Passed the Bar Exam Despite Lacking a
Law Degree, NY. Tives, Jan. 2, 1996, at B3,

45 74

46 4
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a bit of a stretch.?” It is amusing that Mayor Giuliani would refer to
the suggestion that a prospective judge should have graduated
from law school as “elitist criteria.”®

Following ‘Mayor Giuliani’s announcement of his replace-
ments, Iimmediately wrote to every member of his Mayor’s Com-
mittee and urged them to resign if the Mayor did not recant this
change in the merit-based judicial selection system. Of the twenty-
seven members, only Paul Curran, Chairman of the Mayor’s Com-
mittee, replied. He, in high dudgeon and defending the Mayor’s
position, criticized me in a letter, saying “it is unassailable that the
Mayor’s decisions as to Judges Kay and Schwartzwald were not
based upon partisan political considerations. I regret I cannot say
the same for your letter to me.”* President Kennedy said “loyalty
sometimes demands too much.”

{ must confess, I thought there would be a rallying of support
for my positiori. When that did not occur and lawyers stood mute,
I'felt quite alone. It was not until The New York Times spoke out in a
brilliant editorial®® that I felt there was still 2 chance to convince
the public thdt what Mayor Giuliani had done was absolutely
wrong, and perhaps even see the Mayor correct the error. When
Mayor Giuliani, overruled the two independent judicial panels’ rec-
ommendations' that both Judges Schwartzwald and Kay be reap-
pointed, The New York Times wrote that “[t]he argument shifted
from a debate about the quality of judges to the fitness of Mr. Giu-
liani as judicial arbiter.”™ The New York Times editorial went on:

Mayor Edward Koch voluntarily relinguished enormous pa-

tronage power when he created an independent panel to review

Jjudicial candidates . . . . 1t was one of Mr. Koch's great achieve-
menis, and Mayor Giuliani's refusal to acknowledge that during

this spitting match is a stark example of his worst failure as a

leader - the compulsion to demonize everyone whe disagrees

with him.®

47 Sew id.; cee alse !Davi{i Seifznan Hizroner Plays the Skrink, N.Y. PosT, Jan. 5, 1986, at
3,

48 Van, MNatta, Jr. ' sufra note 44, at B3,

4% Letter from Paul |. Curran, Chairman, Mayor's Advisory Committee on the Judi
ciary, 10 Hon. Edward I Koch, Partner, Robinson Silverman Pearce Aronsokn &
Berman LLP {Dec. 126, 1895} (copy on file with the New York City Law Beview).

50 This quote has been attributed to President Kennedy, Sezz Albert R, Hunt, People
& Politics: Clinton’s Finel Compaign Hurrah, and Twe Who Deserve 1o Lase, Waia, 87, ],
Oct. 31, 1996, ar A28 (YJohn F. Kennedy: ‘Party loyalty sometimes demands too
much.'™).

5; The Mayor Buins His Own Gase, Y. ‘Tevrs, Dec. 29, 1995, at A4,

52 Id,

53 Id,
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Putting to rest the issuc of my alleged political appointments, The
New York Times' editorial stated that “Mr. Giuliani and his aides sug-
gested, with no evidence whatsoever, that Mayors Koch and Dinkins
had practiced behind-thescenes politics to influence the process
and reward loyal Democrats with judgeships.”®*

When The New York Times' editorial was followed by an equally
scathing editorial in Crain's New York Business,5* 1 thought there was
indeed hope that Mayor Giuliani would be held responsible for
destroving the merit-based judicial selection system, by replacing it
with a political system that allows him (o determine with absolute
unchecked authority who should be reappointed. Crain’s New York
Business stated, “Mr. Giuliani’s virulent reaction {to his critics] is
part of a pattern of disparagement that he heaps upon his critics
and opponents, Adversaries must not merely be overcome, they
must be pulverized.”®®

In 1995, Mayor Giuliani denied judge Eugene Schwartzwald
reappointment to the criminal court and instead appointed him to
2 one year interim civil court judgeship.®” At the swearing-in cere-
mony, Judge Schwartzwald refused to shake the Mayor's hand.®® In
December 1996, the Mayor's Committee apparently found Judge
Schwartzwald’s refusal to shake the Mayor’s hand indicative of 2
lack of judicial temperament. News reports conveyved that the
Mayor’s Committee recommended against Mayor Ginliani provid-
ing Judge Schwartzwald with another interim civil court appoint-
ment because of that incident.®® I concmrred with the Mayor’s
Committee’s decision, publicly saying that Judge Schwartzwald’s re-
fusal to shake the Mayor’s hand “showed a lack of judicial tempera-
ment,”® 1 drew a distinction between Mayor Giuliani making the
decision not to reappoint Judge Schwartzwald, for his own political
reasons, and the Mayor accepting the decision of the Mayor’s
Committee.

Under the New York State Constitution, any judicial appointee

54 1d. {emphasis added}.

B8 Alair Townsend, Editorial, By Demenizing Dissenters, Rudy Riske Retribution, Throt-
tles Debate, Cran's NY. Bus, Jan. 814, 1996, at 9.

58 Jd.

57 Susan Rubinowiez & Devlin Barrest, Axed fudge; Rudy Didn't Give Me Fair Shake,
NY. PosT, Dec. 28, 1966, at 2.

58 David Firestone, At SwearingIn Ceremony, A Judge Snubs the Mayor, NY. Timres,
Dec., 29, 1995, ac BS.

5% See Rubinowitz & Barrett, supra note 57, at 8; se alse Joel Siegel, Veteran Judge
Diswmissed by Mayor's Paned, Dany News (New York), Dec. 11, 19986, at 29.

50 Rubinowitz & Barrett, sufra note b7, at 3,
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must be “welll-]qualified.”® One must assume that both judicial
comimittees are aware of that requirement. In fact, T know that the
City Bar Association is aware of it because its former president, Bar-
bara Paul Robinson, brought it to my attention. Ms. Robinson told
me that if the Mayor wanted to raise the standards for any judicial
appointment, there would be no question that the Gity Bar Associa-
tion would oblige him.

Ms. Robinson also showed me an unpublished op-ed articie
submitted to The New York Times wherein she wrote:

While the standards should be sufficiently high to approve only

well[-iqualified incumbents, once met, incumbent judges

should be re-appointed. Otherwise, there is a real danger that,

at the very least, there will be an appearance of politics intrud-

ing into the decisions of the courts. .. . A judge who had been

approved by both judiciary committees should not have to worry

whether a particular mayor will find them appropriate for re-

appointment.®®

Additiondlly, Ms. Robinson responded to written questions I
had concerning the Mayor’s changes in the judicial selection pro-
cess and the City Bar Association’s role in that process. The follow-
ing are excerpts from her reply:

First, ! can confirm that the {City Bar Association] was not
consuited about any changes made to the relevant executive or-
der. While we did respond to certain changes in the language
regarding  diversity, we did not comment on any other

changes. . L .
As you know, cur Judiciary Committee evaluates all candi-
dates for judicial office in our city . ... As I 1old you, our Judici-

ary Committee applies the same standards to all candidates it
reviews and T provided you a copy of the relevant language. . . .

The Mayor had not asked our Committee on the Judiciary
to review or upgrade its standards. However, the Mayor’s recent
decision not to re-appoint two incumbent judges who had been
approved by both his and our Judiciary Committees and the en-
suing controversy presented us with an opportunity to meet with
the Mayor and his advisors to discuss our concerns. We sug-
gested that we work cooperatively together to review the stan-
dards being applied by both Committees to be sure that only

61 NY., Const. art. V1, § 2(c). While the New York Szate Constitution specifies only
that appointees to the New York State Court of Appesls be “well[-]qualified,” id,, the
City Bar Association applies this standard to all appointees.

%2 Barbara Paul Robinson on merit selection and the New York City judicial selec-
Hon process 2 (fan. 28, 1996) (unpublished op-ed article, on file with the New Pork
City Law Review).
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those candidates found “well-qualified” were appreved, the stan-

dard required by the State Constitution. We agree with you that

the re-appointment of incumbent judges raises special concerns

about judicial independence . . ..

Whenever an appointing authority appoints someone who

has been disapproved by [ Jour Judiciary Commitiee, we do

speak out publicly and expect to continue to do so. We also

publicize our approvals and disapprovals of all candidates we re-
view who participate in judicial { Jelections. Finally, you asked
whether we would support a change in the law to require the

Mayor to submit all nominees to the City Council for it to { J“ad-

vise and consent[."] We have never considered such 3 proposal

so we have no position at the present time. Naturally, we would

expect 1o review the specifics of any such proposal before we

could do so. Thanks to the process you established, candidates

for mayoral appointment who have been disapproved by pur Ju-

diciary Committee have not been appointed to the bench.

Thank you again for everything you have done and con-
tinue to do to protect the integrity and independence of the

[ Hudiclary.®®

In my opinion, if Mayor Giuliani wants to raise judicial stan-
dards, all he has to do is direct the committees to raise theirs. By
substituting his judgment for theirs, as Gary Brown, Executive Di-
rector of The Fund for Modern Courts, Inc. said, “[it] may very
well have a chilling effect on judges . . . "%

It is interesting, and disappointing, that so many lawyers have
chosen to remain silent, undoubtedly fearful of Mayor Ciuhiani’s
vindictiveness. One well-known lawyer recently told me that he was
glad I stood up to the Mayor and spoke out. I replied, “[i]t would
be even better if you did.” Another equally prominent lawyer told
me that he would have spoken out, but due to his position with an
organization receiving funds from the city, he did not because he
was afraid the Mayor would cut off the funding.

Most lawyers are familiar with the 1866 saying of a New York
State Surrogate, to wit, “Injo man’s life, liberty, or property are
safe while the legislature is in session.”® T think this sentiment is
probably still true. I believe that it could alse apply to the same
extent to mayors and chief executives alike. It is also still true that

€3 1etter from Barbara Paul Robinson, then President, Association of the Bar of
the City of New York, to Hon. Edward L. Xoch, Partner, Robinson Silverman Pearce
Aronsohn & Berman LLF (Feb. 9, 1896} (copy on file with the New York City Law
Reviaw.

64 See Wise & Goldstein, Mayor’s Action, supra note 32, at 1.

65 Estate of A, 1 Tuck. 247, 249 (N.Y. Sur. Cr. 1566).



1996] INDEPENDENCE OF THE JUDICIARY? 469

our recourse is through the courts. Only if we are certain that the
courts are not politically dominated and only if we are certain that
nominations to those courts are outside the political process can
we, while the lcgls}aturc is in session, sleep without fear, Regretta-
bly, that is not the case in New York. It was true in the City of New
York in the appointment of criminal and family court judges under
the merit-based selection system I created, but it is no longer true
under the procedures used by Mayor Rudolph Giuliant, Recently,
the public danger created by Mayor Giuliani’s rescission of auto-
matic reappointment for sitting judges was vividly illnstrated. In
McCain v Giuliani® The legal Aid Society’s Homeless Family
Rights Project (the “Project”) won its case at trial by establishing
that the city had violated both law and court orders in processing
homeless families seeking housing. The Project was required to go
to the appellate division after the city filed a notice of appeal. If
this case simply involved an appeal by the city, asis its right, no one
could fault the Giuliani Administration. However, the Mayor went
far beyond the filing of the notice of appeal, and undertook to
personally attack Judge Helen Freedman with his demeaning lan-
guage, a deplorable and dangerous action.®”

During the Dinkins and Giuliani Administrations, Judge
Freedman imposed fines totalling $5 million against the city for
disobeying her orders in this ongoing matter, 5% The City of New
York faces andther $1 million in penaldes, currently stayed on ap-
peal.”® Understandably angered, the Ma}ror viciously and person-
ally attacked Judge Freedman, saying, “{s]he [is not] ruling on the
law, [she is] ruling on her own personal ideology.”” However, if
that were true, she would be reversed on appeal. Mayor Giuliani,
according to the Neaw York Posi, said that Judge Freedman has been
issuing “irrational orders” to mayors for thirteen years and that “Iit
is] about time she step aside. Any judge that holds a case for a
decade or more should get off the case because what happens is
they become the purveyors of policy rather than deciders of cases
that come before them,”™

06 NYE.L. May 16, 1996, at 28 (NY. Sup. Ct. May 14, 1996}, ¢ff'd NY.LJ, Feb. 14,
1997, at 29 (N.Y. App. Div. Feb. 11, 1997).

67 Mike Pearl & David Seifman, Workfare” Fudge Qught to Quit: Rudy, N.Y. PosT, Aug.
21, 1586, at 5,

6% Ser Matthew, Goldstein, Cily Hald in Contempt Again for Keeping Homeless in Office,
NY.LJ., May 15, 1996, at 1.

59 74

70 Peasrl & Seifman, supra note 67, at 5.

71 Pearl & Seifman, supra note 67, at b,
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Mayor Giuliani also asserted that Steven Banks, The Legal Aid
Society’s coordinating attorney in McCain, “[b}y and large controls
her ideology because she constantly rules his way.”’”? Was the
Mayor suggesting collusion between Mr. Banks and Judge Freed-
man with impeachment and disbarment proceedings in the offing?

In this particular instance, Mayor Giuliani is facing a New York
State Supreme Court justice who, because she Is elected, does not
have to rely upon a chief executive’s generosity of spirit to be reap-
pointed at the end of her term, and cannot be terrorized. How-
ever, there are many who do rely upon this generosity, particularly
criminal and family court judges, who are often appointed to pre-
side as acting supreme court justices. Surely, some judges would be
fearful of Mayor Giuliani and his implied and expressed threats
that they will not be reappointed unless they meet his standards
regardless of the evaluations given by the Mayor’s Committee and
the City Bar Association. What would such a message convey to
Judge Freedman if she were an appointed judge, that is, a criminal
or family court judge presiding as an "actng” New York State
Supreme Court judge?

On February 11, 1997, the appellate division affirmed Judge
Freedman’s ruling holding the Mayor and the city in contempt.”
Imagine what the consequences would be for Judge Freedman if
she needed Mayor Giuliani’s consent for her reappointment.

'The Mayor's vicious personal attacks on the judiciary go far

beyond responsible criticism, which is always legidmate. He is seek-
ing to place judges in a state of fear, making a government of men,
‘not of laws. This brings to mind a quote from Shakespeare’s Julius
Caesar: “Upon what meat doth this our Cdesar feed, that he is
grown so great?”™ The City of New York is the number one litigant
in the civil and criminal courts of this city. Do we want our judges
10 succumb to the extralegal pressures of the Mayor?

IV. Tuz INDEPENDENCE OF JUDGES Barr, FRIEDMAN, AND CHIN?

I several cases, Governor Pataki” and President Clinton?®

72 Peasi & Seifman, supra note 67, at b,

78 MeCain v, Ghuliani, N.Y.LJ., Feb. 14, 1997, 2t 29 (NY. App. Div. Feb. 11, 1997).

74 WiLiiam Suaxeseearz, The Tracsoy or Juutus Cazsar act 1, sc. 2, In. 149-50
{Sylvan Barnet ed., Signet Classic 1987).

7% George E. Pataki took office as Governor of the State of New York in 1005, Ser
Tre GreEn BOOKR, supra note 9, at 367,

76 Wiliiam J. Clinton took office as President ofsthe United Statey in 1095, See Tur
Guugn Boox, sufra note 9, at 459,
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joined the Mayor in criticizing judges and threatening the inde-
pendence of the judiciary. One such case involving U.S. District
Court Judge Harold Baer, Jr., who serves in the Southern District
of New York, received nationwide attention.”” In United States .
Bayless,™ Judge Baer invalidated a police investigative stop’® where
police recovered thirty-four kilograms of cocaine and two kilo-
grams of heroin.®® In Bayless, 2 plainclothes police officer testified
that at approximately 5:00 a.m., he and his partner observed Carol
Bayless drive her rented 1995 (‘ saprice, fitted with Michigan license
plates, “slowly along 176th Street. Before reaching the intersection
of 176th Street and St. Nicholas Avenue [Bavless] pulled over to
the north side of the street and double parked the car.”® He fur-
ther testified that

once the cat stopped, four men emerged from between parked

cars on the south side of the street. The males crossed the street

walking single file, [Bayiess] leaned over to the passenger side of

the car and pushed the button for the trunk release. The first

male then lifted the trunk open, the second and third males

each placed a large black duffel bag into the trunk and the

fourth male closed the wrunk 5

Police did not observe any conversation between any of the
four men.®® Bayless drove away and the police followed.®* At a
stoplight, two &f the four males, who were standing nearby, recog-
nized the police officers.®® At that time, all four males “moved in
different directions at a rapid gait.”®® After the stoplight turned
green, the officers continued to follow Bayless.® The officer testi-
fied that in order to prevent Bayless from entering a major highway
and before they could “run a [computer] check,”® they pulled
Bayless over.® He testified that they pulled Bayless over because
they observed that

the car had an out-oftown license plate; the actions of the four

77 Al Guart, Judge Throws Qut $4M Drug Bust Seiwere on Technicality, NY, Posr, Jan.
9%, 1904, at 4,

78 913 F. Supp. 252, vacaled, 921 F. Supp. 211 (S.DNY. 19586).

72 Id. at 259,

80 Jd. at 984,

81 Jd. at 285.

82 jd,

B% 4

B4 fd,

85 14

86 H. {quoting police officer’s testimony).

87 I,

B8 1,

89 Jd. a¢ 235-36.
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males, particularly the way they crossed the street in single file

and did not speak with the driver of the car; the fact that the

males ran once they noticed the officers; and the duffel bags the

males placed in the trunk of the car®
After police stopped Bayless, they looked in the trunk of her car,”
wherein they found thirty-four kilograms of cocaine and two kilo-
grams of heroin.?® Bayless was arrested at the scene.”

After her arrest, Bayless made a videotaped statement.>* Bay-
less’ “version of the events surrounding her arrest differ{ed] signif-
icantly from that recounted by [the police].”™ In her videotaped
confession, Bayless admitted driving from Detroit to New York with
$1 million in the trunk in order to pick up drugs.*® Bayless further
admitted she made the same trip to buy drugs more than twenty,
tumes since 1991.%7 For this trip, Bayless expected to be paid
$20,000 by her son.™® Judge Baer found that Bayless’ “candor and
the nature of her statements [gave] her statement great credibil-
ity.”™ Judge Baer opined, “I place considerable weight on the de-
fendant’s statements because of how they incriminate her, her son
and others and because at the time the statemenis were made, de-
fendants, unlike the [o]fficer, had no reason to color the facts,”19°

Following the suppression hearing, at which Bayless did not
testify,'® Judge Baer chose not to believe the police officer’s sworn
testimony that the men loading duffel bags into Bayless’ trunk ran
when they spotted the police officers.!® Rather, Judge Baer sup-
pressed the seized narcotics and Bayless’ videotaped confession. %
In granting Bayless’ motion to suppress, Judge Baer stated:

Even before this prosecution and the public hearing and final

report of the Mollen Commission, residents in [Washington

S0 I, at 256,
o fg
82 M. at 234,
%3 Id. at 236,
94 Id,
95 d.
9 Id.
8% id. at 237,
98 Id,
% I, at 236,

300 I, at 950,

303 During the suppression hearing, “defense counsel notified the court that [Bay-
iess] was ill with a stomach ailrment and needed to be removed from the courtroom.
{Bayless] waived her right to be present at the remainder of the procesdings.” d. at
256 n.B.

0% Id, ar 239 (“{t]hc testimony offered by [the police officer] . . . is at best
suspect.},

103 Id. at 243,
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Heights] tended to regard police officers as corrupt, abusive
and violent. . . . [H]ad the men not run when the cops began to siare
at them, it would have been unusual ¢

He further added, “[wihat I find shattering is that in this day and
age blacks in black neighborhoods and blacks in white neighbor-
hoods can count on litde security for their person.”™®

For most of the country, Judge Baer’s decision flew in the face
of common sense. In order to sustain a police officer’s investiga-
tive stop and starch of Bayless' car trunk, Judge Baer had to find
that the officers had a “‘reasonable suspicion’ supported by articul-
able facts that criminal activity ‘may be afoot.” "% Judge Baer’s de-
cision is laden with evidence that demonstrates an appalling anti-
law enforceinent bias. For example, he tortured the facts and cir-
cumstances in order to conclude that the police lacked the requi-
site “reasonable suspicion” to support their stop; his out-of-hand
rejection of the police officer’s testimony based upon the state-
ment of a defendant never subjected to cross-examination; and his
statement that the men were correct to run when they saw the po-
lice. In a final stroke, Judge Baer branded the US. Attorney’s ef-
forts to have him reconsider the suppression motion “a juvenile
project.”*%”

President Clinton’s spokesman, Michael D, McCurry, called
Judge Baer’s decision “wrongheaded”'%® and said that “the White
House was waiting to see what happened in the hearing being con-
ducted by Judge Baer {and urged by President Clinton]'%® and left
open the possibility that Mr. Clinton might ask the judge to step
down.”**? Mayor Giuliani called the ruling “mind-boggling in its
effect”! and further stated that he “read the decision twice. . . .
There [was] no basis for it.”"'* Governor Pataki joined the cnti-
cismn, saying through his spokesman, “[t]his sadly is too often what
happens when liberal elites in powerful positons treat the

W I at 242 (emphasis added).

106 Id a¢ 240,

106 Id, {citing United States v. Sckolow, 490 118, 1 (1988); Terry v. Ghio, 392 U.8. 1
(1568)3.

07 Don Van Natta, Jr,, Judge to Hear Bid to Reverse a Drug Buling, N.Y. Times, Feb, 3,
1998, at 25,

08 Alison Mitchell, Glinten Defends His Criticism of ¢ New York Judge’s Ruling, N.Y.
Twmves, Apr. 3, 1606, ar Al2,

109 Alison Mitchell, Clinton Pressing Judge fo Relent, NY. Tivzs, Mar, 22, 1996, at AL

180 Mitchell, supra note 108, at A2,

134 Chifford Krauss, Giuliant and Bratton Assatl U.S. fudge’s Ruling in Drug Case, N.Y.
Tiaes, Jan. 27, 1096, at 25,

112 M,
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criminals as victims and victims as criminals.”*'3

Under obvious intense public pressure, Judge Baer heard rear-
gument of the original suppression motion and overruled his first
deciston.’** Perhaps he acted out of fear of inevitable condemna-
tion by editorials, as well as concern that President Clinton would
call for his resignation. judge Baer would have been better off—
and more intellectually honest and better preserving of his good
reputation—had he urged the U.S. Attorney to appeal his first de-
cision to the Second Circuit Court of Appeals, or, in the alterna-
tive, recuse himself from the argument on rehearing, allowing
another judge to decide the issue.}'®

In another widely reported state criminal court case, Criminal
Court Justice David Friedman ruled evidence collected in a Brook-
Iyn rape case inadmissible because police conducted their search
after nine p.m.'** Under New York law, “{a] search warrant may be
execated on any day of the week. 1t may be executed only between
the hours of 6:00 [am.] and 3:00 [p.m.], unless the warrant ex-
pressly authorizes execution thereof at any time of the day or
night.”"'? In fact, Justice Friedman later discovéred the search was
executed at approximately six p.m.**® The Brooklyn District Attor~
ney’s Office was delinquent in not refuting the defense counsel’s
allegation that the search warrant was executed after nine p.m.
Subsequent to his original decision, and after pointing out the de-
fense counsel’s error, Justice Friedman reversed his decision and

118 Greg B, Smith & frank Lombardi, Rudy, Cov Hit Judge for Axing Drug Case, Jan,
26, 1996, Dany Niws {New York}, at 4,

11% United States v. Bayless, 321 F. Supp. 211 (S.D.N.Y. 1996). At the inital hear
ing, the government put forth the testimony .of only one of the officers involved in
Bayless’ arrest. Id. at 214, Judge Baer noted that upon reheuring, the government
brought forth the "other officer who observed the events at issue here, {and] also the
report he prepared hours after the arrest. .. .” J4 ar 218, After the reheariag, judge
Baer found that the second officer “corroborated several significant portions of [his
partner s} story and presented a more credible chronology of the events of April
21st.” /d. Judge Baer added that “as a consequence of the defendant's testimony and
that of the [second officer], her story is now less convineing ™ /d. at 216.

115 Before Baylesy’ case went (o trial, she made motion under 28 US.C. § 455(a) to
have Judge Bacr recuse himselfl See United States v. Bayless, 926 F. Supp. 405
(S.DNY. 1996). Judge Baer denied Bayless” motion. Jd. at 406, However, Judge Baer
removed himself from the case to avoid "unnecessary and otherwise avoidable
problems and attendan: delays,” id., and ordered a new judge for wdal, Id.

136 S People v. Gardaer, NY.I.J, Feb. 1, 1996, ar 32 (N.Y. Sup. Cu Jan. 25, 1996},
see alse Anthony M. DeStafano & Paul Moses, Ruling Raises ¢ Searching Question, News
pay {New York), Feb, 2, 1996, at A4

117 NY. Crim. Proc, Law § 698.30(2) (McKinney 1995).

118 DeSmfuno & Moses, sufra note 116, at A4
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ruled that the seized evidence could be admitted.® Justice Fried-

19 On February 6, 1996, Justice Friedman, ruling from the bench, modified his
Junuary 25th order, and denied suppression of evidence recovered by police in the
execution of thelr warrant. No formal opinion was written. What appears below is a
transcript of the statement read on the record in open court.

I a decision and order dated fanuary 25, 1986, this court granted
defendant’s motion to suppress certain evidence. In so doing the court
stated that it was constrained to suppress certain evidence. When the
conrt used the word constrained it was indicating disfavor with the re-
sult but recognizing its obligation under oath of office 10 follow the law
of this state and the [Clonstitutionis] of the United States and New
York State. Ht did so because the District Attorney conceded that the
search. warrant was executed at night,

At the Sutset I want to applaud the candidness at oral arguraent of
the District Attorney in agreeing that the law as the court saw it in the
decision of January 25, 1996 was correct.

The Criminal Procedure Law provides that a warrant may cnly be
executed at night (that is between the hours of 9 [p.m.] and 6 fa.m.]) if
certain conditions are met. These are: {1} the application for the war-
rant must set forth reasons showing that there is a need to search at
night, and (2} the warrant must specifically authorize a nighttime
search.

in this case, the warrant did not permit a nighttime search; the
application for the warrant did not provide any reason for needing to
search at nmight; and the police officer did not request a nighttime
search. This court was therefore left with 2 choice [-—] the choice of
following and obeying the law passed by the legislature of this state or
trashing the faw. I chose to follow and obey the law. Neither this court
nor any other person is above the law.

In any event, the People have now moved to reargue and renew the
motion leading to the January 25, 1996 decision. Tt has become appar
ent from the information the District Attorney has belatedly supplied
that the search did indeed take place during the hours that the Crimi-
nal Procedure Law regards as day. Moreover, the court has heard testi-
mony by Police Officer Forbes verifying the People’s Claim. I find the
testimony credibie. Defendant has offered nothing other than specula-
tion to contradict the sworn testimnony. While no sausfactory explana-
tion las been offered by the Distriet Attorney for the failure 1o present
this informdtion at the outser, the interests of justice and the protection
of society mandate that the court reexamine its original decision.

1t has become evident that the court’s prior order was based upon
misinformation. In this regard, defense counsel songht suppression of
evidence alleging that the search impesmissibly took place during a pro-
hibited time. He in fact had no basis for such a claum.

Thus the claim made in defendant’s original motion is witliont
merit. Accérdingly, 1 grant the District Attorney’s motion to the extent
of granting renewal. Upon renews] and the hearing conducted this day,
this court’s, order dated Jannary 25, 1996 is Liereby modified so as to
deny suppression of the evidence in issue,

Justice Duwid Friedman modifying, without written opinion, People v. Gardner,
NY.L.L, Feb. 1, 1996, a1 32 (NY. Sup. Ct. Jan. 25, 1996) 1-3 {Feb. 6, 1998} (emphasis
in original} (copy on file with the New York City Law Review), see also Joseph P, Fried,
Euiderce is Renstated in a Brooklyn Rape Case, NY. Tiumes, Feb. 7, 1996, at B2,
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man deserved applause for both decisions. He did what the law
required in the first proceeding based on the evidence before
him.'?® Then he did what the new evidence warranted; he reversed
his first ruling based on the evidence before him.!*!

Despite the fact that Justice Friedman did the right thing—
indeed, exactly what the law required in both decisions—he was
criticized by public officials, Governor Pataki called Justice Fried-
man’s first decision “just the latest demonstration that New York’s
courts have gone too far in protecting criminal{s’] rights.”'®
Mayor Giuliani said “{t]his is a good illustration of how far people
will go to show the police are wrong. . . . Maybe the police are
right."**® The Mayor and the Governor should have apologized to
Justice Friedman after his second decision and congratulated him
on his actions. However, they chose not to. New York State Court
of Appeals Judge Vito Titone, outraged by the unfair attacks on
Justice Friedman, said, "[ilt was the last straw. . . . I know him. 1
worked [with him] in the [a]ppellate [dlivision. He [is] a fine law-
ver and a fine judge. To go after him on half the facts is so
wrong.”*** The New York Times columnist Clyde Haberman com-
mented on what seemed to be “open season on judges,”*® saying
“Justice Friedman . . . has fallen victim to what may charitably be
called a political and journalistic mugging, ™%

When he seeks reappointment, does Justice Friedman have to
be concerned that he embarrassed Mayor Giuliani? I believe so.
What if Justice Friedman had not detected the Assistant District
Attorney’s error with respect to the timing of the search? Would
the Mayor, incensed at the original decision granting the suppres-
sion motion, reappoint him? 1 do not believe so.

Governor Pataki introduced legislation,'®” because of his dis-
tress with justice Friedman’s decision, that “would loosen search-
and-seizure rules for the police and prosecutors in New York by

126 NY. Crim. Proc. Law § 710.68{2){a} (McKinney 1995).

121 fd § THO.60(3) (2)-(b).

22 Randy Kennedy, Ruling én Fovor of a Suspect Puis State Judge Under Fire, NX. Tmes,
Feb. 2, 1096, at BS,

198 14 ,

124 Iymette Holloway, Appeals Judge Says Colleagues Are Not Bring Soft on Criminals,
NY, Times, Feb. 4, 1996, as 38

125 Clyde Habermarn, Under Fire, Judge Decides to Fire Back, NY. Trues, Feb. 27, 1996,
at Bl

198 77

127§, 6041, 219th Gen. Assembly, 2d Reg. Sess, (NY. 1996). Governor Pataki’s Po-
lice and Public Protection Act of 1996 (the “PPPA”) failed to pass the New York State

Assembly.
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basing rules of evidence on [f]ederal [1Jaws rather than more strin-
gent state standards.”*®® In responding to Judge Titone’s remarks
attesting to Justice Friedman's character and ability, the Gover
nor’s spokesmadn said, “{tJhe Governor believes Judge Titone is en-
titled to his opinion, but the [New York State] Legislature must
pass the Police and Public Protection Act in order to restore a sen-
sible balance between victims’ rights and criminals’ fights. . .. Asit
stands now, griminals’ rights too often come before victims'
rights.”*®¥ This would have been the appropriate time to acknowl-
edge that Justice Friedman correctly applied the existing law. The
Governor chose not to do so.

It is not just public officials who are guilty of exerting pressure
against judges. Recently, U.S. District Court judge Denny Chin
ruled that New York State’s Sex Offender Registration Act,’®
known as Mcgan’s Iaw, which mandates that the addresses of re-
leased sex offenders be made public,”® cannot be applied retroac-

+

128 See Holloway, supra note 124, at 38. For example, the PFPA proposed to amend

the New York State Criminal Procedure Law to provide that:
when enga;ed in criminal law enforcement duties a police officer may
approach a person in a public place located within the geographical
arez of such officer’s employment wlhien he has an objective, credible
reason not necessarily indicatve of criminality, and to the full extent
permissible uader the Constitution of this State and the United States
of Ameriearmay ask such questions and take such other actions as the
officer deems appropriale.

5. 6041, 219th Gen. Assembly, 2d Reg. Sess. (NY. 1996).

122 See Holloway, supre note 124, at 38,

138 NY. Corrier. Law §8 168168y (McKinney Supp. 1996},

131 New York Stawe's Sex Offender Registration Act provides that the namés, ad-
dresses and other significant information of any person convicted of any "sex offense”
or any “sexually viclent offense” be made public under the following circumstances:

{a) If the risk of repeat offense is low, a level one designation shall be
given to such sex offender. In such case the law enforcement agency
having furisdiction and the law enforcement agency having had jurisdics
rdon at the time of kis conviction shall be notified pussuant to this
articie.

(b} If the risk of repeat offense is moderate, 2 level two designation shall
he given tosuch sex offender. In such case the law enforcement agency
having Jurisdiction and the law enforcement agency having had jurisdic-
tion at the time of his conviction shall be notified and may dissemiriate
relevant information which may include approximate address based on
sex offender’s zip code, 2 photograph of the offender, background in-
formation including the offender’s crime of conviction, modus of oper-
ation, type of victim targeied and the description of special conditions
imposed on the offender to any entity with vulnerzble populations re-
Iated to the nature of the offense committed by such sex offender, Any
entity receiving information on a sex offender may disclose or further
disseminate such information at their discretion.

{c} If the risk of repeat offense is high and there exists a threat to the
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tively.’® The Datly News, in an outrageous attack, disagreed. Of
course, disagreement would be in order, but the language em-
ployed certainly was not. Leading off with the headline, “Perverw’
Pal,”'®® the Daily News wrote:

Because of him, the state cannot notify New Yorkers when most
sex offenders and pedophiles are living in their midst.

His junk justice ruling makes permanent his earlier deci-
sion to prevent the police from alerting the public about the
refease of any sex fiend who was convicted before New York’s
Megan’s Law took effect Jan{uary] 21.74

V. CoNcLusioN

The importance of niaintaining an independent judiciary re-
quires an assurance to the judiciary that they will be appointed
without regard to political affiliations and obligations. Further-
more, assurances must be made that reappointments will come to
those found deserving by the two committees assigned the respon-
sibility of making such decisions.

I have praised Mayor Gidliani on many issues. 1 have dis-
agreed with bim on many as well. 1 have never sought to court him
or seck his favor. [ offered my advice to be helpful when asked for
my opinion. However, the Mayor’s'® interference is so outrageous

public safety, such sex offender shall be deemed a “sexually violen:
predator” and a level three designation shall be given to such sex of
fender. In such case, the law enforcement ageney having jurisdiction
and the law enforcement agency having had jurisdiction at the dime of
his conviction shall be notified and may disseminate relevant informa-
tion which may include the sex offender’s exact address, a photagraph
of the offender, background information induding the offender’s
crime of conviction, modus of operation, type of victim targeted, and
the description of special conditions impnsed on the offender to any
entty with vulnerable populatons related o the nature of the offense
comenitted by such sex offender. Any entity receiving information on a
sex offender may disclose or further disseminate such information at
their discretion. In addition, in such csse, the information described
herein shall alse be provided in the subdirectory established in this arti-
¢le and notwithstanding any other provision of Iaw, such information
shall, upon request, be made available to the public,
Id. § 1681(6}{a)-{c}.

132 Doe v. Pawaki, 340 F. Supp. 603 (S.D.N.Y. 1956).

188 Porverts” Pal Dany News (New York), Sept. 26, 1996, at 44.

184 4

185 "The Mayor does not stand alone. As this articie has demonstrated, other politi-
cizns and chief execusives alsothreaten the independence of the judiciary.
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it must be condemned and is, regrettably, reflective of his charac-
ter. As Heraclitus said 2,500 years ago, “[a] man’s character is his
fate.” 1%

186 Jous Barrierr, Famiar Quortarzons $2 (1992},



THE CONTRACT WITH AMERICA: THE
CRYSTALLIZATION OF THE
GOP’S RACIAL AGENDA

Edward J. Rymszat

I InTRODUCTION

“Blection Day, November 8, 1994, was a turning point.”? Indeed It
was. When the votes were counted throughout the country, the
Republican Party {or “GOP")? found itself in control of the U.S.
House of Representatives {the “House”), a Democrat stronghold
for the past forty years, and the U.S, Senate, Much of the Republi-
cans’ success was primarily due to their new manifesto, the Contract
with America {the “Contract”).

Over 300 Republican candidates® for the House signed the
Contract (the “Signatories”). It contained a written “promise” to
the American people outlining the agenda for the 104th Con-
gress.* The Signatories pledged to introduce ten specific pieces of
legislation in the first 100 days of the new congressional session®
and, uitimately, attempt to ratify them.

The Signatories, claiming to be the party of the middle class,
boasted that the programs outlined in the Contract would benefit
all Americans.® However, the Coniract with America is more accu-
rately a “contract on minorities,”” who almost certainly did not

t Candidate for 1.5, 1997, The City Universizy of New York School of Law; BA.,
1990, York College of Pennsylvania.

I ConTRACT WiTH AMERICA! THE Bowd Pran By Rer. Newr Gincricr, Rep, Dick
Arsaey ann THE House Rerupiicans 1o Cravcr Tie Namion 3 (Ed Gillespie & Bob
Scheilhas eds,, 1994) [hereinafter Coninacy wiry Ameriea] (emphasis added).

2 The Grand Old Party.

8 CoNTRACT WITH AMERICA, supre note 1, at 169

4 ConTtract wrrn Avprics, supra note 1, at 611

% CORTRACT WITH AMERICA, supre note 1, at 15,

8 ConTracT wrrH AMERICA, supre note 1, at 12. For instance, the authors state
that the September 27, 1994 unveiling of the Confract om the steps of the Capitol was
"an opportunity (¢ reclaim cur mantle as the party of the middle dass .. ..” Cow
TRACT WITH AMERICA, supra note 1, at 12,

7 Kwame Nantambu, GOP Frezes Out AﬁmAmemans, Pramy Drarsr (Cleveland),
May 2, 1995, at 98. As wvsed in this Note, the term "minority” means “fa] racial, reli-
gious, polwcai national, or other group regarded as different from the larger group
of which it is part.” Tue American Hemimace DictroNary 800 (24 ed. 1982). This
Noie focuses on the two largest minosity groups in America, African Americans and
those of Hispanic origin. Persons of Hispanic origin may be of any race. The total
poputiation in the United States in 1994 was approsimately 260 mitlion. Bureav oF
e Census, Dep't oF COMMERGE, STATISTICAL ABSTRACT OF ThE UnNiren States, MNa-

481
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elect the Signatories.® The Contract’s programs, if passed by Con-
gress, would have devastating consequences on minorities. Sadly, it
is but the latest chapter of a Republican racial agenda.

This Note primarily focuses on two reform proposals: the Per-
sonal Responsibility Act (“PRA”),® and the Taking Back Our Streets
Act (“TBOSA™M.}® This Note, in lesser detail, also discusses the Fis-
cal Responsibility Act ("FRA™),' and the Common Sense Legal Re-
forms Act ("CSLRA”)."* Through empirical evidence,'™ this Note
demonstrates that the Contragt, either on itz face or in its effect,
furthers a racial agenda. In particular, Part II illustrates the need
for critical review of the Contract in light of the Signatories’ past
public statements and legistative records on civil rights issues. Part
ill demonstrates how the Contract’s reform pmposais for welfare,
criminal justice, and tort litigation, and a halanced budget amend-
ment will dispropertionately impact minorities. The central tenet
of this Note is that in an ideal society, the percentage of minorities
on welfare and under the auspices of the criminal justice system
should reflect a cross-section of the population as 2 whole. Unfor-

tonal Data Book 14 (3895}, The white population was estimated at approvimately
216.5 million, the African American popufation was estimated at approximately 32.6
million, and the population of those of Hispanic origin was estimated at approxi-
mately 26 million. 4

& Minorities in America have long been Democratic supporters, For-instance, in
1994, more than 80% of African Americans identified their political affiliadon as
Democrat, while only approximately 10% identificd themselves as Republican, Se
Bureav or raE CENSUS, supra note 7, at 268

9 CONTRAGT WITH AMERICA, supra note 1, at 65-77. The PRA was proposed to over-
hautl the welfare system and catled for block grants to the states in order to administer
various social programs, CONTRAGT WITH AMERICA, sufra note I, at 67,

10 CONTRACT WITH AMERICA, Sufra nnote 1, at 37-64. The TBOSA was an ant-crime
package that called for expansion of the death penalty, revision of the habeas corpud
process, expansion of the “good faith” exception to the excinsionary rule to include
warrantless searches and seizures, and increased spending for law enforcement and
prison construction. CONTRACT WITH AMERICA, sufre note 1, at 38,

t1 CONTRACT WITH AMERICA, suprs note 1, at 23-36. The FRA called for, among
other things, a balanced budget amendment to the Constitution, CoONYRACT wiTH
AMERICA, supra note 1, at 24.

12 ContraCT WITH AMERICA, sugra note 1. at 14355, The CSLRA proposed limits
on punitive damage awards and proposed that the “loser-pays” the winner's legal
costs. CONTRACT WITH AMERICA, supra note 1, at 144-45,

13 Whie this Note relies primarily on U8, Census Bureau data, the author recog-
nizes that some observers have queostioned the accuracy of the statistics with respect to
the Census Bureaw’s figures on minorities. However, these statistics are the most
widely cited source for pepulation statistics, Seg, ez, George C. Gaister, Pelavization,
Place, and Race, 71 N.C. L. Rev, 1421, 1458 (199%); Rebecea Marcus, Note, Racism in
Our Courts: The Underfunding of Public Defenders and Its Dispropertionate Impact Upon Ra-
cial Minorities, 22 Hastives Const. L), 218, 28485 (1984),
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tunately, as this Note will demonstrate, this is not the ¢ase in
America. ':

k

I E Criticar Review oF THE GOP AGENDA

The Signatories designed their reforms for the benefit of the
“American people.”’* However, their America is limited and exclu-
sive. The Signatories authored the reforms to placate a speatfic
audience, wealthy and middle~class white Americans, The idea that
the Signatories are concerned with the needs of all Americans is, at
best, questionable. Recent history has taught the American people
otherwise. '

A cursory review of the history of House Republican’ voting
records and their attitudes on civil rights issues reveals their lack of
concern ahout the entire populace.’® From the earliest days of the
civil rights movement i the 1960s, an overwhelming majority of
Republican Congressmen have tried to derail civil rights efforts.?
Notably, then House member from Texas, George Bush, opposed
the 1964 Gwil Rights Act because, as he stated, it “was passed to
protect [only] 14% of the people. I'm also worried about the
other 86%."7

More recént House Republicans, and eventual Signatories,
shared the same principles as their predecessors and consistently
voted against significant civil rights legislation or initiatives. For
instance, in 1988, Congress passed a valuable piece of civil rights
legislation, thé Fair Housing Amendments Act (“FHAA™,® en-

*+ Throughout the Gentract the Signatories menuon the “American people” or
"Americans,” suggesting that they understand the desires of the entire American pop-
ulation. Seq eg, GONTRACT WITH AMERICA, supra note 1, at 5, 9%, 195,

1B S, eg., infrg pp. 48386 and notes 1741 The GOP was a strong advocate for
the passage of the Thirteenth, Fourtcenth, and Fificenth Amendments during the
Reconstmction petiod following the Civil War. Seg ez, Robert J. Kaezorowski, Revohu-

Comﬂrummizsm in the Era of the Givil War and Reconstrustion, 61 NY.U. L. Rev,
853 878 (1486); X; Wang, Black Suffrage and the Redefinition of American Freedom, 1860
1874 17 Carpozo L. Rav. 2153, 2156 (1996). The Contract correctly notes that the
Republican party was the party of Abraham Lincoln. CONTRACT WiTH AMERICA, supru
note 1, at 7. Since that time, however, the Republican party has undergone 2 radical
tranisformation. Indeed, in debating the passage of the Civil Rights Aet of 1990, Sena-
tor Howard Metzenbaum (IMOhio) questioned whether the Republican party was in
fact the party of Lincoln or had become the party of David Duke, $2 1536 Cone, Reo.
515,336 {daily ed. Oct. 16, 1990} {statement of Sen. Metzenbaum).

W Ser A, Leon Higginbotham, Jr., An Gpen Letter to Justice Clarence Themas from 6
Federal fudicial Colleague, 146 U. Pa. L. Rev. 1005, 101820 (1592}

17 Nesal Devins, Reagan Redux: Civil Rights Under Bush, 68 Norre Dasme L. Rev. 055,
974 (1992) {quoting Ruth Marcus, What Does Bush Really Believe?: Giuvil Rights Tssue
Hlustrates Shifls, Wass, Posy, Aag, 18, 1092, at A1),

18 H.R. 1158, 108th Cong. (1988).
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acted to amend Title VHI of the Civil Rights Act of 1968.*% Specifi-
cally, the FHAA sought to revise procedures designed to prohibit
discrimination in the rental, sale, and financing of housing and
provide funding for housing assistance®® Rep. Dick Armey (R-
Tex.), current House majority leader and co-author of the Condract,
voted against the FHAA® In 1990, the House passed the Civil
Rights Act of 1990*2 to amend the Civil Rights Act of 1964 The
1990 legislation restored and strengthened civil rights laws that
banned discrimination in the work place.®* Unsurprisingly, Rep.
Armey also voted against the Civil Rights Act of 169035 Appar-
ently, Rep. Armey’s biases are not limited to his voting on legisla-
tion in the House chamber. During a radio interview, Rep. Armey
referred to Rep. Barney Frank (D-Mass.), an openly gay member of
Congress, as “Barney Fag.”®®

The Voting Rights Extension Act of 1992 (“VREA”),*? intro-
duced to clarify cextain aspects of the Voting Rights Act of 1965,
is another significant piece of civil rights legislation.® Once again,
notable House Republicans, who eventually oversaw the working
groups® responsible for drafting the ten Confract bills, voted
against it” Such individuals included Rep. Bill McCollum (R-

12 42 U.5.C. §§ 3601-3619, 3631 (1968).

20 See HR. 1158, 100th Cong. {1988},

21 Rep. Armey was among only twenty-three Republicans who voted against it. 134
Cong. Rec. Hi6,511 (1988).

22 H.R. 4000, 101st Cong. (1950},

23 42 U.8.C. §5§ 19811997, 2008a-2000h.6 {1964).

2+ H.R. 4000, 101st Cong. {1930).

25 Id. In Rep. Armey's objection to the bill he stated he oppoesed the bill “not
because 1 oppose civil rights, but to the contrary, because I am 4 strong supporter of
the rights of all Americans, black and white, imale and female; and I have never be-
lieved that any one group should receive preferential treatment at the expense of
others,” 136 Cono. Rec. HE802 (3990).

26 [l Brigh, Cowe, Dany {National Journal Inc,, Wash. D.C.), Jan. 27, 1995, at &,
The incident arose when Rep. Armey was conducting an interview with radio report-
ers. When Rep. Armey was asked a question regarding his fecent book deal he said *1
ke peace and quiet, and I [do not] need to listen to Barney Fag . . . [sic] Barney
Frank haranguing in 1y ear becanse ! made a few bucks off a book [ worked on.'
Rep. Armay later apologized 1o Rep. Frank on the House floor. fd»

=7 ILR. 5236, 102d Cong. (1992},

28 42 U.8.C. §§ 1971-1973p, 197325-1973g5-10, 1974-1974¢ (1085).

29 Se¢ HLR. Rir. No. 102656, at 2 (1992}, The hill was introduced to reverse two
Supreme Courr decisions which fimited the use of the Voung Rights Act of 1965 as
Congress intended. id Se Presley v, Etowah County Comm’n, 562 U.S. 451 (1992);
West Virginia Univ. Hosps, Inc. v. Casey, 499 1.8, 83 (1991).

30 The Contract cites the Republican members of Congress who headed the work-
ing groups which were responsible for drafting the proposed legisiation. Cowrracr
WITH AMERICA, supra note 1, at vii,

31 H.R Rer. No. 102-656, at 18 {1089).
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Fla.},”® Rep. Jim Ramstad (R-Minn.},* and Rep. Henry Hyde (R~
1. %4

The Contract’s chief architect, Speaker of the House Newt
Gingrich (R-Ga.}, has been openly and relentlessly hostile to civil
rights programs, including affirmative action pu'()g‘rz,{ms.215 Seem-
ingly at every opportunity, Speaker Gingrich spread his anti-affirm-
ative action message. In October 1995, Speaker Gingrich sent a
letter to targeted voters in California, 3,000 miles outside his con-
gressional district, urging them to support the California Civil
Rights Initiative (*CCRI"}, which would.end all affirmative action
by the California state government.® In June 1995, before a forum
of African American journalists, Speaker Gingrich criticized civil
rights lawsuits hnd protests as “obsolete after the Civil Rights Act of
1964 banned discrimination.”™ According to Speaker Gingrich,
“poor people need to ‘learn new habits’ and . . . women and minoxr-
ities who rely on affirmative action should . . . take advantage of
‘enormous avehues for opportunity’ that ignore factors of race and
sex.”™® Speaker Gingrich also added that affirmative action pro-
grams were primarily rooted in lawsuits.® He declared: “‘[w]hen
you create that kind of backward-looking, grievance-looking sys-
tem, you teach people exactly the wrong habits. They end up
spending their lives waiting for the lawsuit, instead of spending
their lives secking opportunity.”*® He further stated that the “civil
rights movement had gone offtrack because it was dominated by
those ‘who thought there was some way to get fairness of outcome
as opposed to equality of opportunity.”™*!

The House Republicans’, and ultimate Signatories’, voting

B2 Conraact WITH AMERICA, supre note 1, atvil. Rep. McCollura headed the group
responsible for the TBOGSA,

3 ConTrRACT WITH AMERICA, supra note 1, at vil. Rep. Ramstad headed the group
responsible for the CSLRA.

B4 CONTRACT WITH AMERICA, suprg note 1, at vil. Rep. Hyde headed the group
responsible for the FRA

55 Ser, o.g., infra notes 3641,

36 From the Leadeship, Cong, Damy {National Journal Inc., Wash. D.C.} Oct. 39,
1995, at 5. Speaker Gingrich went on o state that be believed that the CCRI was “a
model which should be looked at by every state, and by the federal government.” Id.
The initiative, Proposition 209, was passed by California moters on November 5, 1996
Rgé:g:rt Pe;r, Ine California, Foes of Affirmative Action Sec & New Day, MY, Tives, Nov. 7,
1 . at BY.

57 See Hill Brigfs, Cong. Danry (National Journal Inc,, Wash. D.C.), June 19, 1995, at
4.

38 Jd ar 5.

59 1d.

20 14

LI A
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records and hostile sentiments demonstrate a hidden, and at fimes
blatant, racist agenda. Thus, when analyzing the various proposed
legislation in the Confract, one must be cognizant of the need to do
so with a critical perspective.

111, Tue Convrracr’s ReLevanT Brirs AND THEIR NEGATIVE
IspacT oN MmoORITIES

The PRA* and the TBOSA*® will most profoundly impact mi-
norities, Therefore, an in-depth evaluation is necessary.

A.  The Personal Responsibility Act and Welfare Reform

Inn 1964, President Lyndon Johnson launched the “War on
Poverty.”* The War on Poverty was a bold agenda designed to pro-
vide poor Americans with government aid in the form of medical
benefits, cash payments, food stamps, housing, and other bene-
fits.* Through the years, as the struggle to combat poverty in-
creased, so did criticism of the government’s efforts.® “Welfare
programs were denounced as stingy, unfair, demeaning to recipi-
ents, contributing to the breakup of families, and . . . narrow in
their coverage . . . " Some critics called welfare programs “a
dismal failure, bankrupt, a mess in need of total reform.”*® Critics
of welfare have tried to dismantle it for nearly three decades. To-
day, they echo the same old sentiments throughout the country.
These criticisms are now in a written and signed Republican
Contract.

The Signatories labeled President Johnson’s War on Poverty
and his vision of a Great Society a failure.®® They blame much of
society’s ills, including illegitimacy, crime, and illiteracy, on welfare
programs.® The proposals endorsed by the Signatories are only

42 See supra note 9.

43 Ser supra note 10,

+ WiLpiam A, Beorecorto, Tus CoMpeietr Boox oy U8, Pausioents 574 (34 ed.
1981). President Johuson unveiled his vision of a “Great Society” in a speech at the
University of Michigan in May 1964. The Great Society was designéd to end poverty
and racial injustice.” It included the War on. Poverty, civil rights legistation, Medicare,
Medicaid, and enviranmental protection, 14,

43 MarTIN ANpERSON, Werrare 15 (1981).

6 Id at 1617,

47 Hd. at 17

B I

19 CONTRAGT WITH AMERICS, sufra note 1, at 67,

50 Conrract wrrn AMERICA, supre note 1, at 65, For example,

after an all-white jury acquitted four white police officers in the brutal
beating of black motorist Rodney King, the sweets of Los Angeles
etupted in fames as enraged ghetto residents took to the streets . . . .
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more recent versions of the welfare reform movement. The cur-
rent stream of reform proposals by the Signatories, however, are
the harshest to date, Based on United States Bureau of the Census
statistics, the reforms will disproportionately impact America’s mi-
nority population.®

Six days later, when the flames had been reduced to smoldering rubble,
President George Bush deciared that what had triggered the ot was
not frustration at an unjist sysiem, not the despair of grinding poverty
and blocked opportunity, but rather the faiture of the liberal social pro-
grams of the 1960's.

Ja Quapasno, Tae Cotor oF WeLsare 3 (1994),

5 Minorities comprise a disproportionate perceniage of America’s poor.
Although the number of whites (26.2 million) ¥iving below the poverty level in 1963
was greater than African Americans (30.8 million} and these of Hispanic origin (8.1
million}, the percentage of the African American and those of Hispanic origin popu-
lations living below the poverty level greatly exceeds the percentage of the while pop-
ulation living below the poverty level. In 1993 for individualy, 12.2% of the white
population lived below the poverty leved, 33.1% of the African American population
lived below the poverty level, and 30.6% of those of Hispanic origin lived below the
poverty level. Bureau oF THe Census, supra note 7, at 481, For families in 1093, 9.4%
of the white population, 31.3% of the African American popuiation, and 27.3% of the
population of those of Hispanic origin lived below the poverty level. Bureau or THz
Census, supra note 7, at 484,

*The poverty index is based solely on money income and does not reflect the fact
that many low-income persons receive nonf-Jeash benefits such as food stamps, Med:-
caid, and public housing.” Burrau o 11g Census, supre note 7, at 450. By way of
example, in 1993, the poverty borderline for an individual was z yearly income of
$7,365. For a family of four it was $14,768. Buwryay oy e GeEnsUS, supre note 7, at
481,

The total number of whites receiving government assistance greatly surpasses the
number of African Americans and those of Hispanic origin. In 1961, 19.1 million
whites, 10.3 ml]ll{)ﬁ African Amerieans, 2nd 5.7 million people of Hispanic origin
received government assistance. BUREAU OF THE CENSUS, supra note 7, ar 378. How-
ever, the percentage of the popuaton of Afirican Americans and those of Eispanic
origin receiving government assistance is disproportionately farge compared to the
percentage of the white population. See Bugeau oF tue Census, supra note 7, at 14
(citing overall population statistics). For instance, in 1891, 8.1% of the white popula-
tion, 23.4% of the African American population, and 26.3% of the population of
persens of Hispanic origin were participants in the major government assistance pro-
grawms, Bureav OF THE CENSUS, supre note 7, at 378,

The major assistance programs were Aid to Families with Dependent Children
{"A¥DC"), General Assistance, Supplemental Security Income {"88i"}, food stamps,
Medicaid, and housing assistance. Bureau oF 1ag CENsuS, sufra note 7, at 378,

Others have alse demonstrated thas minorites “experience poverty in much
greater numbers than corresponds with their percentage of the population.” Sz, 6.2,
Marcus, supre note 13, at 235,

Peaple of color are disproportionasely poor in the United States. Afri-
can-Americans comprised only about 12% of the entire U.S. population
in 1991, but they comprised 30.4% of the families living below the pow
erzy line. While Hispanics composed approximately % of the 1.8, pop-
ulation, they accounted for 26.5% of the families living below the
poverty Hne . . .. These statistics ate in stark contrast with the fact that
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A comparison between whites and other racial groups in this

country demonstrates a “severe and amazingly persistent pattern

of income inequality.” Over the past two decades, the median

household income of blacks has remained at about 59% of the

income earned by whites which is a difference of over twelve
thousand. Hispanics’ median household income is 72% of that
earned by whites totalling 2 difference of over eight thousand
doliars. During the past wo decades, both of these gaps have
grown. African-Americans face an especially disproportionate
level of poverty in this country, While approximately 20% of all

American children grow up in poverty, nearly half of black chil-

dren grow up in poverty in the United States. The problem of

huge numbers of African-Americans living in poverty does not
seem to be improving, As William Juls Wilson explained,

“{t]hroughout much of the 20th century, blacks were able to.

experience social mobility through good-paying, blue collar

jobs, Now, as industry has moved to suburban and exurban ar-

eas, the traditional avenue out of poverty has been closed off”

Racial minorities often find themselves in cycles of poverty that

are difficult to escape.®?

The PRA’s purported aim is t¢ “reduce government dependency,
attack ilegitimacy, require welfare recipients to work, and cut wel-
fare spendmg "5%" According to the Contract, these objectives will be
achieved in a number of ways.

First, AFDC payments would be restructured. Under the PRA,
mothers under the age of eighteen who bear children out of wed-
lock would be denied AFDC benefits for their children.® The
states, at their discretion, would be able to deny AFDC and housing
benefits to mothers who are ages cighteen through twenty®
States would be given the opton of eliminating AFDC benefits ab
ter the recipients have received welfare for two years.®® Under the
PRA, states would be required to “drop families””” who have re-
ceived AFDC benefits for five years.®

whites comprise about 80% of the U.8. population, but account for only
8.83% of the families living below the poverty line.
Marcus, supra note 13, at 234.85 (citations omitted}.

52 Marcus, sufra note 13, ar 235 (citing George C. Galster, Polavization, Place, and
Race, 73 N.C, L. Rev, 1421, 1424-25 (19938); Cornel West, The ‘§0s. Market Culture Bun
Amok, Newswesk, Jan, 3, 1904, at 49, William Julius Wilson, Hope for Our Cities, Prorrs,
Jan. 17, 1994, at 81).

53 CoNTHRACT WITH AMERICA, sufve note 1, at 86,

B4 ConrRact with AMERICA, supra note 1, at 70.

35 CONTRACT WITH AMERICA, sufra note 1, at 66,

86 CoNTRACT WITH AMERICH, supre note 1, at 66,

57 CoNrTract wirH AMErIca, sufra note 1, at 66,

56 CoNTRACT WrTH AMERICA, supra note 1, at 66,
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Second, states would be given extensive powers to develop and
administer work programs tied to the receipt of welfare pay-
ments.”® Under the PRA, the states would be granted the author-
ity to develop their own work programs and determine who may
participate in them.5® Under this plan, states would be required to
transfer welfare recipients who received benefits for two years into
work programs.® The work programs would require welfare recip-
ients to work an average of thirty-five hours a week % Welfare par-
ticipants would be permitted to participate in work programs for
no more than two years,.® The states would further be required to
terminate AFDC payments to families who received welfare bene-
fits for five yeats, whether or not the AFDC recipient has partici-
pated in the work program.®

Finally, governmental spending on major welfare programs
such as AFDC and public housing programs would be cut drasti-
cally.®® They would be consolidated with other programs, includ-
ing food stamp and school lunch programs, and become a block
grant to the states.’® In addition, many non-citizens would also be
denied any welfare payments,®’

To say that Johnson’s War on Poverty®® was an “unqualified
failure”® is simply untrue. The primary goal of welfare, 10 help
those who are unable to help themselves financially, is still intact
and has been achieved in part. Of course, there are flaws in the
present welfare system, and some degree of reform is necessary.”
Yet the Sagnatones proposal in the Contract is extreme and highly
suspect.

Despite the fact that Bureau of the Census statistics were read-
ily available to the Signatories, they nevertheless chose to ignore
them. These chilling figures dernonstrate that minority women

59 CONTRAGT WITH AMERIGA, sugre note 1, at 66, 7172,

50 CoNTRACT WITH AMERICA, supra note 1, at 72

91 CONTRACT WITH AMERICA, supra note 1, at 71,

62 CONTRACT WITH AMERICA, supre note I, at 71-72,

63 CoNTRACT WITH AMERICA, supre note 1, at 71,

5% CONTRACT WITH AMERICA, supra note 1, at 71-T2.

65 CONTRACT WITH AMERICA, supra note 1, at 67, 7273,

66 CoNTRAGT WITH AMERICA, supre note 1, at 67,

47 CoNTRACT WITH AMERICA, supra note 1, 2t 73, The exceptions noted by the Sig-
natories are refugees over sevent-five years of age, those lawiully admitted to the
United States, or those who have resided in the United States for at least five years.

58 See supra notes 44-45 and accompanying text

52 CONTRAGT WITH AMERICA, supra note 3, at 67.

76 President Johnson's War on Poverty has been characterized as "a well-intended
but poorly executed effort to treat {the racial inequality] malady.” QuUADAGNO, supra
note 50, at 4.
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and children will suffer most by the Republican welfare reform.”
The statistics, while unpleasant, cannot be ignored. In 1993, 45.9%
of all African American children and 39.9% of all children of His-
panic origin lived below the poverty level, while 17.0% of all white
children lived below the poverty level.”? In 1993, 31.3% of all Afri-
can American families and 27.8% of all families of Hispanic origin
lived below the poverty level, while only 9.4% of all white families
lived below the poverty fevel.” Finally, in 1994, 60% of all the Afri-
can American family households, and 31% of all Hispanic origin
family households, were headed by single females, while 21% of
white family households were headed by single females.”™ More-
over, in 1991, 33.4% of the African American population, and
26.3% of the population of those of Hispanic origin were partici-
pants in the major assistance programs in the United States, while
only 9.1% of the entire white population were participants.”™ As
the above statistics dernonstrate, it is clear that the Contract’s wel
fare proposals will have a disproportionately devastating effect
upon minornities in America.

The Contract’s racial agenda is also furthered by its justifica-
tons of the need for reforms. In its discourse, the Contract offers
numerous blanket characterizations of welfare recipients to con-
vince its constituency that the suggested reforms are necessary.”®
In doing so, the Coniract reinforces many of the stereotypes corn-
cerning the poor in America.””

71 Bumrsau oF THE CENSUS, supra note 7, at 378,

72 BumrpaU oF THE CeNSUS, supra note 7, at 480,

75 Buseau oF THE CENSUS, sufra Dote 7, at 484,

7+ BureaU oF THE CENSUS, sufrg note 7, at 61,

75 Burrav oF THE CENsus, supra note 7, at 378, The major assistance programs
covered were AFDC, General Assistance, SSI food stamps, Medicaid and housing
assistance. BUREAU oF Tie CENSUS, sufra note 7, at 378, Others have noted similar
statistics.

Statistics on poverty rates [demonstate] that black families have main-
tained a poverty rate that is roughly three and-a-half times (twenty per-
centage poinis higher than) the poverty rates of white families, By
comparison, the Hispanic rate is roughly three times higher {sixteen
percentage points more} than that of whites,
Galster, supre note 15, at 1425 {citing Bursav oF the Census, ULS. Dep't oF Coms
MERCE, NoO. 751, STATISTICAL AnSTRACT OF e Untren Stares, 1991, at 46B8); see Lisa
A. Crooms, Dont Believe the Fiype: Black Women, Patriarchy, and the New Welfarism, 38
How. LJ. 611, 615 {1985).

76 See generally CONTRACT WITH AMERICA, stifrz note 1, at 65-77,

V7 Ses, e.g., Crooms, supra note 75, at 622; Beverly Horsburgh, Schridinger’s Cat,
Lugenics, and the Comjrelsary Sterilization of Welfare Mothers: Deconstructing an Old/New
Rhetoric and Constructing the Reproductive Right to Nutality for Low-Incoms Women of Color,
17 Carnozo L. Rzv. 531, 535 (1996); Lucy A. Williams, Rare, Rat Biter and Unfit
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For example, the Contract proposes that its weifare reform pro-
gram is designed to fight, among other things, illegitimacy, crime,
and illiteracy.”™ With that insight, the Signatories boast that the
Republican party grasps something that Democrats do not—“in-
centives affect behavior.”™

Currently, the federal government provides young girls the fol-

lowing deal: Have an illegitimate baby and taxpayers will guar-

antee you ¢ash, food stamps, and medicai care, plus a host of
other benefits. As long as you stay single and [do not] work, [we
will] continue giving you benefits worth a minimum of $12,000

per year (§3,000 more than a full-dme job paying a minimum

wage). [Itis] time to change the incentives and make responsi-

ble parenthood the nomm and not the exception.™

According to the Signatories, teenage girls are getting preg-
nant so that they may receive welfare benefits.® Thus, logically,
Republicans believe that the current American welfare system has
become a “cash cow” to the poor mother. The Signatories appar-
ently feel that denying benefits to mothers on welfare will teach
them “responsibility.”®* Addltz(ma.liy, Speaker Gingrich has stereo-
typed a typical welfare recipient as a “thirteen year old drug addict
[who is} pregnant” and whose baby faces the option of ending up
in 4 “dumpster” or a “boarding school.”™™ Moreover, in its attack
on single parents,® the Contract states that "two out of every three
African-American children are born out of wedlock.”®®

The Signatories argue that guaranteed income to the poor
under the current welfare systern in America creates a lifestyle of
dependency, and encourages recipients not to work.®® This con-
cern 1s not novel. For hundreds of years, there has been the con-
cern that giving money to the poor might encourage recipients to
stop working.®” For example, in the fourteenth century, England’s

Mothers: How Media Discourse Informs Welfare Legislation Debate, 22 Fororiam Umn. L]
1159, 1163 (1993):

78 CoNTRACT WITH AMERICA, sidra note 1, at 65,

72 ConTRACT WITH AMERICA, supra note ], at 75

8G ConrracT wivH AMuRica, supra note 1, at 75

81 Carla M. da Luz & Pamela C. Weckerly, Will the New Eepublican Mgjority in Con-
gress Wage Old Batiles Against Women?, 5 UCLA Wonmen's L.J. 501, 528 (1995;.

82 Jd. at 520.

B3 Mest the Press! Incoming Flouse Speaker Newt Gingrich, On Proposed Fegisiation Geared
Foward CGovernmenial Reform, Foreign Policy and His Novel {NBG telovision broadcast,
Dec. 4, 1984},

B4 CONTRACT WITH AMERICA, sufra note 1, at 0.

85 CONTRAGT WITH AMERICA, suprae note 1, at 70 (emphasis added).

BE Sor CONTRACT WITH AMERICA, supra note 1, at 65.

87 Sez ANDERSON, supra note 45, at 89.
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first poverty laws forbade private citizens to give donations to the
able-bodied poor.® These laws were supported by the belief that
such donations did not encourage recipients to find work.® Un-
fortunately, the Signatories made the same assumption as this early
English legislation that the poor receiving aid are lazy and do not
want 16 work. Psychologist Erich Fromm stated that

{mian, by nature is not lazy, but on the contrary, suffers from

the results of inactivity. Peopie might prefer not to work for one

or two months, but the vast majority would beg to work . . . .

Misuse of the guarantee would disappear after a short time, just

as people would not overeat on sweets after a couple of weeks,

assuming they would not have to pay for them.*

Requiring able bodies to support themselves is legitimate.
However, the Contract continues to stereotype and stigmatize wel-
fare recipients as lazy, preferring to cash-in on welfare payments
rather than work.

The PRA fails to accurately address the causcs of the welfare
problem in America. Furthermore, the Signatories are using wel-
fare recipients as scapegoats. They attemnpt to scare their constitu-
ency by misinforming thern that those on welfare are the source of
the problem rather than what they really are—victims.

Unfortunately, in some instances, the ugly Republican
message has been successful. On the House floor in March 1995,
Rep. Cynthia McKinney (D-Ga.) read a hate letter that she received
in which the writer compared African American women on welfare
to “monkeys.”! As Rep. McKinney so articulately concluded, “the

28 See ANDERSON, stipra note 45, at 89,
B9 See ANDERSON, Suprs note 45, at 89
96 Krich Fromm, The Psychological Aspeets of the Guaranteed Income, in THE Guaran.
TEED INCOME: NexXT S1ir N Economic EvoruTtion? 177-79 (Robert Theobald ed.
159635).
%1 143 Cone. Rec.H374) {daily ed. Mar. 24, 1995} (statement of Rep. McKinney}.
The letter statec:
After watching your Negro boss do her jungle act about bsinging back
the brown shirts, | think we seed some color shirts o control these
Negro females who pop out . . . Negro children like monkeys in the
jungle. No, 1 think the monkeys are more civilized. We real Americans
fdo not] intend to support . . . Negro children who live like rats in a
hole and [do not] have a chance to hecome human., The welfare system
is the cause. Even whites are becoming trash just like Negroes who pop
out al} these .. . Negro children. [Do you not}] understand that we
Americans are trying to civilize you?r Why do you fight so hard? The
Jungle is in Africa, though you have turned D.C. into an American jun-
gle. Grow up and become an American.

I
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spirit of GOP welfare reform lives in these words."*?

Amid much controversy and after two prior presidential ve-
toes, President Clinton accepted and signed into law a welfare bill
“largely written on Repuhlican terms.”™ Much of the bill was con-
ceived from the Republican’s PRA found in the Confract. In partic-
vlar, AFDC benefits will end and be replaced with block grants
from the federal government to the states;” states will be permit-
ted to end payments to unwed teenage mothers;* benefits will be
limited to five years, but states may impose a shorter limit;*® and
the bill prohibits immigrants, including legal immigrants, from re-
ceiving various welfare programs, such as food stamps and
Medicaid.*”

B.  The Taking Back Our Streets Act and Criminal fustice Reform

The Signatories, through the Contraet, attempt to save the
“American Dream.”® They proposed a tough anti-crime package.
Their proposal stated:

The American Dream cannot survive without safety and security

for individual Americans—for all of you. When our children

are afraid ta go to school, when husbands and wives are afraid to

walk to the grocery store, and when society as a whole is being

threatened, governmernt must meet is responmblizt}f to protect
our streets, pur schools, and our neighborhoods.*
According to the Coniract, the TBOSA symbolizes the

Republican approach to fighting crime: making punishments

severe enough to deter criminals from commitiing crimes, mak-

ing sure that the criminal justice system is fair and impartial for

all, and making sure that Tocal law enforcement officials (who

are on the streets every day) and not Washington burcaucrats

direct the distribution of federal law enforcement funds, %

92 1d. at HB742

3 John F. Harris & John K. Yang, Clinton lo Sign Bill Overhauling Welfare, WasH.
Post, Aug. 1, 1896, at Al. “Clinton said the measure has ‘serious flaws’ . . . but he
pledged 1o sign it anyway becsuse it is the best chance we will have in a fong, long
time’ to fuifill his 1962 campaign promise of ‘ending welfare as we know ™" Jd
Acknowledging that there would be protest, "Clinton said that he would work to cor-
rect the bill’s deficiencies with lasdy legisiation.” 14,

94 Barbara Vobeids, House Passes Major Ouerhaui of Nation's Welfure Programs, Wasy,
Post, July 19, 1996, at Al

95 Fd,

96 Jd,

7 Id.

98 CONTRACT WItH AMERiCa, supre note 1, at 37,

99 ContraCT WiTH AMERICA, supra note 1, at 37,

100 CONTRACT WITH AMERICA, supre note 1, at 38
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The TBOSA’s provisions are wide-ranging. First, it proposes to re-
form the habeas corpus process.*”* Specifically, it would place time
limitations on filing federal and state habeas corpus appeals, and
would limit prisoners to one appeal.’®™ Second, jury instructions
for death penalty cases would be reformed.’® Under the TBOSA,
juries would be instructed to recommend a death sentence if ag-
gravating factors underlying the crime outweigh mitigating fac-
tors.’** Juries would also be required to refrain from considering
any “influence of sympathy, sentiment, passion, prejudice or other
arbitrary factors.”*® Third, federal courts would be directed to dis-
miss any “frivolous” lawsuits by prisoners.’®® Fourth, the “good
faith” exception to the exclusionary rule’® would be expanded to
include the introduction of evidence where the police acted in
“oood faith” in a warrantless search and seizure incident.’®® Fifth,
mandatory minimum sentencing would be required for “state or
federal drug or violent crimes that involve the possession of a
gun.”?® Sixth, criminals would be required to pay restitution to
their victims as a result of their criminal activity.’'® Seventh, block
grants would be allocated fo local law enforcement bodies specifi-
cally for “law enforcement” and not for crime prevention pro-
grams.*t! Eighth, any illegal alien convicted of an apgravated
felony would be deported.'’* Finally, money would be allocated to
the states for building and expanding prisons.!'?

With the help of enormous media exposure, many Americans
believe that the crime rate in this country has escalated to ufiprece-

101 CONTRACT WITH AMERICA, supre note I, at 4544, The primary function of a writ
of habeas corpus *is to release from unlawfud imprisonment.” See Brack’s Law Dic-
TIONARY 709 {6th ed. 1980). The writ pemﬁts 2 prisoner to challenge a conviction on
constiutional grounds. Jd,

162 Conraact with AMERIGA, supra note 1, at 4544,

163 CoNrracT WiTH AMERICA, supra note 1, at 45-48.

104 CONTRACT WITH AMERICA, supra note I, at 45.

105 CoONTRAGT WITH AMERIGA, supre note 1, at 38.

36 Contuacy witH AMERICA, supre note I, at 53

167 The exclusionary rule “commands that where evidence seized has been ob-
tained in violation of the search and seizure protections guaranteed by the U8, Con-
stittion, the illegally obwmined evidence cannot be uwsed at the trial of the
defendant” Brack’s Law DictioNaxy 564 {6th ed. 1990).

198 Copraact WiTH AMERICS, sufre note 1, at 52.53,

108 CONTRACT WITH AMERICA, Sufrz note i, a1 47,

119 ConTRACT WITH AMERICS, supra note 1, at 4749,

111 CONTRACT WITH AMERICA, supra note 1, at 48-50. The TBOSA would also “repeal
sections of the recently enacted crime control act that provide specific funds for drug
courts, recreational programs, comsaunity justice programs, and other social preven-
tion spending.” CONTRACT WITH AMERICA, supra note 1, at B0,

112 ContRACT WITH AMERICA, supra note 1, at 34,

118 Conrract wrrs AMERICA, supre note 1, at 51-52.
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|
dented proportions.*** Daily television viewers are treated w0 a
large dose of violent crime through the nightly news programs,
“cop shows,” and tabloid news.!'® As a result, crime has become an
important political platform for the GOP, which uses it to instill
more fear and garner more votes from their constituency.'*¢

Few can deny that the crime problem in America is profound.
However, the media has misled American viewers.1!” In the United
States, violent crimes reported to the police actually dropped by
8% from 1991 to 1992, and 2% from 1992 to 1993.'*® Moreover, as
The New York Times reported, a recent FBI survey from 1995 data
concluded that the overall violent crime rate in America is at its
Jowest since 1989, and the country’s murder rate is at the lowest in
ten years.'?

Beyond mischaracterizing the crime problem in America, the
TBOSA's flaws go much deeper. In its purported intent to save the
“American Dream,” the Confract shatters it for many. In a criminal
justice system that may be fairly characterized as racist,’*® the pro-
posals in the Contract would tighten the system’s racist grip.*#!

114 See Pavid Zuechino, Today’s Viclent Crimte i Old Story with o Twnst, Prna. Ing,
Oct. 50, 1994, at Al

118 7,

116 See Burzay or tHE CeNsUS, supra note 7, at 268, In 1994, according to the Bu-
reau of the Census, approximately 45% of whites identified their pofitical affiliation as
Republican, compared to less than 10% of African Amernicans. Burzau oF 1HE CEn-
sus, supra note 7, at 268

17 Sep Lucchlno supra note 114, at Al

118 Busrau or THE Census, supre note 7, at 199, Violent crime includes murder,
rape, robbery, and aggravated assauli. Buzesu or tar Census, supra note 7, at 199,

3 Yiolent Crime Declines 8 Pereent in Big Cities, N.Y. Tames, Oct. 15, 1996, at 25, The
FBE survey was “compiled from crimes reported to more than 16,000 lawenforcement
agencies covering 95 percent of the nation’s population.” Jd. Se alse Clifford Rrauss,
Nag York Crime Eate Phummets to Levels Not Seen tn 30 Years, NY. Tymrs, Dec. 20, 1996, at
Al

126 Tt is noted that reliance solely on statistical data does not necessarily prove that
the criminal jusiice system s racist. However, the statistics that foliow, which demon-
strate “the magnitude of the disparities {between African Americans and whites in the
crimninal justice system] ought to give us pause.” David Cole, The Paradox of Race and
Cnm} A Comment o Randall Kennedy's “Politics of Distinction,” 83 Geo, L], 2547, 2657
{1095

iZ1 It has been z‘ecogmzeé that

there are 4 greater perceniage of black males incarcerated in the
United States than in South Africa, There are 14,625,600 black men in
the United States, of which 454,724 are incarvcerated. South Afries has
15,050,642 black men and only 108,759 of them are imcarceraied
"Nearly one:zin every four bilack men in the United States between 26-29
years of age is under the control of the cnmma? justice sys{emwwhezher
in prison ot jail, on probadon, or parol” This gver-represeniation of
mmomy grbups is not only a black-white issue—it affects all racial mi-
norities in the United Staces.




496 NEW YORK CITY LAW REVIEW [Vol. 1:481

[Wie really should not be surprised to find some form of racial

bigotry present in the criminal justice systemn. Itis surely evident

in the society at Jarge, and the criminal justice system is not'iso-

lated from the larger society. Indeed, the evidence is persuasive

that the system is heavily influenced by the surrounding

culture,’™

The force of this proposition is reflected in various ways. In
1992, African Americans made up approximately 12% of the total
population, while whites miade up approgimately 83% of the popu-
lation.'®® In 1992, 8.3% of the estimated 21.4 million African
American adults’®* were either in jail or prison, on probation or
parole.!® In contrast, 1.7% of the estimated 160 million white
adults were cither in jail or prison, on probation or parole.?®
Moreover, in 1992, approximately 3,930 African Americans ¢ight-
een years of age and older out of every 100,000 Americans were
arrested, while approximately 793 white people eighteen years of
age and older out of every 100,000 Americans were arrested.'*” In-
deed, others have noted similar findings.

A number of national studies have yielded startling statistics re-

garding the high proportion of minorities involved in the crimi-

nal justice system. In a 1990 study, the Sentencing Project

reporied that, nationally, the total number of black males aged

fiwenty] to {twenty-ninel who were under some controi by the

criminal justice system was greater than the total number of sim-

lariy-aged black males enrolled in college. Of all black males in

this age range, 25% were either in prison or jail, or on proba-

tion or parole. The study stated that 6.2% of whites and 10.4%

of Hispanics in the same age range were similarly involved in the

criminal justice systermn. A 1993 Sociological Quarterly paper by

Marcus, supra note 13, at 237 (citations omitted).

122 GrsGory D. Russell, THe Deatd Penavry anp Racial Bias. (OVERTURNING
Surremr Courr Assumpnions 1 (1994). The author devotes an entire chapter in
which he discusses how racism produces different outcomes throughdut the criminal
Justzcc system. The author discusses research compiled on, among other things, bias
in crime detection, bias in pollce behavior and arrest, bias in the grand jury, prosecu-
tor and courtroom, and hizs in judicial sentenicing. [d. at 49-71.

123 Bureau oF THE CENSUS, sufra note 7, at 14, In 1992, the white population was
approximately 213 miliion, the Afncan American population was 3L 6 million, and
the population of those of Hispani¢ origin was 24.2 million. Burzau oF TiE Cansus,
supre note 7, at 14,

{24 The adult population consists of those over eighteen vears of age. Ses infra note
125,

125 Tracy 1. SwEra, U8, Der't oF Jusrics, CorrEcrionar PoruLATIONS IN THE
Unrtep STaTss, 1992, at 5 (1605},

126 4,

127 U8, Der'T oF Justice, BUREAU OF JusTice StatisTics SOURCEROOK OF CRIMINAL
JusTice StaTigTios 37K (1984).
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J. Rramer and D. Steffensmeir reported that blacks represented
13% of the U.S.. population and 50% of those persons in pris-
ons. In the proceedings of the “Studying Race and Gender Bias
in the Criminal Justice System” workshop ai the 1993 BIS/JRSA
National Conference on Enhancing Capacities and Confronting
Controversies in Criminal Justice, it was noted that while blacks
account for approximately 12% of the U.S. population they rep-
resented 64% of the robbery arres;s, 55% of homicide arrests,
and 32% of the burglary arrests.'

The Signatories of the Contract apparently ignored these dis-
turbing statistics. Thus, according to these statistics, a large and
discriminating disparity exists between a minority’s contact and a
white person’s contact with the criminal justice system.'*® There-
fore, the reforms proposed by the Signatories will disproportion-
ately touch the lives of minorities in America.!'®

‘The habeas corpus reform proposed by the Confract is decep-
tive and should be more appropriately referred to as habeas corpus
“repeal.”'® The reform will affect state and federal habeas corpus
process in both capital and noncapital cases.”™ The time limita-
tions and “one appeal rule”*®® will have a tremendous negative ef-

128 Georgia Supreme Court Commission on Racial and Ethaic Bias in the Court
System, Let fustice Be Doner Equally, Fairly, end Impartially, 12 Ga. St. U. L. Rev. 687,
766 (1996}, See afio Robert Carter, Racism and the Criminat Justice System:  The Strugale
Continwes, 10 Nav's, Bar Ass™n Mac, 34, 3638 {(March/Aprit, 1996).

128 See supra notes 120-128 and accompanying text,

130 It is 2 sad reality in America that individials in some racial groups are more
likely than others to go to prison than college.  See, e.g., MarG MauvzEr, THE SenteNe.
NG PROJECT, AMERICANS BEHIND BaRS: THE INTERNATIONAL EJSE OF INCARCERATION,
1992-1093, I8 (1994}; Paul Buder, The Fuil of American Crimingl Justice: A Reply, 44
UCLA L. Rev. 148, 145 n.8 (1996); Cole, suprz note 120, at 2557; Georgiz Supreme
Court Commniission, supre note 128, ar 706; Nantambu, supre note 7, at 8B,

For instance, in 1992, the total number of Africant American males who were
incarcerated in state or federal prisons (399,755}, SvprL, supra note 125, at 70, closely
approached the number of African American males who were enrolled in college
(527,000). Burkav or tHE CENSUS, supra note 7, at 180. By congrast, the number of
white males in co}%eg& (5,210,000}, Burrau or 1 CENsUs, sufre note 7, at 180,
grea:;iy exceeded the total number of white males incarcerated in state or federal
przsons {385 108}, SnELs, supra note 125, at 70. Indeed, the number of African Amer-
ican males incarcerated actually oumamber those in college when combining the
state or federal prison population with the jail population. In a 1994 study by the
Semiencing Project, it was determined that in the United States in 1992, the number
of African American males who were incarcerated in prisons or jails was 583,000,
while the mumber of Africap Ameriean males who were enrolled in institutions of
higher education was 537,000, Mauzr, sufroe nore 150, ag 18,

31 Symposium, Are Esecutions m New York Fnevitable?, 22 Forpuam Urs. L.J. 557, 599
(1965} (quating NAACP attorney George H. Kendall},

132 CONTRACT WiTH AMERICA, supra note 1, af 48,

139 CONTRAGCT WETH AMERICA, suprs note 1, at 44,
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fect on prisoners seeking legitimate constitutional challenges to
their sentences. As NAACP attorney George Kendall stated, the
proposed habeas corpus reform will “handcuff and blindfold the
federal judiciary, preventing it from granting any remedy whatso-
ever even when it is faced with egregious, shocking, harmful viola-
tions of the Bill of Rights in capital cases.”¥**

The death penalty has remained a topic of bitter debate
throughout the years in America. In the Signatories’ effort to ex~
pand capital punishment, the Contract proposes two new mandates
on jury instructions in criminal cases. First, juries would be in-
structed to recommend the death penalty if aggravating factors
outweigh mitigating factors.”® Second, “juries must also be in-
structed to avoid any ‘influence of sympathy, sentiment, passion,
prejudice or other arbitrary factors’ in their decisions.”!%

in one of his final opinions before his retirement from the
United States Supreme Court, Justice Blackmun passionately ar-
ticulated his antipathy towards the death penalty in Callins v. Col-
lins}*”  He wrote:

From this day forward, I no longer shall tinker with the machin-

ery of death. For more than [twenty] years I have endeavored-—

indeed, I have struggled—along with a majority of this Court, to

develop procedural and substantive rules that would lend more
than the mere appearance of fairness to the death penalty en-
deavor . . .. 1feel morally and intellectually obligated simply to
concede that the death penalty experiment has failed. '™
Justice Blackmun stated that the death penalty, as the ultimate
form of punishment, has always been and remains to be franght
with “arbitrariness, discrimination, caprice and niistake.”® He
also acknowledged that the arbitrariness of the sentencer’s discre-
tion to afford mercy is heightened by the problem of race. 1* Race,
as Blackmun declared, “continues to play a major role in determin-
ing who shall live and who shall die.”*#

Justice Blackmun’s observations are borne out by the statistics.
In the United States from 1930 to 1993, more African Americans
{2,154) were executed than whites {1,864).1%2 Moreover, there is

134 Symposium, supre now 181, at 599,

185 ContRaCT WITH AMERICA, stifra note 1, at 45,
136 CONTRACT WITH AMERIGA, sufra note 1, at 45.
187 510 U.S. 1141 {1994} {Blackmun, J., dissenting).
138 Jd. at 1145

139 I atr 1144

140 Jd. at 1158,

14t Id

142 ByrrAy OF THE CeNSUS, supra note 7, at 220
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evidence that the death penalty is grossly and disproportionately
applied where the victims are white and the defendants are
black.' In Georgia, for instance, "blacks who kill whites are sen-
tenced to death at nearly [fwenty-two] times the rate of blacks who
kill blacks, and more than [seven] times the rate of whites who kill
blacks.”

Rather than realize the inherent flaws with the death penalty,
the Signatories simply ignored them. The evidence of discrimina-
tion in death penalty sentencing was overwhelming, yet the Signa-
tories still encouraged capital punishment. This reform is another
way to insure a guilty verdict in capital cases and broaden the use
of the death penalty by the Signatories who encouraged capital
punishment. Similasly, the abolishment of the so-calied “arbitrary
factors” in jury instructions—sympathy, sentiment, passion or prej-
udice—would geither expressly or implicitly abolish considerations
of race, poverty or mental deficiency. The Signatories atternpted
to foreclose the jury’s consideration of valid, meaningful factors
which play a prominent role in shaping the life, and now death, of
a human being.

The Contract’s death penalty reforms are the most disturbing
of the TBOSA proposals. A serious reform measure would be to
dismantle capital punishment in America altogether hecause of its
inherent prejudice, arbitrariness and error. Yet, the Signatories ig-
nored the death penalty’s grim truth. Their proposals would force
a jury to ref'raiif‘u from applying their own knowledge, insight, and
reservations about capital punishment,

The Signatories also proposed a reform which mandated fed-
eral courts to dismiss any “frivolous or malicious” lawsuits filed by
prisoners.!® Unquestionably, this would have an enormous effect
on all prisoners, who would find it much more difficult to chal-
lenge their treatment behind bars. Natuarally, there have been suits
wbich many people may consider frivolous (e.g. male prisoner su-
ing for his right of access and to wear bras and lipstick;'*® inmates

3 Sa2 Davin C.E Batbus g7 AL, Eouar Justice ann tHE Death Penarty 149-50
{1950}, i

144 McCleskey v, &{cmp, 481 ¥1.8. 279, 327 {1987} (ewmphasis in original}. Tn MeCles-
key, the petitioner an African American man convicted of murder and sentenced
to death. Id. He sought habeas corpus relief in federal court and offered a staristical
study as evidence ghat a disparity in the imposition of the death penalty in Georgia
based on the victim’s race and the defendant’s race existed. See Barpus, supra note
143,

143 CONTRACT WITH AMERIGA, sufre note 1, at b3,

146 Jones v. Wardicn, 918 F. Supp. 1142 (N.D. Il 1995).
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complaining about white only underwear rule;**” inmates not pro-
vided with towel racks for wet towels**®). Although memorable, the
actual number of these types of suits are few, and in most (if not
all}) instances, they are dismissed.!*?

Although the Confract states that it is not seeking to diminish
inmates’ rights,'®® the Contract’s reforms are based on such Iaw-
suits.'*! In reality, the vast majority of prisoners’ lawsuits are meri-
torious. They involve topics of serious concern to any human
being, such as inadequate medical treatment,*™ overcrowding, and
unsafe and unsanitary living conditions.'®®

Consider, for instance, the following federal cases from Ala-
bama. In Newman v. Alabama, a quadriplegic inmate spent months
in the prison hospital suffering from bedsores.'®®* The sores even-
tually developed into open wounds because of a lack of medical
care.’®® As a result, the sores became infested with maggots.’®® In
Pugh v. Locke, many deficiencies in the living conditions of most of
the inmates were apparent. For example, the hiving quarters of the
inmates were inadequately heated; diseases and body lice were
widespread due to their filthy old cotton mattresses; the prison
failed to furnish toothbrushes, toothpaste, or shampoo; the in-
mates had no eating and drinking utensils and had to use tin cans;
and food was stored in filthy units which were infested with
insects.?>7

Newman and Pugh are far more representative of the legitimate
interests that comprise a typical inmate’s lawsuit, They address se-
rious legal issues involving violations of prisoners’ rights under the
Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments. Uniike the examples cited

1:; Burnette v. Phelps, 621 F. Supp. 1157 (M.D. La. 1088),
148 1d.

149 Sep ik see also Jones, 918 F. Supp. at 1145,

180 CONTRACT WiTH AMESICA, sufre note 1, at B1.

151 Contract wrth AMirICA, supre note }, at 61. The Contract states that
"[plrisoners have asserted that a iack of Frisbees, art supplies, and chunky peanut
butter {as opposed to creamy peanut butier) constitutes cruel and vnusual punish-
ment.” CoNrracr wiTs AMERICA, supra note }, at 61,

5% Newrnan v. Alabama, 549 F. Supp. 278 (M.D. Ala. 1972}, affd in pari, 503 F.2d
1820 (Bah Gir, 1974}, 1ok’ denied, 506 F.2d 1056 (5th Cirl), cert. denied, 421 US. 948
£1975).

83 Pugh v. Locke, 406 F. Supp. 318 (M.D. Ala. 1976}, affd and remanded, Newman
v. Alabama, 558 F.2d 288 {Pugh was consolidated with Newman), refi'd dended, Pugh v,
Locke, 564 F.24 98 {Bth Cir. 1977), cert. gronted in part, fudgment rev'd in part sub nom.,
Alabama v. Pugh, 438 U5, 781, cent. dended, 438 1S, 915 (3978},

154 Newman, 349 T. Supp. at 285,

155 7,

156 I

157 Pugh, 406 F. Supp. at 32223,
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by the Coniract, these cases more often than not shock the
conscience,

By propesing this reform, the GOP is again focused upon a
prison population that contains a disproportionate number of mi-
norities.’™ Such reforms serve only to intensify their plight. This
is simply another attempt to remove constitutional rights from pris-
oners, who are the “leastrepresented group in society,””**® For
cach meritless lawsuit that this proposal prevents, there are poten-
tially dozens of legitimate actions that will also be foreclosed. The
Signatories exploit the most outrageous examples to create legisia-
tion. They take the position that “[ilt is easy to try to convince the
American public that every lawsuit filed by an inmate is frivo-
lous™'%® simply because they are prisoners.

The Contract also seeks an expansion of the “good faith” ex-
ception to the exclusionary rule.’® This proposal would extend
the Supreme Court’s decision in United States v. Leon.'®? The Con-
tract proposes to extend the “good faith” exception to the exclu-
sionary rule to apply to searches conducted without a warrant,'®®
‘The Signatories argue that this is necessary to remedy the suppres-
sion of reliable evidence under the current rule, which seemingly
permits guilty defendants to either “go free or receive reduced
sentences as a result of a favorable plea bargain,”'%*

This propbsal does more harm than good. Opponents of the
expansion of the “good faith” éxception note that “[tlhe notion
that the rule needs to be relaxed because ‘hordes of criminals are
being released [on] legal technicalities’ is a myth,”'® Further-

158 See supra notes 120-128 ang accompanying text.

159 Jeff Barker, Congress Moves Closer to Limiting Fnmate Lawsuits, Ariz. Rep., Nov. 13,
1993, at BI {(quotng Kathi Westcott, coordinator of 2 Washington, D.C, bastd prison-
ers rights coalition).

169 Id. (quoting Donna leone Hamm, founder of Middle Ground, an Arizona pris-
oner’s rights group).

181 CONTRACT WiTst AMERICA, supra note 1, at 5253,

162 468 U.S. 897:(1984). Leon held that the exclusionary rule does not apply when
the pelice act in “good faith” on a defective search warrant. Id. The “good faith”
exception to the excusionary rule “provides that evidence is not to be suppressed
urder such rule where that evidence was discovered by officers acting in good faith
and in reasonable, though mistaken, belief that they were authorized (o take those
actions.” Brack’s Law Dicrionary 564 {6th ed. 1990}

3 CONTRACT WETH AMERICA, sufrz note 1, at 52-53.

184 Leon, 468 US. at 07

165 Kenneth Jost, Exclusionary Rule Reforms Advance: Opponenis Claim Profiosals Uncon-
stitutional, Encrurage Police Misconduct, 81 AB.A. J. 18 (3095} (guoting Thomas Davies,
Professor of Law at the University of Tennessec). Davies stated that the exclusionary
rule has been narrowed by a number of rulings by both the Rehnguist and the Burger
Supreme Courts. Jd
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more, this expansion would not only undermine the principles of
the Fourth Amendment, but alse would promote police miscon-
duct. The police undoubtedly will have little or no trouble per-
suading a court that they meet the minimal “reasonable basis”
requirement for believing the search was valid.

In yet another chapter on the federal government’s “war on
drugs,” tbe TBOSA proposes mandatory minimum sentences of
ten years for federal or state drug or violent crimes that involve the
possession of a gun.'® However, since stringent sentencing guide-
lines restrict judges’ discretion at sentencing, in many instances the
punishment does not fit the crime*” Mandatory sentences have
come under increased attack by members of the judiciary.!®®
Supreme Court Justice Anthony Kennedy stated that “mandatory
mipimums are an imprudent, unwise, and often unjust mechanism
for sentencing.”"® The Contract ignores the concerns of the judici-
ary. Thus, even when a person does not actually use the gun to
commit the drug crime, he will automatically receive a ten yvear
sentence, regardless of whether it was found on the defendant’s
person. In other words, even if a nexus does not exist between the
gun seized and the illegal drug activity, the defendant will never-
theless receive the full mandatory prison sentence of ten years.

The other proposals offered in the TBOSA provide additional
harsh methods to fight crime.'” Nevertheless, because of the ra-
cism inherent in the American criminal justice system, all of these
proposals will affect a disproportionate number of minorities.’”!

Since the commencement of the 104th Congress, some prove-
sions of the TBOSA were enacted as part of the anti-terrorism legis-
lation that was signed into law in late April 1996.'® The most

k

156 CONTRACT wiThH AMERICS, supra note 1, at 4647,

167 Seg, o.gr, 146 Conc. Rec. 510,281 {daily ed. Aug, 2, 1994} (statement of Sen. Paul
Siznon}. Sen. $imon quoted 2 number of people in opposiion to mandatory mini-
mum sentences, including Justice Anthony Kennedy, Id

168 Jd : see also Raward A Adams, Federal Judge Scores Mandatory Sentences for Dealing in
Drugs, NY.LL, Aug. 26, 1993, at 1.

169 140 Cono. ReG, supre note 167, at $10,281. Justice Kennedy made these and
other comments during # House Appropriations subeommittes hearing on the
Supreme Gourt budget. 140 Cowa. ReG, supre note 167, at 510, 281,

1% Cowrract wrre AMERIGA, supra note 1, at 47-52. The other proposals include
victim restitution, block grants to the states specifically for law enforcement as op-
posed to crime prevention programs, and the allocation of money to the states for
building more prisons. CONTRACT WITH AMERICA, supra note 1, at 47-52.

Y71 Spp supra notes 126-128 and accompanying text.

172 Joan Biskupic & Helen Dewar, Senate Would Limit Appeats on Death Row; Anti-
Terrorism Bill Wins in 91-8 Vote, Wasn. PosT, Apr. 18, 1866, at Al. Although the legisla-
don focused primarily on antiterroristss measures, the bifl, in addition to the habeas
corpus proposal, also provided more money for state law enforcement and the depor-
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noteworthy aspect of that bill, which primarily was enacted as a tool
to fight domestic and international terrorism, contained the GOP’s
habeas corpus “reform” to restrict the number of appeals by all
prisoners, including death-row inmates.’” In most circumstances,
inmates would be restricted to one federal appeal, and federal
Judges would have to defer to state court rulings to determine if an
inmate's constitutional rights were violated,'™

C.  Other Profosed Reforms

Two other proposed reforms in the Contract merit some discus-
sion because of their potentially devastating effects on the poor.
They are the Fiscal Responsibility Act (“FRA")!" and the Common
Sense Legal Reforms Act (“CSLRA”).Y7 Although these reforms
will devastate the poor in general, they will disproportionately im-
pact minorities.”’

First, the FRA proposes a balanced budget amendment to the
Constitution.)”f Under this plan, the Signatories propesed to bal-
ance the budget by the year 2002.'™ Although requiring the fed-
eral government to balance the budget may be fiscally sound, the
burdens associated with deing so will fall squarely upon the poor’s
shoulders. The heart of the GOP's plan for balancing the budget
includes huge cuts in federal aid to the states.’®® The Center on
Budget and Policy Priorities (the “Center”) projected that such
cuts, which would include a $100 billion annual loss in federal aid
to state and local governments, would have a destructive effect on
the states.’® The Center predicted “that by the year 2000, two
years short of a {GOP proposed] balanced budget, the loss of fed-
eral aid would exceed all state spending in all [fifty] states on pro-
grams for the poor.”#?

tation of non<citizens who commit crimes. See Mary Jacoby, Veloes Blocked the GOPs
‘Contrad,” Cis. TriB., Apr. 28, 1996, at 3,

178 Tacoby, supra': note 172, at 8.

174 Helen Dewar, Hill Nepotictors Agree on Anti-Terrovism Bill, Wasn. Posr, Apr. 16,
19986, at AT,

P75 CONTRAGT WITH AMERICA, supra note 1, at 24

176 CONTRACT wiTH AMERICA, supre note 1, at 44,

177 See supra notés 51-H2 and accompanying text,

178 ConTrACT WiITH AMERICA, sugrs note I, ar 24,

179 Cownrract wits AMERICA, supra note 1, at 32,

180 William M. Welch, Liberal Group: Balanced Budget Will Cost States, USA TODAY.
Jan. 31, 1995, at BA.

181 Jd. The autHor provides telling suatistics. The loss in aid to the states “would
amount 10 $342 per person natfonally, and run as high as $591 per person in Alaska;
$577 per person in Mississippi; and $566 per person in New York.” Id.

182 fd.
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The Signatories of the FRA clearly are not concerned with bal-
ancing the budget. If 5o, they would begin their cuts with oversized
spending programs such as the defense budget.’®® At the moment,
“the defense budget is three times as large as the total of all federal
cash, food, housing, jobs, and education benefits for the poor.”’®*
In fact, the Signatories actuzlly proposed strengthening the na-
tional defense, including increased spending for the Pentagon.'®
Thus, the intent of the Signatories is not to balance the budget, but
rather to sabotage the poor. Fortunately, such efforts have failed
thus far. The balanced budget amendment did not become law.
President Clinton vetoed it, “declaring its spending cuts too
harsh.”!®

Second, the Contract, aiming to discourage frivolous tort litiga-
tion, proposes the CSLRA.’™ The most radical provision of the
CSLRA imposes a “loser pays” approach.’® This approach would
require the loser in various types of federal cases to pay the legal
fees of the winner, including attorneys’ fees.®® However, the
“loser pays” provision of the CSLRA is not simply a device aimed at
stopping “frivolous lawsuits”* as represented, but rather “a device
designed by selfish corporations to discourage lawsuits—both legit-
imate and frivolous—which threaten their profits.”®!

Because it will discourage legitimate lawsuits by individuals
against huge corporations, the “loser-pays” provision “is a losing
approach for most Americans,”*? especially the poor. For exam-
ple, 2 poor persen who sustains serious injuries as a result of a de-
fective product and is out of work must now make a choice.
Should he pursue his legitimate claim against the product’s manu-
facturer or risk losing his home, savings, and other assets if he loses
his suit?™® Under the GOP’s “reform,” he would have to pay not
only the costs of the corporate manufacturer, but also the poten-
tially tens of thousands of doliars in legal fees of the law firm that

83 Sew Kenr Schechtman, Contract Is Out of Balance, 51. Lours Post fhsearcn, Aps.
27, 1995, at 7B. The author states that the defense budget is $260 billion. X4,

184 1d,

185 COoNTRACT WITH AMERICA, sypra note 1, at $2-83 (The National Security Restora-
hon Act). .

186 Jacoby, supra note 172, ar 3,

187 CONTRAGT Wit AMERIOA, supra note |, at 144,

88 CONTRACT WITH AMERICA, suprg note 1, at 145,

188 ConTracT WITH AMERICA, supra note 1, at 145,

190 CONTRACT WITH AMERSCA, supra note 1, at 18,

191 Alan Dershowitz, *Loser Pays® Tort Reform Aptly Nemed, Bussaro News, Mar, 15,
1995, at B3,

182 4

198 See id.
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represented the manufacturer.’¢*

Access to justice should not be restricted only to those who
can pay for it.™® However, this “reform” does in fact impose such a
system. As a result, it thieatens the very heart of the American con-
sumer’s legal rights and protections. The “loser pays” rule would
all but remove the means of all Americans, except the powerful
and wealthy, to assert their rights in a court of law. Like the bal-
anced budget amendment, product hahility reform to limit puni-
tive damages on personal injury cases and the “loser-pays”
provision failed to become law during the 104th Congress.*®

V. ConcLusion

November 8, 1994 was indeed a turning point for America.
Quite simply, it began a disturbing new era in American govern-
ment. The Contract with America has many themes. It is 2 manifesto
empowering white and wealthy America. It is about suspicion and
distaste for those groups that are outside of the Republican main-
stream — minorities and the poor. It is about Republicans stoking
the fear of middle-class white voters. However viewed, the Contract
with America 15'a document replete with racism. The Republican
initiatives outlined in the Confract, either facially or subtly or in
their purpose or effect, will disproportonately devastate minorities
in America.

The 1996 elections provided the Republicans with an opportu-
nity to push through the remaining proposals on their agenda in
the 105th Congress. Indeed, many Republican candidates at-
tempted 1o capitalize upon the success of the programs proposed
in the Coniract, and their hidden racial undertosnes, in their 1996
campaigns. In their platforms, we heard echoes of the Cenfract in
their promises to balance the budget, fight crime, and strengthen
family values. The GOP’s racial agenda is not new. However, in
light of the Republican majority’s success in legislating portions of
their manifesto, and as a result of the November 5, 1996 clections,
a need for skepticism exists now more than ever.

194 See id.

195 Sge Ervin A Gonzaler, Big Business Is Selting Bill of Goods, Sun Sentimer {(Fi. Lau-
derdale), May 6, 1905, at 15A.

196 Securities litigation reform, which was part of the GOP tort reform, has become
faw. Jacoby, supra note 172, at 3.



CANVASSING “POINT OUTS” AND POLICE
SUGGESTION: A COMMENT ON
PEOPLE v. DIXON

Geoffrey T. Raichtt

I IntrOopuUCcTiON

Wade hearings seek to “test identification testimony for taint
arising from official suggestion during ‘police-arranged confronta-
tions between a defendant and an eyewitness,””' In Unated Siates v.
Wade,? the United States Supreme Court noted that one major fac-

1 Candidate for LD, 1897, City University of New York School of Law; MPA,
1582, New York University; BAA., 1896, New York University.

¥ People v. Dixon, 647 NE.2d 1321, 1828 (N.Y. 1995) {guoting People v. Gis-
sendanner, 399 N.E.2d 924, 986 (NY. 1979}). SeeYaLe Kamisar T AL., MobErn CriMl
Nat Procgoure: Cases, Comments anp Questions 659 {8th ed. 1994) (Wade hearings
seek "to protect the reliability of the identification process and fo make avaifable testi-
morty about the conditions under which such process is carried out . . "}; see also
Leonard B. Boudin, The Federal Grand Jury, 61 Geo. LY. 1 {1972); Yesse H. Choper,
Consequences of Sufreme Court Decisions Ephoiding Fndividual Constitutional Rights, 83
Micr, L. Rev. 1 (19843, Barry C. Feld, Criminalizing Juvenile Justice: Rules of Procedure for
the fuvenile Court, 69 Minnv. L. Rev. 141 (1984}, Joseph B, Grano, Kirby, Biggers, and
Ash: Do Any Constitutional Safeguards Remain Against the Danger of Convicting the Inno-
centl, 72 Mick. L. Rev, 717 (1974} Joseph D. Grano, Praphylactic Rules in Criminal
Procedure: A Question of Article T Legitimacy, 86 Nw. 17, L, Rev. 106 (1985); Sheri Lynn
Johnsen, Cross-Racial Identification Evvors in Criminal Cases, 59 Comnerr L. Rev. 934
(1984); Yale Kamisar, Brewer v.Willlams, Massiah, and Miranda: Waat is “Tnteroga-
tion™? When Doss it Matter?, 67 Geo, L] 1 (1978}; Felice }. Levine & June Louin Tapp,
The Psychology of Criminal Identification; The Gap FromWade to Kirby, 121 U. Pa. L. Ruv,
1679 (1973); Arnold H. Loewy, Police-Obtained Evidence and the Constitution: Distinguish-
ing Unconstitutionally Obtained Fuidence From Unconstitutionally Used Evidence, 87 Micn, L.
Rev. 007 {1989); Christopher B. Mueller, Post-Modern Huorsay Reform: The Fmportance of
Complexity, 76 Minwn. L. Rev. 367 (1992); Charles A. Pulaski, Neil v. Biggers: The
Supreme Court Dismantles the Wade Trilogy’s Due Process Protection, 26 §1an. L. Rev, 1097
(1974}, Stepheh A. Saltzburg, Foraword: The Flow and Ebb of Constitutional Criminal Pro-
cedure in the Warren and Burger Cowsts, 69 Gro. L. 151 (1980}, Louis Michae! Seidman,
Soldiers, Martyrs, and Criminals: Utifitarian Theory and the Problem of Crimee Gomtrol, 94
Yarm 1.]. 815 {1984); Seventeenth Annual Review of Criminal Procedure: Uniled States
Sugireme Court and Courts of Appecls 1986-1987, 76 Gro. LI 521 (198R8); Jeff Thaler,
Punishing the Inméfmt: The Need for Due Process and the Presumption of Innocence Prior 1o
Trial, 1978 Wis. L.[Rev. 441 (1978}; Cindy |. O'Hagan, Note, When Seaing is Not Belieo-
tng. The Case for Eyewitness Expert Testimony, 81 Geo. L.} 741 (1993},

% 888 U.8. 218 (1967) {applying Sixth Amendment right to counsel to pretrial
lineups). Moreover, the Supreme Court held that the rght to counsel applied
because

of “the accused’s inability effectively 60 reconstruct at trial any anfair
f1ess that oceurred at the lineup.” The Court was concerned zhout the
potential suggestiveness of improper lineup or showup procedares. To
protect she defendant from prejudice, the Wade Courst recognized that a

567
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tor which contributes to “the high incidence of miscarriage of jus-
tice from mistaken identification has been the degree of
suggestion inherent in the manner in which tbe prosecution
presents the suspect to witnesses for pretrial identification.”® The
Court further noted that “[sjuggestion can be created intentionally
or unintentionally in many subtle ways. And the dangers for the
suspect are particularly grave when the witness’ opportunity for ob-
servation was insubstantial, and, thus, his susceptibility to sugges-
tion the greatest.”* When police officers conduct identification
procedures, the possibility of suggestion is no less serious.® Often,
shortly after a crime has occurred, police will conduct a “show-up”
where they present the suspect to 2 wimess for identification.® In
some instances, a victim or witness will only be in the presence of
police, canvassing the area near the scene of the crime, when they
point out a perpetrator.” Does this situation command a Wade
hearing?® In February 1993, New York State’s highest court ruled
that where the police canvass an area of a crime scene with a victim
or witness in their car and a perpetrator is “pointed out,” the iden-

postindistment ineup is a "¢ritieal stage”™ of the criminal proceedings,
at which the defendant has a right to counsel, The Court reasoned that
the presence of counsel at such a “critical stage” can prevent prejudicial
identification procedures and can enabie counsel o reconstruct and
challenge those procedures at trial.
Seventesnth Annval Review of Criminal Provedure; United States Supreme Court and Courts of
Appeals 19861987, 76 Gro. L.}, 521, 6561 {1988) (internal citations omitted).

3 Wade 388 U5, 2t 228,

4 Id. ar 299.

5 Stovall v. Denno, 388 U.S. 208 (1967) (the Court extended due process right to
exchde identification testimony that results from unnecessarily suggestive procedisres
that may lead to an irreparably mistaken idendfication),

8 Ser, g, People v, Clark. 649 N.E.2d 1203 (NY. 1995).

7 See gemerally Pecple v. Dixon, 647 N.E2d 1321 (N.Y. 1095),

8 Canvassing of a crime scene in a police van with a witness is akin to “alley con-
frontations” or “prompt confrontationy with the victisn or an eyewitness at the scene
of the crime” YAk BaMisak 7 aL., Mobzers Criviinal, Procenure: £ases, COMMENTS
Anp QuesTioNs 668 {8th ed. 1994). This type of identification has been exempled
from the right to counsel requirement under the Sixth Amendment. fd. (citing Rus-
sell v, United States, 408 F.2d 1280 (D.C. Cir. 1669}). However, in pre-arvest and pre-
indiczment cases

ftithe Duse Process Clause of the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments for-
bids a line up that is unnecessarily suggestive and conducive to irrepara-
ble mistaken idendfication. When a person has not been formally
charged with a eriminal offense, Stovall strikes the appropriate constitu-
tional balance between the right of a suspect to be protected from prei-
udicial procedures and the interest of society in the prompt and
purposefu] investigation of an unsolved crime,

Kirby v. linois, 406 1.8, 682, 691 (1872) (internal citation omitted).
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tification procedure must be subject w0 a Wade hearing.? The deci-
sion enhances due precess and may burden criminal court
calendars. However, the New York State Court of Appeals was cor-
rect by affording defendants this extra layer of protection.

While this opinion may be viewed as a branding of police pro-
cedures as inherently suggestive,’® such a stark view is unnecessary.
While the New York Swmte Court of Appeals’ grant of due process
protection was correct, one need not believe that police practices
are inherently malicious and in need of constant oversight. That is
1ot to say that police do not, at times, disregard certain individual
constitutional protections. However, even. the most honest and
wellintentioned police officer may unknowingly taint an iden-
tification, :

II. Tur Roseery oF HAROLD KNOWINGS AND THE ARREST OF
RorerT Dixon

A group of men robbed Harold Knowings as he exited a gro-
cery store in Brooklyn,'* Shordy thereafter, transit police officers
drove Harold Knowings in a marked van around the streets near
where the robbery occurred.”” During the “canvass,” Knowings
“pointed to” Robert Dixon on the street and identified him as one
of the men who robbed him carlier.’® Based on Knowings’ identifi-
cation, police immediately arrested Dixon and charged him with
robbery in the second degree,’* grand larceny in the fourth de-
gree,'” and assault in the second®® and third degrees.!”

8 Dixon, 647 NE.2d at 1324.
i Jd.-at 1326 (Bellacosa, }., dissenting).
it id at 1324,
12 1d,
13 .
14 Under New York Penat Law section 166.10, a person is guilty of robbery in the
second degree when he forcibly steals property and when:
L. He is aided by another person actually present; or
2. In the course of the commission of the ¢rime or of immediate flight
therefrom, he or another participant in the crime:
a. Causes physical injury to any person-who is not a participant in
the crime; ar
k. Displays what appears to be a pistol, revolver, rifle, shotgun,
machine gun or other firearm; or
3. The property consists of 2 motor vehidle, 25 defined in section one
hundred twénty-five of the velicie and traffic faw.
Robbery in the second degree it a class C felony.
N.Y. Penas Law § 160.10 {McKinney 1988 & Supp. 1996).
t5 Ulnder New York Penal Law section 155.80, a person is guilty of grand larceny in
the fourth degree when he steals property and when:
1. The value of the property exceeds one thousand dollars; or
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The prosecuton notified Dixon that Knowings made a “‘cor-

2. The property consists of a public record, writing or instrument kept,
filed or deposited according to faw with or in the keeping of any pudlic
office or public servant; or

$. The property consists of secret scientific material; or

4. The property consists of a eredit card or debit card; or

5. The property, regardiess of its nature and value, is taken from the
person of another; or

6. The property, regardless of its nature and vaiue, is obtained by extor-
tion; or

7. 'The property consists of one or more firearms, rifles, or guns, as such
terms are defined in section 265.06 of this chapter; or

#. The walue of the property exceeds one hundred dollars and the
property consists of 2 motor vehicle, as defined in section one hundred
twenty-five of the vehicle and traffic Jaw, other than a motorcycle, as
defined in section one hundred twensrthree of such law; or

9. The property consists of a scrofl, religious vestment, vessel or other
item of property having a vakue of at least one hundred doliars kept for
or wsed in connsciion with religious worship in any bullding or struc-
ture used as a place of religious worship by a religious corporation, as
incorporated under the religious corporations law or the education law.
19. The property consists of an access device which the person intends
to use unlawfully to obtain telephone service.

Grand larceny in the fourth degree is 2 dass E felony.

NY. Pevan Law § 155.30 {(McKinney 1988 & Supp. 1996},
16 Under New York Penal Law section 120.05, a person is guilty of assaudt
second degree when:!

1, With intent to cause serous physical injury to another person, he
causes such injury to such person or to a third person; or

2. With intent to eause physical injury to another person, he causes
such injury to such person or to a third person by means of a deadly
weapon or @ dangerous instrument; or

3. With intent to prevent a peace officer, police officer, a fireman, in-
cluding a fireman acting as a paramedic or emergency medieal rechni-
cian administering first aid in the course of performance of duzy as such
fireman, or an emergency medical service paramedic or emergency
medical service technician, from performing a lawful duty, he causes
physical injury to such peace officer, police officer, fireman, paramedic
or technician; oy

4. He reckiessly causes serious physical infury 1o another person by
means of a deadly weapon or 2 dangerous instrument; or

b, For a purpose other than lawful medical or therapentic treatment,
he intentionally causes stupor, unconsciousness or other physical im-
pairment or injury to another person by administering to him, without
his consent, a drug, substance or preparation capable of prodicing the
same; or

6. In the course of and in fartherance of the commission or attemnpted
commission of a felony, other than a felony defined in article one hun-
dred thirty which requires corroboration for conviction, or of immedi-
ate flight therefrom, he, or another participant if there be any, causes
physical injury to a person other than one of the participants; or

7. Having been charged with or convicted of a erime and while con-
fined in a correctional facility, as defined in subdivision three of section
forty of the correction law, pursuant to such charge or conviction, with

in the
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poreal non-ineup identification’ in the presence of the police.
Dixon then requested a Wade hearing®® “to chalienge ‘the propri-
ety of the identification procedures used.””*® He argued that the
police identification procedure was “unfair, creating a substantial
likelihcod of misidentification.”™ The People argued that Dixon
was “pointed out” to the police sug sponte by Knowings “during a
canvass of the area surrounding the scene of the crime.”®* There-
fore, the People argued that Dixon'’s identification was not police-
arranged and, thus, he was not entitled to a Wade hearing.®® The
court agreed and denied Dixon’s moton,**

At trial, Knowings testified to his out-ofcourt identification of
Dixon and further identified him in court as one of the men who
robbed him.?® In his defense, Dixon took the stand and claimed
that while he was near the scene of the crime, Knowings had mis-
takenly identified him as one of the perpetrators.®*® The jury con-
victed Dixon of robbery in the second degree.27 The appellate
division affirmed both Dixon’s conviction and the court’s denial of
a Wade hearing

nif

intent to canse physical injury to another person, he causes such injury
to such person or 10 a third person; or
8. Being cighteen years vld or more and with intent to cause physical
injury to a Ele.mon less than eleven years old, the defendant reckiessly
causes sexious physical injury to such person.
Assault in the sccond degree is & ¢lass B felony.
NY. Penay, Law § 12005 (McKinney 1987 & Supp. 19896).
17 Under New York Penal Law section 120.00, a person is guilty of assault in the
third degree when:
1 With intent to cause physical injury to another person, he causes
such infury!to such person or to a third person; or
2. He recklessly causes physical injury to another person; or
3. With eriminal negligence, he causes physical injury to another per
sor: by means of a deadly weapon or a dangerous instrument,
Assault in the third degree is a dass A misdemeanor,
NY, Penan Law § 120,00 (McKinney 1987 & Supp. 1596).
18 Dixenm, 647 N.E.2d at 1522,
¥ Dixon sought omnaibus relief, which inclnded his application for a “Wade hear-
ing o challenge 'the propriety of the identfication procedures used’ fo ideptify him
as one of the perpetrators.” Jd
20 Id .
21 fg |
22 Jd,
23 I
24 4, '
25 Id. :
26 1d.
97 1,
28 id, at 1323; see alse People v. Dixen, 609 N.Y.5.2d 807, 808 {N.Y. App. Div. 1994).
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I, Tug POTeNTIAL FOR POLICE SUGGESTION Was Too GreaT
Nor 1o ArrorD Diwon a Plos Hearing

In a five to two decision,* the New York State Court of Ap-
peals held that the “canvassing” of the streets near the crime scene,
with Knowings in the police van, was “police-arranged” and the
identification susceptible to police suggestion. Therefore, accord-
ing to the majority, Robert Dixon was entitled to 2 Wade hearing *°

The court began with an analysis of New York Criminal Proce-
dure Law section 710.60,%' “which governs suppression motions

22 Dixon, 647 N.E.2d at 1328,
36 Id at 1324, )
81 New York Criminal Procedure Law section 7310.60, which governs motions 1o
suppress evidence, provides:
1. A motion to suppress evidence made before trial must be in writing
and upon reasorable natice to the people and with opportumnity to be
heard. The motion papers must state the ground or grounds for the
motion and must contain sworn aliegations of fact, whether of the de-
fendant or of another person of persons, supporting such grounds.
Such allegations may be based upon personal knowledge of the depo-
nient or upon information and belief, providéd that in the latter event
the sources of such informatien and the grounds of such belief are
stated. The people may file with the court, and in such case must serve
a copy thereof upon the defendant or his connsel, an answer denying or
admitting any of ali of the aflegations of the moving papers.
2. The court must summarily grant the motion if:

a. The motion papers comply with the requirements of subdivision
one and the people concede the truth of allegations of fact therein
which support the motion; or

. The people stipulate that the evidenee sought to be suppressed
will not be offered in evidence in any criminal action or proceeding
against the defendant.

3, The court may summarily deny the motion ift

a. The motion papers do not allege a ground constituting Jegal ba-
sis for the motion; or

b. The sworn allegations of fact do not as & matter of law support
the ground atieged; except that this paragraph does not apply where
the motion is based upon the ground specified in subdivision three or
six of sectionr 710.20.

4, If the court does not determine the motion pursuant to subdivisions
two or thre, it must conduct a hearing and make findings of fact essen-
tial to the determination thereof. All persons giving factual information
at such hearing must testify under oath, except that unsworn evidence
pursaaat to subdivision two of section 60.20 of this chaprer may also be
received. Upon such hearing, hearsay evidence is admissible to estab-.
lish any material fact,

5. A motion to suppress evidence made during trial may be in writing
and may be litigated and determined on the basis of motion papers as
provided in subdivisions one through four, or it may, instead, be made
orally in open court. In the later event, the court must, where neces-
sary, also conduct a hearing as provided in subdivision four, out of the
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and their disposition.”* The court noted that the standard under
this section requires the trial court to “conduct a hearing and make
findings of fact in determining the motion.”® It also noted that
the suppression motion may be “surmmarily denied ‘if no legal basis
for suppression is presented or if the factual predicate for the mo-
tion is insufficient as a matter of law.””** The court found that
blame could not rest with Dixon for not alleging facts “describing
the nature and circumstances of the ‘point-out’ in the police car.”*
The court further noted that the 1986 amendments to New York
State Criminal Procedure Law section 710.60(3) (b} no longer bur-
den a defendant with having to allege facts to support a motion to
suppress an out-of-court identification.®® Indeed, the court found
that nowhere is such a rule more valuable than here, where no one
but the witness and police are privy to the exact circumstances of
the identification.?”

The court then turned to the issue of Dixon’s entitlement to a
Wade hearing.® The court based its decision on the principle that
“the purpose of the Wadehearing is to test identification testimony
for taint arising from official suggestion during ‘police-arranged
confrontations between a defendant and an eyewitness.””®

Central to the court’s decision, it announced adherence to
“precedent” apd utilization of a nonrestrictive definition of “‘po-
lice-arranged’ procedures.” The court, therefore, did not believe
that it was announcing a new rule, but a natural outgrowth of pre-
cedent. The court rejected the People’s argument that “the fact
that [Knowings] ‘spontaneocusly’ pointed out [Dixon] removed the
identification procedure—here, the canvassing—from the category
of police-sponsored viewings that warrant a Wade hearing.”* A wit-

presence of the jury if any, and make findings of fact essential to the
determination of the motion.
6. Regardless of whether a hearing was conducted, the court, upon de-
termining the motion, must set forth on the record its finding of fact, its
conclusions of law and the reasons for its determination.
N.Y. Camm. Proc. Law § T10.60 (McKinney 1995) {internal footmote omitted).

32 Dixon, 647 N.E.2d at 1923,

83 K

84 Id. (citing People v. Rodriguez, 593 N.E.2d 268, 2¥3 (NY. 1699)).

55 I’d\

56 1.

®Y Id.

58 14,

3 Id. {quoting People v. Gissendanner, 399 N.E.2d 924, 930 (N.Y. 1979)).

30 [d. {citing 44 at 1327 (Bellacosa, ], dissenting}).

41 1
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ness identification may be “spontaneous,”* yet may nonetheless be
prompted by a police-arranged procedure® The court narrowly
defined an identification as truly spontaneous where “a complain-
ant flags down a police officer and then peints to the attackers on
the street less than two blocks away.”* The court found it unmis-
takable that the canvassing of the crime area in a marked police car
was done “at the ‘deliberate direction of the State.™

Morcover, the instant identification did not fall into the two
recognized exceptions to the Wade requirement.*® The court rec-
ognized that an exception to the Wade requirement may be made
when either (1) the prior identification’is merely “confirmatory,”*”
or (2} the identifying witness and suspect are known to each
other.*® In either circumstance, the possibility of misidentification
is extremely low.*® Implicitly, there is no room for police sugges-
tion in either exception.

The court further reasoned that “{w]ithout the benefit of a
Wade hearing, the courts below could not conclude as a matter of
faw that [Knowings’] identification of [Dixon] from the police van
was spontaneous and not subject to any degree of police sugges-
tion.” The court noted that the mere claim that Knowings
“pointed out” Dixon supports the possibility that the identification
was indeed preceded by police prompting® The court found the
circumstances of the canvassing to be no different than a tradi-
tional lineup.”® Accordingly, “a Wade hearing was required to en-
able the parties to explore the true nature of the facts surrounding
the particular identification—circumstances not ascertainable in
the absence of a hearing.”s®

IV, THE Majority’s RULE CrEATES A PER SE ENTITLEMENT
In his dissent, Judge Beliacosa, joined by Judge Levine, would

12 The court exempiified "spontancous” as when a victim “points out” 2 defendant
by reflex while viewing a police supplied video tape. While the “point out” may be
“spontaneous,” it would be difficult to deny that the viewing was police-arranged. Ser
id. at 1324 {citing People v. Edmonson, 554 N.E.2d 1254 (N.Y. 1990)).

4% Id, ar 152824

44 [d, at 1324 {citing People v. Rios, 548 N.Y.5.24 348, 849 (NV. App. Div. 1989}).

45 Id. (citing People v. Berkowitz, 406 N.E.2¢ 783 (NY. 19580)).

46 I,

47 Id. {citing People v. Wharton, 549 N.E.24d 462 (N.V. 1980}).

’*z Id. {citing People v. Gissendanner, 399 N.E2d 924 (NY. 1979},

49 Id.

5 14
81 14,
52 1.
58 Id. at 1325,
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have affirmed the denial of the suppression hearing, because the
defendant failéd to show any “legal basis [or cognizable theory]
for sapprcssion .. and no sufficient ‘factual predicate for the
motion’ o suPpress as a2 marter of law, {was] advanced.”* The
dissenting judges were most concerned with the majority’s creation
of a “virtual peér se pretrial hearing entitlement, contrary to [New
York Criminal Procedure Law section 710.601’s express limitations
and prescriptions.”™® The dissenting judges warned that “[e]very
noncustodial street canvass by police with crime victims will hereaf-
ter be preemptively treated as ‘police-arranged’ and the identifica-
tion as suggestive by its nature.”®® Moreover, the dissenting judges
cautioned that the “[ulnnecessary, layered hearings, not constitu-
tionally or statutorily required in faiiness, merely provide for indi-
rect discovery, complexity and tactical delay and unjust results.””
They further argued that the identification of Dixon was not po-
lice-arranged. Dixon's identification, the dissenting judges wrote,
“drives the phrase ‘police-arranged’ inexorably and inappropri-
ately beyond its categorical, functional and particularized pur-
pose.”™® “The law enforcement authorities did not initiate or exert
this effort with prior knowledge about this or any targeted perpe-
trator. They were simply responding immediately to a civilian
crime victim’s complaint.”™® This, the dissenting judges asserted,
“is 110t a situation ipstinct with suggestibility . . . "%

V. Wans Hearanes Arrorp Derenpants NeCESSARY PROTECTIONS
AGANsT Tamnt orF IDENTIFICATION

The New York State Court of Appeals correctly found that the
lower courts drred by failing to conduct a suppression hearing.
Whenever there is the possibility of undue suggestion, cither by law
enforcement or prosecutors, suppression hearings should be
granted. While the court’s decision may add another layer upon
an already burdened criminal justice system, the court simultane-
ously prevented a potential miscarriage of justice where misidentifi-
cation was possible.

5% Id. (citing N.Y. Cram. Proc. Law § 710.60 {McKinney 1995); People v. Mendoza,
624 NE.2d 1017 {N.Y. 1993}; People v. Rodriguez, 533 N.E.2d 268 (N.Y. 1992)).

BE I see Timothy B. Leanon, Joseph W. Bellacosa: Cardozo'’s Knight-Frrant?, B9 Asn,
L. Rev. 1837 (1996) (discussing Dixzon to illustrate Judge Bellacosa's conservativism).

56 Dixon, 647 NI‘ 24 ar 1525,

57 Id,

58 Id. atr 1827.

5% H. at 1326,

60 14,
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V1. Tor RoLr OF POLICE SUGGESTION IN UANVASSING
“Pornt Quts”

Dixon represents a classic contrast in philosophical beliefs.
The debate may seem to turn on the question of whether police
manipuiate and influence witnesses at every opportunity. The five
member majority found, in effect, that they do.®! However, such
polarized views are not necessary to resolve this issue. Even an
honest and welkintentioned police officer may create undue sug-
gestion or taint in identification.

In Dixon, the majority believed that no amount of time was too
short for a witness to be'alone with the police before undue sugges-
tion may occur. The majority did not in its recitation of the facts
make any reference to how long the canvassing lasted."? Thus,
whether the victim or witness is alone with police canvassing the
area for two hours or two minutes, the potential for police sugges-
tion exists and such an identification must be subject to a Wade
hearing. The court stated that the only true spontaneous “point
out” would be where a complainant flagged down a pelice officer
and pointed to the perpetrators on the street only a couple of
blocks away.® Accordingly, in New York State, Wade hearings are
likely to be granted in all similar situations.®

While the record is devoid of any direct accusations of police
misconduct,® nothing suggests that it is a routine police proceduré
to coach or coax witnesses into making identifications. It would be
counter-productive for police officers to routinely encourage false
identificatons since most would be unlikely to result in convictions
at trial.®® However, it appears accepted by the Dixon majority and
by the United States Supreme Court® that such practices do rou-

6% Id at 1324
82 Id ar 1322,
83 Id. at 1324,
64 Id. at 1325 (Bellacosa, ., dissenting}.
65 See generally id.
66 A trial may reveal alibi defenses and general inconsistencies that would be un-
likely w result in convicidons.
87 In United States v. Wade, 388 115, 218 {1887}, the Court gave a long explana-
tion of the possibility of police suggestion in identification procedures,
But the confrontation compelied by the State between the accused and
the victim or witnesses to.a critne 1o elicit identification evidence is pe-
culiarly riddled with innumerable dangers and variable factors which
might seriously, even crucially, derogate from a fair trial. The vagaries
of evewitness identification are wellknown; the annals of criminal law
are rife with instances of mistaken identification. . . . A commentator
has observed that “[tihe influence of improper suggestion vpon ident-
fying witnesses probably accounts for more miscarnages of justice than
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tinely exist. The pervasiveness of this practice iIs, however,
unquantifiablé,

The effect of Dixon is an extra layer of protection against possi-
ble misidentification. Indeed, it is an important layer. In fact, con-
trary to the general tone of this decision, one need not find
themselves on one side of the crime control-due process fence to
recognize it as such. Suggestiveness, resulting in taint of witness
identification, need not take the form of malicious police practice.
Even the police officer who in no way means te engage in a sugges-
tive practice may taint an identification.

A hypothetical examination of the conduct of two different fic-
tional police officers demonstrates this very point. Police Officer
Alpha ("Alpha”} is a defendant’s worst nightmare and the very type
of police officer from whom the majority seeks to protect wounld-be
defendants. Alpha is the classic dishonest police officer who does
not exercise care in safeguarding a defendant’s due process rights.
He wants to make arrests and does not care how he gets them. For
Alpha, it is frelevant whether the arrestee is culpable for the
crime. In Alpha’s mind, the arrestee is probably guilty of
something.

Alpha responds to a mugging call outside a grocery store.
Wlhen he arrives in his police van, the victim is outside the store.
Alpha places the victim in the van and they proceed to drive
around the neighborhood canvassing the area attempting to spot
one of the perpetrators. Alpha could say a variety of things to in-
cite the victim into making an identification (e.g.. “he looks guilty
of something” pr “doesn’t he fit your description”). Indeed, Alpha
may not even {irect his comments toward a particular individual.
Rather, he may say things to encourage the witness to pick anyone,
such as “guys that rob are scum and should be locked away.” The
victin: then wants to make an identification merely to vindicate
himself or perhaps believing he is doing the right thing. It is this
type of police dfficer that strikes fear in the Dixon majority and in
those in the wrong place at the wrong time,

Police Officer Omega (“Omegnr”) is the antithesis of Alpha.
He is not interested in making arrests at any cost. In fact, Omega is

any other siigle factor—perhaps it is responsibic for more such errors
than all other factors combined.” Suggestion can be created intention-
ally or unintentionally in many sabtle ways. And the dangers for the
suspeact are particularly grave when the witness’ opportunity for observa-
tion was insubstantial, and thuy his susceptibility to suggestion the
greatest.

Id, at 22829 {internal citadons omitted).
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generally good-willed, honest and concerned with the health and
safety of those victimized by crime. When Omega responds to the
mugging call, he finds the victim in front of the market and n-
quires if any medical assistance is needed. After seeing that the
victim does not require medical assistance, the victim and Omega
get into the police van and canvass the neighborhood looking for
one of the perpetrators. Omega does not try to incite the victim,
but generally tries to be helpful. Based on a description supplied
to him by the victim, he may suggest persons on the street. While
he is trying to be helpful, he has tainted the identification,

Omega may not say anything about the crime and still taint
the identification. Suppose the victim gives Omega a description
of the perpetrators. Omega and the victim then canvass the neigh-
borhood. Omega and the victim could discuss anything. By
chance, Omega stops the conversation because he thinks he sees
someone resembling the description. The victim’s attention is
drawn there and the resulting identification would then be consid-
ered tainted. The only way to avoid any type of taint is for the
police officers not to engage in any conversation either amongst
other officers or with the victims. Unfortunately, it 1s impossible to
safeguard against such happenings.

The dissenting judges were incorrect when they challenged
the majority’s characterization of the canvassing as “conducted for
the' purpose of obtaining an identification.”™™ They argued that
“[n}o one could have known that one of the perpetrators was still
at or near the crime scene when the normal investigative canvass
was undertaken.”® The dissenting judges missed the point. First,
what other reason would the police officer and the victim get into
the van were it not to attempt to secure an identification? Second,
the mere fact that the police did not “arrange” potential suspects
does not remove this identification from the category of police-ar-
ranged. The dissenting judges focused on presentation of the per-
petrators, akin to a lineup or a photo array. Its view appeared to be
that it is not police-arranged if the police did not physically assern-
ble the suspects. The majority saw potential for taint on the other
side of the two-way glass. While it is true that the police did not
arrange for Robert Dixon t¢ be on the street at that time, the po-
lice may have said or portrayed something in a certain light to
taint. It is this that cannot be checked without a Wade hearing,
The dissenting judges further argued that:

66 Dixom, 647 N.E.2d a1 1326 (citing id. at 1522).
€9 1.
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[TThe iaw enforcement action here was limited to responding
promptly and appropriately to a ¢crime victim's exigent report of
a crime committed proximately in time and place. The action is
different in kind from the identification techniques, practices
and categories that have previously been curtailed or con-
demned or made subject to per se suppression.”

However, surely the same arguments were made when protections
were afforded for lineups,”” tue show-ups,” and photo
identifications.™
As of this writing, the New York State Court of Appeals has
twice relied upon its holding in Dixen.”™ In People v. Broum,” the
court l"emanded?6 the proceeding so that a Wade hearing could be
conducted.” In Brown, the perpetrator robbed the victim of jew-
elry “allegedly” at gunpoint.”® The victim and his sister informed
police officers, stationed nearby, of the robbery.” In a marked po-
lice car, the victim, his sister and police officers “canvassed” the
adjacent block for the perpetrator.®® The victim “‘pointed out’ the
person he thopght was-the robber, and upon the approach by the
police in the marked car, the suspected robber ran off.”™™ Chased
by police, the suspected robber ran into an apartment building.®
Police apprehended the suspect in the building stairwell.®® Police
presented the suspected robber to the victim in the ground floor
stairwell handcuffed and surrounded by police officers.®* The vic-
tim then identified the suspect as the person who robbed him.%
No jewelry or guns were recovered from the suspect.®® The court
ordered a Wade hearing to ensure that the identfication was free
]

0 Se id. at 1327.

71 Sep United States v, Wade, 388 U5, 218 {1887); see akio People v. Chipp, 552
N.E.2d 608 (N¥. 1990).

72 Ser People v. Riley, 517 N.E.2d 520 (N.Y. 1987},

78 See People vi Rodrigues, 503 M.E.2d 268 (NY. 1902).

74 See People v. Brown, 655 N.E.2d 162 (N.Y. 1996); ses also People v. Clark, 649
MNE2d 120% {NY. 196K),

75 635 NE2d 162 (IN.Y. 1995).

® JId. at 168,

77 Id at 162,

B Id at 163.

[ R/

80 id.

81 Id. (emphasfs added).

82 M.

88 I,

84 Id

8 Id.

86 Id,
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from police suggestion.®” The court stated that “[a]ithough the
victim- initiated the police chase once he pointed out his alleged
assailant, the resultant showup does not fit into the category of
confirmatory identifications that are recognized as exceptions to
the general requirement of a Wade hearing. ™

In People v. Clark® “[o]ne of two robbery victims observed the
perpetrator in a neighborhood market, asked the manager for bis
address, and then contacted the police with this information.”
Police escorted the victims to that address and identified their as-
sailant as he opened the door to his apartment.®! The court unani-
mously found that the procedure was not suggestive and the
identification spontaneous.”

However, in Clark, the court aftirmed People v. Williams®® The
court, confronted with a similar situation, found the identification
to be mere “happenstance”* and upheld the denial of a Wade hear-
ing. In that case, the perpetrator raped and sodomized a woman
in the lobby of her building.”® Two weeks later, a man contacted:
the woman claiming to have her passport and identification cards,
which were stolen from her apartment twelve days after her rape.”®
The man approached the woman’s neighbor in an attempt to lo-
cate her.®” The neighbor described the man to the victim.® Based
on that description, the woman believed him o be her attacker.%
After conferring with the police, the woman agreed to meet the
man outside of a subway station in order to return her property.!®
The police, in an unmarked police car, escorted the woman to the
subway station.’®* “After canvassing the area several times, the
detectives spoited an individual, who matcbed the complainant’s
prior descriptions, standing by himself atop the stairs leading down

87 Id.

88 Jd, {citing People v. Dixon, 647 NJE.24 1321 (NY. 1985); People v. Wharton,
549 N.E.2d 462 (N.Y. 1989); People v. Gissendanner, 399 N.E.2d 924 {(N.Y. 1%79)}.

89 49 NEZd 1205 (NY. 1905},

90 Id. at 1204,

9 d.

92 [d. {citing People v. Dixon, 647 N.E.2d 1321 (NY. 1995)).

48 600 N.YS5.2d 596 {NY. App. Div. 1904}, aff'd, People v. Clark, 648 N.E.2d 1208
{NY. 1995) (Williams was consolidated with, Clark).

9% (lark, 649 N.E2d at 1204,

95 Id.

96 Id.

87 Id.

98 Id.

M Id,

H0 Jd,

19 g
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to the subway,"*** The police instructed the woman to remain in
the car and followed the suspect into the subway station.’? After a
scuffle, police arrested the suspect, searched his person, and recov-
ered the woman’s passport and identification cards.’* An unre-
lated commotion in the subway station forced the police to remove
the suspect to street level.’™ “The [woman] observed the detec-
tives emerge from the station with the defendant, and immediately
recognized and identified him to the detectives as her attacker,”'%
The woman positively identified the suspect as her attacker by his
distinguished crooked tecth, which she had previously and repeat-
edly attributed, to her attacker.'%?

While on their face these facts appear closely analogous to
Dixon,'% in this case the court of appeals upheld the denial of the
protection of a Wade hearing. The court stated that “[gliven the
erratic circumstances of the detectives’ encounter with the defend-
ant, the resulting ‘showup’ identification procedure was unavoida-
ble, the product of a fast-paced, uncontroliable situation ”1o?

The necessity for the protection of due process is well stated
by Professor Lawrence M. Friedman of Stanford University School
of Law:

En criminal trials, some one man or woman stands in the dock,
facing the raw and awesome power of the state. A democratic
system acknowledges this fact, and is committed to some kind of
balance. ‘Due pmcess,- is 4 basic concept of American law. It
has many meanings. One of them, however, relates strongly to
criminal justice. The scales must not it too much toward gov-
ernment. Arrests must be fair; trials must be fair; punishments
must be fair. These are ideals (reality is another matter). The
opposite of a democratic society is a poiice state. This is a state
where the other side, the police side, the government side, al-
ways has the upper hand.}*?

102 7,

103 74,

104 74,

195 71

106 7.

197 4.

108 Sge People v. Pixon, 647 NE.2d 132], 18322.23 (N.Y. 1995). In Dixon and Wik
liaans, the police canvassed the area near the crime scene. The fact that the canvass
ook place shordy afier the crime in Divon and several weeks after the crime in Wil
lienms did not factor into the court’s analysis. Accordingly, for comparison purposes,
these cases remain factualiy analogous.

109 Sep Clark, 649 N.E.2d at 1204 {citing Peopie v. Dixon, 647 N.E2d 1321 (NY.
19957} 2

130 Fawrence M) Frieoman, Crime anp Ponisument v Asericany History 55
(1993).
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Professor Friedman’s observation is correct. The State pos-
sesses “raw and awesome power.”'!! Identifications made solely in
the presence of police officers, where there exists opportunity for
intended or unintended taint or suggestion, is too much power to
remain unchecked. To protect due process, it is necessary io add
another layer of protection. Certainly, a major drawback is that
courts will be forced to conduct additional hearings. The result is
that potential misidentifications will be thwarted, When balanced,
barring extraordinary circumstances, due process must always out-
weigh burdens on the judiciary. The dissent in Dixor argued that
allowing this extra layer of protection would result in delay and
unjust results.!'?

VII. CONCLUSION

The New York State Court of Appeals has protected those
identifications made in the presence of police that are not truly
spontaneous. The majority and dissent based their decision on
whether there existed the opportunity for police suggestion. The
correctness of the opinion can be reached whether or not one be-
lieves that police officers manipulate witnesses with malicious
intent.

In a scathing critique of the criminal justice system, the exclu-
sionary rule, and the Fourth Amendment, New York State Supreme
Court Justice Harold J. Rothwax noted:

[Tihe law is so muddy that the palice can’t find out what they

are allowed to do even if they wanted 0. If a street cop wok a

sabbatical and holed himself up in a library for six months de-

ing nothing but studying the law on search and seizure, he

wouldn't know any more than he did before he started. The law

15 totally confusing, yet we expect cops to always know at every

moment what the proper action is. It's no wonder that police

officers are somewhat edgy . . . .}*?
While Justice Rothwax’s comments are directed toward a different
amendment to the Constitution than those governing Wade hear-
ings, his observations of the complexity of the Iaw and its impact on
police officers is no less true. Most likely, Dixon will have little ef-
fect on police practices. However, Wade hearings will likely be con-
ducted more often than before. Simultaneously, misiden-

]

1% [d\.

312 Dixom, 647 N.E.2d at 1825 {Bellacosa, |, dissenting).

113 fupor Harown [ Romawax, GuiLTy: THE CoLLapsE oF THE Crianas JUsTICE Svs.
TEM 41 (1996).

-~
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tifications will likely decrease, As a result, due process will be pro-
tected and identifications that survive Wade hearings will be
relable. |
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CommerciaL LiTication in NEw Yorx Srate Courts. Fdited
by Robert L. Haig, Esq.tt St Paul: West Publishing Co. 1995,
Vol. 2 pp. CXXIII, 961; Vol. 3 pp. LXXXIII, 1018; Vol. 4 pp. LXXX-
HI, 1835,

In September 1992, the Review Committee for the Individual
Assignment System (the “Committee”},? appointed by then Chief
Judge Sol Wachtler, recommended the establishment of special-
ized parts within the supreme court to handle complex commer-
cial hitigation. In particular, the Committee suggested that such
parts be established in New York County, where commercial litiga-
tion appeared to be most voluminous and complex. The special-
ized parts were to be responsible for all aspects of commercial
litigaton, from the inital filing of a Request for }udlaal Interven-~
tion to the ultimate disposition of a claim.

These specialized parts were designed to create a cadre of ex-
perienced judges who would use active management techniques to
resolve commercial disputes swiftly, fairly, and in expert fashion.
The Gommittee was of the opinion that the camplex nature of
commercial litigation required vigilant judicial supemsmn If com-
mercial litigatibn cases were left amidst the general case inventory,
they would be deprived of necessary attention and burden the en-
tire system. Over the decades, the workload of judges in New York
expanded, inhibiting their ability to manage difficult and complex
legal commercial issues with the speed, thoroughness, and depth
they so merit. In turn, commercial litigators voted with their feet

+ Of Counsel, Robinson Brog Leinwand Greene Genovese & Gluck P.C., New
York, New York; Retired Justice, Supreme Court, Commercial Division, New York
County, 1995-1996; Justice, Supreme Court, Commercial Part, New York Counfy,
1994-1995; L. M., 1960, New York University Law School; 1.D., 1850, Syracuse Univer-
sity College of Law. Justice Schackman was in private practice for twenty-two years
before his electon 1w the bench in 1972,

+H Partmer, RKelley Diye & Warren, New York, New York; ].D., Harvard Law School,
1978; AB., Yale University, 1967, Mr. Haig served as Presiden: of the New York
Connty Lawyer’s Association from 19921994, He has vast litigation experience, and
has written extensively on various Hrigation topics.

I The Committee was established 10 review the effectiveness of the newly inst-
tuted Individual Assignment System, where one judge guides a case from i inception
to is disposition. The Committee was appointed by former Chief Judge Sol Wachder.
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and took their cases to federal court. Accordingly, New York
eeased to be the paramount center for commercial litigation in the
United States. The Committee sought to reinvigorate New York’s
ability to dispense efficient, considered, influential, and wise justice
in such cases.

The commercial parts of the Supreme Court, New York
County, established on January 1, 1993, have been a huge success.
In February 1995, at the urging of the Commercial and Federal
Litigation Section of the New York State Bar Association, Chief
Judge Judith S. Kaye established a Commercial Courts Task Force.
The Task Force recommended the creation of a Commercial Divi-
sion to provide a structured setting for that which the parts were
already doing. On November 6, 1995, Chief Judge Kaye, with the
support of New York Gounty Administrative Judge Stanley S. Os-
trau, established Commercial Divisions in New York County and
Rochester.

The creation of the Commercial Divisions has spirited this new
treatise Commercial Litigation in New York State Cowris.® Robert L.
Haig, Esq., the Editor-in-Chief, brought together an impressive
group of judges and practitioners to compile the chapters. As a
former practicing attorney, I see in the authors such dedication to
§choiarship and principles of justice.® Sixty-three principal authors

2 2 CommerciaL LiticaTion 1N New York Srare Counrts {Robert L. Haig ed,,
1995). B id.; 4 id. This work consists of volumes two through four of West's New York
Practice Series, together with a computer disk which contins alf the forms and jury
charges sampled in the volumes. 1t is a joint venture of West Publishing and the New
York County Lawyer's Association.

3 The authors include: Stewart D. Aavon, Robert M. Abrahams, John L. Amabile,
Arthur H. Aafses, [I, Celia Goldwag Barenholez, Garrard R. Beeney, Mark A, Belnick,
Charles G. Berry, Richard L. Bond, David M. Brodsky, John F. Cannon, P. Kevin Cas-
tel, Ellen M. Coin, J. Peter Coll, Jr., The Honorable Barry A, Cozier, Donald Francis
Donovan, Richard E. Donovan, Robert 8, Duboff, Peter G. Eikenberry, Blair C. Fen-
sterstock, William R. Golden, jr., David M. Gouldin, The Honorable Steward ¥, MHan-
cack, Jr., David L. Hoffberg, Laura B. Hoguet, Sicphen M. Hudspeth, Gary S,
Jacobson, J- Christopher Jensen, Jay B. Kasner, Stephen L. Kass, The Honorable
Judith §. Kaye, Stephen Rackow Kaye, Louis B. Kimmelman, The Honorable Theo-
dore R. Kupferman, Deborah E. Lans, Bernice K. Leber, Mark D, Lebow, Burion N.
Lipshie, Mitchell A. Lowenthal, Alan Mansfield, Peter |. Mastaglio, Saywurd Mazur,
John P. McCGahey, Thomas McGanney, Joseph T. Mciaughlin, Bdwin B. Mishkin,
Jumes C. Moore, The Honorable Francis T. Murphy, Richard E. Nolan, John M,
Nonna, The Honorable Geoffrey §. O’ Connell, James M. Ringer, Gary L. Rubin, Ed-
ward L. Sadowsky, Jay G. Safer, Frederick P, Schaffer, The Honorable George Bundy
Smith, Robert 5. Smith, fames L. Stengel, Harry P. Trueheart, IH, Kevin . Walsh, and
Stephen A. Weiner,

The coauthors include: Liza R Berliner, Jennifer Bernheim, Frederick A, Bro-
die, Lynn E. Busath, irene Chang. Flor M. Coldn, Jodi A, Dansdg, Thomas F. Fleming,
Richard A. De Palma, Lanrie Strauch Dix, Leonard Allen Feiwus, Janet A. Gordon,
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contributed to this work, and Mr. Haig notes that many others of-
fered to help as well.* 1 am pleased to commend Mr. Haig and his
authors for their outstanding public service in bringing this work
to life.

This treatise provides a comprehensive and in-depth examina-
tion of procedural and substantive commercial law in New York.
All the principle topics of suhstantive commercial law are discussed
in detail. It contains thorough discussions of the rules of proce-
dure, including some of the more treacherous ones, such as the
procedure for commencing third-party actions.” The helpful (but
not overwhelming) footnotes, library references, and case citations
will aid a lawyer needing to explore a point in greater detail. The
table of contents and index are clear, comprehensive, and easy to
use. I think it fair to say that even Judge Cardozo would have
found this treatise quite helpful if the text had been around in his
day!

What is most unique about this work is that it is more than a
form book, practice manual, or substantive treatise. It is a road
map for practice and strategy, from the decision to litigate to col-
lection of judgment. There are able and thoughtful examinations
of important questions of practice, tactics, strategy, and ethics, to-
gether with most useful forms. The work even includes sample jury
charges, a wel¢ome addition for busy trial lawyers.

Volume two, consisting of twenty-nine chaptess, examines a
range of issues including jurisdiction,® venue,” the drafting of a
complaint,? filing procedures for commencing a third party ac-
tion,? disclosure,’® and motion practice.!! There are also strategy
discussions on settlement,’® such as how to position a case so that it
can be sertled for the right amount at the right time,*® and jury

Michael C. Griffen, Elisa F. Hyman, Christopher P. Johnson, Jonathan Z. Xing, Rich-
ard A. Lingg, Robert Malaby, Jean M. McCarroll, Robert . McGreevy, James F. Parver,
Dorothea W, Regal, Harold E, Schiimkag, Amelia TR, Starr, Beverly G, Steinberg, Glo-
riz M. Trattles, Carol E. Warren, Kevin C. Watker, Michae! R, Wright, and Andrew M.
Zeitdin,
4 2 CoMMERGIAL LITIGATION N NEW YORK STATE COURTS, supre note 2, at X1
5 2 CommeErGiAL LaticaTion i New York State Courts, sugrs note 2, at 206-12.
8 2 Commercias Limigarion i New York Srare Courrs, suprs note 2, at 849,
7 2 Commerciar Lirioarion i New York Srars Counrs, supre note 2, at 50-74.
8 2 ComMEercial. LiTicaTion 1w New York State COURTS, supra note 2, at 96.187,
8 2 CommERCIAL LITIGATION v Niw YOory Stare. Courts, sufra note 2, at 206-12.
10 9 COMMERCIAL LiTiGaTIoN N New Yorx Stare COURTS, sugra note 2, at 587-622.
112 Comvmraral Limaamion ™ New Yorz Stare Courts, supra note 2, at 775-812.
12 2 CommERreIAL LmrcaTion IN New York State Courts, supra note 2, at 801922,
18 2 Commzrelaz. Lrmcamon In New Yorx Starz Courrs, supra note 2, af 80203,
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selection.* Chapter one sets the stage, discussing the historical
perspective of commercial law from the eighteenth century to the
twentieth century.® Particularly enlightening is the fact that cer-
tain basic features of New York litigation in 1795 remain the same
today, such as dissatisfaction with fees, arbitradon, the special ver-
dict, and the struck jury.’® This chapter provides an in-depth analy-
sis of the relationship between commercialization and litigation,
encouraging legal practitioners to commit “t6 provid[ing] an at-
tractive venue in the State courts for the expeditous and skillful
resolution of commercial disputes.”’? Since New York “considers
iself a world business capital [, it] must offer a court system com-
mensurate with that role. The two, after all, .are inextricably
linked.”'®

The remaining chaptersin this volume provide a wealth of de-
tailed information. For example, chapter three discusses the law of
venue in New York as it pertains to the parties involved and the
type of relief sought.’® It provides a basic understanding of the
contractual venue provisions,” defines the standards for changing
venue,”! and discusses procedures for changing venue and
waiver.* Within the text there is a discussion of the pragmatic con-
siderations for determining proper venue.®® For example, more
than one venue may be proper, even seemingly mandatory venue
provisions may be overcome, and the parties may agree on a fo-
rum.** Forms for requesting a venue change® and a practice
checklist® are provided 1o guide practitioners through the change
of venue process.

Chapter ten discusses the substantive law governing enforce-
ment of agreements to arbitrate under federal and New York law,*’
and the enforcement of forum selection clauses.®® Further, chap-
ter eleven provides the procedures for raising or objecting to'a
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choice of law clause and waiving its enforcement.®

The depd’x of this treatise is illustrated in chapter fourteen. It
examines the standard for determining whether a preliminary in-
Jjunction is justified,®® and outlines the procedure for obtaining a
preliminary injunction.® It ascertains how the court assesses the
amount of damages a defendant sustains by reason of a preliminary
injunction® and then expressly states the type of relief the court
may grant. % The chapter also examines the law that governs the
practice and procedure of provisional remedies such as a tempo~
rary restraining order,” attachment,” temporary receivership,®
notice of pendency,® and seizure of chattel

The muiltitude of forms supplied within the treatise is illus-
trated in chapter fifteen. The chapter examines the capacity of
parties to sue and be sued, whether they be partnerships or associa-
tions,* or unauthorized foreign corporations,® The forms in-
clude a Motion for Substitution,*! Interpleader Complaint,*
Affirmation in Opposition to Motion to Intervene,*® a Motion and
Order for Poor Person Relief,* and an Order Approving Settle-
ment of an Infant’s Action.*® Although these forms are available
elsewhere, their compilation in one place will prove to be handy
for the practitioner.

Actording to chapter eighteen, disclosure is “one of the most
important components of commercial litigation . . . . Disclosure
encompasses not only information about the client and its claim
that you and your adversary will obtain from each other, but also
information that may have to be obtained from third parties.”*
‘The chapter further discusses the importance of developing a dis-
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covery plan for commercial cases,” and the methods of obtaining
disclosure.*®

Volume three details the nuts and bolts of litigation. The
mechanics of trial practce (witness examination,* final argu-
ment,*® and jury charges®) and posttrial procedures (motions,*
appellate practice,®® and enforcement of judgments®) are given
great attention. The anchor of this volume is its introductory chap-
ter on trials. This chapter begins with a discussion of theories and
observations which can help the practicing commercial attorney
understand the processes and complexities associated with com-
mercial litigation.™ Although there are similarities between com-
mercial trials and trials of other types, there are some notable
differences. For instance, the subject matter of the commercial
case is often technical in nature, there may be differences in back-
ground and experience between judge or jury and the witnesses,
and commercial cases are characterized by 2 predominance of doc-
uments as sources of evidence, the use of depositions, and exten-
sive witness preparation.®® Trial structures and strategies are
discussed in an casy to understand and apply style.?”

Even more helpful for the litigator are subsequent chapters
which discuss the aspects of trial. An overview is provided for every
conceivable step: Preliminary conferences,® presentation of the
case in chief,” cross-examination,® expert witnesses,”! and final ar-
guments,5 just to name a few. Each chapter contains concrete ex-
amples which iflustrate the particular topic.®® For example, the
chapter on expert witnesses contains an excerpt of expert testi-
mony, including a direct examination and voir dive of an expert
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witness.”* These examples provide an excellent frame of reference
for attorneys.

Also included in this volume s a discussion of evidence and
related issues of admissibility in the commercial context.”® Hear-
say®® and the Parol Evidence Rule® are both discussed in the same
easy to understand language that characterizes this entire treatise,

The remainder of the chapters in this volume address the is-
sues of compensatory and punitive damages,®® enforcement of
judgments,® and appellate practice in the Appellate Divisions™
and the Court of Appeals.” Finally, in keeping with the great
depth this treatise offers, such topics as alternative dispute resolu-
tion™ and etb.zcai issues which may arise in commercial cases,” in-
cluding potential conflicts of interest™ and confidentiality,” are
included. This volume is a tompendium of sound advice, as well as
a practical guide,

Although volume four is of a more technical nature, the clarity
is not lost. This volume details issues involved in handling specific
types of commercial cases, and provides strategics for pursuing and
defending against these claims. For example, there are chapters
covering insurance,”® banking ltigation,” and collectons.” New
York agency law and its impact in commercial litigation cases are
discussed.”™ The succeeding chapter provides an analysis of war-
ranty claims® and defenses® An emphasis is placed on express®
and implied® warranties under Article 2 of the New York Uniform
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Commercial Code. The latter chapters of this volume are dedi-
cated to antitrust Hitigation,® torts of competition,® construction
litigation,® and environmental litigation.?” Most chapters provide
an analysis of preliminary strategic considerations® and checklists
of essential allegations®™ and potential defenses.™

The volume closes with a helpful overview of jurisdiction and
procedural matters in the Surrogate’s Court.® The final chapter
proposes a model for corporate litigation management which
should prove helpful to all commercial litigators.®® Itincludes rec-
ommendations as to how corporate litigation can be managed
costeffectively, such as returning telephone calls promptly, provid-
ing in-house training for attorneys on litigation and negotiation,
and periodically reviewing litigation referred to outside counsel to
determine if similar matters may be handled in-house in the fu-
ture.*® The quick reference tables and indexes provide easy cross
reference within all volumes of the treatise.®*

With so many contributors, the result could have been confus-
ing, but Mr, Haig and his colleagues at West Publishing managed a
seamless and well-organized presentation. However, due to the
muitiplicity of authors, readers who spend time immersed in these
volumes may miss a single, consistent, unique, and stylistic autho-
rial voice such as that found in Professor Siegel's New York Practice®™
or Wigmore's Evidence in Trials at Common Law®® Moreover,
greater depth in each topic’s substantive law is needed. The for-
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mer is not a fundamental problem. Indeed, many a single author
fails to accomplish this level of consistency, The latter is due to a
limit on space; it is hardly a cohdemnation to wish for more vol-
ume. There will, one hopes, be room to grow in the future,

Haig’s Commercial Litigation in New York State Courts will
promptly become indispensable for all commercial litigators within
the Empire State. Those unfamiliar with the New York court sys-
temn will also find these volumes priceless. Additionally, this trea-
tise will be of great assistance to the Commercial Division and to all
New York courts faced with issues in commercial law. It is my hope
that this excellent treatise, along with the formation of the Com-
metcial Division, will restore New YorK as the center of commercial
law in the United States.
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